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CON Fl DENTIAL 

(1)Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

CM ETO 41.38 

UNI'tED STATES 	 ) 
)' 

v. 	 ), Trial by GCM, convened at Ail' 

l 
Station 128, APO 557, u. S. 

Private (formerly Technical Arrrr3'1 26, 28 September 1944. 

Sergeant) MICHAEL P. URBAN Sentence: Dishonorable dis­
. )('J'l:/97470), 6l5th Bombardment charge, total forfeitures and 
Squadron, 40lst Bombardment ) confinement at hard labor for 
Group· ) two years. Place o~ con.tine­

) ment not designated. 

HOLDIDG by BOARD OF REvmN NO. 1 
RrrER, SARGENT and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 

. 1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges e.nd specifi ­
cations: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 58th Article of War. 
Specification: In that Private Michael P. Urban, 

615th Bombardment Squadron, 40lst Bombardment 
Group, then Technical. Sergeant, 615th Bombard­
ment Squadron, 40lst Bombardment Group, did, 
at A.AF Station 128, APO 557, on or about 17 
August 1944, desert the service of the United 
States by absenting himself without proper 
leave from his organization, with intent to 
avoid hazardous duty and to shirk important 
service, to wit: flying as member of a com­
bat crew on combat missions, and did remain 
absent in desertion until he surrendered him­
self at AAF Station 128, APO 557, on or about 
22 August 1944. 
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CHARGE II: Violation or the 96th Article ot War. 
Specification: In that * * * did, at AJ;F Station 

128, APO 557, on or about 16 August 1944, 
. wrongf'ull.7 take and use without proper· author­
i t7. a certain bicycle, to wits Biorcle Serial 
No. 28.3591, Permit No. 445, property or the 

United States, of a value or less than $50.00 
and more than $20.00 

He pleaded not gu1lt7 and three-fourths or.the members or the 
court present at the tinie the vote was taken concurring, was round 
gullt7 or Charge I and its Specification, guilty of the Specifica­
tion, Charge II, except the words and figures "$50.00 and more. 
than $20.00", substituting therefor the words and figures, "$20.00 
and more than $10.00", o£ the excepted words and figures not 
guilt7, of the substituted words and figures guilty; and guilty ot 
Charge II. 'Three-fourths of the members of' the court present at 
the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be ' 
dishonorabl7 discharged the service, to forfeit all plQ".and allow­
ances due or to become due and to be confined at hard labor, at· 
such place as the reviewing authorit7 mq direct, for two years. · 
The reviewing authority approved the sentence, did not designate 
e:n.y place of confinement, and forwarded the record or trial for 
action pursuant to Article of' War 5C>i-. 

). Charge I and Speci.t'icationa The evidence tor the prose­
cution was substantially as follows& · 

' .... 
Accused wa8 top-turret gunner and tl.ight engineer or a 

lead crew in the squadron named in the Spec1£ica.tion (R6,9,l.4}. On 
16 August he flew with his crew on an operational mission to Leip­
zig, Gertn8.ll1' (R5,9}. Intensive !l.alt was encountered and the ship 
received direct hits. During the mission accused announced over 
the interphone that fighters were approaching, but there was in 
f'act no tighter attack. The mission was considered "rough" and 
•very severe" by members ot the crew. It was exceeded in severit7 
by only one previous mission in which the ship.was attacked b;y 
enelllY' fighters (Rl2,l.3,.35,.37). On the WIQ" back fropi the raid ac- . 
eused told the pilot that he waa going to quit f'lying, and when 
asked tor his reason, replied, •r just don't want to fly anymore, 
and I never did like to tly, anyway" • Arter the interrogation he 
spoke to the pilot again, repeated the statement that he was going 
to quit and ~d him, "What are you going to do about it•? The 
pilot answered that he had ,no authority to ck> anything and suggested 
that he· see the tlight or squadron .urgeon (R5,6). While return­
illi troa the aame llieaion accused ·stated to two other members ot 
the crew that he was going to quit fl)'ing, adding in one instance / 
that this mission would be his la.at (R9,.35). ~sequen~ on the 
same dq &ectlBed met the co-pilot ot his crew who aaked hill it he 
were not goiilg to clean his guna.- He repued, "No, :not till later•. 
In the course ot their conversation, accused said that he was going 

. 4138 
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(3) 
to quit flying, and that he 11 neverwanted to fly in the first 
place and didn't like it". He paid no attention to this offi ­
cer's atterrpt to persuade him that l:e was wrong. As they parted, 
accused remarked "I will see you in a couple of weeks in the 
guardhouse, maybe. I am taking a vacation"'Rll). The pilot did 
not take the statements of accused seriously and attached no 
importance to t4em (RS). Hone of the other three to whom he spoke 
thought that accused was serious, and one of them, a non-commis­
sioned officer, testified that among themselves members of a crew 
"usually, say something like tl:at after a rough raid, but nobody 
ever means it". (R9,ll,37). .ii.ccused had never before made state­
~ents of that nature to tte pilot, co-pilot, or bombardier (R6,8,10). 
Still later in the day, 16 August, the latter saw accused walking 
out of the camp dressed in olive drabs and field jacket and carry­
ing a package under his arm. Ee told this officer that he was 
going to town for a. while and would see him later. There was a 
standing arrangeMent in tl:e squadron permitting members of a crew 
to leave the base on a six-hour pass even if they were scheduled 

to fly on the following day (R9,15). 


Accused did not return to his barracks that night-nor 
thereafter until 22 August. His absence without leave from his 
organization was established by the testimony of witnesses having 
personal knowledge of his absence and by pertinent entries in the 
morning reports (R6,~ 1 14,16,17,32,35; Fros.Exs.1,2). The evening 
of 16 August and the following day were 11 stand-down11 for the crew,. 
that is, the crew was not in a status of alert. On the evening of 
17 August the crew was alerted and ever.r member, including accused, 
was scheduled to fly (Rl3). The pilot first learned of that mission 
about 8 pm 17 August and not having seen accused since the preceding 
day, went to his barracks about 8130 pm 11 to see if he had been jok­
ing or really meant it" (i.e., the statement that he was going to 
quit flying). He did not find him (R6,7). When the crew was called 

.in on 18 August accused was not present and another man was sub­
stituted for him (F.13). That day the crew flew on a combat opera­
tional mission to Belgium, then occupied by the enemy. Because of 
his absence accused did not p~ticipate in the mission (R7,9,14,32). 

' 
On 22 August two members of the crew 1met him in Kettering, 

England. They asked him where he had been and he said he bad been 
to SheffieJ.c:! where he had had "a good time" and that he was going 
back to carr.p. He volunteered the statement that he either was not 
going to fly any more, or that he did not want to fly any more. This 
statement was not taken seriously by the crew member to whom it was 
made (R32,33). Accused retvxned to his station on 22 August. In­
quiry discloses that Sheffield was about 70 miles, and Kettering about 
14 miles, from A~ Station,~8. 

Accused's crew left the United States for service overseas 
on .31 ~iay 1944. He had been a member of it since February 1944 (P.9,10, 
31). From about the time of their arrival in this theater, to the• 
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time of the trial on 26 September, a period ot approximately 
three months, the crew was in a combat operational status (R7,14). 
The evening ot 16 August was a "stand-down" but accused, being 
a member ot a lead crew, was scheduled to !ly a practice mission 
which members of lead crews were regularly required to 'fly when 
not flying operational missions. If an operational mission were 
ordered, the practice mission would be cancelled. Orders tor an 
operational mission reach the operations officer the evening be­
fore the day on which the mission is to take place (Rl4). Al­
though ordinarily a lead crew will not tly two missions in a rew, 
its members remain on duty, unless they are on r.ss, and can expect 
to be called upon to fly on any mission (Rl4,15 • A mission is ' 
generally but not always preceded by an alert but members of a orew 
do not know "until the last minute" whether there will be an alert · 
or a stand-down (RS). The pilot testified that accused had parti- ~ 
cipated in about 14 missions with him (R6). The operations of.ricer 
testified that accused's crew, apparently1Up to the time of the 
trial on 26 September, had flown ll missions (Rl3). Accused flew 
his last mission on 16 August (R5,13). Effective June 1944, 35 
missions were required to complete an operational tour. Upon re­
commendation of the group commander, personnel cov1d be released 
prior to completion of 35 missions (R25; Pros.Ex.6). In a memor­
andum issued by the Commanding General of the Eighth Air Force, 
it was provided that no heavy bombardment combat crew member be 
required to participate in more than 35 sorties witbuut a determina­
tion being made ot his fatigue condition (R23). Accused was a 
technical sergeant at the time of the ocmtliission of the alleged of• 
ff'lnae (R37). 

4. The defense offered no evidence. After his rights were 
explained to him, accused elected to remain silent (R38). 

5. It has been held by the Board of Review that the commis• 
sion of the offense charged is proved by establishing t~ existence 
ot·these four elements: (l) that accused absented himself from his 
oreenization without proper leave; (2) that the organization was 
under orders or anticipated orders involving either hazardous duty 
or important service; (3) that accused received actual notice ot 
such orders; and (4) that at the time he absented himseil.f' without 
leave accused entertained the specific intent to avoid hazardous 
duty or to shirk important service (CM ~O 24.32, ~J CM E'l'O 2473, 
CentwellJ CM El'O 2481, Newton). · 

' 

(l) Absence without leave.was adequately proved. 

I ' 

(2) A, crew which was in a combat operational status at 
a base from which sorties were being continually made at;ainst the 
enem;r while the invasion of the continent was in i'ull progress may 
prGperly be considered as being under anticipated orders to tly on 
combat missions at any time while it remained in that status. 
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(3) Since accused was a member of such a crew at the 

time he absented himself without leave, and lnad been a member for 

a period of many weeks, the inference could be drawn by the court 

that he lmew that he, with the rest of his crew, was in a combat 

operational status, and was under anticipated orders to fly in 

combat missions at any time. 


The vital question for consideration is'whether there 

is substantial evidence supporting the findir.g by the court that 

at the time he absented himself accused entertained the specific 

intent to avoid flying with his crew on combat missions. Repeated 

statements were mede by accused while returning from an unusually 

severe mission and subsequently on the same day, to the pilot, co­

pilot, bombardier, and a non-commissioned officer, separately, to 

the effect that he intended to quit flying, that he had never liked 

flying, had never wanted to fl~, and that the mission from which 

he was returning would be his last one. These statements and the 

circumstances in which they were made, followed contemporaneously 

by his absence without leave, constituted competent and substantial 

evidence from which the court was justified in inferring that the 

requisite intent existed at the time he absented himself. 


"The existence of a particular intention in a 
certain person at a ce~tain time being a material 
fact to be_ proved, evidence that he expressed that 
intention at that time is as direct evidence of 
the fact, as his own testimony that he then bad 
that intention would be" {Alutual Life Insurance Co. 
v. Hillman, 145 U.S. 285,295; 36 L.ed.706,710). 

Each wit~ss who testified to these statements said that he thought 

accused was not serious when he made them. It does not appear that 

any of thel'l knew of the similar statements made by accused to the 


·others. It is significant that the pilot was sufficiently impressed 
by accused's statements to suggest that he consult a medical officer, 
and to make a search for him on tha evening of 17 August 11 to see if he had 
been joking or really meant it". The co-pilot attached such importance 
to the statements accused made to him that he tried to show accused, 
without success, that he was wrong. One witness testified that ~tate­
ments similar to those made by accused were usually but never seriously 
made by members: of a crew among themselves after a "rough" raid. Accused, 
however, had never before made statements of that nature to the pilot, 
co-pilot, or bombardier. It does not appear that he had ever made them 
to any one else. Furthermore, after a lapse or six days accused gave 
expression to his determination not to fly again when met at Kettering 
by members of his crew. Whether accused was serious when he made the 
statements was a question or fact for the court. 

Another consideration weighs against accused. Shortly before 

he absented himself and in the same conversation in which he told the 

co-pilot that he intended to quit flying, accused stated "I will see you 

in a· couple of weeks in the guardhouse, mayiJe9 I am taking a vacation". 
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The court could reasonably have found that the period of absence he 

contemplated was s~ long that as an experienced member of a combat 

crew, aware of the frequency ot his previous missions, he knew that 

he would miss flying on a combat mission during such absence (Cta MCM, 

1921, pa:r.4C/1, p.345, Note). · 


During accused's absence his crew engaged in a combat mis­

sion to Belgium which was then under enemy occupation. Such fact may 

be considered by the court ii\ determining the intent which motivated 

his absence (CM ETO 24$1, Newton and cases cited therein). The fact 

that accused voluntarily returned after an absence ot six days in­

stead of two weeks, while material in extenuation, is no defense (Cfs 

MCfil 1928, par.l.30,!!:, p.142). 


Flying as a member of a combat crew on combat missions to 
targets.in territory on the continent occupied by the enemy, constitutes 
both hazardous duty and . important service. The dangers attendant upon 
the performance of such duty are shown by the evidence and are so com­
monly known that judicial notice may be taken of them (CM El'O 2368, 
Lybrand). Participation in combat missions has such a direct and immed­
iate bearing upon the prosecution of the war that it is. difficult to 
conceive of service that is more important within the meaning of Arti ­
cle of War 28 (CM 151672, Lytle; id. Dig. Op. JAG, 1912-1940, sec.385, 
pp.193-194; MC:M, 1928, pa:r.130_!, pp.142-143). 

The Board of Review is of the opinion that the findings of 

guilty of Charge I and its specification are supported by competent, 

substantial evidence. 


6. ·Charge II and Specificationa The evidence tor the.prosecu­

tion may be stumna.rized as follows:
.. 

It was stipulated that the bicycle alleged in the Specifica­
tion was the property of the United States on 16 August 1944 and prior 
thereto. It was also stipulated that its value was in excess of 
$10.00 and less than $20.00 (R22,23; Pros. Ex.5). The bicycle was is ­
sued to an officer on a memorandum receipt on 6 August 1944 (Rl9). 
About 12 Auguat the bicycle was reported missing from the officer's _ 
barracks at the place alleged in the Specification, and two days later 
it was seen in the squadron area. Accused had possession ot the bicycle 

· and was asked where he had obtained it. He replied that he had·borrowed 
it from an of'f'icer. He was seen riding the bicycle on 14 August 
(Rl9,20,21,22). He also stated that he pad· changed the rear fender of 
the bicycle and that the original fender bore the number 445 (R23). 
Accused loaned the bicycle to another soldier.and while in the latter's 
possession it was recovered by the military police on 15 August .(R28,36). 
The officer to whom the bicycle had been issued never authorized accused 
to take it (Rl8). The defense offered no evidence and accused elected 
to remain silent after his rights had been explained to him (R28). All 
the elements of the offense alleged are established by competent evid­
ence (CM ETO 2926, Norman and Greenawalt). 

' 
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7. The chare;e sheet shows that accused is ~2 yea.rs one 
rr.onth of aee and was inducted 9 February 1943 in l~ew York City, 
New York, to serve for the duration of the war plus six months. 
He had no prior service. 

8. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of tLe person and offenses. Ho errors fojurious~·-Y affecting the 
substantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Eeview is of the opinion that tl1e record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findin.:;s of guilty and the sentence. 

413S 
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War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 

the European Theater of Operations. 2 DEC 1944 TO: Com­
manding General, 1st Bombardment Division, APO 557, U. s. Army. 


1. In the case of Private (formerly Technical Sergeant) 

:MICHAEL P. 'L1RBAH ( 32797 470) , 615th Bombardment Squadron, 40lst 

Bombardment Group, attention is invited to the foregoing holding 


, by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally suffi ­
cient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which 
holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of 
War 5~, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. It is noted that your action in this case did not desig­

nate the place of confinement. It is requested that supplemental 

action designating the place of confinement (MJM, 1928, p.275, Form 

10) be executed and forwarded to this headquarters for insertion in 

the record of trial. 


J. There was no evidence of previous convictions of accused 
-by 	court-martial and his c-4.vil record fails to reveal bad character. 
The sentence of confinement at hard labor for a period of two years 
for desertion'in time of war with intentto avoid hazardous duty is 
inadequate (\'ID letter, 5 Mar 1943 (AG 250.4); Cir. 72, ETOUSA, 1943, 
sec.II, par.6!!;)• In view of this fact, it is believed that he should 
not be separated from military service and freed from the haz~ds aI¥l 
dangers of combat by incarceration until all possibilities of salvag­
ing his value as a soldier have been exhausted. The Government should 
preserye the right to use his service in a combat area. In view of 
the prevailing policy in this theater of conserving manpower, I recom­
mend that consideration be given to the designation of an appropriate 
disciplinary training center as the place of confinement, with suspen­
sion of the execution of the dishonorable discharge until the soldier's 
release from confinement. 

4. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
iroorsement. The file number of the record in this o.f;f'ice is CM El'O 
4138. For convenience of reference please place that.liwnber in brackets 

at the end or the order~l,J.JS~ 

I ~~IL, 
1 

Brigadier General, United States Arrrry, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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(9)
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater ot Operations

APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 i2 3 IOV1944 
CM ETO 4139 

UNITED STATES 	 ) lST BOIJBARDMENl' DIVISION 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Northampton, Northampton­

Private HARLEY A. REDD shire, England, 29 September
(35411856), 360th ~ 19~. Sentence: Dishonor~ 
Bombardment Squadron (H) ) able discharge, total for­
303rd Bombard~ent Group (H) ) feitures, and confinement at 

) hard labor for five years. 
) The United States Peniten­
) tiary, Lewisburg, Pennsyl­
) vania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHO'.i.'EN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case or the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board or Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE: Violation or the 93rd Article or War. 

Specification: In tl:at Private Harley A. Redd, 360th 
Bombardment Squadron (H), J03rd Bombardment Group 
{H), did, at Northampton, Northamptonshire, Eng­
land, on or about 10 July 19~, conunit the crime· 
of sodomy by feloniously and against the order of 
nature have carnal connection per os with Brian 
Wright. 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE: Violation or the 96th Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at Northampton, 
Northamptonshire, England, on or about 10 July 19~, 
wrong:f'u.lly and unlawtully commit an indecent assault 

4139 
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and battery upon Brian Wright, a male of the 

age of eleven (11) years, by rubbing his penis 

against the posterior of the said Brian Wright. 


He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the charges and 
specifications. No evidence of previous convictionswas introduced. 
He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit 
all pq and allolf8.llces due or to become due, and to be confined at 
hard labor at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for 
five years. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated 
the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place 
of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial pursuant to Article 
of' War 50h 

3. Competent evidence introduced by the prosectuion f'ul::W-estab­
lished the coll1Illission by accused of the act of sodomy per os on Brian 
Wright at the time and place and as alleged in the Specification of the 
Charge in violation of Article of War 93; also, that at the same time 
and place accused placed his penis "up the boy's posterior and there 
rubbed his penis up and down, thereby committing an indecent assault 
on the boy, as alleged in the Specification of the Additional Charge, 
in violation of Article of War 96 (CM El'O 3436 Paquette; CM ETO 3717 
Farrington). Brian Wright, eleven years of age, testified to the act 
(R25-33). The court properly found this child a competent witness. 
Circumstantial eTidence adduced from others was strongly corroborative 
of the boy's testimony. 

4. Accused, advised of his right, testified on his own behalf. 
Although he denied that he even "touched him" (the pathic) "either by 
using his privates parts in my mouth or using my private parts in his 
rectum" (R43), he admitted certain facts including the fact that he 
was inside the actual water closet compartment with the boy which, 
taken with the prosecution's ca.se, compel the conclusion of guilty. 
(47,48) Medical authority called on behalf' of accused testified that 
accused's mental age, as indicated by tests, was "consistent" with 
accused's Army General Classification ~est score of 61; also that as­
swning accused was possessed of homosexual tendencies, he might be a 
constitutional psycopa.thic. However, the examination indicated that 
accused was sane (R35-37). 

5. Accused is 33 years old. He was inducted at Fort Benjamin 
Harrison, Indiana, 29 July 1942, to serve for the duration of the war 
plus six monthB. He had no prior service. 

6. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction or the 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights or accused were committed during the trial. The Board or Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty alld the sentence. 

4139 
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7. Since accused is over 31 years ot age, his con!'inement in a 

penf,tentia.rr tor five years is authorized tor the ofte!l.89 of sodom;r 
(AW 42; District otO:>lumbia.Code, Title 22, Section 107; LCM, 1928, par.
90!, p. 81; Cir. 229, WD, 8 June 1944, See. 11, par. l,! (1), 3a). The 
designation of the United States Penitentiar;r, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania 
is proper (AW 42; Cir 229, ID, 8 June 1944, sec. II, par. 1]2(4),3R)• 

Judge Advocate 

~~qrA &c::=J"udge Advocate 
~ 

4139 
cmtrlBETHIAL 

http:ofte!l.89
http:penf,tentia.rr


{12) 
lst Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. Z. J !WV 1944 T01 Command­
ing General, lst Bombardment Dirlaion, !PO 557, u. S. Arrq. 

l. In the case of Private HARLEI .A.. REDD (354ll856), 360th Bom­
bardment Squadron (H), 303rd Bombardment Group (H), attention is in­
Tited to the toregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record 
ot trial is legall.,- suttieient to support the findings of guilty and 
the sentence, which holding ia hereby approved. Under the provisions 
of Article of War Sot, ;you now have authorit1 to order execution ot 
the eentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are farwarded to this of­
fice, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this in­
dorsement. The tile number of the record in this ottice is CM Ero J.139. 
For convenience of reference please place that number in l:racket1 at 
the end of the order 1 (CM ETO 4139) • . · . 

/Y~

/,?//f //rr"(' 
/ i. B. McNEIL, I 

Brigadier General, United State1 ucn· 
Assistant Judge !dTDoate General11 
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. Branch Office ot The Judge Advocate General 

with tha 
European Theater ot Operations 

.lPO 887 

BOABD CF RBVIEW NO. 2 

CM El'O 4143 5 DEC 1944 

UNITED ST A 'l' Es· 

T. 

Private PETER BLAKE''C.34549926), ) 
Private JAM!!S E. CLEl400 · ) 

BRITTANI BASE sm::TIOO, COlOONICATIOOS 
ZONE, EUROPEAN THEA!m CF OPmATIOBS. 

( 3374a!/79), Private First · 
Class EUGENE HANEY• (34626123), 

)) 
Trial by GCM, convened at Renne•, 

Private BCB JiEST.,(34423569), 
Private WILLIAM R. R<:m: ......­

) 
) 

Brit~, France, 22 September 1944. 
Sentence as to each accrused1 Dis­

(35763840), all ot 4lSOth ) honorable discharge, total torteitures 
Quartermaster SerTice Compaey. ) 

) 
and confinement at hard labor tor 
lite. The United States PeDiten­

) t1ar;y', Lewisburg, PennsylTania. 

HOLDING by BOARD CF REVmr NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHO'l'EN, BILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record or trial in· the case ot the 1oldiersmned abO'V8 has 
been examined by the Board ot ReTiew. 

2. Ea.eh accused was tried upon the tollowing charges and specitica­
tions, identical except that the name ot each was set out 1n their respec­
tive 11peeitications1 

CHARGE: Is Violation ot the 92nd Article ot War. 

Speeitieation 11 In that Private Peter Blake, 4l5oth 
Quartermaster Service Comp~, did, at or near 
La Bacomdere, France, on or about lS August 
1944, forcibly and feloniously, against her will, 
have carnal knowledge ot Mademoiselle Helene 
Fouillet, a French woman. 

- 1 -
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(14) .. 
Specitication 2: In that * * * did, at or near La 

Baconniere, France, on or about 15 .lngmlt 1944, 
torcib~ and f'eloniousl7, against her will~ ban 
carnal knowledge ot J.h.demoieelle Ywnne Fouillet, 
a French woman. 

CIURGB II: Violation ot the 93rd Article ot War. 

Specitieation: In that * * * did, at or near La 
Baconniere, France, on or about 15 August 1944, 
with intent to commit a tel0ll1', viz, rape, com­
mit an assault upon Msde110ieelle Karie Foulllet, 
a French woman, by will.t~ and teloniousl.7 
striking her and teying to ll.tt her nightgown. 

(Identical charges and specif'ications 
against Priw:te James E. Cle!IOD8, 
Private First Clas• Eugene Hane7, 
Private Bob West, Private·Wllliam R. 
Roee). 

Each ot the acouaed pleaded not gullt1 and, tbree-tou.rtha ot the llellben 
ot the court present when the.vote was taken concurring, each was tOUDd 
guilt7 ot the charges and speal..tications. lo e"fidenee ot previous 
conTictions was introduced. Three-fourths ot the members ot the court 
present when the Tate was taken concurring, each accused was sentenced 
to be dishonorabl.7 discharged the serrlce, to forfeit all J>a7 and 
allowances due or to become due and to be confined at bard labor, at 
wch place as the reviewing authority 11JB.7 direct, for the tera o.t hi• 
natural 11.t'e. The rerlewing authority approved the sentence ot ea.ch 
accused, designated the United States Penitentia.1'1, Lewisburg, Penns1l­
Tania, as the place o.t continement o.t each and forwarded the record o.t 
trial tor acti~ pursuant to the provilions ot Article ot War Sot. 

3. For the prosecution, Mademoiselle Helene l'oulllet, through an ­
interpreter, testif'ied that she is 'Z1 ;rears of' age, unmarried and lives 
at home with her parents on a tarm at La Baoonniere, . Jil1enne, J.Prance. 
She has two sisters, Marie, 30 1ears o.t age, and Yvonne, 21 7ear& o.t ace; 
and two brothers, J'rancis, 20 years of' age, and Be1l17, 16 79ar11 ot age, 
also living at hoae. Earzy in her testi~, thi1 witness identit'ied 
aeouaed Blake, Rose, Cle1110ns and Hane;y trom a number ot colored soldiers 
lined up with accused 1n the courtroom, as soldiers who came to the ta.rm 
on 15 August. She tailed at that time to identity accuaed ll'eet but 
pickeil out another soldier, not one ot accused. The nearest house to their 
home was some 400 •ters awq and the home was about 250 meters back tro.11 
the highwq (R20-23). At a quarter past eleven ot 15 August in the morn­
ing five colored soldiers came to the house and aaked tor b~ and 
cognac (RU.-25). At first three soldier, arrived, identit'ied bf her as 
accused Rose, Cle!IO?ls and Hane,- ant1 f'ive or ten minutes later the first 
three whistled al'ld the other two, when she identit'ied aa accused West 
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and Blake, cue and tollowed the first three into the house (R2,4.-25). 
ill ot the soldiers were drunk and a glass ot cognac was giwn to each 
of them (R26). The soldiers shut them in the house. Her Bister 
Yvonne was pushed by them (indicating accused Clemons) into the ailk 
room. One ot them (accused Haney inlicated {R3l)) seized witness am 
threw her on a trunk. She tried to escape but could not. Her mother 
am brothers tried to help her but were threatened b7 one at the soldiers 
with a rifle (iniicating accused West (R27)). He (Haney) put his private 
part in her private part (R27,32). She detended herselt "as well as 
she could" (R27). When she called be'r brother, he tried to help her 
bllt one ot the soldiers who was guarding the room tired his ritle at h1a 
eeveral times as he escaped (R28). Only' the one eoldier raped her (R32). 
Witnees was all this time crying ar.d shouting. Her sister Je.rie 11'&8 ill 
in the next room and "then one ot the tive soldiers who was in the room 
threw himselt upon 'l11J" sister who was ill". Her mother and brother 
tried to open the door which the soldier bad closed but could not, so 
witness did not see what happened to her sister Marie who cried tor 
help. During this time Yvonne was in the milk shed but the black 
soldier (indicating ac~d Clemons) bad closed the door so witness 
could not see. She beard noise in the milk shed am her sister oallin g -. 
"Helene, come to help me, help" (R2S). The soldiers remained in the 
house about three-quarters ot an hour (i.-30) • On the S8.llle day abot.tt 
three o'clock witnesa visited the camp ot colored soldiers (1129,32) and 
identitied from all the soldiers lined up accused West, Rose, Haney and 
Bl.alee. Dari?lg that e'ftlling, an American car brought accused Clemons 
to her home when he was also identified as one ot the five u.rller 
visitors to their home (R29). 

YTonne Fouillet gave substantially the same stol")" as her sis­
ter Helene. She identitied accused Clemons, Hanq and Rose Ol1t ot a 
il"OU{> conaist~ ot the five accused and tive other colored soldiers 
(R37). She testified that one ot the soldiers (she wu not able to 
sq which one) entered the milk shed where she was cleaning her teeth 
am indicated to her that he wanted to "abuse" her. She •did not wish 
to" and he took her by the hair and threw her.on the ground and wanted 
to have sexual intercourse (R,'.38). He !-or• her pante. , ; _ 

"He had closed the door/and there was one w1th 
his ritle to guard the door. * * * Then when 
he bad raped me, the one who was standing at 
the door w1th his rifle, the one who wu with 
his rifle to the door came to me and wanted to 
rape me also, but he did not have time to do 
it". 

The first 1oldier put his private part in her priTate part though she 
defended herselt. She.resisted and did not consent. The second 
soldier touched her "just a little, but hardly- anything• (R'.39) with 
his penis CR.Uh "he inserted it a~little-. (R43). - The soldier with -· : 
the r!f._l.e-.tood at the door in sight at witness at all times. Helene 
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tried to help her but was prevented and a "black soldier threw himselt 
on her also". Witness was eo frightened ahe did not observe the soldiers 
ea.ref'ul.1.1 (R40). llhile in the milk abed with the soldiers she heard lbout 
tive shots (RU). 

li8.rie, her deter, testified to the eame ewnte. She picked
accused West as the one who came to her rooa - "the one who resembles him 
moat". ~ie had been ill tar lJ months with "lung trouble", and she 
was brought into court ·on a •tretcber. She testified that she saw the 
tive soldiers through the Wbda.r o£ her rooa (R44) • She lett her bed 
when ehe heard Helene in the kitchen shouting and at that moment one ot 
the soldiers came in. She had on Clll.y her nightdress and tried to escape 
through the window. He beat her about the head, put her on her bed and 
tried to haw relations with her. r· ...1 struggled with him 10 or 15 llin­
utes. He removed her clothes and exposed his pr1vate parte but another 
soldier came and talked to him and returned a seco?ld time when thq 
lett {R45-~) • Y'VODJle was examined by a p~sician on 16 August and 
Helene on 20 August. In his opinicm YTOnne wu raped and Helene 
probab17 raped. He· teatitied and hie certificates ot e:xem1nat1on were 
received (Proa.J:x1. 3 and 4; R34-36). · 

Joseph Fouillet testified that his son P'ranois came to the 

tie1d af'ter him on the morning ot 15 August 1944 and that on the wq 

back to the house be saw tive black soldiers at a distance ot 25 or 30 

meters (R.48-49) • 


Madame Helen Fouillet, his wife, testified to substantially' 
the same tacts as did her daughters • She ident.il'ied accused Haney and 
West, but was not sure ot Clemons and Blake out ot a line-up ot acc'W!ed 
and a number ot o~her colored soldiers {R49-50). She testified accused 
Haney took her daughter Helene~on the trunk and when she attempted to 
det'end her daughter a soldier b;y the door "directed" his rif'le at witneas 
and when she went to help the daughter in the a11k shed there was another 
soldier standing at that door and she could not enter. The eoldier 
"undressed" Helene when he put her on the trunk and laid on top ot her 
aa she defended heraelt "as much as she could". She got a glimpse ot 
the teet of' her daughter on the ground in the mill shed and thought she 
had been killed (R52). She heard Yvonne shouting and Helene was crying.
One soldier waited near the chimne;r tar the other. One was on the chest 
with Helene, one at each door with ritlee; one was with !&1.rie. They 

. remained at the house about three-quarters ot an hour, and lett very 
euddenl7. Her son bad pe to call his father (RS)). 

Francia Fouillet, son ot Joseph Fouillet, testified also to 

the same events. ·He identU'ied in court accused Rose, West and Hane;y 

as the first to enter the house. He testified he saw acc'Wled West 

l7ing on his sister Yvonne in the milk house, then he lef't to call his 

father (R55-57). 


Paul Pelle identified in court accused Rose and Haney as two 
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or five colored soldiers who came to his home on a farm near the Fouillet 
farm on 15 August. He gave them two dozen eggs. He visited a soldiers' 
camp with Helene Fouillet on the afternoon of 15 August to identity the 
soldiers and he identified Haney who bad put "dust on his facen and Rose 
who put his helmet over his spectacles (R5S-60). 

Corporal Oliver C. Crawtord,of accuseds 1 unit, testified that 
he saw all of accused at dit:f'erent times on 15 August. He walked from 
the "PX" back to the area with accused West and on the way West said 
"me and Blake sure tucked up this morning". He did not see a:ny of ac­
cused in camp between nine and twelve o1clock. He was present at the 
line-up at which a "French lady" picked out Haney, Rose, Clemons and West 
and a Corporal May also. .Accused Blake was f0tmd in the back area later 
asleep and was not in the line-up. After he was awakened, he was asked 
whom he had been with and he said Haney, Clemons, West and Rose. Haney 
was not at dinner, said he didn 1 t "want s:a:f o:f' that slop". He had some 
eggs (R?0-74). All accused were seen together prior to ten-thirty on 
15 August but not afterwards (R76). 

4. The defense offered no witnesses and each of accused on being 
advised of his rights as a witness remained silent (R78-81). 

5. 	 "Rape is the unlawful carnal knowledge or a 

woman by force and without her consent. 


Any penetration, however slight, or a 
woman's genitals is sufficient carnal 
knowledge" (LCM, 1928, par.148£, p.165). 

The evidence is uncontradicted that two soldiers raped Yvonne, 
one definitely and she says the other "inserted it a little"; and one 
definitely raped Helene. Still a fourth attacked Marie, struck her and 
removed her clothes intending to rape her. They were frightened away 
before the fifth man, who acted as an armed guard for the others while 
awaiting his turn, apparently had time to get very far in his efforts. 
Accused were charged separately for the rapes or Helene and Yvonne 
Fouillet and for the assault with intent to rape Marie Fouillet. Their 
actions indicate what were the intentions of all of accused. The acts 
of each enp.ged in a common undertaking are imputed to all. 

"So, among offenders, the .Articles recognise 
no principals, and no accessories either be­
fore or after the fact, as such. The grades 
o:f' crimes and of participators in crime, 
familiar to the common law, are unknown to the 
law military, and the embarrassing technicali ­
ties which have grown out o:f' the division of 
crimes into principal and accessorial are 
wholl.1 foreign to the procedure of courts­
martial. ln the military' practice all 

4143 

- 5 ­



'1 . 
~J\.J ! ••• - .. 

(18) 

accused pers:>ns are treated as independent 
offenders. Even though they may be jointly 
charged and tried, as for participation in a 
mutiny for example, and each may be guilty of. 
a distinct measure of criminality call.ing tor 
a distinct punishment, yet all are principals 
in law" (Winthrop's Military Law and Prece­
dents, 1920 Reprint, p.108; 22 C.J.S., sec. 
87,g, p.155). 

"Whoever directly commits any act constituting 
an off~ttse defined in any law of the United 
States,'or aids, abets, counsels, commands, 
induces or procures its commission, is a 

\. principal" (35 Stat. 1152; u.s. Criminal Code, 
, sec.3.32; 18 u.s.c.A., sec.550; CM ETO 3475, 

Blackwell et al; CM NATO 2221, :Harris et al). 

1"!1here, as in the instant case two or more 
persons by common design jointly engage in 
the same unlawful act, each is chargeable 
with liability, and is guilty or the offense 
committed to the same extent as if he were 
the sole offender. CM 240646 (1944) 11 (Bull. 
JAG, Vol.III, No.5, Ma3' 1944,· p.188). 

The surrounding facts and circumstances afford substantial legal basis 
for imputing to each of accused the specific acts of the others (CM ETC 
1052, Geddies et a1 (1944); Ibid. p.189). Two persons cannot be 
jointly guilty of a single rape but all persons present aiding and 
abetting in the commission of the crime are guilty as principals equally 
with the actual perpetrator of the crime (CM NATO 643 (1943); Bull.JAG, 
Vol.III, No.2, February 1944, p.62). All five of accused were properly 
charged and founi guilty as principals. 

6. The charge sheets show: Blake to be 23 years ten montha of 
age, inducted at Camp Blanding, Florida, 30 March 1943 without prior 
service; Clemons to be 21 years of age, inducted at Fort Myers, Virginia,
4 May' 1943 without prior service; Haney't9 be 21 yea.rs two months of age, 
inducted at Camp Shelby, Mississippi, 18 Aiarch 1943 without prior ser­
vice; West to be 24 years of age, inducted at Camp Shelby, Mississippi, 
8 September 1942 without prior service; Rose to be 25 years two months 
of age, inducted in Ohio, 29 October 1942 without prior service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction over 
the persons and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substan­
tial rights of the accused were collllllitted dtn"ing the trial. In the 
opinion of the Board of Review, the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence as to each accused. 
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8. A sentence ot death ~· life imprisonment is mazxlatory upon 
conviction of an offense under Article of War 92. Confinement in a 
penitentiary is authorized for the crime of rape (AW 42; Federal Criminal 
Code, secs.278 and 330 (18 U.S.c.A. 4'1'1,567). The designation of the 
United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of 
confinement is proper (AW 42; Cir.229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pars. 
1~(4), ~). 

..-- r 
·:. ~H Ja ,( J., .. ·~ '., ~udge Advocate 

r.,,,.,I"\,' • '·. 
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1st Ind. 


War Department, Branch Office of The Jud~e Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 'J DEC 1944 TO: Commanding 
Officer, Headquarters Brittany Base Section, Communications Zone, 
European Theater of Operations, APO 517, U. S. Artrr:f. ' 

1. In the case of Privates PETER BLAKE (.34549926) ,. JilES E. 

CLEMCNS ( .3.3740879), BCE WE3T ( 3442.3569), WILLIAM R. R\EE ( .3576JS40), 

and Private First Class EtJGElra HANEY (.3462612.3), 415oth Quartermaster 

Service Company, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by' the 

Board of Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient to sup­

. 	port the .findings of guilty and the sentence of each accused, which 
holding.. is hereby approved. Under the:Fovisions of Article ot War 5~, 
you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. 'l'lhen copies ot the publiched order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indoreement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM ETC 414.3. For con­
venience of reference, pleaee place that number in brackets at the end 
of the order: {CM ETC 4143) • . ,.,. · _., 

- • 	 .i;,; A/ 
. /r '/·/ / , 

// f1,,._ (~/ / //' c.: I 
I / . /

E. C. McNEIL, ' 
Brigadier 	General, United States lr't!f3', 

Assistant Judge Advocat~ General. 
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Branch Off'ice of The Judge Advocate General 
· · with the · 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 14 DEC 1944 
C!l ETO 4149 

UNITED S T .ATES 	) BRITTANY BASE S:ro!IC!l, COMMUNICATIONS 
) ZONE, EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPERATIONS 

v. 	 ) 
) Trial by OCM, convened at Rennes, ·· ·· 

Private THOMAS H. LEWIS ) Brittany, France, 29.September 1944. 
{33638991), 388th Qua.rter­ Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
mster Truck Company total forfeitures and confinement 

at hard labor for lite. United 
\ ) States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 

) Pennsylvania. 

l 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

RITER, SARGENT and S~, Judge Advocates 


1. ; The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been e:xamined by.the Board of Review. 

2. ·Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications t 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 
Specification: In that Private Thomas H. Lewis, 

388th Quartermaster Truck Company, did at 
Les Bois en Lanhelin, France on or about 
1 September 1944, with ma.lice aforethought, 
willfully, deliberately, feloniously, un­
lawfully, and with premeditation kill one 
Joseph Le Yaoua.ng, a human being by shooting 
him with a rifle. 

CHARGE II: Violation cf the 96th Article of War. 
Specification: In that * * * did, at Les Bois en 

Lanhelin, France, on or about l September 
1944, wrongfully strike Marie Le Yaouang 
on the face and arms with his hands and grab­
bing her arms, tear her clothes from her body. 
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·He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths ot the members ot the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty ot 
both charges and their specifications. Evidence was introduced ot one 
previous conviction by SUillJlla17 co'l,lrl tor being diaorderfy in unitorm in 
a public place in violation of Article ot War 96. Tbree-fourtbs ot the 
members ot the court present at the time the vote wu taken concurring, 
be waa eentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit 
all pay and &llowances due or to become due, and to be confined at· bard . 
labor,· at such plac~ as the reviewing authority '111AY" direct, tor the 
term ot his natural lite. · The reviewing authority- approved the sen~ 
tence, designat9d the United States Penitentiary--, Lewiaburg, ~ennsyl,vania, 
as the place ot confinement, · and torwarded the record ot trial. tor action 
pursuant to Article ot War 5ot. 

). The evidence for the prosecution shows that on 31 .August 1944, 
Lbnsieur Joseph Le Yaouang (deceased) and his wif'e Marie lived in Lee . 
Bois en Lanhelin, Department ot Ille et Vilaine, France (RS). Their 
five children, the oldest ot whom was 13 y-ears or age1 lived with thea 
(Rll) in a house comprised ot one room and a k1tchen \Rl6). About . 
20 meters away from the house and at a elightly lower level was a cellar 
or cider shed. The?;'e were no steps leading into the cellar as it was 
"even with the ground around it". · The cellar, which bad one door and 
no windowe, was a:-iseparate structure and one could not enter it trom 
Within the house (Rl5-16). It was "approJCimately ten teet by about four­
teen teet" and. contained cider barrels (R24,43: Proa.Ex:.l). 

About ll pm "sun time", 31 August, accWled, a colored soldier, 
knocked at· the door ot the Yaouang~home. »a.dame laouang was in bed and · 
when her husband opened the door accused asked tor cider. The two 1118?1 
left tor the cider cellar and "almostimmediatel;r afterwards" Ma.dame 
Yaouang heard two or three shots and recognized the voice ot her husband 
who shouted twice. She did not bear 8Il7 argument or shoutingbef'ore 
the shots nre fired (RS-10,14,15,16,17). She did not see accused re­
turn to the house from the cellar because she was in bed at the time {Rl6), 
She arose froin her bed, clad only in a "shirt" and "large apron". ·In ~ 
kitchen accused seized her b;r both arms, struck her on both sides ot her 
!ace, and tore "all around m:f apron * * * on the back and more or less 
everywhere". She tried to defend herself but he "drew me with h1m out­
side" and .forced her to enter a United States Army truck. When he 
started the motor, she jumped out of the "!9hicle and ran to the home ot 
her uncle who lived about 200-300 meters away. She was preceded by 
her 13-year-old son who ran from the houss during the disturbance. As 
her son and uncle "bad gone" when she arrived, she immediately returned 
to her home about ll:30 pm "inm time", and f'olllld her husband lying in 
the cellar. He was dead (Rl0-12) •. Madame Yaouang identified the 
accused at the trial (R9) and testified that he "was drunk" on the 
evening in question (Rl?). He had a rifle in his possession but no cider 
when he took her out of the house, and she believed he dropped the rifle 
later because he did not have it when he entered the truck (RJ.4,16). 
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About 11:30 pm Monsieur Alphonse Duffie, Ma.dame Yaouang's uncle, 
heard dogs barking and saw the 13-year-old Yaouang boy standing outside 
bis window. Dur.fie .followed the boy and "heard the truck on the road". 
He then went to the cider shed where he saw Yaouang lying on his stoma.ch. 
He 11.fted him and saw blood on the .floor {R22-24) • 

About 12:30 am "sun time", 1 September, accused appeared at the 
home o.f Monsieur Jacques Trys, who lived at Fourebride en Meillas, about 
two or three kilometers .from the Yaouang home. Accused, whom Trys·identi ­
fied at the trial, was "quite sober" and was unarmed. He indicated that 
bis vehicle "bad broken down" and Trys went with him and saw a large 
American military truck in a ditch. Accused spent the rest of the night 
in Trys' storeroom on a blanket. The French police arrested him about 
8:00 am the .following morning at Trys' home where he was identified by 
1':!.dame Yaouang as the same soldier who was at her house the previous 
night (Rl3-15,25-27.,32-33,39-41). Accused was unarmed but when searched 
"two magazines, one empty and the other halt .filled", were found in his 
possession (R.41). 

On the morning of 1 September the cellar was examined by French 
gendarmes and United States military police. The distance from the door 
o£ the cider shed to the head of a certain cider barrel therein was about 
three meters {R33; Pros.Ex.l). Blood was discovered on the floor in .front 
of the barrel about six .feet from the door (R43; Pros .Ex.l). The barrel 
was on its side and the head of the barrel faced the door to the cellar. ' 
Cider was oozing from three bullet holes in the head o£ the baITel. Two 
of the holes were about an inch and a halt apart and the third hole was 
about three inches away from the other two. A piece o£ the barrel head 
containing the bullet holes was identi.fied and admitted in evidence. 
The holes had been "plug~ed up * * * so that the cider would not run out" 
(R29-30,43-46; Pros.Ex.9). Outside the cellar about a foot from the 
entrance, three empty shells were fotmd lying so close together that it 
was possible to cover them by a board about two .feet square (R28,43-44, 
51-52; Pros.Exs.14,15,16). A .JO caliber carbine, No. 1488175, which 
was found against a fence surrounding the house, was identi.fied at the 
trial and admitted in evidence. When discovered the weapon had a 
magazine pouch attached (Rl.3,30-32; Pros .Ex.2). On 4 September three 
bullets were discovered within the cider barrel itself (R.44,51-52; Pros. 
Exs.11,12,13). The shells and bullets were of a type used with a .30 
caliber carbine (R44,51-52). Photographs of the cider shed as seen 
from the doorway, and o£ deceased (in his dwelling), taken on 2 September 
were also identi.fied and admitted in evidence (R34-37; Pros.Exs.1,4,5,6,7~ 

On 2 September Lieutenant Colonel O. Currier McEwen, ~dical 
Corps, Medical Consultant, Brittany Base Section, e:xamined the body o.f 
deceased (Rl7). . 

"The body was sti.ff, showing that death had 
occurred some time previously and the most 
important finding was two holes, one at the 
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left arm pit, between the f'ourth space, between 
the ribs, the f'ourth intercostal space. That 
hole was perf'ectly round with a smooth border, 
and was the size such aw you might expect it 
would have been caused by a bullet. The other 
hole was in front of the chest, on the right 
side, about six centimeters to the le£t of' the 
midline and again.between the f'ourth, in the 
f'ourth intercostal space. This hole was larger, 
of a ragged, jagged outline and when a finger 
was inserted into this hole, the finger went 
into another hole in the breast bone which was 
or jagged shape and the margins or the bone were 
broken in this direction, that is, towards the 
gutl!lide of the body, indicating that whatever · 
projectile bad passed through had been going 
:from the direction or the hole here towards the 
larger hole in front or the chest" (Rl7-l8). 

In Colonel McEwen's opinion, death was caused by a prbjectile which 
entered the lei't axilla, passed through the heart, and left the body­
ant~riorall.;r through the right side or the chest (Rl8). It was his 
f'Urther opinion that the wound could have been made only' by- a "per­
tectl7 round, smooth, ver:r bard projectile", as reflected by the 
"perf'ectly rotmd, smooth outline of the wound or entrance" (R21). In 
his ·opinion the bullet was not w1 thin the bod7 at the time of his e:xami­
nation becawse there were but two holes in the body, one of which in his 
judgment was the point of entrance and the other the point of' exit. A. 
wound of' the type sustained by deceased "would lead to death" within one 
or two minutes (Rl8). No powder burns were tolllld arOlllld the wound (R20). 
The superficial abrasions on deceased's face were of a type which might 
have been ca1,1Sed either· by a glancing blow or l:17~he body striking a 
ha.rd object "such as the cider barrel" (Rl9). J 

On 3 September Agent Anthony F. Winters, Criminal. Investigation 
Division, stationed at Rennes, interviewed accused who made a statement 
after he was warned of his rights. On 5 September accused ma.de a 
second statement after he received another warning as to his rights. 
Both statements, which were reduced to writing by- Winters and signed by 
accused, were voluntarily- made without threats or promises of reward. 
They- were identified by- Winters and admitted in evidence (R.42,46-50; 
Pros.Exs.9,10). .Accused made an unsworn statement at the trial in sub­
stantial accord with Pros.Ex.9 relative to the events of the evening 
prior to his arrival at the Yaouang house, and .following his departure 
therefrom (see par.4 below). Accordingly-, those portions of Pros.Ex.9 
are omitted at this point. The pertinent portions of Pros.Exe. 9 and 
10 with reference to the actual shooting and his encounter with Lkdame 
Yaouang are as .follows: 
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"I knocked on .the door and a man {iaous:n""i/* * * 
answered the door. We shook hands then I ask 
him tor some oidre. He got a pitcher and started 
for the cidre barrell which was in the back yard. 
I had my carbine at port arms. I tor got that 
you didn't have the saftey on. (I had a bullet 
in the chamber. ) I pulled the trigger of J117 
carbine about three times. At this time the 
ma.n was in the building getting cidre. It was· 
dark in this building. 11,y' gun was pointed into 
the door. · Arter I tired the third shot I beard 
the man scream. I ran towards my truck, I had 
1111 carbine then the lady ran out of the house · 
screaming. I caught her by the arm and I n.s 
trying to explain. to her how it happened abd 
that I didn't mean to kill him. She pull'ed 
awq from me a:rxl her dress tore. While I bad 
a hold of her I put m:r carbine' on the ground. 
When she got away from me, she ran thru the 
field. I got into the truck and drove away" 

· (Pros.Ex.9). 

"The night that I shot the man I was not drunk. 
I had only three drinks. I loaded m:r gun while 
I was walking back to the camp with Cpl. Russo 
/before accused went to the deceased's ho~. 
'[Pvt Thomas H. Lewis was shown a carbine and 
asked, 'How do you know that this is your car­
bine.•)" I know this gun by the markings on 
~he side. Where upon he read the following 
serial number oft the carbine USSl75. ·· Arter 
r fired the first shot I was surprised and I moved 
the gun then I shot the second shot, then I put 
the heel ·of the stock and it was pointing into 
the air when I fired the· third shot•. I have 
been instructed by the Company Commander never 
to load the rifles tmless you are standing on 
Post" (Pros.Ex.lo). 

4. For the defense, accused elected to nake an 1ll'lSWorn statement 
atter receiving an e:xplanation ot his rights (R53)~ The statement in 
substance was as follows: 

On the evening of 31 August he and· another soldier went to a 
cate in the village where they remained tor two hours. Accused had a 
pitcher or cider and two glasses ot cognac. On the wa:r back to c~ tbe, ­
stopped at a house where he bad cider and a halt glass of cognac. They 
then returned to camp where accused took a truck and drove toward Comburg. 
He met a civilian and gave him a ride to his home where he drank a halt 
glass ot wine. He then drove away, became lost, stopped at another 4 9 

41
- 5 ­

ll0NfJD£NTIAL 

http:Pros.Ex.lo


GONFIDENTIAL 


(26) 

house and asked a girl .for directions. There, he bad part of a gl.aas of. 
cider. He then started .for camp, .found that he was going in the wrong 
direction, turned the truck arourd and stopped at another houae (Yaouang' s). 
Deceued came to the door and said " 1bon jour' ". lfhen accused replied 
• 1 oui'", deceased obtained a tall cider pitcher and went to a cider barrel 
in the rear of the house, .followed by' accused who had his rifle at "'port
arms••. 

"In the dark there I had the r1f'le and was 
.fumbling ar0tmd w1th the .trigger. When I 
pulled on the trigger, not knowing that the safety 
was of.f, the gun rung out. I said 1God damn1 , 

something wrong with the· gun. I shot it again 
to see 1f' there was something wrong with the gun. 
At that time, the mr. hollered out. I ran to 
see what was the matter with him. He .fell on 
the .floor. I hid m:r r1f'le to eee what I had 
in '1113' truck to help him out. The lady came out 
running" (R54) • 

After his encounter with Mada.me Yaouang (supra) accused, who was 

excited, drove a short distance down the road, and then thought Yaouang 

might be dJing. He. turned the truck around, intending to go back "to see 

what is wrong", lost control o.f the vehicle and "went over in the ditch". 

He walked to a house (Trys') and knocked on the door. When accused, Trya 

and his son .found that they were unable to remove the truck from the 

ditch, Trya invited him to spend the night at the house. He wa8 awakened 

and arrested by the French police the following morning, and identified b::y 

M!!.dame Iaouang as the one who had been at her houee the previous evening. 

Accused further stated: 


•I haven't ~ idea of killing him. I did 
not have that idea at all" (R55). 

5. 119.dame Yaouang testified accused was drunk. .Accused stated 

that be drank cider, cognac, and a small amount o1' wine prior to his ar­

rival at the deceased's house but that he was not drunk on evening in 

question. Try-a testif'ied that accused was "quite sober". The issue 

of whether accused was sufficiently intoxicated to prevent his enter­

taining the intent requisite to constitute.murder was one ot .fact .for 

the determination of the court. As there was substantial evidence that 

he was not so intoxicated, its .findings on this issue will not be dis­
turbed (CM ETC 2007, Ha.rris , Jr.) • , 


. \ 

6. The evidence was legally- suf'.i'icient to support the findings of 

guilty o.f Charge II and Specification (assault and battery upon .Madame 

Yaouang in violation of Article of War 96). 


With reference to Charge· I and Srfec1f'ication (murder in viola­
tion of Article of War 92) the evidence, including accused's own testimony, 
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conclusively established the fact that he shot and killed deceased. The 
issues of self-defense or of whether the homicide was committed under the 
influence of an uncontrollable passion or emotion aroused by adequate 
provocation were not involved nor were they raised by the defense. 

11 Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being 
with malice aforethought. 'Unlawful' means with­
out legal justification or excuse. 

* * * 
141.lice does not necessarily mean hatred or personal 
ill-will toward the person killed, nor an actual 
intent to take his life, or even to take anyone's 
life. The use of the word 1aforethought 1 does not 
mean that the malice must exist for any particular 
time before commission of the act, or that the 
intention to kill must have previously existed. 
It is· sufficient that it exist at the time the act 
is committed. * * * 
l&U.ice aforethought may exist when the act is un­
premeditated. It may mean any one or more of the 
following states of mind preceding or coexisting 
with the act or omission by which death is caused: 
An intention to cause the death of, or grievous 
bodily harm to, any person, whether such person 
is the person actually killed or not * * * 
knowledge that the act which causes death will 
probably cause the death of, or grievous bodily 
harm to. anY person, whether such person is the 
person actually killed or not, although such 
knowledge is accompanied by indifference whether 
death or ievous bodil harm is cansed or not 
or b a wish hat it ma not be c used" LCM, 
1928, par.148!, pp.162,163-164 Underscoring 
supplied). 

The following principles ot law.are particularly applicable in the instant 
cases 

"Mere use of a deadly weapon does not ot itself 
raise a presumption of malice on the part of 
the accused; but where such a weapon is used in 
a manner likel to and does cause death the 
law presumes malice from the act" 1 Wharton's 
Criminal Law, 12th F.d.t sec.426, pp.654-655) 
(Underscoring euppliedt. 

An intent to kill 
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"may be inferred from the acts of the accused, 
or may be founded on a manifest or reckless 
disregard for the safety of human life. Thus 
an intention to kill rray be inferred from the 
willful use of a deadly weapon" (40 CJS, sec. 
44, p.905) (Underscoring supplied). 

"Reckless disregard of human life ma,y be equiva­
lent of specific intent to kill.--Looney v. 
State, 153 S.E. 372, 41 Ga. App. 495--Chambliss 
v. State, 139 S.E. 80, 37 Ga. App. 124" (Ibid., 
fn.67, p.944) (Underscoring supplied). 

"In every case of apparently deliberate and un­
justifiable killing, the law presumes the 
existence of the malice necessary to constitute 
murder, and devolves upon the accused the .2.ID:!!!, 

of rebutting the presumption. In other words, 
where in the fact and circumstances of the kill ­
ing as committed no defense appears, the accused 
must show that the act was either no crime at 
all or a crime less than murder; otherwise it 
will be held to be murder in law" (Winthrop's 
Military Law and Precedents, 2d F.d., Reprint 
1920, p.673). . 

"'The rule, as applicable to military cases, is 
similarly stated in the manual of Military Law, 
p.71, as follows - * * * On a charge of murder 
the law presumes malice from the act of killin_g, 
and throws on the prisoner the burden of dis­
proving the ma.lice by justifying or extenuating 
the act'" (Ibid., fn.55, p.673) (Underscoring 
supplied). 

"While a specific intent to kilf is an essential 
ingredient of the offense of assault with intent 
to commit murder * * * this requirement does. 
not exact an intent, other than an intent which 
is inferable from the circumstances. The law 
presumes that one intended the natural and 
probable consequences of his act and the requi­
site intent to kill ms.y be inferred from such 
acts. It may be inferred or presumed as a fact 
from the surrouniing circumstances, such as the 
acts and conduct of accused, the nature of the 
instrument used in making the assault, the 
manner of its use, from an act of violenc_e from 
which, in the usual and ordinary course ot 
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things, death or great bodily harm may result, 
or from a total or reckless disre ard of human 
life" 40 CJS, sec.?9£, pp.943-944 Underscor­
ing supplied) • 

The fact that the three empty shells were found close together 
immediately outside of the entrance to the cellar., together with the loca­
tion of the body and bloodstains, corroborated accused's statement (Pros. 
Ex.9) that he fired three shots while he was outside the cellar and de­
ceased was within, obtaining cider. The close position of the shells 
further indicated that accUsed stood in the same position as he fired the 
three shots. The location of the two wounds in the body indicated that 
when he was shot, deceased's left side was toward accused but at a degree 
slightly more than that of a right angle. The point of entrance of the 
bullet warrants the inference that deceased 1 s arms were not by his side 
but that they were probably thrust forward, or in an upraised position, 
or, more unlikely however, behind him. The distance between the bullet 
holes in the barrel head and the fact that all three bullets, including 
the lethal bullet,were found within the barrel itself, show that accused's 
gun was pointed in substantially the same direction when he fired the 
three shots. 

In his first pre-trial statement accused stated that he held 
his carbine at port arms and forgot that the safety was not on. His 
gun was pointed "ihto the door" of the cellar and he pulled the trigger 
three times. Deceased, who was in the cellar obtaining cider, screamed 
after the third shot (Pros.Ex.9). In his second pre-trial statement 
accused stated that after he fired the first shot he was "surprised". 
He "moved" the gun, fired the second shot, and then "put the heel of 
the stock" and fired the third shot when the gun was pointing "into the 
air". In his unsworn statement at the trial he stated that he was 
fumbling around with the trigger in the dark, pulled it not knowing 
that the safety was off and the gun "rung out". He exclaimed that 
there was something wrong with the gun and fired it again to discover 
"if there was something wrong with the gun". Deceased then "hollered 
out" and fell on the floor. , Accused was silent with regard to the 
third shot. 

The court was entitled to believe or disbelieve the whole or 
any part ·Of each of the three statements of accused which constituted 
the only direct evidence of the snooting. It is clear that accused knew 
deceased was within the cellar when the former fired each of the shots. 
The first statement (Pros.Ex.9) is the most damaging to accused as he 
admitted firing his weapon three times as it was pointed "into the door11 • 

His claim in the second statement that he moved the position of his gun 
before firing the second shot and also before firing the third, and that 
he fired the thil-d shot into the air, is clearly negatived by the evi­
dence as to the position of the three bullet holes in the barrel head. 
M:ireover, he further admitted that he purposefully fired the weapon 
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twice after the gun supposedly accidentally discl.i:irged on the first occa­
sion. The court was f·..Uly justified in findilig that ac'cused used the 
weapon in a manner which is "li.kely to, and ooes, cs.use daathtt. In such 
a case "the law presumes malice from the act". The cour":. was clearly 
warranted in inferring an intent to kill on the~ part of accused, "founded 
on a manifest or reckless disrebard for the safety of hum.~ life". 
Whether accused rebutted the resultir:g presumption of nalice was a ques­
tion of fact for the determination of the court and in view of the compe­
tent and substantial evidence est~blishing his guilt of the offense 
alleged, the Board of Revie'!f will not dj sturb th13 findings cf the court 
of appellate review (CM l.""1'0 3042, Guy, Jr.; Cb! E.'TO 1901, !.fira.nda). 

7. The charge sheet shom:i that accused is 20 years and one month 
of age and was inducted 27 I.lay 1943. He had no prior service. 

8. The court was legally constituted and ha.d jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during tha trial. The Boa.rd of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to sup­
port the findings of guilty and the s enten~e. 

9. The penalty for murder is death or life imprisonment as the 
court-martial may direct (AW 92). Confinement in a penitentiary is 
authorized for the offense of murder by Article of War 42 and sections 
Z'l5 and 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 454, 567). The designation 
of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, a.s the 
place of confinement is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 June 191,4, sec.II, para. 
1£(4), 3£). 
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War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 1AOi:'C194! . TO: Corrana.nding 
General, Brittany Base Section, Commun1ca~ions -Zone, European Theater 
of Operations, APO 517, U. s. A:rrrry. 

1. In the case of Private THOMAS H. LE'.VIS (33638991), 388th 
Quartermaster Truck Company, attention is invited to the foregoing holding 
by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby 
approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 5~, you now have 
authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 4149. For con­
venience of reference please place that number in brackets at the end 
of the order: (CM ETO 4149). r·1· / . , · 

:{.; /~/#/~·· ··;.. _/"' 
/./" ' - ··1· 
'E. C. McNEIL, . 

Brigadier General, United States Arrrr:1, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BO.ARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 20 JAN1945 
Ci11 ETO 4155 ,
UNITED STATES 	 ) lX ENGINEER cou;r.wm 

) 
v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened at APO 126, 

.) 23 September 1944,. Sentence: 
Technician Fifth Grade ORA B. ) Dishonorable discharge, total for­
BROADUS ( 35480777), Company B, ) feitures and confinement at hard 
832nd Engineer Aviation ) labor for 12 years. United States, 
Battalion · ) Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOLDWG by BC.A.HD OF R.17J'IE1il UO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLECPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The ·record of trial in the case of th~ soldier above named has 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

' 2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 93rd Article of 1ilar. 

Specification: In t.hat Technician Fifth Grade Ora 
B. Broadus, Company ''B", 832nd Engineer Aviation 
Battalion, did, at Neuilly-La-Foret, Fro.nee, on 
or about. 24 J"uly 1944., with intent to commit a 
felony, viz., rape, commit an assault upon 
I:-3.ci.ar:ioiselle Raymonde Gassion, Neuilly-La-foret, 
France, b~r "'illfu.lly and feloniously grabbing 
her around the waist nnd forcing her to the 
ground. 

C:IAF.GE II and Specification: (Finding of Kot Guilty). 

He pleaded not guilty and was found guilty of Charge ·I and its Specifica­
tion, and not guilty of Charge II and its Specification. No evidence of 
previous convictions was intrortuced. Tlu.·ee-fourths of the members 
present at the time the vote waE taken concurring, he was sentenced to be 
d.i:shonorably discharged the servic~, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
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due ~r to become due and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as 
the reviewing authority may direct, tor 12 years. The renewing 
authority approved the sentence, designated the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place o£ confinement and forwarded the 
reoord ot trial taJ.· action pursuant to the provisions or Article of War 
50!. 

). The prosecutrix, Raymonde Cassion, was 15 rears 10 months of 
age at the time of the alleged offense (RJ). She was the daughter ot 
Augustine Letournier, divorcee Gassion, who was then living in Neuill;r­
la-Foret with a man named lf.arion (RJ,6,10,12). During the latter part 
of July 1944, American soldiers were constantly passing their house there 
and stopping in for oider, morning, noon and nieht (Rll). The proeecu­
trix testified that on Friday, Saturday and Sunday nights, 21, 22 and 23 
July 1944, accused stopped at their house tor cider (R4, 5-6,11). On 
?lienday night, 24 Ju11, prosecutrix was returning from milking at about 
8 pm. She was pulling, and 7-year-old Daniel Castile was pUBhing, a 
milk cart along the road in the direction or a wash houee situated about 
250 meters from the Letournier-1!.arion home (R4,7-8). A.ooueed joined 
them and "asked 1£ we bad cider, in French, in a single words 'Cidre'" 
(R9). He then helped her pull the Jlilk cart toward the wash house while 
Daniel continued to push it, all the way (R4,8). AB they proceeded "he 
wanted to grab me aro'UJld the waist, so I turned the wagon round" (R4,6). 
When they arrived at the wash house accused "wanted" to take her inside. 
She, tor her part, "wanted" an1 undertook to return to her home (R4). 
Accused stopped her with hie rifle, not by pointing it at her but by 
interposing it in such a manner as to bar her passage (RJ~,6). Then, 
she testified, 

"I turned around and went in the opposite direc­
tion, running. Then he grabbed me with his arms. 
He threw me to the growxl. He put his rifle and 
hat on the ground there. He lifted rey dress and 
put his haAd on W'J stomach. Then he started to 
unbutton his trousers. I hollered. He held me. 
About this time there were two colered .American 
soldiers came on the scene and Germaine Letlllier. 
We also hollered. He grabbed his rifle and 
helmet end ran away". 

Roger Letillier, aged 16, was present with his mother, Ma.dame Letillier, . 
at the close of this incident (R4). The boy- Daniel lett the wash house 
when the American ran after the prosecutrix. "He ran to MY home. * * * 
I seen him leave, running", she testified {R8). He went for help, "to 
get Mr. Marion" (R9). She estimated that she struggled with accused for 
probably 7 or 8 minutes (R6) • Her only report to 1&!.darie Letellier after 
the attack was that "I knew the soldier that caJ!le to our home Friday e.nd 
it wasn't worth ghing him cider" (R6). When she tirst saw the colored 
11en they were. probably 100 yards aweJ'. She die not appeal to them to 
try to stop her assailant and they "passed by near and said nothing". 
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She was standing when she first ea~ them (R7). 

Augustine Letournier testified that on Frid~, Saturday and 
Sundq, 21, 22 and 23 July, accmsed came while she and prosecutrix were 
"milking con" and he came back to the house and asked for cider, which 
he received on each occasion (Rl0-11). "The third ni~ht * * *", she 
elaborated, "he eTen helped rrt little girl milk con" (Rll). She was 
not permitted to testi!')', on cress examination, how many children she had 
at home, the law member sustaining the trial judge advocate' s objection, 
atter def'ense coumel e:xpla.ined that he was 

"tr7hg to show that if there are aey other 
ehildren, some of them were present at the 
time the accused was there. That is the 
basis for my asking that question" (Rl2). 

Roger Letellier, aged 16, testified that he llnd 1500 meters 
from prosecutrix' house (Rl2-l3); that at 7 or 7s30 o'clock en the evening 
or 24 July · 

"I heard her cry for help. I went rtmning. 
I saw the .American * * * soldier who was 
picking '1p his helmet am his rirle and 
learlng. I saw two colored soldiers and 
that's all•. 

When he heard proseeutrix scream, he was probabl.7 15 meters trom the point 
where he saw the soldier leave (Rl.3). He also testified that when he first 
saw the soldier, witness and prosecutrix were in a field together. He 
observed that her blouse was torn (Rl.4). She told him she was attacked 
by an American soldier, whom the rlt11ess salf picking up his bat and rifle 
and walking slowly when the witness arrind (R13-14). "l said, 'Leave 
the ~oung lady alone'", Roger testified. !t the time he heard prosecu­
trix cry for help he was in the same field but could not see her or accused 
because there was a hedge 1n between (R14) • He heard her cry !or help:_ 
continuously for at least ten minutes. Arter listenil:g far awhile, be 
ran about 200 meters to where be saw the soldier. As to the length and 
width o! the field, he described it as~"about 20 metres large. , I don't 
know the width" (Rl5). 

Captain Albert M. Shultz, defense counsel, testified tor the 
prosecution that be was accused's company commander and that accused was 
in the military service or the United States (R22-23). On croes examina­
tion he testified that on the evening or 28 JW.,-, a milit817 police 
officer egcorted prosecutrix and Jeanne Toquet, named as proeecutrix in 
the Specification, Charge II, of which accused was acquitted - to the cemp. 

"I called Broadus off the field where he bad 
been working because it ruld been told to Ile 

that a man of Broadus' description was the man 
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Jeanne Toquet and Raymonde Gassion was looking 
for. The M.P. lieutenant, Jeanne Toquet, 
Raymonde Gassion and myself were st.anding there 
when Broadus walked into the company area. As 
soon as Broadus appeared, Jeanne Toquet illI!lediately 
pointed to him and said, 'That's the man'" (R23) 
(Underscoring supplied). 

Thereafter, 

11 1 had a formation in which T/5 Broadus and tive 
or six other soldiers in the company similar in 
appearance to Broadus lined up before them. 
Raymonde Gassion and Jeanne Toquet both identified 
the accused. Later, after Daniel Castile and 
Madame Letillier arrived I held another formation". 

Neither ot the two latter could identify anybody (R24). On redirect 
examination, he testified that when accused walked up to Jeanne Toquet and 
prosecutrix at the time they were brought to the camp, "They nodded their 
heads" (R25). 

Captain Shultz also testified that he had lmown accused for oier 
two 7ears and had been his company comnander during all ot that time. He 
characterized his efficiency rating as "Satisfactory, inasmuch as he ie 
old and cannot work like the rest of the men in the company" (R23). Ac­
cused had several times been placed on duty of a different type because 
of physical disability to work out on the line. "Sometimes we would go 
out on the line to work, and be would go along with us. We would have 
to pull him back; he never complained and was alnys willing to work, but 
he was physicall;r unable to do this heaT,Y type of work". His particular 
duty, during the period involved, was officers' orderly. It was "on 
account of physical disability to work out on the line that he was given 
other types of work" (R25). 

4. Fctr the defense, Technician Fifth Grade Thomae Gartland, Comp&.ey" 
B, 832nd Engineer Aviation Battalion, testified that he slept in a pup 
tent with accused during the month of July 1944. In the evening accused 
"wrote letters and listened to the radio and played cards. That was 
about all he cared to do" (R27). Witness worked on the rwnray at the 
airdrome on Monday, the 24th, the date on which the alleged offense was 
collllnitted (R28). 

Second Lieutenant Samuel D. Worton, 925th Engineer Aviation 
Regiment, was appointed investigating ct'f icer to make a further investi­
~ation of accused 1 s case after it was sent to regiment..al. headquarters 
lR28-29). In this capacity he made certain physical tests and measure- . 
ments to determine the reliability of-the-witnesses' statements (R29). - - ·· 
One of these tests was to· have Roger Letellier re-enact the run he said 
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he made on the night of the alleged attack (R30-31,33). The results 
sh01red that if' immediately after Roger started running accused had started 
getting up slowly, picked up his rif'lP. and helmet, and walked slowly away 
in the direction indicated, he would have been out of sight b7 the time 
Roger arrived at the place where he testified he saw the accused. Accord­
ing to Lieutenant Worton's recollection, it took a little over a minute for 
Roger to make the run (R32). 

5. Accused, after his rights were explained to him (P.33), testified 
in substance as follows: 

On 18 July he passed the house where prosecutrix lived with her 
mother and "Mr. Marion" and saw, out in front, two American soldiers and 
also a man. and a boy. He accepted their invitation to drink cider, of 
which the boy brought him two glasEes. jWhile. there he observed "fcur 
or five kids". He did not see the prosecutrix nor acy "women folks". 
He did not enter the house but, after drinking the cider, returned to 
camp (RJ4). On the evening of the 24th (the date of the alleged offense), 
he.went visiting the airdrome after supper, about 6:30 or a quarter of 7, 
"walking around where they were working". The distance he walked, 8.I'OUild 
the company area and the airport, was about three and a half miles. He 
returned from the airport to the compan~ area at about 9:30 or 10 o'clock. 
Thomas Gartland, his tentmate,was there at the time. "I talked to him 
about the airfield. I told him it looked like it was going to be a 
nice airfield" (R35). He had been to prosecutrix' home to get cider 
"Not more than once or twice. * * * I don't remember seeing any women 
there at all" (R36). 

On cross examination, he testified that he had been to the house 
where prosecutrix lived once before and that he stopped at the home ot 
Madame Letellier on his way back on the same afternoon. At first be had 
told the investigating officer that he had neTer been to either of these 
houses before because "I knew I was not the man they were looking for, 
and I didn't want to be mixed up in it". He never talked to Madame 
Gassion (Augustine Letournier) but he did talk to Mada.1te Letellier when 
he was at her house. · He wanteQ....to. see if s.he could talk English, so he 
asked her whether she was married or not (ft37).

··' 

A member of the court, having· elicited testimony that accused 
spoke no French at all, asked him "How would you go about asking her if 
she was married?". Accused replied, "All I know how to go about asking 
her is 'Zig-Zig'. I guess the Germans said that to them". Asked what 
he said when he asked Mme. Letellier that question, accused answered 
that it was "in the book - the French Manual". His interrogator inquired 
if he could find it in TM 30-620, French Phrase Book. Accused replied, 
"No, sir, it isn't in there. I had another book" (R39). Thereafter 
the following collo~~occurred between accused and another member of 
the court: ­
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"Q. 	 When you asked this Madame Letillier if she 
was married, as you say, and used this phrase 
'Zig-Zig', did you know what that means? 
When you were talking to her, what did you 
understand this eJ<pression to mean? What 
does it mean? Do you know what it means? 

A. 	 I didn't know what it is unless it means 
asking for a piece. 

Q. 	 Is that your conception of it? 

A. 	 I guess so. 

Q. 	 But you didn't do that to this woman, . 
Madame Letillier? 

A. 	 I never did this to none of them" (R4l.). 

6. Technician Fifth Grade Thomas Gartland, recalled as a witness 
by the court, testified that one night about an hour after supper accused, 
having visited the landing strip first, "made the remark to me it looked 
like it was going to be a nice field. I told him we could do it in 
about 20 days" (R43). 

7. The general defectiveness of the trial proceedings in the instant 
case has called for a careful scrutiny of the entire record of trial to 
the end that, in furtherance of justice, the accused's legal rights may be 
protected, as prorlded in the Articles of War (CM l.9.4200, Sanderson (1931), 
2 BR 125). Noteworthy irregularities and ele:nenta·of weakness affecting 
the substantiability of the inculpatory e~denc~ include the following: 

(a) The defense counsel, Captain Albert M. Schultz, was the 
compo.n7 commander of accused, the officer who signed and swore to the 
charges, reconmended accused's elimination from the service and also was 
called and testified as a witness for the prosecution (~ CM 194200, 
.!ill£~). 

(b) The law member erroneously curtailed defense counsel's 
cross examination o.f Augustine Letournier. 

(c) 'nlere is no showing o.f even any slight mark or damage to 
the person of the prosecutrix. 

(d) Roger Letellier's testimony that her blouse was torn is 
wholly uncorroborated by any other witness. Not even the prosecutrix 
herself testified that it was torn. Moreover there is no evidence of 
its condition prior to her alleged encounter with accused. 

(e) Roger's testimony that prosecutrix told him, ~t the time 
he arrived on the scene, that she was attacked by an American soldier is 
contradicted by prosecutrix' oivn testimony that, at the moment she ~i'
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Roger and his mother, she said nothirg to them. Moreover, all she testi ­
fied that she told Mrs. Letillier later was that she "knew the soldier 
that came to our home Friday and it wasn't worth giving him cider". The 
only testimony with reference to arr:r complaint was prosecutr.ix' repljr to 
the question, "When did you or yoi.n- mother make the first complaint to 
the gendarmes or military police?", to which she replied "Tuesday after­
noon". .... 

(r) Prosecutrix testified accused threw her to the ground and 
was holding her when "two colored soldiers came on the scene and Geraaine 
Letellier. We also hollered. He grabbed his rifle and helmet and n.!! 
away". She also testified that she was ~ding when she saw the colored 
soldiers; also that when accused left ~he scene of the alleged assault "be 
was !alking; he was not hitrrying" (underscoring supplied). 

' 
(g) Germaine Letellier did not testify. The stipulation as 

to what she would have testified did not include any suggestion whatever 
that she heard prosecutrix scream, nor any corroboration of Roger's 
testinlOllY' as to (l) his remark to the soldier,· (2) prosecutrix' torn 
blouse or (3) any complaint made by prosecutrix to either Mme. Letellier 
or Roger. ~ 

(h) Although prosecutrix1 mother, Mme. Letournier, testified, 
she tailed to testif7 with reference to any complaint made to her by 
prosecutrix, the latter's condition or any da?!lage to her person or 
clothes. 

(i) Neither Daniel Castile,, "Hr. Marion" or the negro soldiers 
were called by the prosecution to testify, although theirs would have 
been the strongest corroboration possibl~ ot the prosecuttix' stor;y; and 
there is no showing that the7 were not available. 

•It is incUJllbent upon the state to produce evi­
dence that would naturalzy be produced in an 
honest effort to support the charge in an in­
dictment and the non-production of such evidence 
permits the inference that if it were produced, 
its tenor would have been unfavorable to the 
prosecution" (Wharton's Criminal Evidence, 
Vol.l, p.128). · . 

Moreover all or the above noted contradictions, inconsistencies, omissions 
and discrepancies in the testimony of the prosecutrix and otherwi.tnesses 
tor the prosecution are of particular significance in view of the nature 
of the offense charged. It is the duty of the Board of Retlew to 
scrutinize such evidence carefully, not for the purpose or weighing it 
but to determine its substantiality, especially in connection with other 
errors and irregularities noted, j,n deciding whether or not the record 
·affirmatively shows that the latter injuriously affected the substantial 
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rights of the accused (Cii ETO 2625, fi:idgen, am authorities there cited). 

(j) According to Captain Schultz' testimony, it was Jeanne 
Toquet rather than prosecutrix who first identified accused when the two 
came to the camp for the purpose. Toquet's evidence as to the alleged 
attack on her was evidently not believed and was discredited by the 
court who acquitted accused of that particular charge and specification. 

(k) Members of th~ court indicated by their questions propounded 
to accused while he was on the witness statrl that they misunderstood his 
testimony as to his conversation with Mme. Letellier. The record clearly 
shows that, in reply to the trial judge advocate 1 s question "Did yo11 ask 
her whether she was married or not?", accused replied, "Yea. I wanted 
to see if she could talk English". A member of the court, having ascer­
tained that accused spoke no French, then inquired, "How would you go about 
asking her (sic) if she was married?". Accused replied - perhaps a trifle 
ambiguously, "All I know how to go abou~ asking her is 'Zig-Zig'. I guess 
the Germans Ea:./ that to them". But when, illlillediately thereafter, he was 
asked just what he said when he asked Mme. Letellier "that question", he 
clearly stated, "It's in the book - in the French Manual". Later, another 
member of the court asked the accused, 11Wh!'!n you asked this Madame Letellier 
if she was married, ~s you say, and ~ed this phrase 'Zig-zig', did you 
know what it means?" Th.en, before accused had an opportunity to answer, 
his interrogator continued, "What does it mean? Do you know what it means?" 
Accused bad not testified that he used the phrase 'Zig-zig' to Mee. Letellier 
but, on the other hand, that, when he asked her if she were married, he em­
ployed language fo1.llld in the French Manual. The rapid, uninterrupted ". 
succession of the last two questions may well have deprived him of the 
opportunity to correct the erroneous assumption involved, whereas the 
.first of the three successive questions clearly shows that at least one 
member of the court had misunderstood, to accused's prejudice, the latter's· 
testimony in this regard. 

Because of the errors noted co~r.dtted during the trial proceed­
ings and the inherent weakness of the evidence of accuaed's guilt, it is 
the opinion of the Board of Review that the substantial rights of the 
accused were injuriously affected and that the findings of guilty should 
be vacated (CM 194200, Sanderson (1931), 2 BR 125). 

8. The charge sheet shows that accused is 43 years seven months of 
age and that, with no prior service, he was inducted at Louisville, 
Kentucky, 4 June 1942. 

9. For the reasons stated, the Board of Review holds the record 
of trial legally insufficient to support the findings of guilty anrl the 
sentence. 

~"' ......._ \ . r 

• i L l ti,··( . .; "-.... •• · • ·.,.. • ,. , Judge Advoc~te 

~---,-£.--Judge Advocate 

....tfe... __Judge Arltf i?f5....'·Vt~1-·;1=<±'""»•..:.t(.....__;~~·"·...,,"'"~'"'"A-.~_,.,._('.._ 
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lat Ind~ 

War Department, Branch Oi'fice of The Ji:W1te AdvNoca:tifi General, with the 
European Theater of Operations. ~ U JA 194!> TO: Commanding 
General, IX Engineer Comna.nd, APO 126, U. s. A:rrrry. 

1. In the case of Technician Fifth Grade llU B. BROADUS (35420777), 
Company B, 8J2nd Engineer Aviation Battalion, attention is invited to the 
foregoing holding of the Board of Review that the record of trial is 
legally insufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, 
in which holding I concur. The holding of the Board of Review and 't!I:f 
concurrence therein automatically vacate the findings and sentence {AW 
50>}; CM 152122, Ind. by Hull, Acting The JAG to WD, 20 July 1922). 

2. Under Article of War 50-~, the accused may again be brought to 
trial, by either general or special court-martial, for the offenses 
charged or for lesser included offenses. If' a rehearing· is directed, 
it should be ordered in the final action disapproving the present 
sentence. 

J. When copie~ of the published order are forwarded.to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this cf'fice is CM ETC 4155. For con­
venience of ifeference, please place that number in brackets at the end 
of the order: (Cl4 ETO 4155). In the event there is a rehearing, the 
order will not be published until after appellate review of the record 

of the s~1cond trial. A~ . . ,
/ / :.!:11 /;//( /' c ~/., 

,,,.- J' , . I ... ,, ' 

' E. c. 14cNEIL, 
Brigadier General, United States A.rm:;, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Bra.Iich Office of The Jooge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater ot Operations 

APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 7 DEG 1944 
611 ETO 4165 

UNITED STATES) 
) 

8'l'H INFANTRY DIVISION 

v. 

Private THEOOORE W. FF.CICA. 

) 

~ 
Trial by GC.M, convened at APO 8, 
U. S. A.rrrtt, 10 October 1944. 
Sentences Dishonorable discharge, 

(.3311<:952), Company D, 
l2lst Infantry 

) 
)
) 
) 

total f'orteitures am eontinement 
at hard labor f'ar 30 years. United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD CF REVmiV NO. l 

RITER, SARGENT and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial 1n the case of the soldier named above has 
been eJCalllined by the Board of' Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the tollowing Charge and Speoiticationt 

CHARGE: Violation ot the 58th Article of War. 
Specification: In that Private Theodore W. Fecica, 

Company "D" One Hundred Twenty First Inf'antry 
·did, at vicinity west of Argol, France, on or 
aboutCSOO, 16 September 1944, desert the ser­
vice of the United States by quitting his 
organization with intent to avoid hazardous 
duty, to wit: engage in combat with the en~, 
and did remain absent 1n desertion until be was 
apprehended at intersection ot North 7?17 and 
Grade Crossing (60) sixty-, on or about 17.30, 
16 September 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty and, three-tourtbs of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was takep concurring, was found guilty of 
the Specification except the words "oil:· or about 1730", substituting 
tberef'ar the words "on or about 1430", of the excepted words not guilt7, 
ot the substituted words guilty, and guilty of the Charge. No evidence 
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ot previous convictions was introduced. Three-fourths ot the members 
ot the court present at the time the vote was taken concurring, he waa 
eentenced to be dishonorabl1 discharged the service, to torteit all pq 
and allowances due or to become due, and to be confined at·hard labor, 
at such place as the reviewing authorit7 may direct, for 30 ;years. 
The reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated the United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the pla.oe ot confine­
ment, and forwarded the record ot trial tor action pursuant to Article 
ot War 50!". . 

3. The evidence tor the prosecution may be summarized as tollOW11 

Accused was a member ot a machine-gun squad in Company D, l21st 
Inf'antr;y, which was under orders to join in an attack upon a tortif'ied 
enentr position at ~00 or 1000 hours, 16 September 1944. Notice ot the 
attack arxl ot·the time it Would occur was giwn personallJ' b;r the squad 
leader to accused and to en17 other member ot the squad two or three 
hours before the attack was to take place. The co~ was then tituated 
in the front l.iDe about·150 yards trOll the enem;r, in the vioinit;:r ct " 
.lrgol, France (R6,8,9,l0,14). About one-half' hour before the tiDe set 
for the attack accused stated to hie section leader that he was nervows, 
sick, and could not make the attack. He requested permission to go to 
the aid station which was between 2500 yards and five miles to the rear. 
Although there was nothing unusual in accused's appearance,· he received 
the section leader's permission arxl left (R9,lO,ll,13,15,l6). That dq 
the company was subjected to considerable tire by the ene11t3' and on the 
following day it broke through to the tortil'ied position (R14,27). .A. 
sergeant in the medical detachment of the l2lst Infantr,.. testil'ied that 
sometime during a three-day period which included the day of the attack, 
he saw accuaed at the aid station and assisted hill and a wounded soldier 
who was with him (R.24). No record, however, was found showing that ac­
cused was treated at the station, although in all caaes except minor.ones 
a record was kept ot all personnel who received medical treatment (R7,20). 

Between 1430 and 1630 hours, 16 September, accused was seen b1' 
a military police lieutenant at the intersection of grade crossing 60 and 
highway 7~, about 15 miles from the front line where combat was in 
progress. He was wearing his uniform but had no weapon. He stated 
that he belonged to the l.2lst Infantey', that he had "cracked up" at the 
front and was looking for a hospital. l{e asserted that he had been at 
the aid station where one of the enlisted members at the medical detach­
ment told him to go to the hospital for a rest. The otticer ordered 
accused into a jeep a.rd took him to the adjutant of' the l21st Inf'antr,y 
(Rl6,17,18). 

4. The evidence £or the deferuse was substantiall.7 a.a follows a 

Af'ter his rights were e:xplained to him, accused at his own re­
quest was sworn as a witness in his own behalf. He testified that on 
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or about 16 September he received permission from his squad leader to go 
to the aid station. He requested to go there becauae he was very ner­
vous and his stomach was upset. This condition came on during the night 
preceding the attack. He ttshook like a learn and did not sleep. He 
had undergone the same experience through several battles. He left for 
the aid station at aboutCSOO hours and met a wotmded soldier from Com­
pany B. They went to the aid station together and rode on a jeep part 
ot the ws:y. He remembered nothing after he got on the jeep. He bad 
"sinus trouble" and when he has an attack of sinus he can remember 
nothing. He did not recall what happened from the time he left his 
company 'lmtil he founi himself back at the regimental command post. He 
remembered that a military police lieutenant picked him up an:i spoke to 
him. He often suff'ered from "nerves" during combat. This condition 
lasted a week or a month and during that period his mind went blank. 
He did not recall when he had lapses of memory in the past. He bad. 
never been sent back to the clearing station and had never been at a 
battalion aid station for rest. He mentioned only one instance to the 
division psychiatrist when his mind bad gone blank. He did not think 
it necessary to tell him it had happened before. He bad gone through 
high school. He denied that he intended to quit his organization or 
run away from it or shirk important duty (R28-31,.3.3-35). 

The psychiatrist for the 8th Infantry Division testified that 
he examined accused on 4 October to determine his sanity. He found him 
responsible for his actions and not mentally diseased. It was possible 
for a man to be mentally ill for a few hours and to have no trace ot 
his illness afterward. It was impossible to forl!'l an intent while suf­
fering from amnesia. He saw no relationship between accused's sinus 
condition and his loss ot memory. Accused did not tell witness that 
he had suffered from amnesia at any time. Loss of memory for a month 
would disable a soldier from performing his normal duties. He doubted 
if accused could have gone through periods of amnesia without being aware 
ot his condition (R.31-.3.3). 

S. Recalled and examined by the court, accused 1s squad leader 
testified that since 28 August 1944 when accused became a member of his 
squad, he had seen no indicatiOn that he was eu.ffering from loss of 
memory. He observed nothing about accused that would lead him to be­
lieve that he was not mentally normal. Accused had never complained 
to him about uq mental disturbance .cf arry kind (R36). 

6·. (a) When the prosecution rested, the defense moved for findings 
of not guilty. The motion was denied (R22-23) • The defense then pro­
ceeded with the trial, presented evidence, but failed to renew"the motion 
at the close of the trial. The motion was thereby waived and it need· 
not be decided whether the evidence be:f'ore the court when-the motion was 
Ila.de was sufficient to support a finding of guilty (CM ETO 564, Neville). 

(b) '!'here was undisputed evidence that accused, clearly without 
authority, went many miles beyond the aid station in a direction away 
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from the front line. Even if' it be assuined that accused had Talid per­
mission to go to the aid station, he absented himself without proper leave 
the moment he left the eta.tion to proceed still farther to the rear. The 
evidence :f'ully warranted a finding that at the time accused so absented 
himself he did so with the intent to avoid joining in the attack against 
the eneJ!l1 (Cf': CM ETO 1404, Sta.ck). 

Upon another Tiew of the evidence the court could properly 
have believed that accused secured permission to go to the aid station 
by feigning illness, that his real object was to get away from his unit 
which he knew was about to engage in combat against the eneJll1, and that 
he left his company with the intent to avoid participation in the impend­
ing attack. If' the court believed, as it was warranted to do on the 
evidence, that the eection leader was induced to grant accused permission 
to go to the aid station b7 his deliberately talse, material representa­
tion that be was ill, then the permission eo obtained, even if' otherwise 
valid, was inoperative and accused's act in absenting himself pursuant · 
thereto was without proper leave. Whether accused was euttering from 
amnesia at the time of the alleged offense was a question of fact for 
the court which, in this case, was resolved against him (CM ETO 1404, 
~). Any testimony by accused that he did not intend to avoid haz­
ardous duty is not compelling as the court might believe or reject such 
testimony in whole or in part. All the elements or the offense alleged 
in the Specification were established by the evidence (CM ETO 1664, 
Wilson; CM ETO 105, Fowler). 

7. The charge sheet shows that accused is 30 years of age and 
was inducted 18 September 1941 at Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. His 
period of service is governed by the Service Extension Act ~ 1941. · 
He had no prior service. 

8. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and the offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

9. Confinement in a penitentiary for the o£feil8e of desertion 
committed in time of' war is authorized by Article ot War 42. Inasmuch 
as the sentence included confinement at hard labor tor more than ten 
years, confinement in the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania, is proper (Cir.229, WD, 8 Jtme 1944, Sec.II, pars.1~(4) 
and 32). 

I /_,...
I. "' I l ..,,. ... __i_'·-r--~-~t_.,_··-"-c__,_·,_.. ,___Judge Advocate 

(.('// ./ Y.£-i. _,, ~ .
,.7---:>•'<,/''1,''-' 1'3 '£<,,l-'f,4'~udge Advocate 

~ ~' 
1/ 1_• - µ­ I 

/ah f 'l,( '(\f~a41lJudge Advocate 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Qf'fice of Tbs .Troge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of' .Operations. 7 DEG 1944 TOa Commanding 
General, 8th Infantry Division, Aro S, U. S • .Arlltf. 

1. In the case or Private THECDCRE W. Fn'.:ICA. (3311~52), Coq>~ D, 
12lst Infantry, attention is invited to the .fol"egoing holding by the Board. 
ot Review that the record of' trial is legally- sufticient to support the 
filldings of guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereb,y approved. 
Under the provisions of Article or War 5Dt, y-ou now have authority to 
order execution of' the sentence. 

2. It is noted both from his testimony and from his report to the 
Sta.ff Judge Advocate that the division neuropsy-chiatriat examined accused 
18 days after the commission of' the offense and found him sane, respon­
sible for his actions, and not mentally diseased at the time ot the 
e:xamination. No opinion is expressed as to the men~ condition ot 
accused at the time o£ the ot'tense. The Aknual for tourte-»artial, 1928, 
provides as tollowsi 

"A person is not mentally- responsible for an 
offense unless he was at the time so far free 
from mental defect, disease, or derangement 
as to be able concerning the particular acts 
charged both to distinguish right from wrong 
and to adhere to the right" (.I.CM, 1928, 
par.78,1&, p.6.3). 

"The medical officers * * * should ordinariJ.3' 
be required to include in the rpport a state­
ment in as non-technical language as practi ­
cable, of' the mental condition of' the accused 
both at the time of the o.ffense and at the 
time of the eX8Jllination" (Id., pa.r • .35~, p.26). 

A medical report on the mental condition of an accused should meet the 
requirements of the Manual. 

). When copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied b,y the .f'oregoing holding am this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this otf'ice is CM EI.'O 4165. For con­
venience of reference, please place that number in J>Jrackets at the end 
of the order: (CUETO 4165). /}".»;:.//z¥4,,,. . 

E. C. McNEIIr, 
Brigadier General, United States Arm:/, 


Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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CONFIDENTIAL 

Branch Of:tice of The .Tudge Advocate General (49) 
with the . 

European Theater of Operations 
.APO 887 

BOlRD OF REvlEW NO. 2 

CM ETO 4171 

UNITED S T A T E S 

Private CLIDE G. Mcm.NW. 
(11013622), Medical Detach­
ment, 56th Signal Bat.talion.. 

2 5 NOV 1944 

V CORPS 

Trial b1 Gell, convened near St• 
Vi\h, Belgiwa, 10 October 1944. 
Sentences Dishonorable discharge, 
total forfeitures and confine­
ment at ha.rd labor for five years.. 
Eastern Branoh, United States 
Discipl.1.na.r7 Barracks,. Greenha.ven~ 
?few York•. 

HOIDmG by BOA.RD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
VAN. BENSCIIDrEN, HILL_ and SIEEPER, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the oase of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board o:t Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon. the foll.owing Charge and Speci:tioationa 

CHARGB 1 Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 
Specificatio~ In: that Private (then Private First Class) 

Clyde G. McKinnon, Medical Detachment, 56th Signal 
Battalion, did, in the vicinity of Arnouville, 
France, on or about .31 Au6Ust 1944 absent llim­
seli' without proper leave from his organization 
and did remain absent therefrom without proper 
leave until on or about 20 ·september 1944. · 

lie pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and Speci­
fication. Evidence was introduced of one previous conviction by special 
court martial for absence without leave for four days, in violation of 
Article of War 61. He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the 
service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due and to 
be confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may 
direct for five years. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, 
designated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenbaven, New York, as the place of confinement andf£orwarded the 
record of trial for action.pursuant to the provisions of Article of War 
50-h 
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J. Competent i.mcontradictecl evidence establishes the .fact that 
accused absented himself from hi::i org~nization on tae date and under tl1e 
circumstances alleged and Yolu."ltaril;;• ret'-l.rlled to his unit on September 
20, 1944 (R6,8,10; Pros.Ex. 11An). 

4. After hi.J ric-"i.ts as a 'l'litness had been i'ullJ' explained to him, he 
declined to take the stand and testify in hia ovm behalf bu-t made an unoworn 
statement, which was read by the defense counsel, stating that he wa::: "picked 
up", at the point of a gun, taken some diztance fa a car, and que:::tioned by 
persons connected with the "FFI". After somE:: days, he cot a1vay and made his 
way to the Red Ball Highway and event1.ially got back to his unit in Belgium
(Rl3, Def.Ex.l). 

Since he was absent vrithout leave at the time he claims he was 
seized by the "FFI", this self-serving statement of involuntary restraint, 
even ii' true, does not, iuider the circu.mstances, constitute a legal defense 
to the offense charged (r.mt 1928,par.132,p.146). 

5. The charge sheet shows that accused is 27 years 11 months of age. 
He enlisted, without prior service, at Portland, r1~i.dne, 25 Novembe::::-.1940. 

6. The court was legally constituted and had juri;:;dbtion of the per­
son and offenss, • No errors injuriously affecting; tho subs~e.ntial r:l .:;!-:ts of 
accused were committed during the trial. The Board. of Hevio.r i.'.l of the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support t!:,e find­
ings of guilty and the sentence. 

7. The desigrlation of the Eastern Branch, United States Discipl:l.nary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, is pro~r. 
(AW 42; Cir.210,WD,14 Sept.1943,Sec.VI,as amended). 

.... ···­..c-·.. " 
--~~-•-~_t__..._~!_._."'7_·~-··-··~~~~~-Judge Advocate 

hJ.t- . .;'_... -- 1..L . I/ft.fJ><: '~_;::;:<...A__Judge M.vocate 
' ... 

··~~ _Judee Advoca to 
i 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 2 5 NOV 1944 TO: Collllllanding 
General, V Corps, APO 305, U.S. Army. 

1. In the case of Private CLYDE G. McKINNON (1101)622), Medical 
Detac~.ment, 56th Signal Battalion, attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the reccrd of trial is legally suf­
ficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which holding 
is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 50!-, you now 
have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. Accused entered the service by voluntary enlistment on 25 
November 1940 and has thus served almost four years in the Army. He 
has been convicted for absence without leave, by inferior courts martial, 
on six occasions but has held service ratings of Private First Class and 
Technician Fifth Grade and received Character and Efficiency ratings of 
Ver-y good, Excellent, and Satisfactory. While his story about detention by 
the F.F.I. may not be true, yet it is evident that in the present instance 
accused showed considerable initiative and effort returning from the neigh­
borhood of Paris to his organization in Belgium. All convictions were for 
purely military offens~. In view of the extenuating circtnnstances herein 
and the theater policy bf salvage of manpower, it is recommended that the 
dishonorable discharge be suspended and the Seine Disciplinary Training 
Center be designated as the place of confinement. If this is done, a 
supplementary action should be forwarded for attachment to the record. 

J.__ When copies of the published order are forwarded to this- office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indQrsement. 
The file number of the record in this o:t;-tfoe is CM ETO 4171. For con­
venience of reference please place that<~tiumber in brackets at the end 
of the order: (CM ETO 4171). 

P'~ 	 ,ji,7////i1:7 
E. 	C. McNEIL, 

Brigadier 	General, United States Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

« .~. 
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.CONFIDENTIAL 

(53)
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater of Operations 

APO em 

BOARD OF R~ VD?:vv NO. l 	 ' 3 JAN 1945 

·.CM ETO 4172 

U N I T E D S T A T E S 	 ) VIII CORPS 

) 


v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, convened. at Morlaix, 
) Finistere, France, Z0,21 September 

Technicians Fifth Grade FREEMAN ) 1944. NOLLE PROSEQUI:· Carrol and 
DAVIS (34533501), CHARUE ROLA."ID() Freeman Davis. S.ENTENCJ?...S as to Rola.rid, 
JR. (340lllll) , S • T. PJUhl/S ,; ) Fellows, Mitchell, ~7illia..-n Davis, 
(344679.51), WILLIAM MITCHE~ 0 ) Nathon, Harris, Chambers: Dishonorable 
(34005Er/O~ and .flILL.IAM DAVIS .,. ) discharge, total forfeitures and confine­
04518$09),.,Private First Class ) ment at hard labor for life. United · 
SffiUIL CA..PJiOL (34467995), and ) States Fenitentiary, Lewisburg, Perµlsyl-
Privates CEASE!\ h;yttfil.Jf(34007s35),) vania. 
CORNELIUS HA.'111.IS to( 34271261), and ) 
ELI CPJillBERS X'34271305), all of ) 
447th Quartermaster Troop ) 
Tr<.insport Company ) 

I. HOLDIHG by BOARD OF REVIE:..f rm. l 
RITER, SiUl.G.ENT and STEV..::l~S, Judge Advoc<..tes 

1. Tbe .r~ord of trial in the case of the soldiers named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review • 

•2. Accused Roland, Fellows, Mitchell, Nathan, Harris and 
Chambers were jointly tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of Vfar. 

Specification: In tho.t Technician Grade 5 William 
Mitchell, Technician Grade 5 Freeman Davis, 
Private Ceaser Nathan, Technician Grade 5 
Charlie Roland Jr'., Private Cornelius Harris, 
Private Eli Chai:tters, ~rivo.te rirst Class 
Snruil Carrol cJ'.ld 7echnician Grade 5 S. T. 
(Io) FellO'rl3 all of 447th ~uartermaster Troop 
Transport Company, actin.:: jointly and in pur­ 4172 
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suance of a comm:m desien, did, in the vici­
nity of Plougar, Finistere, France, on or ~bout 
24 August 1%4, forcibly and feloniously, aga:i.nst 
her will, have carnal J.mowled;e of Anna :'.arie 
Fourdilis. 

3. Accused, William Davis, .was tried upon the following Charge 
and Specif:i,c2.tion: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

S?ecification: In that Private William. (NMI) Davis, 
447th Quartermaster Troop TranspJrt Company, 

, 	 while acting jointly and in pursuance of a 
comr:lon desien with Technician Grade 5 William 
::il.tchell, Private Ceaser Nathan, Technician 
Grade 5 Charlie Roland Jr., Private Cornelius 
Harris, Private Eli Cha.'llbers, and Technician , 
Grade 5 S.T. (IO) Fellows, did, in the vici­
nity of I·lougar, Finistere, France, on or about 
24 August 1944, forcibly and feloniously, 
against her wi" 1, have carnal lmowledge of 
.Anna 1-~arie Foudilis. 

Each of the accused, Roland, Fell~IB, ~litchell, Nathan, 
Harris ancl Chambers pleaded not guilty, and 8.llmembers of the court 
present at the times the votes were taken concurring, each of said 
accused was founi £uilty of the Charge and Specification preferred 
against said accused jointly. Accused William Davis pleaded not 
guilty, and c.~_l of the nernbers of the cou:rt present at the time the 
vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of the Charge and 
Specification 9referred against him. Evidence of previous convictions 
was introduced as follows: as to accused, Fellows, one by summary 
court for absence without leave for one hour in violation of the 6lst 
Article of Har; as to accused, Mitchell, one by special court-martial 
for absence without leave from his post, camp and duties in violation 
of the 6lst Article of 1lar, and two by summary courts, respectively 
for absence without- leave for three days in violation of the 6lst 
Article of ~·!ar and for wrongfully urinating in the company street in 
violation of th2 96th Article of War; a.:> to accused I~athan, two by 
summary court for absence without leave for one day and for absence 
without leave from guard for six hours respectively both in violation 
of the 6lst Article of Tiar; as to accused Cha.:11.?lers, two by summary 
courts for absence without leave ~d for absenting himself without 
leave from ?roperly appointed place of duty after having repaired 
there to perform said duty respectively both in violation of the 6lst 
Article of War. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced_ 
as to accused Roland, Harris and 1'1illiam Davis. All members of the 
court present at the times the votes were taken concurring, each 
accused was sentenced to be dishonorably dischareed the service, to 
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forfeit all i~<:..y ar:d a.ac·,1;~~hces due or to .eco~.·.e C.ue, c.nc.i to be 
confined <:..t liard labor f'Jr tr.c; tern of his Lc.tura.l life. The 
revie~dng L.ut'.ority a.~:;rovcd each of tl~e sc.r"te:-ices, desi,::;r~ated 
the t.:nited .St<:.tcs c·enitentiary, :.evrisbu.rg, Pennsylvania, as the 
pL ce of cor.fir;ement of each accused found guilty, 2.l1d forwarded 
the record. of trial for <:.ction pursuant to· Ar":.icle of ·.:ar 501. 

4. Cpon written direction of tl:e Comn<:.nding General, VIII 
Corps, the prosecution entered nolle prosequi to the charges 
against accused Freeman Davis and Carrol (R7). ill of the remaining 
accused acreed to be tried toeether (R?). 

5. Prosecution's evidence established the following facts: 

The seven accused were nembers of the 447th ~artermaster . 
Troop Transport Company and on 4 August 1944 were bivouacked near 
the town of Chateau de Kerjean, France (RS,21,26,30). Eadame .Arma 
: :arie Fourdilis, is a widow1 56 years of age with a daughter who is 
30 years old. On 24 August 1944 she resided in Bourg de Plougar, 
France, as did her friends ~d neighbors, ~fossieurs ~~arcel r.:oisan, 
Antione Penvidic and Pierre Charles (RS,9,21,25). A few minutes 
before 8 pm on th&.t date C.'.:ada'ne Fourdilis and the three men last above 
named,, m::iunted on bicycles, rode to the above mentioned ca.mp of the 
Troop Transport Company. The purpose of their visit was to obtain 
gasoline for ifadame Fourdilis (R9, 21, 24). Tl::e woman carried bottles 
of wine in a basket attached to her bicycle and it a1)pears that it 
was her intention to trade wine for gasoline (R26). The French 
woman and three Frenchmen entered the camp and encountered some of 
the colored soldiers stationed therein. They commenced negotations 
with the soldiers for the purpose of obtaining gasoline, which 
terminated in failure (R22). After remaining in the camp for about 
one and one-half hours they were informed they must leave and they 
were escorted to·the camp entrance by a soldier (R9,22,26). They 
were also accompanied by about twelve or fifteen colored soldiers 
(11,26,54) of whom three were armed (R26). :·iben they reached the 
road, Penvidic and !foisan walked a.head pushing their bicycles end 
:ladame Fourdilis and Charles ·followed afoot also pushing· their bicycles. 
The party proceeded on the road in tbe direction of ~:oure de Plou[;ar 
(R9,26,27,47). Suddenly a colored soldier seized the woman's ~icycle. 
Penvidic returned to ~.:ine F.:mrdilis and Charles, ar"d there ensued 
a melee in which other coloreci soldiers joined. The woman's and 
Charles' bicycles were thrown \.o the ground and they were pulled to 
the side of the road by a hedc;e (R9,10,22,47~. .As th~y were forced 
along the side of the hedge they were ordered to holci their hands in 
the air•. One of the colored men had a gun vhich he air!ied at the 
worn.an. She screamed and ran toward lfoisan, but was prevr::nted from 
reaching him (Rl0,11,26). She then attemptea to return to Penvidic 
and Charles but was intercepted by some of tre colored men. turing 
this disturbance !.ioisan had been threatened by a colorec~ soldier who 
pointed a gun at him. He escaped, however, on his bicycle and went 

-3­

C~i:~lOENi\~L 4172 

http:evrisbu.rg


CONFIDENTIAL 

(56) 

for assistance (R27). In Jrder to effect .!-.er escape, :.:ada.me 

Fourdilis ran along an intersectir1r; roaci •:,hich led to a ;-.:e<...dow. 

A soldier followed her, grasred her by the tbroat and threw her 

to the ground (RlO,ll). He tore her pinafore (1U2; !-ros.~.l) 

and knickers (RJ2,13; Pros.Ex.2). I-le then unbuttoned his trousers. 

and had intercourse ~~th her. During this time ~nother soldier 

held his hand over her mouth (R13,l.4). This act of violence was 

followed by another act of intercourse committed by another soldier. 

She was then taken by the arms by two negro soldiers and was led about 

three meters distance and was again thrown to the ground (HJ.5,40), 

where she w~s held and a hand was kept across her mouth so that she 

could not scream. Third, fourth and fifth acts of intercourse were 

performed in consecutive order, each by a different man (P..16 1 20,33,34,43). 

Upon tbe appearance of First Sergeant Am.08 Richmond, 447th C::,uarter­

master Troop Transport Company, she escaped her captors and ran into 

an adjoining woods and there met Moisan and Charles and three \ 

neighboring farmers (Rl6,26,J5,36,57,58). She also encountered Penvidic 

(R24). 


At.the trial ~darr;e Fourdilis identified accused i'l'illiam 
Davis (vrhen he wore a helmet) as ohe of her assailants (Ri.7 ,18) 
and either accused Roland or Fellows (when they also wore helmets) 
as the r:ian who first had intercour~e with her (Rl8) •. She asserted 
she could identify none of the accused ('hhen they wore no helmets) 
as being present on the occasion of the attack upon hertHJ.8). 
Neith$!' Fenvidic nor ~~oisan <.i.t the t:Ha.l was able to identify any 
of the accused as being :;:r::'sent on the road with them that ni[ht 
(R23,28). 

6. The evidence for the defense summarizes as follows: 

(a) On 15 Septerttber 1944 "smears" were taken by the ·:edi­
cal Detachr.1ent, VIII Corps, of each of the accused for the pur1)ose 
of determining if any of them were afflicted with gonorrhea (R62-64); 
The "smears" were nec;ative (R65,68). llowever, Harris, ~1illia.m. Davis . 
and f.ellows hc:.d discharzes from their penises but no gonorrhea 
bacilli were present in the sal'le (R66,69,71). 

On 4 September 1944 ~eutenant ~olonel Arthur J. Sutherland, 
Jr., ~1edical Corps, made an examination of the genital or~ans of 
!la.dame Fourdilis. I~rked discharges from the mouth of the womb and 
also from the urethra were evident. "Smears" were ta.ken from those 
localities and under microscopic examination.revealed the presence 
of t:;onorrhea (H.72). In the opinion of Lieute:oant Colonel Sutherland 
the infection was of recent occurrence (R73). 

(b) J1.CCUS ed Earris, Silliam fa.vis, Iioland, Ch<1.r!'.bers and 
Fellows ec.;.cr "lected to Lake unsworn statements as follows: 

Harris: i:e had been out of camp for a walk on the 
e"t~in.::; of 24 :.u2:ust ~nd re;,urr.ed to the camp gate about 6 pm. He 
then nc::..lked "t-: tho! 1-.i.shvra.y anout "one-half block". He saw a crowd 
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on the hi6hway ahead of him, but ~'id not know v.·ho vras in it. Ee 

returned to cc.mp Lnd vrent to bed <.bout dusk. Ee tten heard some 

one "holler" but did not "'et out of bed. Ee remained in bed all 

night (R76). . 

0 


William Davis: On the evening of 24 .August 1944 E:..fter 

6 pm he was asleep in his truck. Ee was ar ::used by Sergeant Carter 


·who ordered him to 11 line it uptt. Sergeant I:rooks inquired about 
gasoline for the truck. ·Davis obtained it from unother truck. 
There;;.fter, he went to the ca;np gate and started up the road. He 
encountered Sergeant Richmond who said 11 co11:e on and lets go back, 
some of the boys up here have rar:ed a v;onan11 • .He returned with 
Richmond to camp, went to his truck and went to bed. He denied he 
had seen 11her at all that niu;ht 11 (R77). 

Roland stated that on the evening of 24 August 1944 he 

"was lining up trucks to eo out the next morning". He completed 

his w:ork about dusk and went to the camp gate where he remained 15 

or 20 minutes. He then returned to his truck, obtained his blankets 

and went to bed. He slept under trees near Sergeant Huehes (R78). 


Chanbers was in the bivouac area on the night of 24 August
1944. He heard a woman scream a."1d went to the gate where he remained about 
five minutes. Then he came back to his truck, went-to bed and' to 
sleep. He did not have a carbine, but an ~-1 rifle (R78). 

Fellows admitted th&t on the evening of 24 August 1944 

he was "present with a gr:oup of other soldiers around a vrouan", but 

as$erted he did not touch the woman and had no intefition of engaging 

in:sexual inter.course ·.d.tD. her (R9J). 


{c) Accused r~itchell was sworn as a witness on his own 

behalf and testified as follows: 


On the evening of 24 f~ugust 194-4 he net a Frenchman in 

cCt1Ilp and left camp with him in order to obtdn soc.e vrine (R79). On 

the road he encountered in a eroup sone French civilians, accused, 

Carrol and Fellows and some other soldier~. ~:hen about 100 feet 

past them accused Cha.'Ubers appeared carrying a rifle. :Jitchell 

heard some one 11 shove a bolt home in their rifle11 • Ee turned back 

to Chambers and told him to put his gun down 11because he woUld get 

us all in trouble". Chambers refused. ~.'.1.tchell and the Frenchman 

proceeded up the road when he heard sozeone 11holler 11 • Then a French 

woo.an passed him followed by a F'renchnan, :..:itchell's companion ­
the Frenchman - became frightened and fled. Uitchell returned to a 

group of colored soldier~ who surrounded a woman who was on the ground. 

He directed the soldiers "to let her go, that they were going to get 

us in trouble11 • On of the nen replied 11you will be as much in it as 

we are because _you are here". Accused Chamber, Nathan, Fellows, 7lilliam 
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Davis, Roland, Freenian Davis (a witness for the prosecution) and 
Earris were in the group. Freeman Davis "got on" the woman, but 
he was pulled away. Thereafter Chanbers, Earris, Vlilliam Davis, 
1'-:ath~"l and Roland in the order na.r;:.ed tad intercourse with the· 
woman. The First Ser[eant (Al='os P..ichmond) a~pe2.red while Roland 

11 on11Y:as .the vmman. I~ellows did not "get on the woman" (RS0,21,87). 

:.atchell did not at any time attempt to violate the woman and 

tried to prevent the men from 11 getting on" by remonstrating r.,gainst 

their conciuct (R81). 1,atchell understood that it was his duty to 

stop the comr~ri.ssion of a rape if it occurred in his presence as his 

cor::n:::.r:ding officer had instructed him to this effect (R82). He saw · 

the men 11 pushing .::ind shoving11 as they stood about the woman and 

clamoring for their turn (.R.83). Fellows was in the group but 

llitchell st<-Ld he did not notice whether he was awaiting his turn 

to engage the woman (R85). ne aJr.J. t ted he had signed a pre-trial 

statement which included the dec],aration that 


11S.T. Fellows W.3.S there, but still awaiting 
his turn and he never got on" (R86). 

He also adoitted that he stood there and witnessed the five con­
secutive acts of interc::mrse and did not· interfere. The affair 
occurred about a block from the camp gate and there was usually a 
£::,<lard on duty at the gate, "* ~~ ~: there was nothing I could do right 
at the tiI..e. There was nothing I cuuld do•. They would say you are 
here, and you are goint; '.:o be into it too" (R90). '.'Jhen First 
Sergeant Richr..ond appeared, :.!itchell walked across the field to the 
company camp (R88). . 

(d) focused Nathan elected to remain silent. 

7. Although accused, William Davis, was arraigned and tried 
upon a separ~te specification both its form and substance merged it 
into the specification upon which the other six accused were arraigned­
and tried. In legal effect all accused were ar·raigned and tried u;'°n 
a joint charge and specification. 

8. The prosecution identified five of the accused as the colored 
ii.."Ilerican soldiers who engaged in acts of. sexual intercourse with Jradame 
Courdilis on the nicht of 24 Aurust 1944 in a meadow near the camp 
of the 447th quartermaster Troop Transport Company by the testirr:ony of 
Technician Fifth Grade Freeman Davis and Private First Class Spruil 
Carrol. Their testirl'~ny (Davis: R33-35,43; Carrol: R49,50) is positive 
a.~d specific that five of the accused copulated with the woman in the 
followin0 order: 

l. Chambers 
2. Harris 
3. ~'iillia-n Davis 
4. Ha.than 
5. f:oland 4172 
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Freeman Davis and Carrol were originc.lly charged ·:;i th the rape 
of iiadame Fourdilis but the charges agdnst them were nolle 
prosequi'd at the cowmencement of the trial by direction of the 
appointing <mthority, the Co:nmanc!ing General, VIII Corps. It 
~y be assur:1ed th.::. t they were accomplices of the <.ccused 1;ithin 
t. ~e application vf the followinc rule: 

"A conviction may be based on the uncorroborated 
testi.:;:ony of an accomplice, but such testim:my 
is of doubtful integrity 2.nd is to be considered 
with great caution" (:.~8"..r, 1928, par.124.a, pl,32). 

1rA jury may convict on the uncorroborated testi ­
mony cf an accor:J.plice, if it satisfies the!:l 
beyond re.:,sonable doubt of the guilt of the 
defendant, but it is the usual ~r.::.ctice for 
the judce to c..dvise the jury to acquit where 
there is no evidence other ttc-.n the uncorrobo­
rated testirrnny of an accorc.plicen (9 .Am.Jur. 
Sec.72, p.276). 

Abundant corroboration of tl:e te::;timony of tt:.ese two prosecution 
witnesses is found in the record of trial. The victim of the 
assaults, described five separate acts of violation of her )erson 
by five different a2sailants (R13-16,20). In open court she 
positively identified accused :"!illiam Davis, as one of them 
(Rl7,13), and asserted that ei tter ::?.oland or Fellows was U:e first 
rna.n to attacl: her (1117). The occurrence of the sexual orgy described 
by Freeman Davis and indicated by Carrol is substanti~ted by the 
te.stL~ony of the victim (RJ.1;15), of First Ser~eant Rich~ond (R57,58) 
and of Sere:;eant Carter (::?.55). The presence of Freeman Davis and of ;;..c­
cused ~.!i.tchell, at the ti.-;.e w'1d place of tte alleged offenses is 
also established by 2ichmond's testimor.y (n57,5S). Freenan Davis' 
evidence received ft:.rther confir..1ation by accused :.J.tchell v:hen he 
testified on his ovm behalf (RS0-84). 

Under such stc.tus of the evidence the testinony of Freeman 

Davis and Carrol received substantial corroboration and it was · 

entitled to such weight and value when considered ••ith all other 

evidence in the case as to the court seemed advi,sable. 


I 

9. 	 "Rape is the unlav;ful carnal ~.nowledge of a 
.woman by force and without her consent. .Any 
penetration, however, slight, of a woman's 
genitals is sufficient carnal knowledee, 

·whether 	emission occurs or not. * -i:- * Force 
and wa..~t to consent are indis~ens~ble in ra~e; 
but the force involved in the act of penetration 
is alone sufficient where there is in fact 
no consent" (Ua.I, 1928, par.1.48£, p.165). 

:Jith respect to accused Cha.>nbers, Harris, Willi~ Davis, Ilathan, 4172and Roland there is definite, positive and convinaing evidence 
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that in the order remed each had carnal knowledge of Ma.dame 

Fourdilis. Not only did the victim testify to the acts of com­

plete penetration (R13,15,16,20) but Freeman Davis' pornographic 

description of the obscene, brutal and barbarous scene re~oves 


a:n:y doubt as to proof of this element of the crime. The fact ·. 

that the five named accused each penetrated the genital organs 

of :[adame Fourdilis nust be taken as a fact in-the case which 

was est~blished beyond all reasonable doubt. 


A casual readine of the record of trial is all that is 

necessary to convince any fair minded and reasonable person that 

the woman was subjected by the five named accused to consecutive 

acts of sexual intercour.se through force and violence and without 

her consent to a:n:y of them. She and her three ma.le companions, 

while proceeding tows.rd their homes on a public highway in the 

dusk of a eummer evening were followed by a group of colored 

soldiers of Y'.hich said accused were undoubtedly members. The 

inference is legitL'llate and just that their purpose was to obtain 

c<!rnal connections with her. Suddenly she was set upon by one 

or more ~if the negroes. Her companions were frightened into 

submission end then 1'li,:;ht by display of firearl'lls. She was left 

alone 'fii.th the negroes and was seized in her attempt to escape. 

She was then taken into an ad.joining mead.ow and after her first 

outcry she was muffled to prevent further calls for help. She 

was thrown to the ground and then ensued a scene of brutal a.nd 

lustful savagery finding few equals in the whole annals of · 

American legal history. The ~ive accused, disputing and fighting 

among themselves as to when each should enjoy carnal satisfaction 

of the woman's body, engaged in sexual intercourse with her in the 


. crder above named and vd thout pause between the acts. During the 
entire period of the orgy she was held on the ground not only by 
the accused engaged in the sexual act but also by two or more of 
her assails.nts. The evidence discloses th~·t a. considerable number 
of negroes • "there was a gang around her" (R5l), including the 
seven acc\.\sed, surrounding the woman who was prostrate upon the 
ground. Even to suggest under such circumstances thsi.t she was & 
willing Elrld cooperative po.rty to the acts of intereourse is to 
insult the intelligonce or any fair minded person. The prosecution 
beyond all doubt proved all o! the elements or the detest&ble 
crime of rape as ag&inet the five a cusdd above named (CJ ETO 4608, 
?.~rau (J;! ETO 4569, Powell et al; C'J ETO 4/.+J.+4, Hudson cit d; 
CM ~'l'O :3740, Sa.ndeire et n.l; C:! :l:TO :3709 1 ~ :a.rtin; O:.i ETO :3375, Tarpley)• 

10. There is no evidence that either Fellows or ~:itchell, 

two or the accused, actudly engaged in sexual intercourse ·::1th 

Madame Fourdili,. However, it is ohown by competent, subst~ntial 

evidence that both were present during the prolonged attack upon 

her. Mitchell was "down there wrµitin.;; io be next, if he could" 

(R:3S,SO). He was on hie knees by the woman (R57,59). l!e said 
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11if we didn 1t get back and let him get some, 
he was going to tell the CO" (R35,50) 

"all you men want to f-- this woman and 
leave me alone here with her" (R57) 

Fellows was on his knees near the 'lioma.n as Roland was rapin~ her 
(R35). 11He was down in the bunch with them pushing * * *" (R50). 
He was three or four feet from the woman (R81), and when Sergeant 
Richmond appeared he ran away fro~ the scene of the crime (R57,59). 
Both ~litchell and Fellows 

"were trying to get a little like the rest, 
and the 1st sergeant came up is why they 
didn!t get the chance" (PJi.3). 

The distinction between principals and aiders and 
abetters has been ·abolished by Federal statute and an aider and 
abetter may be convicted as a principal (Sec.332, Federal Criminal 
Code, 18 CSCA 550;35 Stat.1152). The distinction is not recog­
nized in the administration of military justice. All are principals 
(Winthrop's lli.litary Law 2nd Precedents - Tieprint p.108). 

"Under Sec.332 of the Federal Criminal Code, 
above quoted, the acts of the principal 
bGcame the acts of the aider and abetter and 
the latter may be charged as having done the 
act ti~self cmd.be indicted and punished 
accordingly. By virtue of said st&tute a 
principal of the second degree at cor.mon 
law beco~es a principal in_the first degree 
(DePreta v. United States, 270 Fed. 73; 
Conelli v. United StLtes, 289 Fed.79li 
Y.elly v. Cnited St&tes, 258 Fed. 392, 
certiorari denied 21+9 U.S. 616, 63 L.I:d. 
803). Prerr~sed on the above stated doctrine 
is the estc,.blished c-,nd well reco:_::.ized rule 
that an accused nay be charced with ahd 
found guilty of the crime of rape although 
he did not actually have intercourse with 
the victim if the evidence established that 
he was present at and aided and abetted the 
ravisher in the accomplishment of the act 
of intercourse (52 CJ, Sec.50, p.1036; 
State v. Flaherty, 128 :Iaine 14.1., 146 
Atl. 7; People v. Zinn, 6 Cal. App. (2nd) 
395, 44 rac. (2nd) 408; People v. Rieto, 
14 Cal.A?P• (2nd) 707, 58 Pac. (2nd) 945; 
People v. Durand -- Cal.App. (2nd) ---, 
134 Pac •. (2nd) 305; C~ h.n.'l'O 3Z5 Speed) 11 

(c;,,: :::;70· 3740, Sanders et al). 4172 
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The evidence is clear beyond all doubt that both Hitchell and 
Fello;vs were not mere passive spectators of the crimes (Cf: Cll 
ZTO 804, Ogletree et al) but were violent, aggressive partici ­
pants and were endeavoring to secure intercourse with the victim 
ae;air:.st the cor,v;etition of other accused. It is proba.ble that 
only the interception of Sergeant Rich.T.ond prevented them from 
accomplishing their pt:.r.f:OSe• Mitchell and Fellows were aiders 
and abetters of the ctr.er five named accused in the co;;-.mission 
of the rapes. Under the ?I"inciple of law above set forth they . 
were properly charzed and convicted as principals (CM ETO 4589, 
Powell et al; CM. ETO 4444, Hudson et al; CM ETO 3740, Sanders et 
al and cutborities therein cited). · 

l:itchell, in his testi.·nony as a defense witness, pres~nted 
a pattern of critrinal conduct well known and understood by judges 
and lawyers. He attempted to benefit himself before the c::>vrt at · 
the expense of fellow accused by portray:i.ng himself as a non-parti ­
cipant in the crimes and as a self righteous individual who 
desired to prevent the same. At the most his testimony created an 
issue of fact which it was the duty and function of the court to 

. determine. It was resolved against him and since the court's 
finding is supported by compe~ent, substantial evidence it is 
binding upon the Board of Review upon appellate review (CM ETO 
32001 Price, and authorities therein cited). 

11. 'Ibe eharge sheet shows the service of the several accused 
as f'ollows1 

Accused 
Age 

I!!!:!-~, 
Inducted· 

nace Date-· 
Rola.nd 23' Fort Jackson, South Carolina 28. Jan 1941 
Fellows 
Mitchell 

22 
.'.31 l 

Fort Bragg, North Carolina 
Camp Beauregard, Louisiana 

19 Dec 1942 
17 Jan l94l 

W:l.llia.'U Davis 
Nathan 
Harris 
Chambers 

23 
25 
22 
25 

6 
7 

Fort Bragg, North Carolin& 
Camp Blanding, Florida. 
Camp Shelby, Miesis~ippi 
Camp Shelby, Mississippi 

26 Dec 1942 
l Feb 1941 

24 Feb·1942 
24 Feb 1942 

None of accused had arJ.1 prior service. 

. 12. The court wa'e legally co.nstit$d and ha.d jurisdiction of 
the peraons and offenses. No errors injuriously a.ffectine the sub• 
etantis.l rights of BriJ' of the accused were committed during the trial. 
The Eoard of' Revievr is of t.he opinion that a.e to ea.ch accused the 
reoord of trial is lecaJ.ly sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty a.nc1. the sentence. 

1). The :-iuniehl'l"ent for the crime or rape under the 92nd 
Article::of ~7ar ie: death r life imprisorunent as a. c·:,,urt-martia.l 
ma7 direct. Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized for the 
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offense of rape by )..rticle of '.[&.r 42 md Sections 27S and 3.30 
Feder~l Criminal Code (18 USCA 457,567). The designation of the 
United States !'er..itentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the 

place cf cor..fin;mcmt of each accused is proper (A~1 42; Cir.229, 
~'iD, 8 ,June 1944, Sec.II, pars.1£(4), and 3,£).

-%. •Jil
~~~L:4- Judge Advocate 

~~e Advocate 

~L ~) Judge .:.dvocate 
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·Jar Jep:.rtment, Branch Office of The JucJ£e ~Q.v~e General with 
the ~'uropean The.::.ter of O:ierations. tJ ~AN IO: Co~d-
ine Gener.:.l, VIII Corps, APO 308, U.S. Arrey. 

l. In the cuse of Technicians Fifth Grade CHARLIE ROLAND,

Jn. ()4011.Lll), s. T•. r::;:r.w:·;s (34467951), ·WILLIA:,•! lilTCHSLL 

(;4005C70), and·;~~ Dli.VIS (34518809), and Privates CZASEH 


· :;;~~TIW~ (.34C07835), corucuus w..:mrs•(.'.34271261), and ELI cr:A:.:mms 
(J427JJ05), all of 447th :::uartermaster Troop Tru.nsport Company, 
attention is invitod \;o the foro,.:oini:; holding of the Board of 
::evicw thc.t as to each accused the record of trial is leeally 
curi'icicnt to support the findings of guilty a.nd the sentence, 
which J-,olding is hereby approved. Under the provieione of .Article 
or ';7ar 50-k", you now have .:..ut.hority to order execution of the · 
sentences. 

2. ·..'hen copies of tt'G ;iubJ.iehed orders a.re forv1arded to 
this office, they shoulu be accompanied by the forec;oiflG holding 
am~ thiD ir,dorsement. The file number of the record of trial in 
thi::-: oi'fico is c;.: :TO 4172. :;"or convenience of rd'erence please 
pll.l.ct'! the rn.liil.ber in i:rackete at the end of the orde?Q (C:.: :'.'l'O 
4172). ' 

A.~~. 
:Sri~e.dier Ooneral, t:nited SktH Ar~, 

.~sdcto.nt Judze ~\dvocate t)eneral, 

4172 
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(65)!ranch Office of The Judge A.d11ocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 2 
7NOV1944 

CM ETO 4177 

UNITED STATES ) SOJTHERN BASE SECTION, COMWNICA­
) TION3 ZONE, EURC1PEAN THEA'I'mt OF 

v. ) OPERATION3• 
) 

captain JWEPH RAMON REM'3m:t ) Trial by GCM, convened at Tid­
(0-1845614); Captain JCHN 
GREGORY KROU., Medical Corps 

) 
) 

worth, Wiltshire, England, 29 
August 1944• Sentence& As to 

(0-469016); First Lieutenant ) each accuseda To be dismissed 
CH.ARIES EUGENE J'ECJNELOT ) the service. 
(0..1895630); First Lieutenant) 
LeROY WU.SON, Jr. (0..1895762); 
and First Lieutenant WILLI.AM ) 
GAVIN NOFFSINGER (0..1845289),) 
all of Headquarters and Head-) 
quarters Detachment, 54th Re-) 
placement Battalion. ) 

HOLDm:t by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
VAN BENSCHOTENt HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 

l. The record of trial in the case of the officers naxned above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater 
of Operations. 

2. Accused were each tried upon their respective Charge and 
specification, as followsa 

CA?TAIN JCSEPH RAMON REMSrm 

CHARGE& Violation of the 9Jrd Article of War. 

Specification& In that Captain Joseph R. Remsing, 
Headquarters and Headquarters Detachment, 54th 
Replacement Battalion, did, at Edgarley Lodge, 

·1177 
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near Glaatonbury, Somerset, England, on or 
about l May 19441 teloniously take, steal, 
and carry away one (1) Sapphire Ring, n.l.ue 
about Forty ($40,00) Dollars, the property 
ot Mt'• Montagu Porch. 

CAPTAIN J"OHN G, KROLL 

CHARGE1 Violation ot the 93rd Article ot War. 

Speeif'icationa· In that Captain J'ohn G. Kroll, Head­
quarters and Headquarters Detachment, 54th Re­
placement Battalion, did, at Edgarley IDdge, 
near Glastonbury, Somerset, England, ou. or about 
1 May 1944, teloniously take, steal, and carrj') . 
away one (1) Ivory Powder Box,· n.lue about Eight 
($8.00) Dollars, and one (1) SilTer .ringer Bowl, 
value about Eight ($8.00) Dollars, the propertJ' 
of' Mt". MOiltagu Porch. 

CHARGE1 vfolation ot the 93rd Article ot War. 

Speciticationa In that First lieutenant Charles E, 
J'eunelot, Headquarters and Headquarters Detach­
ment, 54th Replacement Battalion, did, at Edgar­
ley Lodge, near Glastonbury, Somerset, England, 
on or about l May 1944, feloniously take, steal, 
and carry away-one (l) Gun :Metal Inlaid Box, value 
about Sirteen {$16,oo) Doll.rs, the property ot Mt-, 
:Mont9.gll Porch•. 

FIR$'!' Je' !!!9'.0!ilUN'l' LeROY WIISON, 1r• 
'\ \ ­

CHARGE1 TI.olation ot the 9.3rd .Article ot War. 


Specifications In that J'irst Lieutenant Le Roy Wilson, 

J'r., Headquarters and Headquarters Detachment, 54th 

Replacement· Battalion, did, at Edgarley Lodge, near 

Glastonbury, Somer~et, England, on or about 1 May 

1944, feloniously take, steal, and carry away one 

(1) Locket, (Wolf and Eagle Design), value about 
Sixteen ($16.oo) Dollars, the property of' Mr. 
Montagu Porch. 

,1177 
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FIRST LIEUTDJANT WILLI.AM G. NOFFSiroER 

CH.ARGEt Violation of the 9Jrd .Article of War. 

Specification: In that First Lieutenant William G. 
Noffsinger, Headquarters and Headquarters De­
tachment, 54th Replacement Battalion, did, at 
Edgarley Lodge, near Glastonbury, Somerset, 
England, on or about l May 1944, feloniously 
take, steal, and carry away one (l) Locket, 
Indian Deity Design, value about Sixteen 
($16.00) Dollars; one (1) Gold Watch Chain, 
value about Twenty-four ($24.00) Dollars; one 
(1) Silver Ash Tray with coat of arms, value . 
about Four ($4.00) Dollars; one (1) Mexican1, · 
Onyx Cigarette Box, value about Forty ($40.00) 
Dollars; one (1) Mother of Pearl Cigarette 
Box, value about Twenty ($20.00) Dollars; and 
one (1) Table Runner, value about Four ($4.00) 
Dollars, the property of Mr. Montagu Porch • 

.iwcused were asked prior to arraignment if there was any objection on 
the part of any of them to a common trial and no objection was made. 
Each accused pleaded not ©Ulty to and was found guilty of the Charge 
and Specification against him. No evidence of previous convictions 
of any of accused was introduced. Each accused was sentenced to be 
dismissed the service. The reviewing authority, the Camman.ding Gen­
eral, united Kingdan Base, Communications Zone, European Tb.eater of 
Qperations, approved the sentence of each accused and forwarded the 
record of trial for action under Article of War 48. The confirming 
authority, the conmanding General, European '!beater of Operations, 
confirmed the sentence as to each, stating it was •wholly inadequate 
to the criminal offense of which found guilty•, and withheld the or­
der directing execution thereof pursuant to the provisions of Article 
of War 5Di• 

3. '.!he evidence for the prosecution shows1 That Edgarley Lodge, 
at Glastonbury, Somerset, England, the residence of Montagu Phippen 
porch,. a British retired Colonial Civil Servant, Nigerian Civil Ser­
vice; was requisitioned by the War Office for officers' billets and 
that a group of Alllerican officers took possession about 29 January 
1944. Two rooms had been reserved by the owner in his agt"eement with 
the War Office, a bedroom and a sitting room. The bedroom door was 
always kept locked, the sitting roan was left unlocked so that the 
officers could use the tel~hone located there until their own was 
installed. 'lhe keys to the bedroom door, with others all labeled, 
were concealed umer sane table cloths and •things• in the right-hand 
drawer of the sideboard or buffet in the sitting roan. No permission 
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was at any time given any American officer~ to go into the bedroom. 
porch ha1 a lot rf little presents of a lifetime, some inherited, 
some/from the Prime Minister's family, in his dressing room to which 
access was had only through the bedroom. Porch TI.sited these roCJnS 
about 1 MaYt at which time he noticed nothing missing, but on a visit 
there the nighi. of 7 July, he discovered many thingg missing, among 
others, a locket containing photographs of his father and mother take~ 
on their wedding day, which had been given him by his mother, two rings 
that had belonged to his wife, a gold chain his mother had giv~ him on 
his 21st birthday, a big oeyx cigarette box, a gun metal Japanese box 
with inlaid picture of a cock and hen, given him by the Prime Minister's 
mother, a mother-of-pearl cigarette box and a rose quartz ash tray. La~er, 

he found on further examination other things missing, including an 18th 
Century ivory powder box, either one or two silTer finger bowls, English 
design, hand-hammered with fruit designs, and a sapphire ring. He did 
not recall the table cloth. The locket was shield-shaped with a wolf 
and an eagle on its sides, another locket missing, of almost pure gold, 
had an Indian Deity design (Rl7-20). He identified the locket contain­
ing his mother's and father's photograph, the sapphire ring and the 
mother-of-pearl cigarette box shown to him, as part of the missing 
articles and they were admitted in evidence as prosecution exhibits 
numbered 11 2, and 3, respectively. He testified he had given no one 
permission to take them (R20..21). .All of accused were statiomd at 
Edgarley IDdge on or about l May 1944 (Rl7)• 

Each of accused, after due warning as to his rights, gave a 
written statement to an investigating officer from the Army Jrd Crim­
inal Investigation Division, which statements were introduced in evi­
dence without objection by the defense, that of Captain Remsing's as 
Prosecution Exhibit 4, Captain Kroll's as Prosecution Exhibit 5, Lieu­
tenant Jeunelot•s as Prosecution Exhibit 6, Lieutenant Wilson's as 
Prosecution Exhibit 7 and Lieutenant No~faj,.nger's as Prosecution Ex­
hibit 8 (R22-25)• This officer testifie<f0that during the investigation, 
Edgarley Lodge was searched and the mother-of-pearl cigarette box (Pros. 
EX.J) was found in a valet-pack belonging to Lieutenant Noffsinger and 
having his name on it. A tapestry tuble runner was also found in the 
same valet-pack under the same circumstances and was admitted in evidence 
as Prosecution Exhibit 9 (R25-26). 

Detective Con.stable Norman R. Gray, Somerset Constabulary, 
Bridgewater, Somerset, testified that Prosecution Exhibit 1 was handed 
to him on 20 July at the officers' billet at Edgarley !Ddge by Captain 
Remsing (R26) and that Prose~ution Exhibit 2 was received by him by 
registered post on 24 July, the wrap:;;ier bearing the name and address of 
Captain Remsing. Stipulations between the prosecution, defense and the 
various ,accused, fixing the agreed value of the various items taken in 
which each accused was interested, and being the values set out in the 
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specifications, were introduced in evidence (R26-27). 

4. For the defense, Lieutenant Colonel Ranald B. Engelbeck, 
cavalry, 54th Replacement Battalion, and the commanding officer of 
all of accused, testified that the character of each accused was 
excellent and that he desired to retain them as members of his com­
mand. Each accused also testified that the incident occurred around 
l May; that one evening they were around the house after duty hours 
and probably for want of scmething better to do, decided to see what 
was in this room. 'lbe key was downstairs and one of them, none would 
say who, secured the key and they all entered the room and looked 
around; that there were quite a number of trinkets, different orna­
ments and novelties all oTer the roam. Captain Remsing testified he 
took the sapphire ring (Pros.Ex.2) as a souvenir (R30). He turned it 
back to Detective Gray. Each testified he did not know this bedroom 
was off limits and that he had no reason except curiosity for entering 
the bedroom; that they knew whose property they were taking and that 
the articles were the private property of Mr. Porch. Captain :Kroll 
testified to taking the ivory powder box and the silver finger bowl 
(1D3 ). Lieutenant Jeunelot testified to taking the gun metal box (R34), 
which he sent home (1D4,37). Lieutenant Noffsinger testified that he 
took the locket with the buddha design on it, the gold chain and the ash 
tray, which he sent home for safekeeping. '!'he mother-of-pearl cigarette 
box and the table runner he had in his val-pack. He denied knowing any­
thing about the Mexican onyx cigarette box, although he did admit he 
sent a little powder box with flower design heme with the other things. 
He admitted that they did not have permission to enter the room and that 
he had the key in his hand prior to the door being opened and •it may 
have been• he who actually opened the door (R38-41). IJ.eutenant Wilson 
testified he took the gold locket with the intention of keeping it as a 
souvenir and returned it when the investigation started (R42-44). 

•Larceny 	is the taking and carrying away, by 
trespass, of personal property which the tres­
passer knows to belong "' "' "' to another, with 
intent to deprive such owner permanently of 
his property therein• (?.CM, 1928, par.149,ii. 
p.171). 

All of the essential elements of larceny occurred herein in the acts 
co1rmitted by each accused and the acts were admitted by each of them. 
NO attempt was made to return any of the property over a period of up­
wards of two months or until the theft had been discovered and an in­
vestigation thereof was being made• 
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6. The charge sheet ahows that Captain :Remsing is 'Zl years of 
118e and that he entered upon extended active duty as a Second Lieu­
tenant on 28 ""ril 1943; that Captain Xroll is 31 years of age and 
entered upon extended active duty as a First Lieutenant 3 J'uly 194.3; 
that Lieutenant J'eunelot is 29 years of age and entered upon active 
duty as a Second Lieutenant 12 May 194.3; that Lieutenant Wilson is 
24 years of age and entered upon active duty ea a Second Lieutenant 
12 Mey 1943 f and that Lieutenant Noffsinger is 24 years of age and 
entered upon active duty as a second Lieutenant 28 ~ril 1943· ill, 
except captain Kroll, had prior enlisted service; J'eunelot had served 
in the National Guard since 1937. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
persona and the offenses. .No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were corrmitted during the trial. The Board o:t' Review 1s · 
of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support 
the tindinss ot guilty and the aentence as to each accused. · 

J'udge Advocate 

-~'S:ii:,;I~ox;a&.mINso...;,;H,::;OSP~Io;,;T.AI.~)--- J'udge Advocate 

J'udge Advocate 

,1177 
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War Departrne:it, Branch Office of The Jildge Advocate General with the 
".G..tnpea.."1 Tb.se.ter of Operations. 7 NOV 1944 TO: Command-
inc Gener'3.l, Europe.sn Theater of Operations, APO 887, U. s. Arm::;. 

1. In the case of Captain JOSEPH RAMON REM3ING (0-1845614); Captain 
JOHN GREJ.ORY KROLL, Medical Corps (0-469016); First Lieutenant CHARffiS 
'E'"JGE!B mD:ELOT (0..1895630); First Lieutenant LeROY WIISCN, Jr. 
(C-1895762); and First Lieutenant WILLIAM GAVIN NOFFSIN:ZER (0-1845289), 
all of Headquarters and Headquarters Detachruent, 54th Replacement Bai­
talion, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the Board of 
Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the 
findings of f:Uilty and the sentence, 1JS to each accused, which holding 
is hereby approved. under the provisions of Article of War 50!, you· 
now have authority to order execution of the sentences. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this of­
fice, they should be accompsnied by the foregoing holding and this in­
dorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 411 
For convenience of reference, please place that number in brackets at 
the end of the order i (CM ~Jf:.. 41~). / , 

// ', // /,. ,_,,..­
1/ · Ji. C • !i!c~,JEIL, / 

Brigadier General, United States Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

(Sentences ordered executed. GCMO 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, ETO, 10 Nov 1944) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General (73) 
with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 	 16 DEC 1944 

CM ETO 4178 

UNITED STATES 	 ) BASE Am DEPOT AREA, Am SERVICE 
) COlTh'AND, UNITED STATES STRATEGIC 

v. 	 ) AIR FORCES IN EUROPE 
) 

Private JMT.S A. PHIPPS ) Trial by' GCM, convened at AM 
(35433893), Detachment G, ) Station 590, England, 6 October 1944. 
Supply Division, Base Air ) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
Depot #1 ) total forfeitures and confinement at 

) hard labor for five years. Eastern 
) Branch, United States Disciplinary 
) Barracks, Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF P.EVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN 1 HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private James A. Phipps, Det 
"G" Sup Div Base Air Depot #1, AAF'-571, APO 635, 
U.S. Arrrry did, without proper leave, absent him­
self from his station at A1iF Station 571, APO 
635 from about 8 September 1944 to about 22 Sept­
ember 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of.the Charge and Sreci­
fication. Evidence was introduced of two previous convictions, one by 
summary court and one by special court-martial of abser.ce without 
leave for 2 and 121 days respectively, each in violation of Article 
of Har 61•. He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, 
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to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due and to be 
confined at he.rd labor, at such place as the reviewing authorit7 
may direct, for f'ive (5) 79ar1. The reviewing authorit7 approved 
the sentence, designated the F.astern Branch, United States Disci• 
plin&l"y Barraus, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of' conf'ine• 
ment and forwarded the record ot trial f'or action pursuant to the 
provisions or Article ot War sot. 

.3. Competent uncontradicted evidence, both oral and by morn­
ing reports, establishes that accused went absent without leav. 
f'rom his station on 8 September 1944, and that he returned to 
military control by Toluntarily turning himselt in to the Military 
Police on 22 September 1944, (R6,8,9,lO,l2, Pros. EXs.l,2,3). 

4. Arter his rights as a witness were explained by the court, 
accused elected to make an unsworn statement wherein he attempted 
to justify his actions by claiming despondency caused by receipt 
of letters from members of' his family in the States. These tacts, 
in explanation, failed to constitute a legal defense but were mat­
ters tor consideration by the court and reviewing authority in de­
termining what sentence should be imposed (Pars.78,87, MCM 1928, 
pp.62,74). 

5. The charge sheet shows that accused is 24 years or age, and 
wa.s inducted into the army at Huntington, ll'est Virginia, 26 June 
1942. He had no prior service. 

6. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the person and offense. No errors injuriously' affecting the substan­
tial rightsof accused were couunitted during the trial. The Board of 
Review is of .the opinion that the record of' trial is legall.7 suffi ­
cient to support the findings or guilt1 and the sentence. Designa­
tion of' the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhawn, New York, as the place or confinement is proper (AW 42; 
Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept. 194.3, sec.VI, as amended). 

~~~~~"L~.~ Judge Advocate 
-l,j_ - ... . . 

__.;,11-',./?....·w-__ ____._'_Judge Advocate)_74-1_~1~
• 

~.,,&e..UJudgo Advocate 
I t 

41,., 8 
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War Departme".lt, Branch Office of The Judge.Ad.vocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 16 Ut.t; 1944 TO: Com­
manding General, Base Air Depot .Area, Air Service Command, United 
States Strategic Air Forces in Europe, APO 635, U. S. Unry. 

1. In the case of Private JAMES A. PHIPPS C.35433893), De­
tachment G, Supply Division, Base Air Depot No. 1, attention is 
invited to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the 
record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. Under 
the provisions of Article of War 50t, you now have authority to 
order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the pubHshed order. are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and 
this indorsement. The file number of the record in this office 
is CM ETO 4178. For convenience of reference, please place that 
number in brackets at the end of the order: (CM ETO 4178) • 

.J?:/7~ /' / .I/ /... ·'/_, , (/c"l-0. t• ~·f ~. ­
/ / 

E. C. McNEIL, 
Brigadier General, United States Arnry, 


Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General (7?) 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEvf NO. 1 

C!!. ETO 4184 

UNITED STATES) 
) 

v. ) 
) 

First Lieutenant STEWART L. ) 
HEIL (0-1298393), Inf'antry, ) 
Headquarters, V Corps. ) 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

9NOV1944 

V CORPS. 

Trial by GCM, convened at Head­
quarters V Corps, Rear Echelon 
Command Post in the vicinity of 
Bastogne, Belgium, 15 September. 
1944. Sentence: Dismissal, 
total forfeitures and confinement 
at hard labor for ten years. 
Eastern Branch, United States 
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 
New York. 

HOLDING by BOAP..D OF REVIErl NO. 1 

RITER, SARGENT and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater 
of Operations. 

2. Accused was .tried upon the following charees and.specifica­
tions: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 

Specification: In that First Lieutenant Stewart 


L. Heil, Headquarters V Corps being on 
duty as a combat liaison officer to the 
Second French .Armored Division, did, at 
Paris, France, on or about 26 August 1944, 
deliberately abandon his duties as such 
liaison officer while in a combat situation 
and absent himself without proper leave from 
the service of the United States and did re­
main absent therefrom without proper leave 
until be surrendered himself at Rozoy, 

4184 
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France,-on or about 5 September 1944. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 85th l..rticle of War. 
Specification: In that * * *, was, at Paris, 

France, on or about 26 August 1944, found 
drunk, while on duty as Liaison Officer to 
the Second French Armored.Division. 

CHARGE III: Violation of the 94th Article of War. 
Specification: In that * * ii·, did, at Paris, 

France, on or about 26 August 1944, knowing· 
ly and willfully misappropriate and apply to 
his ovm use and benefit a motor vehicle of 
the value of over $50.00, property of the 
United States furnished and intended for the 
military service thereof. 

CHAP.GE IV: Violation of the 95th Article of War. 
Specification: In that * * *, being on duty as a 

combat liaison officer to the Second French 
Armored Division, did at Paris, France, on 
or about 26 Aue,"tlst 1944, deliberately abandon 
his duties as such liaison officer while in a 
9ombat situation and absent himself without 
proper leave from the service of the United 
States and did remain absent therefrom with­
out proper leave until he surrendered him­
self at Rozoy, France, on or about 5 Septem­
ber 1944. 

CHARGE Va Violation of the 64th Article of War. 
Specifications In that * * *• being on duty as 

a combat liaison officer to the Second French 
Armored Division, having received a lawtul 
command from Captain Roy H. Hamill, Head­
quarters V Corps, his superior officer, to 
deliver a tactical overlay to Headquarters 
V Corps at Chilly-Mazarin, France, did at 
Paris, France, on or about 26 August 1944, 
willfully disobey. the same, 

CHARGE: VI1 Violation of the 96th Article of War. 
Specification: In that * * *• did, at or near 

Paris, France, f'rom on or about 26 August 
1941~ to 5 September 1944, wrongfully and 
without authority detain Private Joseph W. 
Crie1haber, Headquarters Company, V Corps, 
and require him to act as his driver tor 
his own personal use and benefit. 
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.He pleaded not guilty and, two-thirds of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty 
or all charges and specifications. No evidence of previous con­
victions wa.s introduced. Two-thirds of the members of the court 
present at the time.the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to 
be dismissed the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to 
become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the re­
viewing authority may. direct, for ten years. The reviewing authority, 
the Commanding General, V Corps, approved the sentence, designated the 

,United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of 
confinement, withheld the order directing execution of the sentence pur­
suant to Articles or War 48 and 50-h and forwal'ded the record of trial 
for f'urther action thereunder. The confirming authority, the Com­
manding General, European Theater of Operations, confirmed the sentence, 
designated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, and wtthheld the 
order directing execution of the sentence pursuant to Article of War 50!-. 

3. The prosecution's evidence established the following: 

On 26 August 1944accused was on duty with the Liaison Con­
trol Section, Headquarters, ,V Corps, situate at Chilly-I:lazarin, France, 
about 15 miles from Paris {R6,8). His specific assignment was as one 
of a team of six liaison officers, under the command of Captain Roy H. 
Hamill, Cavalry, detailed to the 2nd French Armored Division, whose 
headquarters was located at the Hotel Des Invalides, Paris {R6-8,ll). 
On or just prior to 26 August accused was instructed by his superior 
officer, !.!ajor Edgar A. Wilkerson, Inspector General's Department, Head­
quarters, V Corps, to proceed to the French division headquarters and, 
according to an hourly shuttle schedule, return to Headquarters, V Corps, 
V1ith information as to the progress of the French dirlsion (R8,1D). 
At about 0900 hours 26 AUf,.rust, pursuant to instructions, accused, a· 
driver (Private Joseph B. Grieshaber, Headquarters Company, V Corps), 
and two French civilians left the V Corps command post in a United 
States Government command reconnaissance car belonging to the 506th 
Car Company (RB,19,30). They proceeded to Paris and stopped at the 
bar of one of the French passengers, named Charley {R19). At this 
place the street was crowded and an "FFill truck stopped by them and 
gave them eight bottles of champagne, two of cognac and about four of 
wine, which were placed beside the driver (R23). The party remained 
here one-half hour to one hour, during which time accused consumed a 
few drinks of "amber color" liquid. Leaving Charley at his bar, the 
other three went on in the car to the-bar of the other French civilian 
(R20). At this point accused ordered the driver to place the bottles 
in the trunlc of the vehicle and opened a bottle of cognac, from which 
he drank twc inches (R23). They renained at the second place another 
half hour,·during which time accused consur.ied a few more drinks of 
cognac. · Thereupon accused, Grieshaber and a third Frenchman, 
Raksanoff, who was to act as guide, started in the car toward the 
headquarters of the 2nd French Armored Division and encountered shoot­
ing in the street (R20,24,28). The three dismounted and accused 
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entered a house, ascended to the roof and crossed to another build­
ing. Later he requested Grieshaber's 11 gu.n.11 , but the latter refus­
ed to relinquish it (R20-21). They then went to the headquarters 
of.' the French division, arrivi!lb around 2000 hours (R24). 

'i'.'hen accused ascended the stairs in the building, en route 
to the French division headquarters, 

"he weaved. His form of talk was awful 
quick. His words fell over each other 
.;< * * very excited" (RJJ). 

When they arrived at the headquarters, he 

"was speakin'g in a very fast and e;~cited 
DB.I1-~er. His words was junping over 
each other" (R24) • 

"fie weaved. He walked like he was not 
sure of his footing." 

Grieshaber testified that he would not say accused was 

ttexactly drunk - :nore or less in a daze 
* * * I wouldn't say he was sober * * * 
Just half and half. A couple of more 
drinks ••• ***Talking like he had 
mush in his mouth11 (R34-35). 

f.t the French division headquarters, the French guide remain­
ed at the gate (to the parking area) and accused and the driver enter­
ed. .Accused entered the building (P..24). Captain Hamill, who was 
to give i:'1formation to accused for him to take back to V Corps head­
quarters (Rll), appeared at the parking area and at about 2035 hours conversed 
v;ith accuned (FJ.2,25). Captain Hamill testified that accused's 

1troi..:scrs z:ore a little l!l'.lSsed up - a little dirty", accused was lean­
ing on the vehicle and immediately commenced tellin~ him about chas­
inb sane snipers in Paris. Ee 11 see;aed rather excited" (P..13-14). 
Captain Le.mill told accused to return to V Corps and give 11 to them" a 
tactical overlay which had been given to accused by the G-3 Section 
of the 2nd :?rench ;'..rmored Division (P..13) • · Accused said 11 All right," 
boarded the vehicle and followed Captain Hamill out the gate at about 
2100 hours (P..13,25). Accused, the driver and the Frenchman then 
proceeded to a bar ovmed b.r a man named Robert, where they had supper 
and accused drank More cognac. They then went to the home of the 
Frenchnan, Raksanoff. When they returned to the bar, accused "pass­
ed out in the car" and the Frenchnan carried him into the bar (R25-26, 
31). 

;..ccusec and Grieshaber passed the night of 26 J.i.ugust at 
haksunoff 1 s home. On the morning of 27 .1>.u5-ust accused and the driv­
er breakfasted there and "went driving around" tr~ough Paris again 
(R28). Thereafter, the driver reported every morning at Charley's 

"''tt1:• .L..cn:1 Al111!." ·,1Tl-l"t1f, 
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bar 0:::..nd sometimes (accused) would ride arou.."'ld in the car for a little 
while". At no time during their ten days in Paris did they go to 
the headquarters of the 2nd French Armored Division, except for two 
occasions when the driver drew gas, or to V Cor:ps hea.dquorters. 
Grieshaber one day asked accused "if v:e shouldn't start back11 • f..c­
cused said Grieshaber 

"was no one to question him and stated he 
·was working on the order of the FBI with 
the FFI.n 

During pe.rt of 26 August accused wore an 11I.:P11 arn band (P..28-29). 'Jn 
the 11 eleventh or twelfth" day after their arrival in Paris, upon ac­
cused 1 s orders they returned to V Corps. When they stopped en route 
for din.'1er, accused told Grieshaber "he had been AWOL" (R29-30) • 

.Accused reported back to l.:ajor liilkerson at Rozoy, France, 
about four p.m., 5 September, between which time and 26 August that 
officer had not received any comrm.nication of any sort from him. 
:.;ajor Wilkerson made efforts to locate accused and reported his ab­
sence to the V Corps Provost i.:arshal, the G-1 Section and (later) 
the Adjutant General (R9). 

J,'.ajor Sol Radam, Infantry, Headquarters, V Corps, Investigat­
inE Officer in the case, warned accused as to his rights, told him 
that he was there 11 to help" and that accused should execute a state­
ment 11 so that anyone reviewing this case could see his side the best11 

(Rl5-18). Over obj~ction by the defense on the gro1md that 11 it 
was taken under improper advice to the accused," the S\vorn sti:i.tenent 
of accused, dated 7 September 1944, was admitted in evidence {Rl8; 
Pros.Ex.A). The statement is prefaced, in part, by the following 
words: 

11 I, the undersigned accused, * * * being c.d­
vised of my riehts not to incri~inate myself 
and of my right to remain silent; being 
aware that any statement I make maybe used 
against me in court-martial trail (sic); and 
without being persuaded by pror.iise, reward 
or punishment, voluntarily and freely! say:" 

The statement in general confirmed the prosecution's.testimony, except 
that accused denied drinking anythine of an alcoholic nature at either 
of the homes of the French civilians prior to reachint; the 2nd French 
1-u-rnored Division headquarters and elaborated 1.1l1on his enco1Ulter with 
two snipers, both of whom he killed en route to that headquarters. He 
also elaborated upon immaterial events at the headquarters. 

11 Captain Har:1ill then handed me an overlay a..Tld 
stated, 'If you will take this back I will 
apologize to the French for you. 111 

11 During all this time thines were in a very 
hectic state. The excitement of being in ·118·1
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a liberated city with the people not letting 
you alone for a minute, and idolizing you, ·· 
made the days pass so quickly that I found 
myself being ef'rected and swayed by' this un­
usual situation. I did not intend to de­
sert the service o:f' the United States. I 
did not intend to remain AWOL f'rom my job.• 
(Pros.Ex.A}. 

, "· 4. At the conclusion o:f' the prosecution's case the defense mov­
ed for findings of' not gu,Uty as to Charge II and Specification · 
(drunk on duty) and Charge V and Specification (11'ilf"nl disobedience 
of the order of' his superior officer}. The court denied_ the motion 
as to each (R36). 

5.~ (a) For the defense, Lieutenant Colo~el (former+Y Majo~) Edgar 
Wilkerson testified that prior to 26 .August 1944 accused performed his 
duties in a very excellent manner (R27). · ·• - · 

..... 

. (b) After his rights were explained to him, accused elected 
to testi:f'y' in his own behalf'. He testified as to his prior military 
service (see infra, par.8) (R37) and stated he was assigned to VCorps 
two months prior to the trial. . During his period of' service, approx:!...; 
mately 80 per cent of the ratings given him by' bis. superior officers · · 
on his Form 66-1 were "superior•. The remainder or his testimony 
roughly paralleled his sworn statement (Pros.Ex.A) with the :f'oJ,lowing 
exceptionss He testified that when he was directed to report to the 
2nd French Armored Division he was not· given any'definite ins~ctions 
as to when to return "as long as one returned with the information 
available." Re:f'~rring to the arrival in Paris, he testified .. 

' 11 I·was offered drinks at.various times, but 
I re:f'used. I was still on duty•. (R.38). 

After shooting a sniper he was highly nervous~ 

"I was shaky because of the fact I had kill­
ed him. * * * I was excited, talking loudly
ancf with my disheveled appearance and did 

· not make a good appearance as an officer" 
(R39). . 

He denied that Captain Hamill told him to deliver.the overlay, but ad­
iidtted that the Captain said · 

"If you will take the overlay back; I will . 
apologize to the French for you, so there 
won't be any kick back." 

Accused.further testifieds 

"T~e second day that I discovered I still 
bad the overlay with me,, in order not to 
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let it fall into unauthorized hands, I de­
stroyed it_due to its military nature. 

* * * * * On the night of the 4th of September, I 
instructed the driver I had come to my 
senses and realized what was happening, I 
instructed my driver we would go back to 
V Corps" (R40). 

He denied having told the driver he was working on an order from the 
FBI with the FFI {R41) • 

Upon cross-examination, he testified that when he le.ft 
Captain Hamill his understanding was that he was to return the over­
lay to "Headquarters, Victor forward." · He admitted tlu;i.t a liaison 
officer's prime duty was to see reports go quickly from one head­
quarters to another (R.42). 

"I never changed my intention of going 
back. Merely in my excited condition 
I was an easy victim * * * of having a 
drink and settling down." 

His condition, "pretty well under the weather, 11 did not •arrant his 
delivering the overla:y (R44). The reason he did not return it 
was that "It was too late to get it there," he was not capable of 
holding it and he "was not in a very respectable condition" (R47). 
He believed he knew what he was sa:ying and doing at all times while 
in Paris (R45) • · · · · · 

6. (a) Following accused's pleas. the defense moved ' 
"that the prosecution be required to state 
the time on 26 August 1944 at which accus­

. 	ed was alleged to· be drunk as charged 
under Charge II. Charge I alleges that 
accused absented himself without leave · 
from his duty on 26 August 1944, so the 
hour of the alleged drunkenness is material 
as bearing on his duty status at that time" 
(R5a). · 

This motion in effect attacked the Specification of Charge II as in­
definite and uncertain in that it contained an insufficient allega­
tion of time. It raised matter properly determinable upon a 
motion to quash (Winthrop's Military Law &Frecedents, Reprint, p.250), 
and its determination rested within the judicial discretion of the 
court {Ibid; Cf: CI.~ El'O 895, ~~, p.24). The defense could 
reasonably be expected to assume, ~s conceded by the prosecution (R5a), 
that to sustain Charge II and its Specification the prosecution must 
prove that accused was drunk .!!! ~ time on 26 August 1944 before the 
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time on that date when he abandoned his duties and went absent with­
out leave as alleged in the Specif'ication of Charge I (HCM, 1928, 
par.145~ p.160). It is not apparent why the defense needed to be 
.notified, when it made the motion, of the precise time of the drunk­
enness in order to protect a:n::r substantial rights of accused. In 
the opinion ot the Board of Review, there was no abuse of discretion 
in the court's denial of the motion and the same was free from error. 

(b) The ~stion whether accused's statement (Pros.Ex.A) 
was voluntarily made was one of fact for the court, which it deter­
mined in the affirmative, as indicated in its findings of guilty. 
Such determination is supported by competent substantial evidence of 
the voluntary nature of said statement, and will therefore not be 
disturbed upon appellate review by the Board of Review (CM ETO 20CY'I, 
Harris. Jr., p.10, and authorities there cited). 

7. {a) The record contains clear evidence that accused absent­
ed himself without leave for the period and under the aggravated cir ­
cumstances alleged in the Specification of Charge I, in violation of 
Article of War 61. The Board of Review is of the opinion that the 
identical Specification under Charge IV does not allege a violation · 
of Article of War 95. 

•the 	conduct had in view by the article may 
not consist in conduct unbecoming an officer 
only, or in conduct unbecoming a gentleman 
only, but must in eveey case be unbecoming 
the accused in both these characters at once. 
***the act wiii'Cii forms the basis ot the 
charge must have a double signiticance and 
effect. Though it need not amount to a 
crime, it must offend so seriously against 
law, justice, morality or decorum as to ex­
pose to disgrace, socially or as a man, the 
offender, and at the same time must be of 
such a nature or committed under such cir ­
cumstances as to bring dishonor or disre­
pute ui>on the military profession which he 
represents. 

.* * * * * 
Conduct unbecoming an officer and a gentle­
man ~ thus be defined to be11iiA.ction or 
behaviour in an official capacity, which, 
iii dishonoring or otherwise disgracing the 
individual as an officer, seriously compro­
mises his character and standing as a 
gentleman; Or action or behaviour in an 
unofficial or private capacity, which, in . 
dishonoring or disgracing the individual 
personally as a gentleman, seriously com­
promises his position as an officer and 
exhibi~~ him as morally unworthy to remain 
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a member of the honorable profession of 
arms." (Winthrop's Military Law and 
Precedents, pp.711-712,713). • 

Although the facts regarding accused's conduct, as developed by the 
evidence, particularly his excessive drunkenness and association 
with French bar keepers, might have constituted a violation of Article 
of War 95, the Board of Review is not here called upon to decide this 
question. The only question for determination is whether the 
Specification of Charge IV alleges a violation of such article. The 
allegation is of absence without leave for ten dtcy"s .from duties as a 
combat liaison officer with a division of the French Arrrry, in a com­
bat situation. There is nothing in the allegation indicating con­
duct unbecoming accused in a capacity other than as an officer. No. 
conduct unbecoming him in his capacity as a gentleman is alleged. The 
Board of.Review is therefore of the opinion that the record is legally 
insufficient to support the findings of guilty of Charge IV and its 
Specification (Dig.Ops.JAG, sec.453, pp.341, et seq). The appropriate­
ness of the sentence, however, is not affected as he was properly found 
guilty of the identical specification under Charge I. 

(b) The question whether accused's drunkenness on 26 August 
1944, prior to the time of his abandonment of his duties on that date, 
was 

"sufficient 	sensibly to impair the rational 
and i\1ll exercise of the mental and physical 
faculties" (MCM, 1928, par.145, p,160) 
(Charge II and Specification), 

and yet was consistent with his wili'ulness-in disobeying the ord~r of 
his superior officer to deliver the tactical overl~ (Charge V and 
Specification) was purely one of fact for the.court (CM ETO 3937, 
Bigrow, and authorities therein cited). In view of the substantial 
affirmative evidence (including accused's own sworn testimony that he 
deliberately destroyed the overlay and knew what he was doing at all 
times) upon this questioh and upon all other elements of the offenses 
alleged in Charges II and V and their specifications, the finding of 
guilty will not be disturbed by the Board of Review upon appellate 
review. (Drunk on duty: CM ETO 3577, Teufel, and authorities there 
cited; wilf'uI disobedience: CM ETO 2469, lll?.!, CM ETO 3080, Holliday). 
The denial of the defense motion for findings of not guilty as to 
these charees and specifications was proper (liX:M, 1928, par.7lg, p.56). 

{c) All the elements of the offense alleged in the Specifi ­
cation of Charge III (misappropriation and misapplication of govern­
ment vehicle, in violation of AW 94) were established by the evidence 
(CIA El'O 996, Burkhart; CM ETO 3153, Van Breeman). The court was 
justified in inferring that the market value of the government command 
reconnaissance car was over $50.00 (CM 228274, ~). 

. (d) Likewise, accused's guilt of the Specification of Charge 
VI {wrongful detention of soldier as driver for personal use, in viola­
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tion of AW 96) was clearly established. 

-'!.·· 

8. The charee sheet shows that accused is 34 years seven months 
of age and had the following service: "Attended TIS as officer candi­
date 6 Aug 1942, aptd 2d Lt, Inf. AUS 2 Hov. 1942, assigned to TIS 11 
Nov 1942, trfd to Hq Co. 106th Inf Div 22 Feb 1943, trfd to Hq Co XII 
Corps 16 Hov 1943, trfd to Hq Co 27lst Inf 18 I.:a.r 1944, trfd to 41st 
P..epl Bn 18 July 1944, trfd to Rq V Corps 25 Aug 1944. 11 According 
to his testimony (R37), his prior service consisted of six years three 
months continuous enlisted service fro~ 1928 to 1934 in the regular 
army. He was 11 inducted voluntarily11 4 I.lay 1942 and served as an 
enlisted man until about 5 August. 

9. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the person and offenses. Except as herein indicated, no errors in­
juriously affecting the substantial riehts of accused were cor.unitted 
during the trial. For the reasons above stated, the Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally insufficient to ­
support the findings of guilty of Charge IV and its Specification and 
legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty of Charges I, II, 
fII, V, VI and their specifications and the sentence. 

10. A sentence of dismissal from the service is mandatory under 
Article of Uar 85 upon conviction of an officer of the offense of be­
ing found drunk on duty in time of war, and is authorized upon convic­
tion of a violation of Articles of War 61, 64, 94 or 96. A sentence 
of total forfeitures and confinement at hard labor is authorized upon 
conviction of a violation of a:ny of said Articles of 'i1ar. 

11. The designation by the confirming authority of the Eastern 
Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as 
the place of confinement is authorized (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sep 
1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

·1184 
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~iar Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. () NOV 1944 TO: Commanding 
General, European Theater of Operatiotl's~ APO 887, U. S. Arrrry. 

1. In _the case of First Lieutenant STEV!ART L. HEll (0-1298393), 
Infantry, Headquarters, V Corps, attention is invited to the forego­
ing holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legal-· 
ly insufficient to support the findings of guilty of Charge IV and 
its Specification, and legally sufficient to support the findings of 
6Uilty of Charces I, II, III, V, VI and their specifications and the 
sentence, vrhich holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions 
of Article of :iar 50k, you now have authority to order execution of 
the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foreeoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file m.unber of the record in this office is 
c;.: ETO 4184. For convenience of reference, please place that num­
ber in brackets at the end of the order: (c:.: BTO 4184). 

/{,If( f tuy' 
E. C. llicrlEll. 

Brigadier General, United States Arrq, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

(Findings of guilty- of Charge IV and Specification thereunder 

vacated. Sentence ordered executed. GC:W 110, ETO, 20 Nov 1944) 






(B9)Branch Office of ·rhe Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOA..TID OF REVIEW NO· 2 
7 ~ov 1944 

CM ETO 4193 

UNITED STATES 	 ) VIII CORPS 
) 

v. ) Trial 	by GCM, convened at }.!orlaix, 
) Finistere, France, 10 September 

Second Lieutenant ROBSRT c. ) 1944• Sentences Dismissal. 
GREEN (0-530347), Infantry, ) 
J20th Replacement Company, ) 
48th Replacement Battalion. ) 

HOLDnn by BOARD OF REVIEi7 No. 2 

VAN BE!'5CEOTEN, HILL and SIRE:PER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the officer na'lled above 
has been exa'nined by the Board of Review a~d the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the 
Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater 
of Operations. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specifica­

tio:J.r 


CHARGE: Violation of the 64th Article of ~ar. 

S~ecificatio:J.: In that 2nd Lt Robert c. Green J20th 
Replacement Company, 48th Replacement Battalion 
APO 350 U.S. Army, having received a lawful com­
mand fran. Captain Clifford F. Souk:tip, his su~er­
ior officer, to surrender possession of a German 
motorcycle, did in the vicinity of Grid Coordin­
ate T21J440 Lambert Zone 1, France, on or about 
12 August 1944, willfully disobey the S9llle. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and Specif­
ication. no evidence of previo:i.s convictions was introduced. He was 
sentenced to be dismissed the service. The reviewing authority, the 
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commanding ~neral, VIII Corps, approved the sentence and forwarded the 
record of trial for action pursuant to Article of Yla:r 48. The confirm­
ing authority, the Commanding General, European Theater of Operations, 
although finding it grossly inadequate punishment for the grave offense 
of which accused was found guilty, ccnfirmed the sentence and withheld 
the order directing the execution thereof pursuant to the provisions of 
Article of War 50!· 

3. 'lbe evidence for the prosecution, in substance, is as follows: 
At about ten o'clock in the morning (R9) of 12 August 1944, Second Lieu­
tenant Norman R· Haertig, supply officer (R7) of 320th Replacement Com­
pany, 48th Replacement Battalion, was sent by the commanding officer of 
his company, Captain Soukup, to pick up a motor bike in one of the fields 
(R6). He informed accused who was in possession of it that Captain Soukup 
wanted the motor bike (R8) and was told by accused that the motor bike 
was not running, that the gears were locked and he wanted to repair it 
before turning it over (R6,8 ). Accused had previously talked to Haertig 
about this motorcycle and stated he was going to give it to the CO!l!flany 
before he left. Haertig reported to Soukup what accused had said (R6) 
and that accused had stated that if_ he (Soukup) wanted the "bike" he 
would have to come and get it (R?). At about 12130 p.m., the same day, 
after receiving Haertig's report, Soukup directed a sergeant of his unit 
to secure the motor bike and return it to the supply roam where it could 
be picked up (Rl5 ). The sergeant conveyed the message to accused who 
"more or less in a jovial way • • • stated that the Captain would have 
to take it over his dead body" {RlO) and that •if the Captain wanted the 
motorcycle he would have to come down and get it himself" (Rll). He did 
not turn the motor bike over to the sergeant {Rl3). The sergeant then 
reported to the Captain {Rll). At approximately 12130 on the afternoon 
of ~2 August, Captain Clifford F. Soukup, commanding officer of accused's 
unit, went to the field where accused was (RJ.4). He asked accused why he 
had not sent the vehicle as directed through the Lieutenant and sergeant 
and was informed by accused that it was his {accused's) property. Soukup 
testified that he then informed accused that he was still accused's com­
manding officer, and to remove the vehicle personally, and he refused. 
He then informed accused "this is a direct order and you will comply vri th 
it innnediately 11 , and he (accused) again refused.. Soukup then told three 
or four enlisted men to pick it up and take it to the supply tent at 
which accused arose, •stepped backward one or tr10 steps and placed his 
hand on the holster of his pistol and said 'if you move it, you will move 
it over my dead body••. He did not attempt to draw the weapon. Soukup 
then placed him under arrest and notified the Provost Marshal who took 
accused into custody. Accused's attitude was insubordinate and he tried 
to argue (Rl5). .Accused when approached, was working on the motorcycle 
and there were some parts on the ground (Rl6). He had a pistol belt and 
holster but SO'.Lkup did not know whether there was a pistol in the holster 
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(Rl7)• (The court took judicial notice of .Article of War 80 direct­
ing the dis~osal of captured enei:Izy' property.) 

Second Lieutenant George Clifford Anderson, also of accused'D 
unit {R20) was present when the sergeant asked accused for the motor­
cycle, as well as when Captain Soukup later came for it. Anderson tes­
tified that Soukup told accused "to take it to the orderly room if he 
had to carry it on his back"• There had been some previous talk be­
tween the two. Accused •asked the Captain if you want my wife you can 
get her too or words to that effect"• The Ca;ptain then said "I am giv­
ing you a direct order to take this motorcycle up to the Orderly Room", 
and there was quite an argument. Accused refused to give up the motor­
cycle on the ground that it was his {R21J and he was serious. Captain 
Soukup then placed accused under arrest and left (R22J. 

4. Private First Class Wilbert D. Bowling of accused's unit, as 
a witness for the defense, testified that he was within six feet of 
the parties during the conTersation on 12 August between accused and 
Captain Soukup over a German motorcycle, which accused had and vbich 
Soukup came to see about. He did not hear Soukup at any time give 
accused a direct order to turn the motorcycle over to him and, over 
objections, he was allowed to testify that it appeared to him that 
the conversation was in the nature of a personal argument lH24J• He 
testified also that accused was not armed. He admitted, however, he 
heard only parts of the conversation (R25). 

Private First Class Harold c. Frank of the same unit also 
heard part of the conversation but was sure of nothing except that he 
did not hear Soukup give accused a direct orper to turn over the 
motorcycle to him (R26). 

After being advised by the court of his right~ as a witness 
(R28) accused testified, in substance, that he found a German motor­
cycle which had been painted and marked by the 4th .Armored Division. 
Its brakes were gone and some of its gears dismantled. He and an 
enlisted man brought it up to the area and got it so it would run. 
He told Lieutenant Haertig he wanted him to have the motorcycle, a.~d 

had premised it to Haertig. He had done a lot of work on it so, when 
the sergeant came and said the Captain told him to pick it up, "I told 
him no, since I figured he could be horsing or kidding me is why I re­
fused•, the sergeant. Just before that Lieutenant Haertig had come 
down and said "that he wanted to pick it up for the Captain". Accused 
told him "when I repaired it I was going to turn it over to him when 
I left•. While he was working on it after the sergeant left, the 
CaPtain came and it •seems like he ·was mad". He wanted to know why 
the motorcycle was not given to the sergeant and accused stated he 
wasn't letting everybody have it; that Lieutenant Haertig was to 
have it when accused had it finished. 

4193 
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1 I said, •there are boys around here got paratroop 
boots, P 38 1s, and I as a 2nd. Lieutenant would 
have authority to take that stutt away tran those 
boys't' He said •you certainly do.' I don't know 
What .I said then I torgot. Then, 'it I had my wite 
there in my tent you aa a superior officer would 
have a right to send a sergeant down to pick her up 
would you not?• Just before he answered I began to 
get a little bit mad. I said, 'if' you move.that you 
will over my dead body.' At that time he put me un­
der arrest• {R30). 

He turther testified that.he did not hear any dir•ct order gi.Ten him 
by captain Soukup to turn the bike oTer to him (l\30..31). He also ad­
mitted that he had nothing to show he was entitled to possession of' 
this vehicle, except that he had found it. Accused's feelings were 
•sort of' personal• though he did •not exactly• get angry {R.30..31). 
Accused was handed a paper marked.Prosecution~s J!Xhibit A end asked 
if' it was in his handwriting. He answered, •I couldn't swear to it, 
no, sir• {rol). He was then asked if' his signature appeared on the 
paper, end he answered, •No, just Green•. He was asked it he re­
membered ever writing it and answered, '!I could have but not swear­
ing to it•. A member of' the court then.asked, 1 Did you or did you 
not write the note't• and accused answered, "Yes, sir•. '.!!le note was 
then admitted in evidence as Prosecution's Exhibit 1. It reads as 
follows a 

•Toa Capt. Soukup. 

MV apologies for my insubordinate and disobedient 
actions, yesterday. At first I thought I was right, 
but after thinking and researching, I am offering my 
apology, and hope you have no ill feelings toward me, 
as I know you were right, and I would have done the 
same had I been in your place. I respect your 
position. 

Green• (l\32.) 

In his opinion the motorcycle belonged to.the United States Gonrn­
ment and he knew Captain Soukup was his commanding officer {R33). Ae­
cus ed. testified he had been in the army approximately 15 months, a 
comnissioned officer ten months, and had attended the Military Academy 
at Bryan, Texas, prior to entering the army {l\32). 

5. 'lbe disobedience contemplated by Article of' War 64 is a dis­
obedience of' a wilf'ull and deliberate character (Winthrop's Military 
La• and Precedents, 1920 Reprint, p.573). .The form of the order is 
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immaterial provided it amounts to a poeitin mandate (Winthrop, ~·• 
P•574)• Captain Soukup, compaJlY comnaDder and accused's superior of­
ficer, gaTe a direct order to accused which he ret'u.sed.to obey. The 
captain's testimony to this effect is corroborated by the testimoey of 
accused. 'lbat such refusal was wilful appears fran accused's actioll8 
and his testimoey in court. His note of e,pology shows it. The rigb.t 
and duty of Captain Soukup as an officer to take possession of captured 
eneicy property in the hands of his subordin~tes fa; the benefit of the 
military service is unquestioned (AW 80), and that his orders or attitude 
may have appeared arbitrary or unreasonable is no defense (BOLI.. 1JJJ, Oct 
194.2, PP•273-274; Winthrop, ~·• PP•576-577). 

6. The charge sheet shows accused to be 22 years of age. He waa 
commissioned a Second Lieutenant at Fort Benning, Georgia, 16 November 
1943, with about five months prior enlisted servi~e. 

7 • The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Re­
view is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findillg.9 of eµilty and the sentence. Dismissal is author­
ized under Article of War 64. 

_ __.c...s... ......H_CSP......,.I_T_..AL ____I...,CR'......_.IN ... ... ) -:fudge Advocate 

J'udge Advocate 
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1st Ind. 

war Dere.rtment, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
Diropean. Theater of Operations. 7 NOV 1944 TOs Command­
ing General European Theater ot Op erations, APO 887, U. S. Army. 

1. In the case of second Lieutenant ROBERT c. GREEN (0-530347), 
Infantry, J20th Replacement Campany .. 48th Replacement Ba<t'talion, at­
tention is invited to the foregoing holding of the Board of Review­
that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the find­
inss of guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. 
under the provisions of Article of War 5ol, you now have authority to 
order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this of­
fice, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this in­
dorsement. '!he file nwnber of the record in this office is CM ETO 4193. 
For convenience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the 
end of the orders (CMETO 4193)• 

'·iZ' t:c.r e__ cC<__ ·-t 
I I I .,·

E • C • McNEIL. 
Brlgadier General, United States A.nI\1, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

(Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 133, ETC, 13 Dec 1944) 
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(95)Branch Office of The Judge .A.dvooa te General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 

CI~: ETO 4194 

UNITED STATES 

Vo 

Technician Fifth Grade RICH.ARD 
B. SCOTT (38040012), 229th 
Quartermaster Salvage Collect­
ing Company. 

4NOV1944 

NOlMANDY BASE SECTION, COMMUNI­
CATIONS ZONE, EUROPEAN THEATER 
OF OPERATIOI'v"S. 

Trial by GCM; convened at 
Cherbourg, Department or kanche, 
France, 7 September 1944. 
Sentence: To be hanged by the 
nee ·k until dead. 

HOLDING by BO.A.RD OF !lli'VIEW !l!O i 1 

RITEE, &illG32~T and STEVEi\JS, Judge .1dvocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board 
submits this, .1 ts holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate 
General fo. c:h.arge of the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate 
Gener£.l with the European Theater of Operations. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and speci­
fications: 

CHi..RGE I: Violation of the 92nd A:i:-ticle of War. 
Specifio~tion: In th~t Technician 5th Grade 

Richard B. Scott, 2 29th Q.ru:..!'terrraster 
Salvaee Collecting Company,. did at 
Octevi11e, near Cherbourg, France, 
on or about 20 July 1944 forcibly and 
feloniously, c:.gainst her will, have 
c;:i.rnal knowledge of kado.me 11.~t::.ri Dupont. 
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C:t-L'...'r{G:E II: Vioktion of the t32rd Article of ·~t<::..r. 
Specific~tion 1: In that * * * did, at 

Octeville, near Che rbourg, Frar:ce on 
or about 20 July 1944, with intent to do 
h:ir:lbodily h~rffi, commit ~n assault upon 
Lr. Joseph Ch&tel by cuttin,g him on 
the left side of his b()dy jus-c c..bove 
the belt line with a dangerous weapon 
to wit, a b::;.yonet. 

Specification 2: I21 that * * * did, at 
Octeville, near Cherbourg, France on 
or about 20 July 1944 with intent to 
do him bodily hc:.rm, comdt an assault 
on Er. Lorcel Dupont, by willfully 
and feloniously threatenins him with I' 

a dangerous weapon to wit, a bayonet. 

He pleo.ded not guilty, and, all .rr:embers of the court present c:.t 
I, 

the time the vote w&s taken concurring, wc..s found euilty of 
Charse I ~nd its S9ecification, guilty of Specification 1, Charge 
II except the word "cutting", substituting the re for the word 
"jabbine'', of the e2~ce9ted word not t;Uilty, of the substituted 
word guilty, guilty of Specification 2, Charge II :::.nd 9f Charge 
II. No evidence of previous eonvictions was introduced. .All· 
members of the court present at the time· tre vote was ta!cen con­
curring, he was sentenced to be h<:.nged by the neck until dead. 

The reviewing authority, the Commana.ing Officer, Nor.:. 
mandy Be.se Section, Cornnunications Zone, European Theater of 
Oper&tiohs, ~pproved the findings and sentence end forwarded 
the record of trial for action under i~rticle of ';fc.r 48. The 
confirming .::.uthority, the Corr.ma.nding Ger:er~l, Europesn Theater· 
9f Operations, confi:rr.ied the sentence and ·withhel~ the order , 
directing execution thereof pursuant to Article of ~::ar 50t-. . 

::. The evidence for the prosecution shows thu.t on 20 July 
1944 1k..rcel Dupont, a house pc.inter, lived on the ground floor 
at 78 Hue Sadi-Carnot, Octeville, Frc.nce, with his wife E~rie, 
and three children. Lc.rie v1as pregnant. The e.pe.rtment con­
sisted of a illillw~y, kitchen, 8.na_ 6- bedroom entered fr~ the 
kitcher: (R7-8,16). Jose9h Cill;.tel lived above the Duponts on 
the second floor of the buildins (Rl4). About 10:30 p.n. that 
evening, someone lmocY.:ed on the door of the house and called ' 
"Police". When Dupont opened the door accused, u colored soldier, 
entered the house uninvited, went into the bedroom, and by 

.. 
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. I11..aking signs showed Duoont a hole in the window shutter · 
through which the light was shining. After Dupont stuffed 
a paper "in the hole" accused entered the kitchen without 
invitation, sat down ~t the table, pointed to some cider 
thereon and signified that he w!illted a. drink. .hfter he ·was 
given a glass of the beveraae by Dupont, accused took out a 
smal·l blue dictionary and also some photographs which he 
showed to Mrs. Dupont (R7-9,16-18). He then .Put his head on 
the table, and slept for· a few minutes. When awakened by 
Dupont he stood up and then lay down on the floor. Mrs. 
Dupont went to summon Chatel who came downstairs. When Chatel 
reached the bottom stair accused suddenly arose, took out hi.s 
bayonet and went into the hallway saying "Boche1 Boche1" He 
appeared angry and "unnerved", and "pricked" Cha tel on the left 
side of tbe waist, piercing the latter's shirt and causing a 
"small red spot" on his skin. He pointed the bayonet at 
Oba.tel several times and indicated that the latter was to re­
turn upstairs. Cha.tel did so immediately (R9-l0,12-16,18-19). 
Accused ·becrune "furious" and still holding his bayonet, s :J.g­
nified that the Duponts were to return to the kitchen and 
pushed them "brutally" into tbe room with his right hand. 
There, he twice tu med out the light but Dupont turned it on 
again. Ace.used, by the use of signs, then indicated tba t the 
Duponts were to enter tr.i.e bedroom wr.ere the children were 
sleeping. After the three entered the room accused pointed 
the bayonet at the husba.'1.d by thrusting it upwards with an 

underhand motion, forced him into a corner of the room and 
took hold of his arms "hard"• He then seized Mrs. Dupont by 
the waist in order to ma'ke her lie down on the floor, but she 
resisted. Placing his bayonet across her throat he made her 
lie down "by force" near her husb~d. Whenever Dupont tried 
to move, accused seized his bayonet and pointed it at him 
(Rl0-11,13,16,19-21). He then pushed up the woman's' clothes, 
unbuttoned his trousers and had sexual intercourse with her 
on the floor. During the act Dupont wus crouched in a corner 
about 40 centimeters away. Accused kept his eyes on him and 
whenever Dupont moved, seized his bayonet. When he finished, 
accused suddenly arose and ran out of the house like a wild 
man (Rl0-13,20-21). Dupont testified that .his wife was tryin~ 
to push accused away but that she did not shout (Rl3). The 
following questions and answers occurred upon cross examina­
tion of 1:rs. Dupont: 

"~· .And isn't it true that you sub­
" mitted to the act of intercourse 

without putting up any resistance? 
.A. This is an impossible thing. 

U84-3- .... 
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~· 	 Did you make any outcry?
A. No. 	 I did not scream for fear Of 

awakening my children. 

Q,. 	 So rather than awakening your
children, you submitted to this 
rape. Is tba t right'? To this 
intercourse. 

A. 	 I did not submit myself to this 
intercourse. I resisted as much 
as I could. 

Q,. 	 Tell the court what you did to­
ward resisting. 

A. 	 I struggled, but he was stronger
than I. I was terrorized by
fright. 

~· 	And at the ti~e that this was 
going on, did accused appear
like a wild man, or to be out 
of 	his mind'i' 

A. He was very unnerved. lie was 
shaking 	like this. 

(Indicating hands trembling). 

~· Ncm, just when did this condi­
tion start'?. 

A. 	 Only a few minutes, perhaps two 
or three minutes at the utmost 
while we were struggling" .lR21). 

She denied tba t she out mr arms around. accused when he be­
came sleepy in tbe kltchen (R20). 

Both Duponts identified accused as the soldier in­
volved (R7,21). The dictionary which accused.left behind 
when he ran from the house was delivered to the "Civil 
Affairs" at Octeville by :t.'~adame Dupont· (R21). Both Duponts 
and Chatel testified that accused did not appear to be drunk 
(Rl2 , 15 , 2 0) • 

About 2:00 a.m. 22 July, Agent Jack Goldsmith, Crim­
inal Investigation Div:l,sion, United States Army, interviewed 
accused and obtained a statement from him after he advised 
him of his rights. The stateuent was reduced to writing by
Goldsmith and signed by accused. About 6:00 p.m. 22 July, 
after again being warned of hi~ rights, accused executed a 
second statement. Both statements were identified by Goldsmith 
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and admitted in evidence without objection by the defense 

(R22-24; Pros.Exs.1,2). Goldsmith obtained a blue French 

dictionary from "the Civil Affairs people at Octeville" 


•8.nd 	showed 1.t to accused who admitted tbat it belonged to 
him (R23). 

Accused's first statement (Pros.Ex.l), was as 

follows: 


" My full name is Richard Bunney . -. ­
.Scott •. I was 1nC!.ucted into the 
Army of the United States on March 
7, 1941, at Dallas, Texas. lcy rank 
is Technician 5 Grade. I have been 
attached to the 229 Salvage Collect­
ing co. since 1941. 

On Thursday, July 20, 1944, I 
arose at 12 noon and washed my face 
and had lunch. I then went back to 
my tent and lay down. I got up and 
left camp at 1 PM although I didn't 
have a pass. I told my friend Navy
that I was going out for a walk•. I 
didn't have a pass because I worked 
the day before. I walked up the 
street to the main highway· which 
runs to Cherbourg. As I was walking 
along I gave two children some choco­
late candy which I had from our 
rations. Their parents were stand­
ing in the doorway and invited me 
inside. I went and sat down at a 
table and had some cider. I tried 
talking with them bU-t· could.not 
understand them. I took out my 
little blue French book and tried 
to make conversation with them. I 
left around four oclock. I was 
wearing my fatigues, field jacket
and leggings and helmet. I wasn't 
carrying my bayonet. I have just 
been· shown a blue French book with 
my nam in it and it is mine. I 
forgot it at these peoples house. 
I have just been shown three French 
civilians. I know two of ·them. 
They are u..r. & :Mrs. Dupont, and 
are the people who entertained me 
thursday afternoon at their house. 
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.After' I left rv::r. &. Mrs. Dupont's 
house I walked along the street to 
a Pub, located near the barber and 
had a co@l.ac ~nd some cider. I 
bought a bottle of cider to carry 
with me but did not· have enough 
money to pay for it. I had fifteen 
francs and it cost twenty, but the 
lady of the pub trusted me for the 
five francs. I was in the pub from 
five oclock to 10 P.K. and went back 

·to camp from the pub. I didn't stop 
anywhere on the way home to camp and 
arrived there at 10:30 P.1::. I ssid 
'Hello I am entering' to the guard 
at the entrance, and he said, 'Hello' 
to me. I walked to my tent. It wc;.s 
about 10:34 when I got to my tent and 
I talked to Williard Navy and Pvt. J. 
B. Bly, who sleep in my tent. I 
talked with.them.tor about twenty 
minutes and went to sleep about 12 
oclock. I did not rape the worr~n 
that I was shown here tonight". 

As accused's second statement (Pros.Ex.2) substan­
tially conformed with his testimony at the trial, such state­
is not set forth herein. 

4. · For the defense; accused testified tbat about 5 :OO 
p .in. 20 July, he le ft camp without a pass and went to a "pub" 
in Che rbourg where he bought a glass of cognac, some ci d.er 
and also a bottle of cider to take with him·. On the way back 
to camp he knocked. at the door of a building he believed to 
be a pub. Dupont opened the door, ~hook hands with him and 
invited him in to the kitchen where he gave him some wine and 
cider. Accused "was feeling .good • * * and I knew exactly what 
I was doing". He laid his head on the table, felt his chair 
sliding out ~beneath him and fell against the wall. ·i,'hen Mrs. 
Dupont caught him by the hand he arose, sat at a chair by the 
table and she drew up a chair beside him. The light in the 
kitchen was out and he "missed" Dupont. Accused arose, and 
because Dupont was coming toward him, became frightened, shoved 
Dupont back and switched on the light. Accused left the room 
and entered tbe hallway where he found Tuirs. Dupont and Chatel. 
He did not see Mrs. Dupont go upstairs for Chatel {R26-28,33).
Chatel was holding a bottle and invited accused to have a drink 
but the latter refused. Dupont said something to Obatel who 
ran up the stairs (R28,33). Accused returned to the kitchen 
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and again laid his head on the table. Du9ont entered and 
motioned that accused was to go to the bedroom. He did so 
and found N!I's. Dupont. Dupont pulled his wife and accused 
together and she lay down on the floor and raised her dress. 
Dupont indicated that accused was also t:-, get down on t:he 
floor. He did so, indulged in intercourse with the woman 
but did not know whether he had an emission. (R28 ,30). He 
then arose and o:ffered to pay them 100 francs but tlle woman 
would not accept the money. As he le ft the house Dupont 
threw his arm around him and kissed him on the jaw (P..28) •. 
Accused left in the house his blue French dictionary which 
contained his name (R30,34). he denied that he called out 
"Police" before entering the house, thut he checked the 
blackout in the dwelling and that he said nnytb.ing about 
"Boche" (R31). At no time did he use force on lLrs. Dupont 
nor did he threaten her or Chatel with a bayonet. She lay 
down on t..11.e floor 'Nillingly and he ·would never have "bothered" 
her if her husband had not "motioned to me and nointed to me" 
(R28,32-33). Accused testified that he had ho-knife or weapon 
with him that evening and thc..t he. left his bayonet ut camp 
(R29,33). 

He testified that the state~ent ad!Ilitted in evidence 
as Pros .Ex. l wus false and the second statement admitted as 
Pros.Ex.2 (which substantiG.lly conformed with his testimony) 
was true. .Accused explained tle variance between the two 
statements by testifying that he did not know why his inter­
rogator (Goldsmith) wanted him, and that he was frightened 
when he made tbe first statement (R25-26,29-30) • 

.Accused further testified th?..t in 1939 an uutomobile 
ran over him in Dal las, 'rexas. Ar:,. a. result he was uncon­
scious for one week and remained in a hospital for eight 
months. liis head, arm and leg were scarred and his leg had 
not healed properly since tli.e time of the injury. As a fur­
ther result of the accident he suffered from restlesness, 
worry, lapses of memory and his heed "bothered" him. He was 
positive, however, that he fully remembered tbs events of the 
evening in question. He "would love to" have the court re­
commend that he be examined by a medical board (R29,34). 

It was stipulated by the prosecution and defense th:;:.t 
if accused's company comm~nder, Captain Joseph Emery Jr., 
~uartermaster Corps, were present he would testify that accused's 
service was sat is factory (R35). 

5. The findings of guilty of the assaults upon Dupont and 
Chatel with intent to do bodily harm with a dangerous weapon 
(Charge II and its specifications) were fully supported by the 
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evidence (C:rJ; ETO ?64, Copeland and Ruggles; CM ETO 3255, 
Dove; CM ETO 2707, Womack; Ci'.1:1 :a;TO 2414, 1lason). 

6. With reference to the offense of rape (Chc.rge I 
and Specification), the· pertinent principles of law in­
volved in the case under consideration are as follows: 

ttRape is the unlawful carnal know­
ledge of a woman by force un~ with­
out her consent. A:a.y penetration, 
however slight, of a woman's geni­
tals is sufficient carnal knowledge, 
whether emission occurs or not. 

** * * .¥ * * * * 
Force and want of consent are indis­
pensable in rape; but the force in­
volved in the act of oenetration is 
alone sufficient where there is in 
fact no consent. 

* * * * * * * *' 
Proff.-- (a) That the .accused had 
carnal knowledge of a certain female 
as alleged, and (b) that tbe act 
was done by force and without her 
consent"· (lJ.lCM, 1928, par. 148b, 
p.165). ­

"Where the act of intercourse is 
accomplished after the female 
yields through f eur ca~sed by 
threats of great bodily injury,
there is constructive force, and 

.the act is rape, actual physical 
force or actual physical resistance 
not being required in such cases, 
even where the female is capable•
of consenting" (53 C.J.,sec.32, 
p .1024). 

"Carnal knowledge of the female 
with her consent is not rape, pro­
vided she is ahove the age of 
consent, or is capable in the eyes 
of the law of giviilg consent, or 
her consent is not extorted by
threats and fear of immediate 
bodily harm. * * * There is a 
difference between consent and 
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submission; every consent involves . 
submission but it b no means fo""'Ilows 
t t a mere su m ss on invo ves con­
sent ff (52 c.J.,sec.26,pp.1016,1017) 
TU'Iiderscoring suppliedJ. 

"The female need not resist so long 
as either strength endures or con­
sciousness- continues. Rather tbe re­
sistance must be proportioned to the 
outrage; and the amount of resistance 
required necessarily depends on the 
circumstances, such as the relative 
strength of the parties, the age and· 
condition of the female, the useless­
ness of resistance, and the degree 
of force manifested. * * * Stated in 
an~ther way, the resistance of the 
female to support a charge of rape
need only be ~ucn as to make non­
consent and actual resistance reason­
ably manifest" (52 c.J.,sec.59,pp. 
1019, 1020). .. 

"The force. The force implied in 
the term 'rate' may be of any sort, 
if sufficien to overcome resistance.
* * * It is not essential that the 
force employed consist in ~hysical
violence; it may be exerte in part 
or entirely by means of other forms 
of duress, or by threats of killing 
or of grievous bodily harm or other 
injury * * *· 
Non-consent. Absence of free will, 
or non-consent, on the part of the 
female, may consist and appear * * * 
in her yielding through reasonable 
fear of death or extreme lniury im­
pending or threatened; * * in the 
fact that her will has been constrain­
ed, or her ~ssive acquiescence ob­
tained, by * * other controlling 
means or influence" (Winthrop's 
Military Law and Precedents ~ Re­
print, p~.677-678} (Underscoring
supplied}. . 

"Ac uiescence throu fear not con­
. ~· onsent, owever, re uctan , 

negatives rape; but when the woman 
-9­
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is insensible tl:rough fright or 
where she ceases resistance under 
fear of de&th or other great h~rm 
(such fear being gaged by her own 
capacity), the consummated act is 
rape" (1 Wharton's Criminal law, 
12th Ed., sec .701,p.942) (Under­
scoring supplied). 

"An actual force used by the accused 
sufficient to create an apprehension 
of death in the mind of the victim 
need not be proved. If a less de­
gree of force is used, but coupled 
with threats to kill or to inflict 
bodily harm, in fear of which she 
involuntarily submits, the intimida­
tion practiced will be regarded as 
constructive .force" (Underhill' s 
Criminal ~vidence, 4th Ed.,sec.675, 
pp .1272-1273) • 

The undisputed evidence showed that at the time &nd 
place alleged accused had sexual intercourse with 11:adame 
Dupont and that penetration occurred. The only question 
presented was purely one of fact, !12.rre ly, whether or not the 
victim consented to the act of intercourse. The testimony 
of accused, on the one hand, and th3 Duponts on the other, 
is in sharp conflict on this point. According to accused he 
used no force upon the woman whatsoever and did not threaten 
her or Chatel with a bayonet. Dupont openly invited him to 
have intercourse with his 'wife and she voluntarily lc.y on the 
floor and. subr.rl.tted to the act. His offer of payr•l.8nt for the 
privilege was refused. .According to Dupont and his wife, 
Chatel, in response to the women's request, came dov.•ns tairs 
but was forced to return by accused who threatened and pricked 
him with his bayonet. Then accused, holding his bayonet, 
forced the::,~ into the bedroom where he seized the husband by 
tbe c.rms "hard" und forced him into a corner by threatening 
him with the weapon. ·when the wor.1an resisted accused's at­
tempts to make her lie on the floor, he put his bayonet across 
her throat c.nd made her lie down "by force". !~e ra.ised her 
clothing, unbuttoned his trousers and had sexucl intercourse 

. with her. He ke_pt his eye on Dupont and whenever +'l:J.e latter, 
who was crouched ih the corner, moved, accused seized his 
bayonet. B-athDuponts t~stified that she resisted. The woman 
.testified that she struggled to the best of her ability but 
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that she was overpowered by accused's superior strength and 
was "terrorized by trig.ht". She did not in the least volun­
tarily submit to sexual intercourse. She did not scream be­
cause she did not wish to awaken the children who were sleep­
ing in the same room. 

Although Chatel had returned to his own apartment 
when the sexual act was actually committed, he in part corro­
borated the Duponts' version o:t' the incident by testi:f'ying 
that Mrs. Dupont went up to his apartment and requested his. 
assistance, that when he went down accused threatened him with 
a bayonet 1 actually pricked him with it and forced him to re­
turn upstair:..• · 

The question as to whether the victim, without intimi­
dation of.any kind, fully consented to the act of intercourse 
or whether it was committed by accused _by force, violence, 
terrorization and against her will, was a question of fact 
within the exclusive province of the court. As the finding 
of non-consent is supported by competent substantial evidence, 
it. will not be disturbed by the Board of Review on appellate 
review (CM ETO 1402, ·Willison and cases cited thereon; mii ETO 
24?2' Blevins; CM ETO 1mm' Hicks i CJh ETO 3141, Whitfield; 
CNi ETO 3?40, Sanders et al; CM ETJ 3?09, M.artin). 

?. At the close of accused's testireony defense counsel 
requested that the court recommend, prior to making its find­
ings, that accused be examined by "the medical authorities". 
'fhe court deferred action on the mot ion. The stipulation con­
cerning Captain Emery's testimony was then entered and the 
defense rested its case. .Argu:-i1ents were then im.de on the 
motion and the motion was denied, whereupon the defense re­
quested that if accused should be found guilty, the court re~ 
commend that "such a hearing be held before execution of sen­
tence .be carried out". The law member ruled that "the court 
will consider that at the time it considers its verdict" {R34­
35) ~ 

"Although it was the duty of the court 
to determine the issue of insanity in 
all its aspects it wo.s not required to 
make this determination as an interlocu­
tory question and upon express findings.
Determination of· the issue as an inter­
locutory question was discretionary 
{plr.?5~, ~ICM). It is clear that if no 
eXl_)ress findinss had been made U?On the 
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issue or upon its slecial elements, 
the findinss of gui ty would have 
sufficed to cover the issue of in­
st:nity and all its elements (CI.i
15?854, Ireland; CL 205621, Curtis; 
CM 211836) '.' (CE 225837' Gray} 
(Underscoring supplie dJ. 

In view of the foregoine authority the court's action 
in denying the motion by· the defense was not error and the 
findings Of guilty conclusively reflected the determination of 
the court with res_pect to the question of insanity. 

s. The charge sheet shovJS that accused is 27 years and 
11 months of age and that be was indue ted 7 l1~arch 1941 at 
Dallas, 1rexas, to serve for the duration of the war plus six 
r:ionths. He rad no prior service. 

9 •. 'l'he court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offenses. :ifo errors injuriously affecting 
the substs.nti<:l rights of accused were cornnitted durine; the 
trial. The Boo rd of neview is of the opinion the. t the record 
of trie.l is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty 
and the sentence. 

10. The penalty for rape is death or life imprisonment, 
fas the court may d5.r~ct lA'1/ 92). 
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1st Ind. 

\lar Department, J?,ranch Office of Tl:e Judge Advocate General 

vJith the European Theater of Operations. 4NOV1944 TO: Com­

manding General, European Theater of Operations, .APO 887, 

u. s. Army. 

1. In the case of Technician Fifth Grade RICHARD B. SCOTT 
(38040012), 229th Q,uartermaster Salvage Collecting Company, 
attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the Boc..rd of 
Review tho. t the record of trial is legally sufficient to sup­
port the findines of guilty and tr& sentence, which holding is 
hereby approved. Under the provisions of .Article of War 50-k, 
you now have authority to order execution of the eentence. 

I 

2. The court denied a motion by the defense that accused 

be examined by "the medical authorities" and resolved any

q_uestion of insanity against accused by.its findings of guilty. 

However, as this question was raised during the trial, your 

attention is invited to the matter for whatever action you may

deem desirable, prior to execution of the sentence. 


3. When copies of the published order are forwarded to 
this office, the~ should be accompanied by the foregoing hold­
ing, this indorsement and the record of trial which is delivered 
to you herewith. The file number of the record in this· office 
is CM ETO 4194. For convenience of reference please place that 
number in brackets at the end of the order: (CM ETO 4194). 

4. Should the sentence as imposed by the court be carried 
into execution· it Is· requ.estli.O. that a complete copy of proceed­

. ings be furnished this office in order- that its files m_ay be 
.comolete., /j. !l".1 ·• • , 4 • 

::\... • • I j'/.'.'. / / ,} I ­
· / ,r; · . . _, .r /. ·V ./' / . , •..,,. F . 

·~· " ~ ;,/ .;/;' ~ ./..-i!./~
I _....,/ . "' . 

E. r. t~c~JEIL, 
Brigadier General, United States A:nrry, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

(Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 106, ETO, 15 Nov 1944) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 ' 

BOARD OF REVI~W NO. 1 	 15 CEC 1944 

CM ETO 4203 

U N I T E D STATES ) 	 BRITTAMY BASE SECTICN, COMil'UNICATIOO 
zcm, EUROPE.AN THEATER OF OPERATIONS. 

v. 	 ~ 
) Trial by GCM, convened at Rennes, 

Privates RCEERT L. BARKER ) Brittany, France, 2 October 1944. 
(38400355) and GECRGE A. ) Sentence· as to ea.ch accused: Dis­
HOOD (38465960), both o£ ) honorable discharge, total forfeitures 
Battery A, 473rd Anti- ) and confinement at hard labor for 15 
aircraft Artillery Automatic ) years. United States Penitentiary, 
Weapons Battalion (Sep) ) Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIm NO. 1 

RITER, SARGENT and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldiers named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused, by direction of the appointing authority, were tried 
together upon the following charges and specifications: 

BARKER 

CHARGE: Violation of the 93rd Article of Vlar. 
Specification 1: In that Private Robert L. Barker, 

Battery A, 47Jrd Antiaircraft Artillery 
Automatic Weapons Battalion (Sep), did at 
Grandchamp Des Fontaine, France on or about 
13 August 1944, with intent to commit a 
felony, viz: rape, commit an assault upon 
Anne Marquis, by willfully and feloniously 
throwing her on a bed and endeavoring to 
raise her dress and by indecently handling 
her body. 

Specification 2: (Finding o£ Not Guilty upon 
Defense Motion) 
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Specificnt.ion )t (Finding of l\ot Guilty upon 
Defense Motion) , 

fil!]Jl 

CHARGE 1 Violation of the 9)rd .Article of Viar. 
Specification 11 !n that Private George A, Hood, 

Eatt."'t'Y A, /~7Jd Anti-AfrcrAft Art.tllery 
Automf\t:l.o WMpons Battalion (Sep), did, a.t 
Grandcht.lmp des Fontaine, Loire-lnferieure, 
Franco, en or about 13 August icJ44, with in­
tent to do him bodily harm, commit an aeeault 
upon Felix Mtrquis by shooting at him with a 
dangerous weapon, to wit; a Thompson sub­
machine gun, 

Specification 2& (Finding of Not GuiHy upon 
Defense Motion) 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE& Violation of the 93rd Article ot War. 
Specif'ication1 In that ii· * * did, at Grandohamp dea 

Fontaine, Loire Inferioure, France, on or about 
13 August 1944, wrongfully and unlawfully a.id, 
assist and abet Private Robert L. Barker, Bat­
tery A, 473rd Anti-Aircraft Artillery Automatic 
Weapons Battalion (Sep), in assaulting ~ihdam 
Anne Marquis with intent to commit a felony, 
viz, rape, by willfully and feloniously 
restraining Ma.dam Jeanne Ra.ulin from coming 
to the assistance of the said Madam Anne 
Marquis during the assault upon her by 
Private Robert L. Barker. 

Following their respective arraignments, each accused was asked it' he ob­
jected to "common tria1'1 with the other. Defense counsel replied in the 
negative as to each accused. Ea.ch accused pleaded not guilty. Barker 
was found guilty ot Specification 1 of the Charge, except the words 
"throwing her on a bed 11 , guilty of the Charge, and, upon motion ot the 
defenee,not guilty of Speoificationa 2 and J of the Charge. Hood wa1 
found not guilty of Specification 2, upon motion of the defen••, iuilty 
o! Speoifioation 1, except the word 11Thornp1on", guilty of th• O~r1•, and 
iuilty of the Additional Charge and it• Speoitioation. No evidenot ot 
previou1 oonviotion1 wa1 introduced a• to either aoou11d. Eaoh aooU11d 
wa1 1entenoed to be di1honorably dieoharged the 1ervio1, to forfeit all 
pay and 1.llowanoe1 due or to become dua, and to be oont'in1d at hard 
labor, at 1uoh plaoe 1.1 the roviewing authority nay direct, tor 15 71ar1. 
The r1viewing authority approved •aoh of the eenteno11, de1ip;nat1d the 
United State• Penitentiary, Lewieburg, Penn•ylvania, a1 th• place ot 
confinement of eaoh aooueod, and forwarded th• record of' trial tor aotion 
pur1uant to Article of War ''*· 
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3. It was established by undisputed evidence that at about 2100 
h<?UTs, on 13 August 1944, the two accused, both armed, went drinking from 
cafe to cafe in Grandchamp Des Fontaine, France, and became drunk (R30-;U) •. 
At about 2200 hours that evening, without invitation or warning, they 
walked into a house in Grandcbamp Des Fontaine where Monsieur Le Mercier 
and his wife, Monsieur Felix r.t1rquis and his wife Anne, and Ma.dame Jeanne 
Raulin, mother of Jl.~dame Marquis, were seated at a table, having .finished 
dinner (Rll-12). Accused Barker was armed with an M-1 ri.f'le and accused 
Hood with a small ma.chine gun (Rl3,24,.3J). Both were drtmk and •over 
excited", talked a great deal, and looked threateningly at Marquis, whom 
accused Barker, a.f'ter rolling up his sleeves, approached as if' to box · 
with him {Rl.3). Mid~me Marquis became alarmed and placed herself in; 
.front of her husband, whom she told to leave. Accused Barker dernancied 
11wine, wine". Marquis obtained a small bottle of wine and gave it :to 
him. Le Mercier and his wife and Jiarquis then went out of the house, 
leaving Madame ~quis and her mother to deal with the two accused (R14). 
After Pkidame .Marquis declined a drink of.f'ered her from the bottle, accused 
Barker took her in his arms, commenced kissing her, put his hands on her 
breasts and all over her body (R15,.34), and 

"lifted my robe and he touched trf3' thighs and 
he stopped just at the entrance of my private 
parts" (Rl5). 

' 

Her mother tried to help her resist, but accused ~ood ~revented such aid 
by holding his machine gun at the mother's breast (Rl6) and striking her 
on the temple with his .fists (Rl6,.34). One of' the accused .fired his gun 
at her (R.35). The women were beaten by both accused; Madame Marquis
described it as ' ~ 

11a scene of horror -- I know that the small 
one (Hood) he bas beaten -- he put us against 
the wall and hit us with his .fists -- both· of 
us -- both my mother and me" (Rl7). 

Madame Marquis struggled with and resisted accused Barker for an hour and 
once shouted for help (Rl6-l7). Marquis started to come to her aid from 
across the street but was stopped b1 accused Hood (R26-27), who fired at 
him with hie ma.chine gun (R17-18,26}. In his struggle with Ma.dame 
1'1.rquis accused Barker unbuttoned his trousers but hie private parts were 
not e:xposed (R15). He endeavored without success to put money down the 
neck of her gown (R22,34), and 

"was all the time fj,ngering 1'J11 thighs and when 
I felt he was coming near 1'J11 private parts I 
thought I was lost" (R23) • 

At the end or an hour and a half, while 'She was cornered by a bed, he 
dropped his weapon and both women_ran out the door and escaped in the 
fields (R18). Both accused pursued them without success and then 
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returned to the house where they remained for a quarter or an hour. 
They were discovered the next morning in a nearby barn and taken into 
custody by American police (Rl9,28-29). 

4. F.a.ch accused, upon being advised respectively or his rights, 
elected to remain silent (R40-4J.), 

5. (a) As to accused Barker, the evidence clearly supports the 
court's findings as to the manner in which at the time and place alleged 
he assaulted Ma.dame llarquis- with the specific intent to commit rape. 
The findings of guilty were fully warranted (CM ETO 2500, Bush; CM ETO 
3o;l3, Romero; CM ETO 3163, Boyd, Jr.; CM ETO 3255, Dove; CM ETO 3644, 
R. Nelson; CM ETO 4167, ~). 

(b) As to accused Hood: 

(1) The uncontradicted evidence clearly supports the find­
ings under Specification l or the Charge as to the manner in which at the 
time and place alleged he assaulted Felix Ml.rquis by shooting at him with 
a submachine gun. The trial court had a right to assume that he, as a 
soldier serving in a war combat zone, knew what would be the usual and 
ordinary results of such action and that he intended such results to 
occur. 

"Weapons, etc., are dangerous when they are used 
in such a manner that they are likely to pro­
duce death or great bodily harm. * * * 

Proof.--(~) That the accused assaulted acer~ 
~n person with a certain weapon, instrument, 
or thing; and (!2) the facts and circumstances 
of the case indicating that such weapon * * * 
was used in a manner likely to produce death 
or great bodily harm" (M::M, 1928, par.149!!1' 
p.180). . . 

It is the opinion of the Board or Review that the record is legally suffi ­
cient to sustain the findings of guilty of Specification 1 of the Charge 
(CM ETC 422, W. Green; CM ETO 1585, Houseworth). 

(2) As to the Specification of the. Additional Charge, the 
uncontradicted evidence disclosed that at the time and place alleged 
accused Hood very actively assisted accused Barker's assault with intent 
to rape l:ladane Mirquis. He forcibly restrained her mother from giving 
aid against the assailant and fired at her husband when he started to 
approach in response to her cry for help. 

The distinction between principals and aiders and abettors 
has been abolished by Federal statute and an aider and abettor may be 
convicted as a principal (Federal Criminal Code, sec.332, 18 USCA 550; 
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35 Stat. 1152). The distinction is also not recognized in the adminis­
tration of military justice. All are principals ( 1.7inthrop 1 s I.lili tary Law 
and Precedents - Reprint, p.108). 

"Under Sec. 3.32 of the Federal Criminal Code, 
above quoted, the acts of the principal become 
the acts of the aider and abettor and the latter 
may be charged as having done the act himself 
and be indicted and punished accordingly. By 
virtue of said statute a principal of the second 
degree at common lm1 becomes a :principal in the 
first degree (DePreta v~ United States, 270 Fed. 
73; Conelli v. United States, 289 Fed. 791; 
Kelly v. United States, 258 Fed. 392, certiorari 
denied, 249 U.S. 616, 6.3 L.Ld. 803). Premised 
on the above stated doctrine is the established 
and well recognized rule that a n accused may be 
charged with and found guilty of the crime of 
rape although he did not actually have intercourse 
with the victim if the evidence establishes that he was 
present at and aided and abetted the ravisher in the 
accomplishment of the act of intercourse (52 C.J., 
Sec.50, p.1036; State v. Flaherty, 128 Maine 141, 
146 Atl. 7; People v. Zinn, 6 Cal.App (2nd) 395, 
44 Pac.(2nd) 408; People v. Nieto, 14 Cal.App. 
(2nd) 7Cf7, 58 Pac.(2nd) 945; People v. Durand, 
-- Cal.App.(2nd) ---, 134 Pac.(2nd) 305rr 
(CM ETO 4294, Davis and Potts). 

Accused Hood could very properly have been charged as a principal and 
found guilty of assault with intent to rape Madame Marquis upon the evi­
dence presented (CM ETO 4294, Davis and Potts). He was properly charged 
with the substantive offense of aiding and abetting and the finding of 
his guilt is supported by substantial evidence (CM ETO 3740, Sanders et 
al; CM NATO 385, Speed; CI.1 NATO 643, CM ~:ATO 121+2; CM NATO 1121, Bray 
et al; Bull. JAG February 1944, vol.III, no.2, sec.450, pp.61,62). It 
is the opinion of the Board of Review that the record is legally suffi­
cient to sustain the findings of .guilty of the Specification of the 
Additional Charge (CM ETO 4294, Davis and Potts, and authorities therein 
cited). . · 

6. The charge sheets show the foilowing concerning the service of 
accused: 

Bar~ is 20 years of age. He was inducted 22 February 194.3 
at Oklahoma City, Oklaho~. 

Hood is 20 years and 11 months of age. He was inducted 16 Feb­
ruary l943atTulsa, Ol:J.ahorna. · 

Each accused was inducted to serve for the duration of the war 
plus .six months. Neither had prior service. 
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7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of each 
accused and of the offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights o£ either accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record is legally sufficient 
as to each accused to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized for assault with 
intent to commit rape and for assault with int~nt to do bodily harm with 
a dan~erous weapon by Article of Viar 42. and section 276, Federal.Criminal 
Code {18 USCA 455). The designation as to each accused of the United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement 
is authorized (Cir.229, 8 June 19~, sec.II, pars.1£(4),3£). 

I 

__/_:____________________~Judge Advocate 

~;i'~udge Advocate 

, 
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{115)1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Jud§e Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 15 DEC 1944 TO: Commanding 
General, Brittany Base Section, Communications Zone, European Theater of 
Operations, APO 517, U. S. Arrrry. 

1. In the case of Privates RCilERT L. BARKER (38400.355) and GEORGE 
A. HO(]) (.38465960), both of Battery A, 473rd Antiaircraft Artillery 
Automatic Weapons Battalion (Sep), attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally suffi­
cient as to each accused to support the findings of guilty and the 
sentence, which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of 
Article of War 5~, you now have the authority to order execution of the 
sentences. 

2. When copies of the published orders are forwarded to this office, 
they- should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is C?A El'O 4203. For con­
venience of reference please place that number in brackets at the end of 

the orders: (CM ETC 4203). · A~ 

'V/.lf,/l(_~·~. t:/ ·- I
J .{;. C. McNEIL, . . 

·Brigadier General, United States Ant\Y, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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(117)Branch Office or The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater or Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
2 5 NOV 1944 

CM ETO 4219 

UNITED STATES ) VIII AIR FORCE SERVICE CO!ilrMND 
) 

v. . ) 
)

Private KENNETH K. PlUCE ) 
(35638022), 35th Depot Repair ) 

Trial by GCM, convened at AAF Station 547, 
England, lO October 1944. Sentence: Dis­
honorable discharge, total forfeitures, 
and confinement at hard labor for four 

Squadron~ attached l915th 
Quartermaster Truck Company 

) 
) 

years. 
Ohio. 

Federal Reformatory, Chillicothe, 

(Aviation), 2d Strategic Air 
Depot. 

) 
) 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
VAN BENSCHOI'EN, HILL and SIEEPER, Judge Advocates 

l. The record or trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused T1as tried upon the following charges and specifications i 

CHARGE Is· Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 
Specification; In that Private Kenneth K. Price, 

35th Depot Repair Squadron, attached l915th 
Quartermaster Truck Company (Aviation), 
2d Strategic Air Depot, ~ Station 547, did, 
at or near Woodhurst, Huntingdonshire, England, 
on or about 21 August 1944, commit the crime of 
sodomy, by feloniously and against the order of 
nature having carnal connection per os with 
James McLaren, a minor. 

CHARGB IIr Violation of the 96th Article of War. 
Specification: In that * '*· * did, at or near Woodhurst, 

Hilntingdonshire, England, on or about 21 August 
1944, willf'ully and wrongfully expose his penis 
in an indecent manner to James McLaren, a minor. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the charges and specifica­
tions. No evidence of previous conviction; was introduced. He was sentenced 
to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the 
reviewil~g authority may direct, for four years. The reviewing authority ap­
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proved the sentence, designated the Federal Reformatory, Chillicothe, Ohio, 
as the place of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action 
pursuant to Article of War 5ot. 

J. The prosecution showed bl the testimony of James McLaren, a 
13 year old boy (R21,24; Pros.Ex.2), that on 21 August 1944 near Wood­
hurst, Huntingdonshire, England, accused, a private in the United States 
Army (R25), was driving a jeep and the boy riding a bicycle in the same 
direotion when accused accosted the boy and invited him to ride in the 
jeep. James accepted and got in the jeep, acoused having placed the bicycle 
over the hood of the oar. After a short conversation, accused stopped 
the car and oommitted the aot of sodomy per os by inserting the boy's 
penis in his, the accused's, mouth. Accused then requested James "to 
suo:J<: him". The boy refused; whereupon accused got in the baok of the car 
and "rubbed" his own penis (R?-18). Accused drove James home. The boy's 
aunt, his guardian, with whom he lived, testified that on the date in. 
question she saw Jimmie drive up in an American jeep with an American 
soldier e.nd that the boy, under her questloning, told her "something
terrible had happened, and he was scared ;;.____ and it took me nearly an 
hour to get out of him. what had happened." (Rl9-21). Accused made a. 
voluntary statement in writing to the investigating officer in which he 
said that on the day and at the place in question, he had met a boy on1 
a bicycle and had ta.ken hi.a into his jeep; that the boy started to ple.y 
with accused's penis and had sucked it. According to accused this boy 
initiated the sex play. In this statement, accused told .. before recount­
ing the boy's "aggressive" action - that he, accused "finally stopped the 
jeflp in a clear place on the road and the boy undid my trousers and took 
out my penis" (R24-26,Pros. Ex•.3). Af'ter the °b9Y had testified, he was 
questioned carefully by the court as to his understanding of the nature 
and obligation of an oath. The boy• s e.nswers to these particular ques• 
tions and the character of his testimony in general (R?-18119) show 
that the court in accepting the boy's sworn testimony did not abuse the 
di~cretion vested in it in this connection (Dig.Op.,JAG,1912-1940,Sec. 
J95 (58) p.2.38; CM 123055 (1918)). 

4. Advised fully of his rights, accused elected to remain silent. 

The defense called as its witness Captain L:>uis M. Foltz, 
Medical Corps, Chief of Neuro-Psychiatric Section, 49th Station Hospital. 
He testified that he had examined accused several times between 11 and 18 
September 1944, and that his findings were that accused had a tendency 
toward homosexuality. He testified f'urther that the acts of accused were 
due to a mental condition; that accused was not normal mentallY; and that 
he ha.d "drives which can not be controlled by himself". His diagnosis 
was "Constitutional psychopathic state, sexual psychopathy bisexualityn. 
On examination by the court, this witness said that at the time accused 
committed offenses of the kind at issue, he knew right from wrong but. 
would be unable to adhere to the right because of abnormal emotional 
drives. ·The Captain concluded b;r saying that "according to the medical 
definition of insanity'', accused was not insane (R27·41) • 

-2­
421~ 

C.Jrl Fl DENTIAL 



noNFIDEN 1 

(119) 
At the conclusion of this testimony the defense asked for the 


appointment of a Medical Board to inquire into the mental condition of 

accused. This motion was denied. 


5. The evidence clearly shows that accused corr~itted the offenses 

as alleged in the charges and specifications. 


As stated, the court denied the motion of accused for the ap­
pointment of a medical board to inquire into the mental condition of ac• 
cused. There was nothing before the court from which it appeared that 
such inquiry ought to be made in the interest of justice. The psychia­
trist called by the defense testified that accused was not medically in­
sane (not psychotic), that he knew the difference between right and wrong, 
but was unable to adhere to the right because he was a psychopa.thio 
personality. As pointed out in CM 241+490, ~' and in CM ETO 371?, 
Farrington, the law makes a distinction between a psychotic and a mere 
psychopathic personality, between the inability of a psychotic to adhere· 
to the right and the inability of a constitutional psychopath without 
psychosis, to adhere to the right. Such inability in a psychotic ·con­
stitutes mental irresponsibility, a defense for misconduct c~~hl,1928,pa.r. 
78,p.63). The inability of a constitutional psychopath who is without 
ps~~sis to adhere to the right is not mental irresponsibility-and.does 
not constitute a defense for wrong doing (CM 244490,~; CM ErO. 3717, 
Farrington). "An accused is presumed to have been sane at the time of 
the offense charged until a reasonable doubt of his sanity at the time 
appears· from the evidence" (M:;M,1928,pa.r.112,p.110). The evidence pre­
sented by the defense cannot be said to have created such doubt. The 
court is required to inquire into the~mental condition of a.n accused only 
"·whenever at any time * * * it appears to the court for any reason that 
such inquiry ought to be ma.de in the interest of justice" (MJM,1928,pa.r. 
6J,p.49). The record shows no abuse of discretion bl the court in.its 
ruling on this motion (Dig.Op.JAG.l912-40,Sec.395(36)p.227,CM 193543, 
2 B.R.85). 

6~ Accused is 22 years of age. He was inducted at Fort Thomas, 
.Kentucky, 2 November 1942 for the duration of the war plus six months. 
He had no ·prior service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jtU'isdiction:. of the 

person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting tte substantial 

rights of, accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 

is o! the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to sup­

port the findings of guilty and the sentence. 


s. The offense of sodomy, in violation of Article of War 93, 

is punishable by imprisonment for five years. Penitentiary confine-


A <; ·' (
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ment is authorized (CM ETO 2380, Rapnld; CM 187221, Sumrall; D.C. 
Code, seos. 24-401(6:401), 22-107(6:~). The designation of the Federal 
Reformatory, Chillicothe, Ohio, ae the place of confinement, ie authorized 
(Cir.229,WD,8 Jun 1944,seo.II,pars.~(l) ,3!). 

Judge Advocate 
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1st Ind. {121) 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General ~tll. 

the European Theater of Operations. 2 5 .NOV 1944 T01 Commanding 

General, VIII Air Force Service Command, APO 6J6, U.S. J:rmy. 


l. In:. the case of Private KENNETH K. PRICE (35638022), 35th 
Depot Repair Squadron, attached l9l5th Quartermaster Truck Company 
(Aviation), 2d Strategic Air Depot, attention.is invited to the fore­
going holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally 

·sufficient 	to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which 
holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 
50-Z, you now have authority to order execution of the_sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded tq this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 
4219. For convenience of reference, please place that number ·in 
brackets at the end of the ordera (CM ETO 4219). 

A
/'~//;f;/,.~/? E./'
u< I 1 
• C. McNEIL, 

Brigadier 	General, United States Army, 
~iatant Judge Advocate General. 
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(123)Branch Otfice of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
.APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW no. 2 

CM ETC 4222 	 2 5 NOV 1944 

UNITED STATES ) XIX TACTICAL AIR COMMAND 

l 
) 

v. 	 Trial by GCM, convened at Headquarters, 
XIX Tactical Air Command, 9 September 1944. 

Private ALBERr J. POLITI Sentence & Dishonorable discharge, 
· (32346952) 1 Company D, ) total forfeitures and confinement 
932nd Signal Battalion. ) at hard labor for seven years.
Separate (TAC) ) Eastern Branch, United States 

Disciplinary Barracks, Green.haven,~ New York. 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEl'i NO. 2 
VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SIEEPER, Judge Advocates 

l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named, above has · 

been eX8lllined by the Board of Review. 


2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and specifications i 

CHARGE1 Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 
Specification 1. In that Private Albert J. Politi, Company 

D, 932d Signal Battalion Separate {Tactical Air Command), 
XIX Tactical Air Command, did, at the Collllll1.llle of 
St. Colombe, Canton of St. Saveur le Vicomte, 
France, on or about 2015 hours 4 August 1944, 
unlawfully enter the dwelling of Mr. and Mrs. 
Jean Osmont, of the Commune of St. Colombe, 
Canton of St. Saveur le Vico11te, France, with 
intent to commit & criminal offense, to wit, 
1aroeny therein. 

Specification 2, ID.·tha.t Private Albert J. Politi, 

Company D, 932nd Signal Battalion Separate 

(Tactical Air Colllllland) 1 XIX Tactical Air Com­

mand, did, at the Comnune of St. Colombe, 

Canton of St. Saveur le Vicomte, France, on 

or about 2015 hours, 4 August 1944, feloniously 

take, steal, and carry away "French" money, 

value of about three thousand (3000) francs, 
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(124) 
valued at about $60.00 h tbdted States 
CUITen.07, the propert7 of Kr. and )lrs. 
Jea:a Osment, Colllllmle ot Ste Colombe, . 
Canto:a ot st. Sa.veur le Vi~~'·. FraJLoe. . 


' . . .... ' (

Be pleaded not guilt7 to and waa :toUJld guilt,- or the Charge ud epeci:tioa­
tiio Evidenoe was htroduoed ot one previoua conviction b7 special 

co martial :tor absence without leave :tor Jdnet7-three da19 ill violatiom 
o:t iole or War 61. He was sentenced to be·dishonorab~ dl:soliarpd the 

ae . 1 to :tor!eit all pa.7 and all.on.noes due or to become due, and to 

be iD.ed at hard labor, at .such place as the renewing author1t1 '11&1' 

dire , 1 tor seven 19ars. The reviewing autbor1t7 approved the sentence, ' 

designated the Eastern Branch, United States Diecipllnaey Training Center, 

Greenbaven, N"ew. York, as the place of c;onfinement, and. forwarded the . 

record of trial for aotion pursuant to Article of War 5ot.. .· 


I . 
. 3. !'or the prosecution, :ume. Aug11Stine Osmont testified that at ap­

. proximate~ six o•clook on the evening or 4 August 1944 accused, "with his 
little dog", entered the courtf&rd of her ~ome in search ot something to 
drpilc. lfe was admitted into the house· arid was given some cider (RS)• 
About a quarter o:t an hour la.tar, witness' lm.sband came home and e.co:used 
!li'alik another glass of cider with the husband. Thereafter, both aooused 
and M. Osmont le:ft the house, whereupon :Mme. Osmont also le:ft "to milk. 
the cow"• She locked the door· prior to her departure and placed the 
key in her pocket (R9). In the house when she .le:ft, in a ,pocketbook in 
a bureau drawer, were about 3000 francs in the following de:comina.tionsa 
"Three notes or 500 francs each, liberation currencn new bills. Several 
100 franc notes on the Banque de France; one 50 franc note of liberation 
monet' and several other bills and coins or smaller denominations (R9134). 
Mme •. Osmont "was awq tor about an hour and a ba.11'11 and on her re:turm ehe 
found that one or the windows or the/house had been opened and that the 
mone7 wa.s gone (R9-10). 

Ke Jean Osmont te.stii'ied that he came in from the fields at about 
"6100 that evening of August 4th11 , and at that time found accused at his 
home drinking a glass of cider. With the accused was a "little black and 
white dog". M. Osmont talked with accused for a time and at about 0 6100 
o'clock or ten to 610011 accused left the house (R5). M. Osmont then again. 
went out into the field and did not return to the house .until about seven: 
o'clock. At this time he discovered that one or the windows had been 
p.ished open and that about 3000 francs belonging to himself' and his wife 
were missing (R6). 

Mme. Bla.nche Jibaut, a neighbor, testii'ied that at approximate~ 

five o'clock on 4 August 1944 she saw accused, accompanied by a •little 

black and white dog", enter the courtyard of :Mme. Osmont's house. Latel'1 

after Mme. Osmont "left to go milking'', :Mme. Jibaut saw the accused retunr 

to the courtyard (Rll). He tied his dog in the courtyard, entered the 

house through the window, remained there about ten minutes, emerged from 

the house through the window, and departed .CRll-12) • 
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Jean Lescot, an eleven year old neighbor boy, testified that 
"a.round 8:00 or 8:3011 on 4 August 1944, he saw the accused enter the houae 
of Mme. Osmont through the window and also saw him come out of the house 
by the same means about fifteen minutes later. When he left, he was accom­
panied by a dog which was "white with black spots on ·his back" (R15-16). 

Complaint was made by the Osmonts to the".A.merican authorities 
and an investigation was initiated as the result of which accused was 
questioned and his possessions searched (R17-1S). At this time accused 
produced 120 francs and informed the investigating officer that "that was 
all the money he had" (R17). Further search resulted :ln the discovery of 
1900 francs in one of accused's shoes (RlS,35,37). The money found was 
described at one point in the record as "Three 500-franc notes, Invasion 
money; several 100-franc notes Banque de France Money, and one 50-f'ra.no 
note Invasion money, and several other small notes" (R18). lfowever, 
this same witness, upon being recalled, stated that all the bills .found 
were "invasion mone~' (R.35). The Billa were all 11 new and .fresh" (R.37). 
When questioned with respect to the possession of this amount, accused 
stated that he had won the money- at poker (R.36,.37). However, he could 
not remember the names of any of the men with whom he had played (R.36). 
All of the French witnesses identified accused as the man in question 
and also they identified the dog (R20). 

The accused's company commander testified that accused joined 
his company in July of 1944, that accused's service record showed he had 
received a partial payment of $10 on 15 July 1944 and that accused had 
received no further pay since that date {R8,19). 

4. Accused, after having been advised of his rights as a witness, 
testified that at about 1600 h::lurs on 4 August 1944, when returning to 
camp with his dog, he noticed that the dog was thirsty so he stopped at 
the house of M. and NJ!lle. Osmont and asked for some water for the dog 
(R29,30,J2,.3.3). He then asked for some cider tor himself and, with the 
permission of the occupants, entered the house and had several drinks 
(R.30,3.3). He left the houae about 1700 hours and returned to camp shortl.3 
thereafter. At approximately 18.30 or 1900 hours, he went to the first 
showing of a movie which was being given in a village some 300 yards 
from his camp {R24,29,30). As he le~ the movie, he met a Private Egan, 
talked with him a few minutes, and, at about 2100 hours, returned to 
his bivouac area (R3.3). After his return he "stayed around and r-ote 
letters" (R.3.3). He admitted that 1900 franc& had been found in his 
possession but stated that he had received a partial payment of $10 in 
July and had won the rest of the money by gambling (R32). He expressly 
denied the commission of the offenses alleged (R31). 

Private James J. Fennell, Company D, 932nd Signal Battalion, 

testified that accused had won money gambling in the early part of July 

and, "about the latter pa.rt of July", had repaid to the witness a loan 

formerly made by the witness to the accused (R21). At the time of the 

repayment of the debt, accused had 11qUite a bit" of money (R21). 
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Private Joh.'l A. Pacheco, 563rd Signo..l Aircraft Warning Battalion, 
testified that he had attended the movies on the evening of 4 August 1944, 
where he sa.·,v the "first show11 , v;hich started at 1800 hours and lasted until 
appro~d.:na.tely 19!+5 hours. He testified that he had seen accused and his dog 
at the movie and that, to the best of his knowledE,-e, accused did not leave 
the theatre while the picture was being shown (R21+1 25) • 

Private Faul Petrella, Headquarters, XIX Tactical Air Command, 
testified that on 4 August 1944 he was the operator of the "machine" at 
the movie which accused attended on that night and that the first show­
ing of the picture started a.t 1830 hours and ended 2035 hours (.R.251 26). 

Private James v. Egan, Company D, 932nd Signal Batt•.i.lion, testi­
fied that on 4 Aubllst 1944, while on the way to the movies at about 2030 
hours, he met accused and asked him what movie was being shown. Accused 
told him and the witness then went on to the "second show11 , arriving 
there at about 2030 or 2045 hours (R.27). 

It was stipulated that the distc.nce from the site of the theatre 
where the movie was shown to the scene of the offense was approximately 
th:-ee miles (.R.26). 

5. There was substantial evidence to support the court's findings of 
guilty of the offenses charged. M. and lr'lme. Osmont testified that on 
4 August 1944, upon returning to their home after a short absence, they 
discovered that one of the windows had been pushed open and that JOOO 
francs were missing. Two prosecution witnesses testified that on the 
night in question they saw accused open the window of the Osmont home, 
enter the house throue;h the window and leave the house shortly thereafter 
in the same man.11er as he entered. Approximately one week later a search 
was L11stituted and 1900 francs were found in the possession of the accused. 
:::F~ring the course of.this search, accused stated that he had only 120 francs. 
Yfr.~n the larger amount was found, his only explanation was that he had won 
the money gambling with soldiers whose names he could not remember (RJ6). The 
considerations that the denominations of the bills found corresponded at 
l~aat roughly with the denominations of certain of the missing bil1s and 
tbc.t these bills were "new and fresh" further decrease the credibility- of 
accused's expla.no.tion. It is true that there are certain conflicts in: the 
evidence with respect to the ti.mes when accused was seen at the Osmont home 
end that accused attempted to show that he was at a movie during at least a 
portion of the period in question. However, it is well known that the 
average witness u.TJ.a.lly does not make careful note of the exact time of the 
occurrence of an event concerning which he later testifies, and that, for 
this reason, testimony with respect to the exact hour at which a given event 
occurred is often merely approximate. In any event, there was positive testi­
mony that the accused ~ntered the Osmont home, and the possibility o! mis­
taken identity is greatly reduced by the inference which arises !ror.i the !'act 
that the soldier in question was accompanied by a dog which was identified 
in court as the dog of accused. The issues raised by accused's express 
denial of guilt and his attempt to est3.blish an alibi were questions of 
fact for the court a."ld the court's determination of these issues may not, 
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under the evidence presented in this case, be disturbed by the Board ot 
Review upon appellate review (CM ETO l95J, ~). 

60 The charge sheet showl!I that accused is twenty-five years ot age. 
He was inducted at Fort Jay, N.ew York, on 2 June 1942, to sel"V'e for the 
dura.tioDL of the war plus six months. He had no prior service. 

7. The court was legall3' constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and qf'tenses. No errors injuriously ai'feoting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
11!1 of the opinic>n that the record of trial il!I legally suf'f'icient to SUP­
port the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

Judge .A.d'l'ooate 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branoh Of'.f'ico of The Judge Advocate General with th& 
European Theater ot Operations. 2 5 NOV 194~ TOa Co~ding 
General, XIX Tactical Air Command, APO JJ+l, u. s. Armr. 

l. In the case of' Private ALBERT J. POLITI (32346952) 1 ComPflll7 D, 
932nd Signal Battalion Se?U"ate (TAC), attention ia invited to the fore­
going holding b1 the Board of' Review that the record or trial is l•~ 
suti'icient to support the findings of gu.llt,- and the sentence, whiah 
holding is herebr approved. Under the provisions of Article of' Wall So!-,. 
you now have authority to order execution of th• sentence. 

2. When ·copies ot the published order are forwarded to this •ftice, 
. they should be accompanied b7 the foregoing holding and this indol"tement. 
The tile number ot the record in this office is CM ETO 4222. For. l)onven­
ienoe of reference please place that number in brackets at the end of the 
ordera (CK ETO 4222) • 

/(/;; !ftLC/
t • C • MoNEIL, 

Briga.d11r General, United Sta.tea~~ 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

' ·' 
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European Theater ot Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVn::w NO. 2 

2 3 NO'J 1944CM ETO "2.3.3 

UNITED S·T A.TES 	 ) BRITTANY BASE BmTION, COMMUNICA· 
) TIONS ZONE, EUROPEAN THElTER OF 

v. 

Private MATTHEWS G. WASHINGTOU 
(.38050107), 96111t Quartermaster 
Service Compaey-

OPERATIONS. 

Trial by GCM, convened at R•nnH, 
Brittany, France, 3 October 1944. 
Sentences Dishonorable discharge,. 
total forfeitures and cont'inement 
at hard labor for l2 year•. United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pennsy-lvania.. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN', HILL and SLEEPm, Judge Advocate1 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier Jl&llled abow has 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. .Accused n.a tried up0n the :following charges and 1pec1tioations1 

CHARGE Ia Violation ot the 9.3rd Article o:f' War. 

Speciticatiou ls In that Private Matthews G. Washington, 
96lat Quartermaster Service Comparl1'1 did, at or 
near Le Rheu, Brittaey-, France, on or about l 
September 19441 feloniously take, steal and carr;y 
away one wallet, value about $1.201 one fountain 
pen, value about $4.00, and about 13,000 francs,. 
lawful money of France, value about $260.001 the 
property o:t M. Jean Deseved&ey". 

Speci.f'ication 2& In that * * * did, at or near Le 
Rheu, Brittany, France; on or about l September 1944, 
in the nighttime f'eloniously and burglariousl1 break 
and enter in the dwelling house of Julian Simon, with 
intent to commit a f'eloey, viz larceny therein. 

~233 
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CHARGE II: Violation ot the 96th Article ot War. 

Specifications In that * * * did at or near Le 
Rheu, Brit~, France, on or about 1 Septembar 
1944, unl.urtully and without the consent ot the 
lu1"ul occupant break and enter the dnlling houae 
ot Mlle. Denise Boisgerault• 

•,,.,, • <· 

CHARGE IIIa Violation ot the 6lst Article ot War. 

Specifications In that * * * did, without proper 
lean, absent himselt trom his organization near 
Le Rheu, Britte.JV, France, f'rom about 0100 hour• 
1 September 1944, to about 0645 hours 2 September 
1944. 

He pleaded not gullt1, and wu tound, "ot Specification 1, Charge Is 
Guilty, except the tigurea •$1.201 and •$4.00', substituting theretor 
respectively the tigures 1$1.001 and '$3.001 , ot the excepted tigures, 
not guilty', ot the substituted. figures, guilt}""; guilty- or Specitication 
2, Charge I, and ot Charge I; or Charge II and its Spec:if'icatiou; and ot 
the Specification, Charge III, "guilty, except the ti.gures •06451 and 
figure 121 , substituting therefor the tigures '0900' and •1•, ot the ;ex­
ceptltd. tigures, not guilty, or the substituted. tigurea, guiltT' and 
guilty or Charge IlI. Evidence was introdrieed ot two prerlous convictions, 
one by summary court for overst~ing pass in TI.olation ot Article ot War 
61, and one b;y special court-martial tor absence without leave f'rom 
bivouac march, camp area and guard, in violation ot .Article ot War 96. 
He was aentenced. to be dishonorably discharged the aerrlce, to torteit 
all pq and allowances due or to become due, and to be contined at bard 
labor, a.t such place as the revie'lt'ing authorit,. may direct, tor tif'teen 
years. The renewing authority- approved •only ao much ot the t1nd1ngs ot 
guilt}" of Specitication 1 of Charge I u involTea findings that the accwsed 
did, at the time and place alleged., felon!~ take, steal and UJ:T7 nq 
one wallet, value about $1.oo, and one fountain pen, value about $3.00, the 
property- of M. Jean Deae~,• and •only ao much ot the sentence as pro­
Tidea for dishonorable discharge, forteiture ot all ~ and allowances due 
or to become due, and confinement at bard labor for twelve y-eare, 11 designated 
the United States Penitentil.1"1, Lewisburg, Pennsy'lvania, as the place of 
continement and torwarded the record ot trial tor action pursuant to the 
provisions ot Article ot War 5ot. 

3. The testimo:ey of the French witnesses was given through an 
interpreter. The evidence for the prosecution shows that about one o•clock 
on the morning ot 1 September 1944 there was a knock on the door ot a farm­
house in the French Till.age of Le Rheu, Ille et V'JJa1ne, occupiltd. b;y the 
retugee famil.7 and relatives ot Julien Simon. The Tisitor announced he was 
an American and wanted cognac. He tried toopen the locked door and tben 
tired hia rU'le into the door, the bullet going through the lower p8rt of a 
bed. The occupants all went into the lo.rt f'ro• w~re the7 heard the intruder 
break a window {RS-10). About halt past aix the next morning, E!dle Juba.ult., 
a grandson of Julien Simon and one of the fam.1ly who nnt to the' lott, ac­
companied the police to the neighboring house o? Mis• Denise Boisger.aUJ.t, 

I 4,23:t 
-2 ­

CONFIDENTIAL 

http:Britte.JV


CONFIDENT/At 
(131) 


where he saw a black American soldier sleeping in a bed. He identified 
accused from among other colored soldiers in the courtroom as the soldier 
he had so seen in bed. The times given herein are suntime, which is two 
hours earlier than American time - "One o'clock suntime means three o'clock 
American time" (Rll-12). 

Jean Desevedar;r was one or the occupants or the farm hoWte of 
Julien Simon the night of 31 August, l September 1944, having been working 
on the t&rm the previous dq. He had left his clothes in the loft when he 
went to bed. He testified to the same visit of the intruder and the events 
durillg the night (Rl3-14). He had 13,200 francs in his jacket, which he 
had taken ott about eight o'clock that morning and left in the only bedroom 
in the house. In the jacket was also a fountain pen marked Bayard, worth 
150 francs. The money was in a wallet worth 50 francs. He testified that 
he looked out of the loft window and saw the black soldier break'the window 
with his knif'e and go through the wind.ow into the room (Rl5-l6). He could 
hear the intruder moving around in the house and things drop on the ground. 
He did not see but heard the intruder leave the houae (Rl7-l8). The in­
truder remained about three-quarters of an hour (R34). As soon as the 
soldier entered the house, all the occupants lett the lo.f't and entered a 
shed next door and about a half hour af'ter hearing the intruder leave, they 
all returned to the house. The;y found the cupboards and trunks had been 
opened and contents thrown on the ground. On the ground was also a heap 
of' ashes besides which he found papers that had come out or his wallet. 
His jacket was still hanging where he left it but thewtllet with the money 
and the fountain pen were missing (Rl7-l8). The next morning he also 
went to the neighboring house of' Denise Boisgerault, who had come to ad­
Tise them, and he there found a negro lying on a bed asleep. He found an 
American carbine on an adjoining bed, and he took that and a knife which 
he removed from a sheath in the negro's belt. The knife had some putt;y on 
it that ca.me from the window. He testified f'urther that the soldier he 
saw out ot the loft window and the one he saw in the bedroom were the same 
soldier whom he identified in court as accused. American military police 
arrested the soldier that morning, but he was so drunk he had to be carried 
out to the ear (Rl9-20). Be.tore putting accused in the jeep the;y searched 
hi1 two breast pockets and found there witness's wallet and that of accused. 
There was no money in witness's wallet. TheT searched him tully at camp and 
found witness's fountain pen and a bottle of eau do cologne which belonged 
to Emile Jubault, one of the other occupants or the !arm house. Accused had. 
about 2000 or 3000 francs on his person also. Witness could not identit)' 
the money as his. No permisdon had been given to anyone by- witness to take 
his wallet, money or tountain pen (R2l-24) • The soldier had also urinated 
against the cupboard in the farmhouse (R26). 

Denise Boisgerault testified that she and her godmother were 
alone in her home on the night of 31 August and l September 1944, when at 
about two o'clock, suntime, the;y heard knocking on the door, then they heard 
the breech of a rif'le being opened and shot was fired into their door. The;y 
heard the intruder talk in American language. The door was locked, but aa 
he was near the window, they lett by the door on the other side of the house 
and ran away-. Witness returned in the morning about six o'clock and found 
the house in disorder, but no one there (R28-3l). Rose Boisgerault, the 
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godmother, testified that she remained in a field till about six o'clock 
in the ~orn.1.ng when she returned to the house but hearing the soldier 
snoring, she did not enter. Through a window which was broken she could 
see disorder in the house. She saw Jean Desevedary open her front door and 
go in, coming out with a rifle and a knife. She waited outside until the 
soldier was carri~d awey (R35-38). He had been lying in bed ll"ith his 
clothes on (R39). He came about two o'clock and was carried out, sleeping, 
betv1een five and six o'clock &Wltime (R40). 

Master Sergeant Adrien P. Sharp, Headquarters e.nd Headquarters 
Detachment, 534th Quartermaster Group, testified that he was sent to "bring 
in a man who was causing a disturbance the night before"and found him at a 
farmhouse, laying on a bed, in a stupor, i'ully clothed. He could not be 
awakened e.nd was carried out to the jeep. He was unarmed, but a Frenchman 
handed him a ¥.nife and a carbine. A billfod, a fountain pen and some papers 
were found on him. Witness identified accused as the soldier he brought in 
(R40-43). During the investigation of the charges against hirr. and ef'ter 
being fully advised of' his rights as a witness, acci.1sed made a signed state­
ment which was admitted in evidence (R.48) as Prosecution's Exhibit No. 3, 
in which he admitted entering the two houses, firir.g some shots, and going 
to bed in the second house, where be was picked up by the "U.P." in the morn­
ing. A stipulation was entered into in court betvieen the prosecution and 
the defense agr~eing that the wallet of Jean Desevedary was of a v&lue of 
$1.00 and the fountain pen in question, tJ.CO (R49). 

The morning report of the 961st Quartermaster Company for l 
September 1944 was admitted in evidence without objection as Prosecution's 
Exhibit No. 4 (R50). It shows accused 11dy to AWOL 0100, AWOL to con!' 0900 
post stockade awaiting trial" l September 1944. 

4. The defense produced no witnesses and accused, being advised 
of his rights as a witness, elected to remain silent (R52-53). 

5. 	 11Burglary is the breaking and entering in 

the night of another's dwelling house, 

with intent to con:mit a felonr therein --" 

(MCJI, 1928, par. 149£, p. 168). 


"Housebreaking is unla1'f'ully entering another's 
house with intent to commit a criminal offense 
therein --" (Ibid, par. 149!, p. 169). 

"Larceny is the talcing and carrying away by tres­
pass of' personal property wlich the trespasser 
knows to belong either generally or specially 
to another, with intent to deprive such owner 
permanently of' his property therein (!bid, par. 
149,g, P• 171). 

The essential elements of all the offenses charged are clearly 
shown. Accused committed the offense of larceny (Specification l,. Charge I)' 
when he took and carried awe;y the wallet and fountain pen of Jean De~eye~. 
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He committed the offense of burglary (Specification 2, Charge I) when 
he broke into the house of' Julien Simon in the night time with the 
intent to commit a felony, that 11, larceny, therein. He committed the 
offense of' housebreaking (Charge II and its Specification) when he \Ul­

lawf'ully and without the occupant's consent, entered the home of Denise 
Bois~erault. His absence without leave (Charge III and it• Specifica­
tion} is fully proved by the morning report of his unit. 

6. Accused is shOlf?l by the charge sheet to be 26 years and 6 
months of age. He was inducted without prior service, at Houston, Texas, 
20 November 1940. · 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of' tll9 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously af'f'ecting tlie subst&ntial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legall7 sufficient to sup­
port the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

s. Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized tor the offense of 
housebreaking cy Article of War 42 and sec. 22-1001 (6:55) and 24-401 
(6:401) District of ColUJ11bia Code. The designation of the United States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, penneylvania, as the place of confinement, is 
proper (AW 42; Cir. 229, WD, 8 June 1944, sec. II, pars. l]? (4), 3]?). 

/__t;~ Judge Advocate 
·-- -1""' ·~ 

..1~_,_.·-""-·_-_,;... ....J _ t--.,.. -0nc..,· .... ..........__Judge Advocate 
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1st Ind. 

war Department, Branch Oftice of The Judge Advocate General with the · 
European Theater of Operations. 2 3 NOV 1944 TO: Commanding
Officer, Brittany Base Section, Communications Zone, European Theater 
ot Operations, APO 517, u. S. Army 

1. In the case of Private l'.Am:DVS G. WASHINGTON {'.38050107), 
96lst Quartermaater Service Company, attention is invited to the fore­
going holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings ot guilty" and the sentence, which 
holding is hereby approved •. Under the proviaions ot Article ot War 5'*, 
you now have authority to order execution ot the sentence. 

' 
2. When copies ot the published order are forwarded to thia 

o.ff'ice, they should be accolllp8.Jlied by the foregoing holding and this in­
doreement. The tile number o.f the record in this otf'ice is CM !.TO J.2JJ. 
For convenience o.f reference pleaae place that nunber in brackets at the 
end ot the order: (CU ETO J.23.3);. · ' 

·~ ;;~/c,__) 
~ t.~ C. McNEIL, I 

Brigadier General, United States Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

OONFIOENTIAL 
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Branch Office of The Judge i~voc a.te General (135) 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BO.Jill OF RZVIrll NO. 1 19JAN1945 
~ :~TO 4234 

UNITED STATES ) BRITTANY BA.32 s;;GTION, COll.'UNICA'IIONS 
) ZON"E, EURQP.;;:;AN 'IHZA'IER CF OF.•illATIONS 

v. ) 
) Trial by GCJ.I, convened at Rennes, 

Technician Fourth Grade ) Brittany, France, 25 September 1<)+4. 
IVCEY LAS!illR (39908499), ) Sentence as to ea.ch accused: Dis­
and Private EARL HATI.RELL ) honorable discharge, total forfeitures 
(39122327), both of 415th ) an:l. confinement at hard labor for life. 
·~neer Dump Truck Company ) United States Penitentiary, I.ewisblirg, 

) Pennsylvania. 

HOIDDU by aOARD OF &.v.c-:;; NO. l 

RIT.:;R, SARG.~,T and ST~'V.&B, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of tre soldiers named 
above has been examned by the Board of Heview. 

2. Acc:u sed were arra.:igre d s epa.ra.tely and tried together 
upon the following cnarges an.i specifications: 

aIARG2: Violation of the 9~nd il.rticle of !Var. 

Specification: In tha.t Technician Fourth Grade 
Ivory Lasker, 415th Zngi.neer Dump Truck 
Compaey did, at or rear L 1Hermitage,. Brit ­
tany, France, on ar about 26 August, 1944, 
;;.id and a.bet Private Earl Harrell, 415th 
Engineer Dump Truck Company, in forcibly 
and feloniously, against her will, having 
carnal knowledge of 1;.;a.dem.oiselle Therese 
l:aingey, by standing guard with a rifle 
at the time of the said carnal knowledge 
and preventing Mister Pierre Roussel from 
corning to the said 1iademoiselle Therese 4234:.:aingey' s assistance. 
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HARRZLL 

CH!i.RG2: Violat.i on of too 92nd Article of liar. 

Specification: In tba t Private 4.rl Harrell, 
415th Engineer Dump Truc-k Company, did 
at or near L'Hermitage, Brittany, France, 
on or about 26 Augwt, 1944, forcibly 
and feloniously, against her iiill, have 
carnal knavledge of i.:la.demoiselle '.L"'harese 
1'.ainguy • 

. Each accused pleaded not guilty· to ·and was found guilty of the 
Charge and Specification· preferred against him, three-fourths 
of the members of the court present vben the vote v1as taken 
concurring in the case of accused Lasker, and all' n:embers of 
the oourt present' when the vote was ta.ken concurring in the 
case of accused Harrell. No evidence of previous convictions 
was introduced against accused Lasker. .Evidence was intro­
duced against accused Harrell of one previous conviction by 
special court-ma.rtial for breaking restriction, illegally us­
ing a Government vehicle, bdce disobeying the order of an of­
ficer and behaving disrespectfully t cward an officer, in viola­
tion of Article-, of iia.r 63 and 96. All nembers of the' court 
present a.t the· til!Y3 too vote wa.s t~en concurring, each a~ 

· cused was sentenced to be dishonorably· discharged the service, 
to forfeit all pay and allowances due _or to becorre due, arrl to 
be confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing auth­
or.i. ty nay direct, for the term of his natural life. The review­
ing authority, the Commanding Officer, Brittany Base Section, 
Communications Zone, European '!heater of Operations, approved 
each of the sentences, des:igra ted the United States Penitentia.ry, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinemmt of each ac­
cused, and i'ozwarded the record of trial for act.ion pursuant to 
Article of War 50~. 

J. The evidence for the prosecution shONed that .accused 

Harrell had two scars on his right ereek (R27, 52, 56), and th at 


·his 	complexi.on was darker than that of Lasker (R.20,56). The 
"yellow" soldier, Lasker, was taller and" thinrer than Harrell 
(Rl.6,18,26-27,35). 

On 26 August 1941+ Madame Marie 1lainguy, age 41, am 
her daughter Therese, age 18, lived at Pont Barre, Departn:ent of 
Ille et Vilaine, France, a.bout one kilon:eter from L'Hermita.ge 
(Rl.O-ll,3J). :Monsieur Joseph Leveque, age 36, of L'Hermitage 
was working at the !:J&inguy fam tha. t evening {R45). AboUt 6 pm 
that day (R36), Therese was wcrld,ng in a beet field behind the 
stables, clad in a blue and white dress with a striped white 
handkerchief on her head (Rll,34). She heard a girl shout on 
the road md saw t~ colored soldiers talking to a girl. Toorese 
ran to t re house a.n d hidl.ns ide, ·am her motoo r went outside 4 2 3 4 

\, 
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(Ifil-12). The tv;o solcti.ers then came to tr,e house (:-:33-34) • 

.c.t the triil l.'.adai11e U.inguy (P.33,36-37), Th<:rese (iUl) and 

Leveque (rJ;.5) identified both accused (who ·were in an asse;r:bly 

of five colored soldiers), as the two .rmn who came to the house. 

Accused Lasker had a bicycle (R26 ,36) and was dressed in "cot­

ton wcrkine clothes", and accused I-:arrell was "in khaki" (R34). 

They c..sked l'.:adane !:ainguy for cognac or brandy ani when she 

refused treir request they de:i::i-rted C-03-34). Therese returmd 

to '"°rk in the beet field (Rll-12). 


About 7 pm her mother called Therese and at the 
same ti ire both accused returned to tre house. Therese circled 
sore heaps of straw v:hich were in front of the dwelling and ac­
cused 11 .:i.J.so l:ent o..rcurxi the heaps"• 'l'he gi. rl ran into the 
st;;:.ble a.nd then, bec-.use she did not feel safe, went up into 
the h;i.yloft (RJJ.-12,34,~6). 'lhe soldiers entered the house and 
indicated t-o 1'.&dame 11ainguy that they "wanted the young gi.rl 
working in the beets with a blouse ani a handkerchief". ~dame 
1..a.inguy said me did not understand and called to Leveque who 
was in the courtyard. When he entered the house the 11less bh.ck" 
solctl..er, Lasker, pointed his rifle at him, 3I1 d "the blackest 
one 11 , Harrell, said "Boche here, Boche re re", and searched the 
kitchen and two rooms on the "dovmstairs floor" and the milk­
shed. Both accused searched the outbuildings including the 

.stable (ill2-13,34-.35,45-46)_. Each accused was arred (RJ.4) and 
Harrell oontinually asked for 11 the young girl" (Rl.2). L.iadame 
Lainguy called three mm who J.A!.Ssed by the house and when they 
ent~red, they were ordered to 11Stay there". Laslcer, who was on 
one knee, pointed his rifle at the three mm and Leveque, and 
had his finger on the trigger (R35,46-47). Leveque was then 
allowed to resume his work in the courtyard where the soldiers 
showed him some photographs (P.1+6-47). Harrell took Ila.dame hlainguy 
to the beet f:leld omd ordered her to 11call the young girl". .Sre 
repeatedly said she did not understand. Finally the soldiers de­
parted and L:ad.me J.:ainguy told Therese she could come dov.n from 
the hayloft (!U.3,35). 

Therese tren "looked after" the cows an:i pigs a.rrl w<&s 
in tre courtyard when she again saw accused coming back on tre 
road. Because rer mother told her not to stay in the house if 
the soldie rs came, she wert. to the home of Pierre Roussel, age 
47, who lived about 700 meters awa;r, told the occupants she was 
running a.wa:y from tre black soldiers an:i that she cane to hide. 
She was told "we are three men here and we shall be able to stop 
them11 , and Roussel said 11we will pass you as my d.:i.ughter and you 
come along and eat with us". Therese removed the handkerchief 
from her mad arrl changed from a blue to a black blouse because she 
thougit accused were looking for her. i..ccused "looked through" the 
adjoining farm, cane to Roussel 1 s horoo arrl knocked on the door (Rl.4, 
37,.39). ·,'fuen Roussel opened it accused walked directly to Therese 
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v;bo l;as eating, said tmt she had seen !!Boche" :..nd irrlicatt:d 

that they had seen her worldng in the .field wearine a blue 

blouse and a handkerchief. '.lhen she pretended not to under­

stwd them, H-.rrell 11directed11 his. rjfle at her, took her by 

the hand and forced her to go outside. l~oussel accompanied 

her c.t her req,uest an:l the "t&ll yellCN: soldier 11 , Lasker, stood 

at the door with his gun. The other ?renchmen continued to e-.t. 

Earrell wanted her "to show them "Where the Boche had p:..~sed" 


but sre said she had seen no Boche and that she was a friend of 

the iur.ericans. She wc.s then allOY:ed to return to the house with 

Roussel (1U4-16). 


Both accused also entered the house again, smo~ed, 
-.rid again told her she had seen the 113oche 11 but There.se denied it. 
After accused remained quiet for about five minutes Harrell said 
11Yes, yes, yes you have seen the Boche. Come along". He again 
seized her by the h:ind, "directed" his rifle at her and made her 
11go out by force". The gi.'rl, who had said Roussel was rer father, 
seized the latter's han:I.. Lasker remained by the door holding his 
rifle (PJ.6-17,39). Harrell said he 11had seen Boche -- an aviator", 
but Therese "said, all of the time no 11 • After she was permitted 
once more to reenter the hpuse to eat~ accused talked to each 
otrer for about ten minutes. They then went tc her, took her by 
the hand and told re r to go out side. rihen she s ald, 11no, r.o, no", 
Harrell "showed" her his rifle. Vlhen sre again took B.oussel by 
the hand Harrell said "No, no not fatrer 11 and drew her outside. 
However she milntaired her grip on Rpussel 1s hand. Harrell re­
peatedly said "the Boche" and she insisted she had seen no Boche. 
Lasker said "no, no" to Harrell who oontinood to draw her lil.ong. 
As Lask"El r 11did not wish to come 11 Harrell said to him "I comnand - ­
I order". Lasker, hcwever{ continued to rerra:fn near the house 
and when Harrell had drawn the girl about 40 meters from the 
house, he called 11Ja.nes 11 to Lasker who then joined then (RJ.7-18, 
26-27). Therese was still holding Roussel by the hand and Harrell 
threatened Roussel with his rifle and also told Lasker "to direct 
his rlfl.e 11 on Roussel. Both accused ordered Roussel to lie dov.n. 
As P.oussel "did not v,'ish tc obey" Lasker "charged" his rjfle by 

. putting three or four bullets in it and Harrell also 11 charged11 his 
rifle. nous sel then lay down and Lasker renained behind him on his 
knee "with his rifle towards me watching me if I should go" (HJ.8-19, 
39-40). ·::hen Trerese "saw trat sre was going by herself" with Ea.I'­
rell, she started to shout when they were about 30 meters from the 
farm occupied by Joseph Depail. Harrell said11 'Sa.lope 1 " ("'dirty 
bitch"') andwhen she shouted again he e;aid '11 Salope 111 continually 
ani struck her face. It was "very dark" as he walked ahead of her 
an:I. drew her along by the arm. She 

"fell down and I wanted to save ieyself ­
wanted to run away. Then he took me a.nd 
I shouted all the. time. And then when he 
Wd.S holding re he put his hand on Icy" mouth. 
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V!hilst I was dovm and vm ile I was crying 
all the time, he put his h:md on rey- mouth <ll'l d 
there by force he took off rey- pants". 

She was on the grourd because "he has taken ne in his a.rms an:l. 
put me on the ground11 (Rl9) v.here he "did what he wanted to do 11 , 

and "took off his trousers also.". His "private part" entered 
into her "private part" and st::;.yed there for five minutes. 1.hen 
Joseph Depail, a neighbor, approached, Harrell took his hand off 
her mouth and raised up on his hands. She warned Depail to hide 
tre rifle which accw ed had left on top of a hedge. After re­
moving the v.-eapon, Depail cane up to them. Harrell stood up 
(R.20,42-43), put on his trousers and shook hands with him. 
Therese left for Depail's house, where she hid under a pile of 
hay. Harrell followed, looking for her arrl his rifle. He 11went 
in the house through ;ill the doors and said 'young girl is gone'"• 
1.:eanwhile, lasker rerr:01.inad 40 meters from ?.oussel 1 s house with 
his rifle directed at Roussel whom he lcept lying on the ground 
(R.21-22). Depail show~d to th accused where he had hidden the 
rifle by an oak tree. Harrell took it and Depail pointed out to 
them 11the direction that they had to go ~way". Both accused shook 
harrls with him and left c-i.43-44). 

Roussel testified that he heard Therese shouting but 
could not go to her aid because Lasker was always behind him 
"directing his· rjfle on me 11 (R40). He could not see the girl 
from his locati. on (R.41). Therese test.ifi ed tha. t she could see 
Roussel and La.sker before she lay on the ground (R21-22). 

· 'l'herese and her motrer identified a pair of men ts 
:mkle high brown leather shoes, fastened by a leather strap and 
buckl~, which were received in evidence without objection, as 
those warn by Ha.rreli at Roussel 1 s house (R23,35-36; Pros. Exs.l, 
2). She identified also a pair of white cotton step-ins which she 
wore irmnedia tely before the alleged attack. These were received 
in evidence, VIithout object.ion (H.23-24; Pros.~.3). ;:.t tha guard­
house in F..emes, France, following the .il.leged attack, she identified 
each accused and selected Harrell fror.i a ,group of about 40 soldiers, 
Lasker from a group of ten or 12 (R.24-25). She did not consent to 
sexual intercourse with Harrell (R25). 

Captain J01II1es E. Greer, l27th General Hospital, a labor­
atory technician, eXiilllined the step-ins identified as Fros. &. 3 
on 12 September 1944. His tests proved that ths garment cont.aired 
bloodstains but were regative as regards sperrnatazoa (R.28-29). 

Doctor Leon, a medi\l:al:rractitioner of i."'ace, France, ex­
amined Therese on 27 ~ugust 1941+ (RJO). She had bruises on her 
thighs, scratches on both legs .:md complained of pain in her wrists, 
althougj:l they sho.'l"ed no marks. In examining her organs he "only 
found some irritation. On the side v:ere some traces of dried sperm" 
'Which nshowed to mo that sperm had been thro1'ltl out11 She had r:­• 
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centl.y had se.x:u.tl intercourse, in his opinion. "The hymen 
wo.s very larce and had not been torn. There was no trac1;1 
of blood" (i'\31). There had been penetration (R32). 

On 4 September 1944 Technical ~ergeant Paul s. 
Pauly, Agent of the Provost Larshal, 12th l.:ilitary Police, 
Criminal Investigation Section, interviewed Harrell at CID 
Headqtl4i.rters in Rennes, France, cautioned him regarding his 
rights an::i read to him the 24th ;;.rti. cl e of 1::ar (52). Harrell 
voluntarily signed a statement reading as follows: 

"I am Pvt .c;arl Harrell 39122.327 and I remem­
ber the night of 26.August (Saturday) 1944. 
About 1900 hours I left camp and went to a 
tavern in a. nearby village. There I net 
about 4 white boys end 5 or 6 colored sol­
diers. I had a few drinks and in a little 
;·1hile T/4 Ivory Lasker cane in. Lasker had 
a drink an::i then we left togetrer. :.asker 
hadabicycle a.rd we pusred it along. i;e 
were both carrying carbines. Lasker s ug­
gested we take a short cut back to camp. 
Soon we net oome ageable women. There 
were standing in a yard near the ro;,.d. 
There were s0ll¥3 children v:ith trem. They 
asked for cigarettes and in return they 
gave us quite a. fe.v drinks of a strong kind 
of liquor. In a while, after La.S<: er an::i I 
finished what looked like a quart 1:x> ttle of 
liquor, we went on to a f~ house. ~:aybe 
we had a couple of drinks there. ·~.e both 
went in ttit t fann house. i;e met there some. 
men and w~men an:l. at lea.st one young girl. 
I rerrember fiddling or feeling around with 
some girl. I rerrember having intercourse 
(skrew:i.ng) with some girl in a little 'l'.11ile, 
but I do not know what girl it was. .Sgt 
Lasker was with ma all the time that night. 
I do not knO\V if Lasker skrevred any girl 
that night. I woke up in rrr:r tent in camp 
next moming. I still felt drunk. I missed 
my cartridge belt after I v;oke up and went 
back down the road which Sgt Lasker told me 
about and found it. I was drunk and don't 
know much about what all I did do. 1.;hen I 
left camp that evening I was sober. I \':as 
wearing a garrison cap, I think, an O.D. 
shirt, O.D. trousers, and light brown ankle 
fashioned shoes. I c:u-rie d a cloth zipper 
closed small han:l.bag in which I had cigarettes 
and candy I thoue;ht I might give away" (R.5.3; 
Pros. Ex.4). 
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The prosecution requested the court not to consider this state­
ment as evidence against Lasker (R5J). On 5 Seftember 1944, 
Pauly also interviewed Lasker at CID Hea'dquarters, cautioned 
him regarding his right s and read to him the 24th Article or 
rrar (R53-54). Lasker voluntarily signed a statemert. reading 
as follows: 

1'1\v name, rank and serial nuni>er are the same 
that are shown above. On Saturday, August 26, 

.1944, I left camp · a.ccan~ed by Pfc 
Johnny Tate, on our bicycles, and proceded to 
a village about a mile f'rom ca.mp. This village 
is in tre opposite direction from Rennes, on 
the main highway. 1·ie did not have any drinks 
in the village at this time. Tate and myselt 
went to a farm house and we exchanged cigarettes 
for cognac. We were treir abount m hour and 
then returned to the village. -Tate left me and 
rode a.wa:y w:tt.h some young lady on a bicycle. I 
thal wert. into a tavern am met F.arl Harrell. 
He bought me a drink a.IXi we sat around ani talked 
for a l'lhile. It was then about ·four tlirty P.M 
and tren we decided to visit the fa.rm house, 
where I bad been with Tate previous. lie then ex­
changed gum, ha.rd tack and cigarettes for t\'IO 
small bottles or cognac. Arter di-inking cognac 
we went to the next farm house 'Which was about 
om hundred feet awq. We again exchmged canqy, 
for two cups or cognac. While there we drank 
the two cups of' ccgnac. We then v:isited another 
farm house about seventy fl ve or one hum.red 
yards away. We talked to soma man about getting 
more cognac. We exch~ ed cigarettes for two 
small glasses of cognac. We drank same. We left 
there md walked cb'Wll. the road talking to one 
another about different things for about two hours. 
We then returned to the fa.rm house, where we talked 
to the man ooncerning cognac. A·lady was in the 
doorway and she gave us a half' a. cup apiece of cog­
nac, in exchange !or hard tack •. We left there and 
Earl asked me to walk dam to the village with him 
an:i I refused, because I had to get up early the 
next morning. At that time it was about nine forty 
five P.M. It was just beginning ta get dark. I 
proceded without Earl and returred to ca.mp. All 
during the afternoon ~d evening I h~ my bicycle 
with me. Earl di. d not have any. I returned to 
camp shortly after ten o'clock P.M. a.rd went to bed. 
Duri~ the afternoon md evening I was dressed in 
IIzy" G.I. coveralls, wearing a steel helnet and 
carrying IIzy" carbine rifle on my shoulder.' Yihat Earl 
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Harrell did after I left him, I don't know. 
During the evening I wa.s with .i,:;a.rl, he was 
wearing OD shirt a.nd trousers, garrison cap, 

. broke dol'lll in the middle, and a pair of 
· brown boot shoes. He also had with him his 

carbi. ne rifle. 

I know of no reason why Eul Harrell of my 
company should implicate me in this matter, 
unless he was mgry, because I wouldn't re­
turn to the village with him. 

Before I sign this statement I w:is h to say 
tha. t when I returned to ca.mp I had, had, 
plenty to drink" (R54; Pros. Ex.5) •. 

The prosecution requested the court not to consider this state­
lll3 nt a.s evidence against Harrell (R54). Pauly obtained from 
Harrell the pod r of shoes received in evidenc·e as Prca. Ex.s. 1 · 
a.n::l 2, which were taken from his duffie bag (R55-56). The duffl.e 
bag was idert. ified by Pauly as the one Harrell d.ained as his. 
It was al so offered e.nd received in evidence without. objection 
(R56; Pros. Ex.6). 

Second Lieutenant Gilbert F. i':eiss, U5th Engineer 
Dwnp Truck Company, appointed investigating officer as to cha.rges 
against ea.ch accused, advised them both regarding their rights 
under the 24th Article of ·1;ar md went over vdth ea.ch of' them 
tre ir respective statements previously made to Agent Pauly (R57; 
Pros. Exs.4,5). He had known ea.ch accused since ~ch 1943 (R57). 
I.asker was always a. good vorker a.n::l never had any trouble. Har­
rell's reputation in his compaey was 11 just fall- 11 (R58). 

Or). 27 August 1944 Lasker told Private First Class 
Johnny Tate, 415th ·&lgi.neer Dump Truck Compaey that •t;.!:arl and him. 
met one or two pretty nice g:irls" (R59-60). On the 26th of August, 
Tate was in L'Hermita.ge with L&sker until "four or ,four-thirty" 
(R60) and then saw him "back on post" about "eiftlt or ai.ght-thirty
* * * just about dusk dark" (R61). 

4. For the defense, Technician Fifth Grade James Colquitt, 
U5th mgineer Dump Tru::k Com~ey, testified that on 26 i.ugust 1944 
at about 11ten or ten-thirty" Lasker ca.me to his tent and asked if 
he had dle eked the stoves that night. He did not know whether or 
not Lasker had been drinking (R62-'63). 

"f' • ·n•:/f!'N 'd 

After the rights of ea.dl accused were respectively ex­
plained to him, Harrell elected to make ~n unswarn statanmt an:i 
Lasker elected to be sw9rn an:!. to· testify in his avn bel:alf (R65-66).

·, 

/. 
I 
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Harrell stated that "on that evening" he left Cd.illp 

o..nd went to L1 Hermitage. He was out vd.th about five white boys 
~d four colored boys and they ~t an:i drank sever.:l. drinks. 
Sergewt Lasker came in and took a. c oupl.e of drinks that H-.rrell 
bought him. They left together. Lasker had a. bicyc.le which 
they pu3J.e d a.long the ro-.d. They rmt some v.cmen an:i children 
in a yard a.nd excharged cigarettes for cogm.c. They went down 
the road and met "this littJ. e short fellow that just ewe in 
here - this little Frenchman" whom they knew. He told them 
where they could get more cognac. As they went to anotrer farm­
house, the Frenchman asked trem arott gasoline, but Harrell sa..id 
he did not have any with him. At tl:e fa.rm.house 

"as near as I can rene mber we were in the 

company of some mmen but I was a little 

too fa.r gone to remember very much aoout 

what went on. And then I re~mber I was 

back in camp the rext morning" (R66). 


He added that 

"I sa:id I was in the compa.cy of some women. 
I do remember being with a wo.!Il&Il but to me 
she was an older woman than this girl and 
I ca.n 1t say I ever remember seeing her. 
or course, to ne then -- I was drinking 
sure enough - but me didn't look mything 
like her. That is all, sir" (R67). 

Lasker testified that in the afternoon of 26 August 1944 
he left ca.mp w.i.th Tate, each riding his bicycle. They went to 
L1Hennitage a.nd rode around a. while. They decided to get some cog­
nac from "the little short fellow that identified me here". They 
went to his house, drank cognac, st;qed a.bout an hour and gave 
candy did gum to his five daughters. Later Lasker went to a tavern 
in L' Hermitage an:i net Harrell at about four-thirty or five o 1 clock. 
Ha.rrell bought him a drink and trey went back to the house where he 
has been with Tate. The little· short fellow was not there but his 
wife was and she let them have two oottles of cognac and a glass of 
cognac. They drank one l::ottle, a snrr.11 oottle, and then -went one 
hundred yards to the next farmhouse where they stopped in a.rd in ex­
c~ ge !er gum and candy received cognac. They then went almost 75 
feet to the next farmhouse where "this litUe short fellow" was roik­
ing the yard. Lasker asked him a.bout getting cognac, 1but the ma.n 
didn't know where it could be cbtained. They then walked around 
a.bout two hours and cane back to where "this fellow was raking the 
ya.rd 11 ...nd asked him again a.bout. some cognac. "And the WOII1.i.I1 wc.s 
standing in the do or there and she c.:l.led us in arrl gave us cognac". 
He decided he had enougi to drink ard left Harrell who "insisted A2 3 
that I go to tha villa.ge with him11 and µ-oceeded back to camp alone!. 
He arrl. ved there a. little after ten o 1 clock (R67-68). 
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Cross-ex.ar.rl.red, h~ stated thatHarrell wore that 

evenine the same shoes that had been int.rodu::ed in evidence 
(R69). ::::x.mined by the court, he dEl'l ied that he had ever 
seen Therese before or tl:a t Harrell had ordered him to hold 
his rifle on anyboey that evening (R71). On recross-examina­
tion, he did not know why Harrell had implicated him in this 
ll11.tter. In his opinion, Harrell was "too drunk to reccgnize 
or even know who was w1±. h him". The last time he saw him he 
was staggering up the rOQ.d (RSO). · 

5. In rebuttal, the prosecution showed by further 
testimony of Therese that the alleged offense was committed 
between 9:00 and 9:15 pm sun tine an:i that accused C6ffie to 
tm fann for the last time at .7;30 pm (R81)-' that they were 
"not at all drunk -- not at all - not at all", tlll t "they 
did not at all give the impression of being drunk only fero­
cious" and repeated her fonner testimoey as regards the part 
played by each accmed (R82-8J). lJadan:e Uainguy again identi ­
fied both accmed as the men file saw three tines at her farm 
on 26 A~ust 1944. Neither of them was drunk (R92). She had 
never seen Lasker before that ~ (R82-85). Leveque stated 
tha. t neitmr accused was drunk (R92). He never sold or offered 
to sell cognac or cider to e:itrer accused, but did give a sma.ll 
glass of brandy to Lasker. Ieveque had a wife and four children 
(R85). Dei:ail testified he came to the &id of Therese when he 
heard her screaming at about 8:45 pm sun.time. The ooldier who 
attac.ke d mr wa.s net. drunk. He wa.a sober (R94). According to 
Roussel neither accused was drunk on 26 August. They were both 
sober (R98-99). When he heard Therese shouti~ it was about 
"half past eight or quarter of nine sun ti~ 11 (R99). 

6. Accused were charged separately for violations re­
spectively o! Article of liar 92. The Specification in the case 
of Harrell alleges that he did "at or near.L1Hennitage, Brittany, 
France, on or about 26 August 1944, forcibly- ani feloniously, 
against her will, have carnal knowledge of udemoiselle Therese 
1;ainguy". In the case ot Lasker, the_ Specification alleges that 
at tm same time and place he did 

"aid arx1. abet Private Earl Harrell, 415th .Eng­
ineer Dump Truck Company, in forcibly and 
feloniously against her will,ha.vingcamal 
knowledge of Mademoiselle Therese lEainguy, 
by standing guard with a ri1le at the time 
of the said carnal knCM"ledge and preventing 
Mister Pierre Roussel from coming to the 
said lJademoiselle .Therese Mainguy 1s assistance"• 

'!he convening authority in fcrwarding these charges for trial 
d:irected ti'& t the accused be tried at one tine by the same court-
martial "if neither accused obje cts 11 • 423 4 
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Arter the cf"~ignment of eadl aco.ised, the defense 

presented on beh&lt ot Lasker a motion to sever, to which. the 

prosecution did ~- object. The court denied the motion (RS-9) 

ani the prosecul:.ion went forward with its evidence. During 

the course or thatrial, the prosecution asked the court to re­

consider the motion ot the deferee for severance on the ground 


·that the COUl't erred in ruling on the motion a.rd "it the trial 
proceeds it will be void to both defendant. s" (RJ+S). Follow­
ing a. discussion ot the ·law between the prosecution, t..'1.e 'de­
fense, the law member am the president or the court (B48-50) 
a recess wa.s taken {R51). Thereafter, the defense &nn0unced 
that accwed Lasker ha.d been advised or his rigpts as to sever­
ance of the trial and, after consultation with defense counsel, 
had decided to withiraw his motion aid 11to continue the trial 
as it is now progressing" (R51). The defense withdrew its 
motion to sever and stipulated that 

11all of the evidence introduced thus far 
in the case ~ be considered as against 
both defendants just as if no motion has 
been presented at the beginning or the 
trial" (R51). 

Since the record or trial shows that neither acctB ed personally 
voiced his assent to being tried with the other, the question 
arises whether any substantial right or either accused was in­
juriously affected a.s a result ot his being so tried. 

V:ith respect to severance ot trials of accused jointly 

charged witln a.'n offense the A:anual for Courts-Martial directs: 


"A motion to sever is a motion by one or 
two or more joint accused to be tried 
separately from the other or others. It 
will regularly be rm de a.t the arraign­
ment. '.!:he motion mould be granted if 
good cause is shown; but in cases wh:l re 
the essence of the offense is combina­
tion between the parties - conspiracy, 
for instance - the court rm.y proi:erly be 
more exacting than in other cases i'lith 
respe"Ct to the question whetrer the facts 
shown in support of the motion constitute 
c. good ca us e. The more common grounds of 
this motion are that tre mover de sires to 
avail himself on his trial of the testi ­
mony of one or more of his coaccused, or 
of the testimony of the wife of one; or 
that a defense of. the other accused is an­

. tagonistic to his om; or that the evidence 
as to them will in some Il1iUlner prejudice 4234 
his defense 11 (l.CCM 1928, par.71£,, p.55). 
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The Board o! Review in ClL ETO 895, I1!fil ~ al, considered 
its authority on appellate review or the court's denial of 
a motion for severance and a.pproved the following d>ctrine 
in cases where two or more accused are jointly charged: 

"Unless such privilege ilJ conferred by 
statute or court rule * * * defen:iants 
jointly in:iic ted are not entitled to a 
severance or sepi.rate trials as a matter 
o! right. Both at common law and under 
statutes declaratory thereof, the grant 
or denia.l ar a sever;m.ce or a. separate 
trial to defeniants jointly indicted rests 
in the discretion of the trial court, which, 
in the absence of good cause therefor, may 
in the exercise of its discretion pro.i;:erly 
refuse separate trials, a.nd whose grant or 
denial of a separate trial or severance will 
be upheld in the absence of an abuse of dis­
cretion clearly shown. The court should, 
however, in passing on an application for a 
severance exercise a sound discretion, so as 
to prevent injustice ani should not proceed 

_	arbitrarily nor capriciously. Wb&t consti ­
tutes an abuse of discretion in dezving sev­
erance or separate trials necessarily de­
pends largely on the whole situation as re­
vealed in each particular case, by the cir ­
cumstances as dis closed at the time the ap­
plication for severance was made * * * 11 

(23 CJS sec.933.!1 pp.217-218). 

TPe evidence showed tl:ii. t accused might with legal 
propriety have been charged jointly with the rape of Therese, 
in which case as the above authorities irrlic ate, the granting 
of severance of trials would have been for the decision o! 
the court in the e.xerci se of its sound judicial discretion 
and in the absence of proof of abuse of that discretion its 
decision v.ould not be di-3turbed on appellate review. 

In the instant sitw.tion, when the motion for a 
severm ce was made by the defense no rtiason the refor ot re r 
than that "the evidence in some manner might prejudice the 
Tee 4 Ivory Lask er case" was advanced. Nothing in Harrell's 
confession or in his unsworn statement alleged the commission 
of any offense by Lasker. Similarly, nothing in La.sker 1 s 
statement to Pauly or in his testimony described azv improper 
conduct by Harrell. The consent· of defense counsel th.a. t ac­
cused be tried togethe,r and the stipulation Ula.t the evidence 

4234CON Fl DENTIAL 
- 12 ­

http:sever;m.ce


OONFID£NTIAL (147) 

offered prior thereto should be considered as evidence in 
the case, following a conference between accused and defense 
counsel, create • strong implication that each accused did 
in fact con.sent to tre consolidated trial. The evidence of 
tfieIi=O'secution standing alone shCNl's the guilt of ea.ch a.c­
cused as alleged beyond any reasonable doubt. Ha.d each been 
tried separately the same evidence on behalf or the prosecu­
t:fon would have sustaired separate rimi~s or guilty of 
ea.ch accused. While it should ha.ve appeared in the record 
of trial that a.ccU.sed each personally consented to their 
being tried together1 the Boa.rd Of Review is or the opinion 
that no substantial right of either accused was injuriously 
affected by reason of the absence of the formal consent in 
the record (CM ETO 4589, Powell et al and cases therein cited; 
CM ETO 4444, Huison tl !l,; CM ETO J.il.72, ~ tl g). · 

7. As to accused Harrell, the Manual for Courts-Martial 
defines. the elements of the crime ot rape as follows: 

11Rape is the unlawful carnal knovdedge of 
a woman by force and without her consent. 

Any penetration, however slight, of a 
woman's genitals is sufficient carnal 
lmowledge, whether emission occurs or not. 

The· offense mq be comnitted on a female 
of my a.ge. 

' 
Fore~ and want of consent are indispensa- · 
ble in rape; but the .farce involved in the 
act of pemtration is alone sufficient 
where there is in fact no consent. 

Mere verbal protestations ar:xl a pretense 
of res:Wtance are not 'sufficient to show 
want of consent, and mere a ?roman fails 
to take such imasures to frustrate the 
execution ot a man's desjgn as she is able 
to, and are called for by too circumstances, 
the inference may be drawn that she clid in 
fa.ct consent" (MCM, 1928, pa.r.148~, p.165). 

In this instance, the victim's description· of the circumstances 
under which she was sought and pursued by both accused, forced 
to accompany Harrell to a secluded spot, after he had threatened 
her i:rotectcrs with his rifle, md forcibly compelled to have 
seJOJ.al intercourse with him, his voluntary- confession, the cor­
roborating testimoey of Depail who came upon tram while the act 
was in progress, an:i the evidence clisclosed by the doctor 1s ex­
amina.1::-ion, all showed the guilt. of accused Harrell as alleged 
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beyond any reasonable ooubt. ·Her non-consent wu bftTond 
quest.ion. The court's .timings are supported by a weal.th 
o.t rubstantial. competent evidence· and are tin&l &ni binding 

upon appell&te reTiew (CM ETO 37091 Martin &Id cases therein 

cited). 


s. As to accused La.eker, charged un:ler Ai-ticle ot 

War 92 with aiding and abetting Harrell in his commission o.t' 

the crime .o.t rape, the diatinction between principals, and 

aiders ani abetters has been abollsht d by' Federal Statute 

(sec.3321 Federal Cr1rn1nd Code, lS USCA 550; 35 Stat. ll5'2). 

The distinction is al.so not rec~nized 1n the ministration 

o.t millt&ry' justice (Wint}J.rop's Military- Law ani Precedents ­
Reprint, p.108; CM ETO 72, Farley and Jacobs; CU ETO 14531 

Fowler). Accordingl7 Lasker might properly have beeI;t charged 

'With rape as a Jrincii:-1 (CM ETO 3740, Sanders !1 !! pp.23-24). 

It does not. .follow, howenr, that it was improper to charge him 

with tm substa.rti.W offense o! a.jding ani abetting th!I actual 

rape, as distinct .tran rape itself. The purpoSe o.r section 332 

of the Federal Criminal. Code ms not to grant aiders ani a.betters 

aJ:\Y' imnunit7, but merely to prescribe and simpll.ty- t:he procedure 

.tor their prosecution (Ha.ggart7 v. United States, 5 Fed~ (2nd) 


. 224; CY ETO 3740, Sanders !i !l)• 

It was not. necessary .tor the proof to shew .that I.asker 

actually entrapped and imprisoned the victim while Harrell engaged 

in sexual intercourse with her.: In truth his presence. at the rape 

was not essential to his liability as an aider ani ·&better (Parisi 

v. United States, (CCA} 279 Fed. 253,255; Jin Fuey Moy v. United 

States, 254 U.S. 189, 65 L.Ed. fl.4; Colback et al v. United States · 

(CCA), 10 Fed. (2nd) 407). Prosecution's evidence did, however, 

show beyond reasonable doubt that, with HaITell, Lasker sought and 

pursued Mademoiselle M&inguy. With his rifie he compelled Roussel 

to lie on the' ground a short d:ist&nce from the point Where she was 

being raped by Harrell and prevented Roussel from attempting to 

sue cor the young woman. A plain case of aiding and abetting the 

commission o.f the :irincipal crime was thireby established (CM ETO 

37401 Sanders et ~and authorities therein cited). 


All o.f the mnbers of tte court· present at the time the 

vote was ta.ken concurrir.g, each accused was- sentenced to dishonor­

able discharge, total forfeitures and confinement at hard labor 

for lite. The sentence is legal as to Harrell, since h~ wa.s con~ 

victed of ra.pe 1 for which a lite s~ntence-:13 one o.t' the alterna­

tive mandatozy punishnents (AW 92). The sentence is also legal as 

to Lasker. The measure of punishn:ent for aiding and abetting the 

commission o.t' the crime of rape, determined by analogy and not nade 

mandatory by any Article of War1 is any punishment excepting death 

which the court-martial nay <llrect (CM: ETO 3740, Sanders ~ ,!!, PP• 

24-25, and aut.horities there cited). 
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,9. The charge sheets show that accused Harrell is 26 
y~rs three months of age e.rxi we.s irxi ucted 2$ January 1943. 
Accused La.sker is 26 yea.rs seven months of age and was iru:hlcted 
1 February 1943. Neither accused had any µ-ior service. 

10. The court was ~,jgally constituted and had jurisdic­
tion of the i:ersons.and offenses. No errors affecting the sub­
stantial rights of either accused were committed duri~ tm tritl. 
The Board of Review is of the opinioi;i that as to ea.ch a.ccused the 
record of trial. is legally sufficient to support the firdings of 
guilty and the sentence. 

lL Penitentiary confinement is proper as to Harrell under 
Articles of War 42, 92 an::l. sections 278, 330~9.er.al Crimintl 
Code, 18 USCA 457, 567. It is also proper a.s to Lasker who, a.s an 
aider and a.better, may be punished as a irincipa.l (CM ETC 3740, 
Sanders ~ !:!, p.25). The desigilil.tion of the United States Peni­
tentiary, I.etdsburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of coniirament of 
ea.ch a.ccu:ied is proper (Cir. 2'29, vro, 8 June 1944, sec.II, pa.rs. 
l]?.(4), 31?.). 

e Advocate 

4234CONFIDENTIAL 
- 15 ­

http:330~9.er.al


CONFIDENTIAL(150) I 

1st Ind. 

tlar Department, Branch Office of The Ju4g$( Advocate Gereral with 
the European 1'heater of Operations: Ill JAN1945 TO: Com­
manding General, Brittany Base Section, Communications Zone, Euro­
pean Theater of Operations, APO 517, U. s. Army. 

1. In the case of Technician Fourth Grade IV'CRY LASCER 
(.39908499) and Private EARL HARRELL (39122.327), both of 415th 
Engineer Dump Truck Company, attention is invited to too fore­
going holding by the Boa.rd of Review that as to eadl accused 
the record of trial is legally ·sufficient to support the .ftnd-· 
ings of guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby ap­
proved. Under the provisions of Article of fiar 50k, you now 
have authority to order execution of tre sentences. 

'2. "When copies of the published order are forwarded to 
.thl.s office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing hold­
ing and this indorsement. The file number of the record. in tbi.s 
office is CM ETO 4234. For' convenience of reference please pl.ace 
.:tl'at number 1n brackets at the end of the orders (CY ETO 4234). 

~~ 
Bdg adier C-eneral, United States Army, 


Assistant Judge Advocate Ge~ral. 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General (151) 
with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO sm 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

Cr.I :E~O 4235 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Privates JOSEPH T. BARTHOLO~/ 
(38379845) Battery C, 578th 
Field Artillery Battal1011 and 
ALVIN A. BRISCOE (38378145), 
Battery B, 578th Field Artillery 
'Battalion 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

18 OEC 1944 


BRIT'i.'ANY BASE SECTION, Cml!UNICATIONS 
ZONE, EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPERATIONS 

Trial by GCM, convened at Rennes, 
Brittany, France, 6, 10 October 1944. 
Sentence as to ea.ch accusedi Dishon­
orable discharge, total forfeitures 
and confinement at hard labor for one 
year, Seine Disciplinary Training Cen­
ter, Paris,France. 

HuLDil!G by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

RITER, SARGENT and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in.the case of the soldiers named 
above has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused were tried upon the following Charge and ·specifica­
tions respectively: 

BARTHOLOMEW 

CHARGE: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification 1: In that Private Joseph T. Bartholomew, 
Battery "C", 578th Field Artillery Battalion, did, 
in the vicinity of Pleudihen, Cotes-du-Nord, France, 
on or about 6 August 1944, wrongtully and unlawtully 
commit an aggravated assault upon Mademoiselle Odette 
Bourcoeur by striking her with his fist, and tearing 
her clothes and attempting to throw her upon the 
ground. 

Specification 2: (Finding of not guilty)~ 

BRISCOE 

CHARGE: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 
COtJFIDENTIAL 

- 1 ­



CONFIDENTIAL 

(152) 
Specitication l: . In that PriTate Alvin· i:. Briscoe, 

Battery 11 B11 , 578th Field Artillery Battalion, 
did, in the Ticinity of Pleudihen, Cotes-du-Nord, 
France, on or about 6 August 1944, wrongt'ully 
and unla~ commit an aggravated assault upon 
Mademoiselle Odette Bourcoeur. by striking her with 
his f'ist, tearing her clothes and attempting to 
throw her upon the grcnmd. 

·Specitication 21 (Finding of not guilty). 

Accused, in open court, consented to be tried together. Each pleaded 
not guilt7 and each was found not guilty or Specification 2, and guilty 
ot Specification 1 and of' the C~ge. No evidence ot previous conrlc­
tions was introduced as to either accused. 'Each was Hntenced to be 
dishonorab~ discharged the service, to forfeit all ~ and allowances 
due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place · 
as the reviewing authorit7 JD&7 direct,. tor f'iTe ,-ears. The reviewing 
authorit7, as to each accused, approved onl.7 ao mu.ch of' the sentence 
as provided tor dishonorab.te discharge the service, forfeiture of' all 
pay and allowances due or to 'hecome due, and cont'inement at hard labor 
tor one year, designated the Seine Disciplinary Training Center, Paris, 
France, as the place of' confinement, and forwarded the record of' trial 
tor action pursuant to Art~cle of War 5ot. . ­

, ). As to Specification 1 of the Charge. of which each accused 
was respective~ found guilt7, there was eTidence presented 117 the pros­
ecution as tollow1: 

.A.t about one o'clock (R15) on the afternoon ot 6 August 
1944, Mademoiselle Odette Bourcoeur, qe 18, and Mademoiselle Annick 
Cbouin, age 16, both or Pleudihen, Cotea du Nord, France, nre walk­
ing along a road about one kilo•t•r trom that town (R6,S,ll,16). 
They observed that three colored American soldiers were following them 
and theretore "hastened on without running"• The soldiers "directed 
their ritles" at the girls and ran up to them (R7,9,13). According tq. 
Odette•s testimoey-, the two accused 11got hold" ot her and the o.~.§~-

1the trio, not identified, took hold of Alinick. · . ­

"They took our arms and they made movements whicb 
were more or less delicate, * * * more or leas 
rude" (R7,8). 

Both accused struck Odette in the f'ace causing.her nose to bl~~·; 
giving her a 1111tUe cut11 on the lips (R14). They tried to throw ·• 
on the ground but did not succeed as she "struggled against it. I r 
sisted" (Rll). According to the girls' testimony Odette's clothes were. ' 
not torn (RS,14). Meanwhile the unidentified negro pointed his rifle 
at Annick (RlO) and pulled her into a tield where he tore her dress and 
apron (Rl.2). At this moment Captain Murray R. Goldstein, 578th Field 
Artillery Battalion and a Lieutenant Short, his11motor officer" ,··came 
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along in a jeep and saw three soldiers and two girls "struggling 
in a field, about fifteen yards off the highway". The officers stopped 
the car and shouted. The soldiers started to run but accused Bartho­
lomew was caught, and the other two continued out of sight. The 
girls who "had been yelling and screaming", ran up to the officers "in 
a very disheveled condition and shouting" (Rl8-19). Goldstein noted 
that they "seemed to be cut up, their clothes were torn" {R20) and 
they "seemed pretty hysterical" (R22). The officers disarmed accused 
Bartholomew, who 

"started to explain that he was not attacking the 
girls, but had only been trying to protect the 
two men, especially. his friend Briscoe, from 
getting into trouble, but that he could not, he 
did not have any success with them"(Rl9). 

Goldstein observed that the fly of accused Bartholomew's pants was open 
and that the girls 

"gestured at him, as though he was one of the 
men attacking them" (Rl9,22). 

Shortly thereafter, Captain Richard V. Riddell, f.Iedical Corps, 
578th Field Artillery Battalion, saw Odette and Annick at the command post 
where they were brought by Goldstein and Short after the alleged attacks. 
He observed that 

"one was a bit disheveled, her dress had been 
torn, and one had some evidence of slight lacer­
ations around her mouth and nose. There was a 
smal~ amount of blood" (R2.3). 

They appeared to him "around sixteen", one 

"five feet two or three, and the other was two or 
three inches taller, both moderately plump, well 
filled out" (R24). 

On 8 August 1944, Captain Vlilliam H. Bollinger, 578th Field .Artillery 
Battalion, the investigating officer, interviewed both accused and ad­
vised each of them of his rights under the 24th Article of War. Accused 
then voluntarily signed separate sworn state~ents which were received in 
evidence without objection (R24-25,26). Accused Bartholomew's statement 
reads: 

11We were over by a house drinking cognac with 
two young ladies. The girls wanted to go further 
up into the woods. We all went down the road 
where we met Captain Goldstein and Lt. Short. 
V1ben Captain Goldstein rode up, the girls started 
to run. He made the girls get in the jeep and I 
told him I wasn't doing anything but talking" 
(Pros. Ex.l). 4235 
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Accused Briscoe said in his statement: 

"~e had been drinking cognac that we had gotten 
from a house n~ar "B" Btry. Vle met two young 
ladies. Vle talked to them, and we walked a 
little ways with them. When we got to the end 
of the road we saw Captain Goldstein and Lt. 
Short coming in a jeep. Knowing that I was 
out of my battery area in violation of orde~s 
I ran. When I first saw Captain Goldstein we 
were standing about 15 feet from the road" 
(Pros. Ex.2). 

, 4. After his rights were explained to him, each accused elected 
to remain silent (R27-28). · ' 

0 

5. The court adjourned on 6 October 1944 and reconvened 10 6cto­
ber 1944. On 9 October 1944, Second Lieutenant Frederick T. Donald was 
appointed Assistant Trial Judge Advocate of the court, vice Second Lieuten­
ant Mora D. Womack, Assistant Trial Judge Advocate, relieved. The record 
fails to show the presence at or absence from the trial of Lieutenant 
Dona1d. His absence, however, "in no wise affected the validity of the 
proceedings or rights of accused" (CU 130217 (1919), Dig. Op. JAG, 
1912-1940, sec.395(54), p.235). 

6. With reference to the evidence disclosed at the trial and 
the SpecH'ication of which each accused was respectively found guilty, 
two questions are presented: first, does the evidence show any greater 
offense committed by each accused than mere assault and battery, for 
which the l:lB.Ximum punishment is specifically limited to six months con' 
finement at hard labor aiid two-thirds of one month's pay per rr.onth for 
a like period (A!CM, 1928, par.104£, p.100}; second, if a greater offense 
than assault and battery was committed by each accused, is it sufficiently 
alleged in the specifications? 

(a)' With reference to the first question, the evidence de­
monstrates that each accused could properly have been charged with assault 
with intent to conmit rape. The manner in which the girls were pursued 
by both accused, both armed with rifles, the en.forced separation of the 
girls by the accused and the third unidentified soldier, their striking 
Odette in the face with their fists, their.atter-:pt to throw her on the 
ground, her resistance, cries and after the attack, her disheveled ap­
pearance, the prompt flight of the three soldiers, the fly of one of whom 
was open, upon the arrival of two officers, all present a pattern of con­
duct from which the court, had each accused been charged with assault 
with intent to commit rape under the· 93rd Article of war, could properly 
have inferr~d the intent of each of them to conclude their assault with 
the rape of Odette. In instances where young women and female children 
of various ages have been subjected by acC1,ised to assaults in which 11 in­
decent" conduct is prominently feattired, it has been held that such o~­
fenses a.re ,,of greater seriousness than assault and battery, and that no 
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maximum penalty is provided in the t~ble of maxim.um punishments 

for such offenses (MC~.!, 1928, par.104£, p.97; C!.l 188606, Papa.ris. 

( 1 B. P... 129); CM ETO 3869, hrcum; CM ~ ~95, Shorter; CM ETO 

571, Leach; CM 210762, Valeroso). In the ~:cruse, above cited, 

the victim, a girl age 11 years, was ,taken by the wrist and-led by 

the accused froc a highway to a bank"where he lifted her over a hedee, 

put his hand on her hips and pulled her down on the bre.ss. He removed 

her knickers, unfastened his trousers "in the front", 11 took his thing 

out" and put it between her legs. Pressirg her side hard, accused 

moved his body up and down for five minutes. Suddenly he ju.'!lped up 


·and sprang over the hedge, leaving the girl lyir.g in the fielc. Accused 
Leach was charged under the 96th Article of War; the specifica:.ion 
alleged that he did "unlawfully and indecently e.ssault. a British civi­
lian fer.iale, named Joyce Brown, aged eleven years". In the ~1!.D case, 
above cited, the victim was a girl of eight years, similarly assaulted, 
the specification under the 96th Article of \'iar charging that accLsed 
did 11 wrong.f'ul"ly, unlawf'ully and feloniously take indecer.t liberties 
with Sylvia May Sanders, a fer..a.le under nir.e years of age, by fondling 
her and placing his hands upon her leg and private parts". In the 
opi~ion of the Board of Review, the conduct of ea.ch accused in the in­
stant case, in striking the victim in the face and s.ttenpting to throw 
her on the ground, together with all the surrounding circUl!lstances, con­
stituted evidence fronwhich the court co"14d find accused guilty of 
that t:rpe of indecent assault and battery described in the cases above 
cited. Although the victims in the Leach and rarcum cases c:ted above 
were 11 and eight years of age respectively, the Board of P.eview is 
of the opinion that in cases of indecent assault the questions of age 
or sex of the victim are iIC1Y1B.terial. 

(b) The second question :is then presented whether tLe 

Specification, alleging, as to each accused, that be did 


11wrongi'ull.7 and unlawf'ully coir.mit an aggravated 
assault upon r.;ademoiselle Odette Bourcoeur by 
striking her with his fist, and tearing her 
clothes and atter:ipting to throw her upon the 
ground", 

sufficiently alleges the offense of an "indecent" assault of the nature 

referred to above. 


In the case of Norton v. ~' 14 Texas 3'1n,393, the court 

said: 


"An •aggravated assault' is, at the common law, 
one that has, in addition to the mere intent to 
commit, another object, which is also criminal; 
but it may be doubted whether at romnon law the 
term had a technical and definite meanillg. It 
seens rather to have been a phrase used by tr.e col"!l­
mentators and text-writers, in contradistinction 
to 1 corr.rnon assault', to inclt:de all those species 
of assault which, for various reasons, have come to 4235 
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be regarded as more heinous than common assaults, 
or had been singled out and made the subject of 
special legislative provisions. In the criminal 
codes of some of the states of the Union, the term 
'aggravated assault' is given a definite s.nd pecu­
liar meaning of its own." 

In the case of Ellers v. ~(Tex.), 55 S.W. 813, it was held 
that an assault becomes aggravated when cor.unitted by an adult male on 
the person of a female child. In the case of Cot1Iaonwealth v. DeGrange, 
97 Pa. Super., 181, 185, an indecent assault was defined as the taking 
·ny a man of indecent liberties upon the person of a female without her 
consent and against her will, but with intent to cor.1!4it the crime of 
rape. It has been held that an indecent assault is an "aggravated as­
sault" and simple assault is hecessarily included therein (State v. 
iiaid, 67 P. (2d) 647,648, 92 Utah 297). 

The terminology of the Specification against each accused 
is inapt in the use of the word "aggravated", which appears to be 
merely the conclusion of the pleader. Nevertheless, con:bined with 
allegations of striking the victim, tearing her clothes and attenpting 
to throw her upon the ground, it may reasonably be said to have fairly 
apprised each accused that he was charged with a more serious offense 
than simple assault and battery and punishable by a more severe sen­
tence~ namely, an indecent assault upon a young woman (see subpar.{a), 
supra). The Board of Review in its appellate function has heretofore 
exercised the power to construe and interpret specifications in ac­
cordance with the true intent and meaning of the pleader (CM E""!'O 3803, 
Gaddis et al, and authorities therei~ cited). The guidir..g prir-ciples 
in such construction and interpretation are found in the following 
authorities with respect to indictment and informations, quoted in CM 
ETO 3740, Sanders et ~I 

"The rigor of old corunon law rules of crilr.inal 
pleading has yielded, in modern practice, to the 
general principle, that formal defects, not pre~ 
judicial, will be disregarded. The tn:.e test o~ 
the sufficiency of an indictment is not whet!:e~ 
it could have been made ~ore definite and certain1 

but whether it contains the elements of the offense 
intended to be charged, and 'sufficiently apprises 
the defendant of what he must be prepared to reeet, 
and, in case any other proceedings are taken against 
him for a similar offense, whether the record shows 
with accuracy to what extent he i;iay plead a former 
acquittal or conviction. 111 (Cochran v. United States, 
157 u.s. 286,290, 39 L.Ed., 704,705, 15 s.ct.628; 
Rosen v. United States, 161 U.S. 29,34,40 L.Ed., 606, 
607, 16 S.Ct. 434, 4$0, 10 Am. Crim. Rep.251). 
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"Section 1025 Revised Statutes (u.s.c. title 18, 
sec.556) provides: 

'Ko indictment found and presented by a 
grand jury in any district or other court 
of the United States shall be deemed in­
sufficient, nor shall. the trial, judgment, 
or other proceeding thereon be affected by 
reason of any defect or imperfection in 
matter of form only, which shall. not tend 
to the prejudice of the defendant.' 

This section was enacted to the end that, while 
the accused must be afforded :f'ull. protection, the 
guilty shall not escape through mere imperfections 
of pleading. 
It, of course, is not the intent of sec.1025 to dis­
pense with the rule which.requires that the essential 
elements of an offense must be alleged; but it auth- . 
orizes the court to disregard merely loose or inarti ­
ficial forms of averment. Upon a proceeding after 
verdict at least, no prejudice being shown, it is 
enough that the necessary facts appear in any form, 
or by fair construction can be found within the terms 
of the indictment" (Hagner v. United States, 285 U.S • 
.427,431,433, 76 L.Ed., 861,865,866). 

Section 1025 Revised statutes (18 USCA sec.556) is the counterpart of 
the 37th Article of war, which in pertinent part reads as follows: 

"The proceedings of a court martial shall not be held 
invalid, nor the findings or sentence disapproved in 
any case * * * for any error as to any matter of plead­
ing or procedure unless in the opinion of the reviewing 
or confirming authority, after an examination of the en-· 
tire proceedings, it shall appear that theerror com­
plained of has injuriously affected the substantial rights 
of an accused". 

The meaning and effect of the language contained in these 
"statutes of amendments and geofailes11 (Black's Law Dictionary - 3rd Ed., 
p.1017) is further clarified by many decisions. An indictment which 
will enable a person of common understanding to know what is intended is 
sufficient (Nickell v. U.S. (Or.1908) 161 Fed 702, 88 C.C.A. 562). An 
indictment or information is sufficient under these statutes, if the of­
fense be described with sUfficient clearness to show a violation of law, 
to enable the accused to know the nature and cause of the accusation, 
and to plead a judgment, if one be rendered, in bar of further prosecu­
tion for the same offense (U.S. v. Behr!flan (N.Y. 1922) 42 S. ct., 303, 
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258 U.S. 280,66 L.Ed. 619; Dierkes v. U.S. (C.C.A., Ohio, 1921) 
274 Fed. 75, certiorari denied (1921) 42 s. Ct. 55, 257, U.S. 646, 
66 L. Ed. 414; Dr. J. H. McLean Medicine Co. v. U.S. {C.C.A. Mo. 
1918) 253 Fed. 694; Knauer V. U.S. (Iowa,1916) 237 Fed. 81150 C.C.A. 
210; U.S. v. Prieth (D.C. N.J. 1918) 251 Fed 946). Further these 
corrective statutes are applicable where the only defect complained 
of is that some element of the offense is stated loosely and without 
technical accuracy (See u.s. v. Dimmick (D.C. Cal 1901) 112 Fed.352, 
affirmed Dimmick v. U.S. (c.c.A. 1903) 121 Fed.638). (See also cases 
cited 18 USCA, sec.556, pp.43-44). 

The language of Specification 1 as to each accused in.formed 
him that he was charged with an 11 aggravated 11 assault, that the person 
so assaulted was a woman and that he struck her with his fist, tore 
her clothes and attempted to throw her upon the ground. In the 
opinion of the Board of Review, while the specification does not de­
scribe with technical accuracy an indecent assault, neither accused 
was misled by the language used and was sufficiently apprised that he 
was so chargfld. 

7. The charee sheet shows that accused Bartholomew is 32 years 
of age and was inducted 1 February 1943 to serve for the duration of 
the war plus six months, and that accused Briscoe is 29 years of age 
and was inducted 6 January 1943 to serve for a similar period. Neither 
accused had prior service. 

8. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the persons and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substan­
tial rights of either accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial :i.s legally 
sufficient as to each accused to support the findings of guilty and 
the sentence. 

9. The period of confinement adjudged in the sentence is with­
in the authorized maximum (CM El'O 571, ~; CM ETO 2195 Shorter; 
CM ETO 3869, Marcum). Confinement of each accused in Seine Disciplin­
ary Training Center, Paris, France, is authorized (TWX No. 53842 1 
ETOUSA, 12 October 1942). 

''I/ / 
//"':. ?. 7 Judee Advocate 

j /..; 
....,(.._,...<-·__ _ ...'f._·...·· -·_..1...,,....L,,...,_.( _,:~....._<_.h ..--_Judge Advocate 

/ 
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1st Ind• 	 (159) 

...;. 

War D,epartment, Branch Off'ice of' The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 1 R DFr. 1944 TO: Command­
ing Genera.1, Brittany Base Section, Commiinlcatlons Zone, European 
Theater of Operations, APO 517, U. s. Army. 

1. In the case of Privates JOSEPH T. BARTHOLOMEW (383'79845), 
and ALVIll A. BRISCOE (.38378145) respectively of Battery C and Battery 
B, 578th Field Artillery, attention is invited to the foregoing hold­
ing by the Board of' Review that the record of trial is legally suffi ­
cient as to each accused to support the f'indings of guilty and the 
sentence, which holding is hereby approved. _Under the provisions of 
Article or.war· 5ot, you now have authority to order execution of the 
sentences. ··­

~ ..
2. When copies of the published orders are forwarded to this 

office, they should be'accompanied by the foregoing holding aD.cl this 
indorsement. The file numb0r of the record in this office is CM 42J5. 

·For 	convenience of' reference please place that number in brackets at 
the end ot the orders: (CM ETO 42J5). 

. . /fl!tt~ 
• 	 E. C. Mc1~IL. _ 

Brigadier General, United States Army, 

Assistant Judge Advocate Genera~ 






CONF/Di:NTIAL 
Branch Of'fice o.'! The J'ud::;e Advocate General (161) 

with the 

];'ciropean T:1eater of Operatic-us


APO 8e7 


BOARD OF RF.VIEW NO• 2 	 2 4 NOV t944 
CM ETO 4238· 

UNITED. STATES 	 ) 4TH INFA."!\,'TRY DrlISION 
) 

v. ) Trial 	by OOM, convened at Saint Vi th, 
) Belgiwn, 1 October 1944• Sentences 

private HA..~VE'! P, FLACK ) Dishonorable discharge, total for­
(6669000), A.11titank Com:;:iany, ) feitures, and confinement at hard 
22d InfaI_ltcy, ) labor for 40 years. Eastern Branch, 

) United States Disciplinary Darracks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDiln by BO.ARD OF -REVIEW NO• 2 

VA11 BfillSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, J'udge .Advocates 


1. 'nle record of trial in the cas~ of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifica­

tions a 


CHARGE I: Vioiation of the 63rd Article of War, 

Specifications In that Private Harvey p, Flack, 
Antitank Com_pany, 22nd Infantry, did, in the 
vicinity of Corbeil, France, on or about 25 
August 1944, behave himself ·with disrespect 
toward Captain Oscar B. Willingham, his super­
ior officer, by saying to him, •No, Sir, I want 
to be attended to now•, or words to that effect. 

CF.:ARGE II: Violation of the 	65th Article of War. 

Specification la In that • • • did in the vicinity 
of Corbeil, France, on or about 25 Allb'USt 1944, 
draw a weapon, to wit, a German automatic pistol 
against Technical Sergeant James A. Phillips, 
Antitank Company, 22nd Infantry, a noncomnissioned 
officer, wl::.o was then in the execution of his office. 

CONFIDEtHIAL 
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CONFIDENTIAL 
(162) 

Specification 21 In that • • • did in the vicinity 
of Corbeil, France, on or about 25 August 1944• 
attempt to strike Technical Sergeant James A. 
Phillips, a non-commiasioned Of'ticer; on the 
body with his fist, while said Technical Ser­
geant James A. Phillips was in the execution 
of his office. · 

CHARGE Ills Violation of the 64th Article ot War. 

Specification 11 In that • • • did in the vicinity 
of Corbeil, France, on or about 25 Jugust 1944, 

· 	 draw a weapon, to w1t, a German autana.tio pis­
tol against Captain ()scar B. 'l'illingb.em, b.is 
superior officer, who waa the?l in the execution 
of his office. 

Specif'icatiOl'l 21 In that • • • having received a' 
lawi"ul coornand tran Captain tecar B. Willing-
ham, his superior officer, to giTe him, the 
said Captain Oscar B. Willingham, the pistol, 
did in the vicinity of' Corbeil, J'rance, on or 
about 25 .August 1944, will.tully. disobey the same.· 

He pleaded not guilt," and, two-thirda ot the mmnben ot the court pres­

ent when the vote wu taken concurring, wu found &iilt;Y of all the 

charges and specifications with the aub1t1tution ot the word 'Blllian" 

tor •German• in Speoi:tication l, Charge II, and in Specification l," · 


I 

Ch&rie III·. Ev14ence wu introduced o:t one previous conviction by, , 

special. court-martial tor 'bl!tach ot restriction, 1n violation ot .Article 

of War 96. 'l'hree-tour~ha ot 'the membera ot the court preaent when the 

vote waa -taken concurring, he wa.s aentenoed to be di1honorab~ discharged 

the serv:ice, to tor:teit all pay and allowances due er to become due, and 

to be contined at hard labcr at.auch place a.s the reviewing authority may 

direct, tor 40 years. The reviewing authority approved only so much ot 

the findings ot su.1lt7 ot Specitioation l, Charse III, and Charge III, u 

involTe findings that the accused did, at the time and place alleged, li:tt 

iw a weB.l'on, to wit, a Belgian automatic piltol, against Captain tecar B. 

Willingham, his superior ottioer, who was. then in th• c:eoi.ition ot hia or­

r~oe, in violation ot .Article ot War. 64,. approved the aentenoe, deais­

nated the !utern Branoh, 'C'nited Statea Diloiplinary Barraoka, Ch-eenhaven, 

New York, a.s ·the place of oontinement, andtor.warded the record ot trial 

tor action purauant to .Article of 'Jiu soi. . 


3· Evidence introduced br the proHou.tiOD ahowed that OD 2.5 ~suat 

1944, aoouaed wu a private in the antitank Oom,p~, 22nd Wu.try, whioh 

OD the day in queatiOD wu 1tationed near Corbeil, !'ranee. .About 1630 

houra on that date and at that place, aoouaed wu brousht betort hi1 oom-
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pany crnnmsnder, by the charge of quarters, for disciplinary action. 
The company commander, Captain Oscar B. Willingham, 22d Infantry, 
who testified and was a witness to all that followed, told accused 
to return to his platoon, that he would attend to him later. Accused 
replied, •No, §ir, I want to be attended to now". Accused repeated 
this and, as the company was getting ready to move, the Captain called 
for guards to place accused in confinement. Technical Sergeant James 
.A.. Phillips, of this fame company, who responded to the call and who 
testified in corroboration of Captain Willingham, grabbed accused and 
forced him into an adjoining room where accused broke away and attempted 
to strike Phillipa. Sergeant Phillipa dodged the blow and bodily rushed 
accused into the court yard. Here accused drew a Belgian .38 caliber 
pistol and pointed it at Phillips •. The captain, a witness to all this, 
rushed out and, at that time being in the execution of' his office, said 
to accused, •Give me that damned gun• • .Accused pointed the pistol at 
his captain, said he would not and warned him not to came any clo.ser. 
The captain repeated his order to accused to silrrender the gun and 
moved in closer. Accused said "I am not giving you that gun and I don't 
want you to come any closer to "me•. By this time Captain Willingham was 

·•fairly close• to accused, so he jumped in and.disarmed him. The pistol 
was loaded (RS-8,11,12). The captain and Sergeant Phillipa were fully 
corroborated in this teatimoey by First Lieutenant William c. Hurst\ of 
.the 22d Infantry (R8-ll). Ueutenant Hurst said accused had been drink­
ing, but did not appear to be badly under the intluence ot intoxicants 
(R9). Phillipa testified accused 'walked straight as a normal man would' 
(Rl2). Captain Willingham testified, •well, Private Flack was drinking . 
but private Flack knew well enough what he was doing. He was not drunk• 
(R6). 

4. Accused, advised ot hia rights, elected to remain silent. He 

called no witness-es. 


5. '!\le testimony establishes each tactual allegation of' each 
specification except that accused did not draw a German pistol at Captain 
Willingham, as alleged in Specification 1,-chSrge III, but rather pointed 
the pistol of Belgian make, at his commanding· officer. This variance, 
imnaterial, between proof' and allegation was corrected by the reviewing 
authority who properly found the expression •did lift up• a pistol more 
accurately descriptive of' accused's conduct in pointing the pistol than 
the words •did draw•, those used in the allegation. •The raising in a 
threatening manner of a firearm • • • would be within the description, 
•lifts-up• (Winthrop)• (M.'.Tht, 1928, par.134!.• p.J.4.8 ). The proof shows 

that at the time of the assault, Captain Willingham, the superior of­

ficer of accused, was in the execution of his office. The proof' also 

shows accused guilty of each charge and specification, except as noted 

above.· 
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6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 23 years eight months 
of age. He enlisted at Fort Benjamin Harrison, Indiana, 25 October 
1939· His service is governed by the Extension Act of 1941• He had 
no prior service. 

7• The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
·rights of accused were conmitted during the trial. The Board of.Re­
view is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The offense of lifting up any weapon agains't a superior of­
ficer being in the execution of· his office shall be punished by death 
or such other pw:ishment ea ~ court-martial may direct ("'"/ 64) • 

9• The designation of the Eastern Branch. United States Dis­
ciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confine­
ment,. is proper (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, as 
amended). 

~~~~~tstsjudge Advocate 

·f!;-h,.;.....,l.+.Lf_ 
 J'udge Advocate 
···- ..... 

~4,~ :r\idge Advocate·. 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judii:~ .Advocate General with the . 
European Theater of Operations. 2 4 NOV 1944 TOs Connnand· 
ing General, 4th Infantry Division, APO 4, U. S. krrrry. 

1. In the case of Private HARVEY P. FLACK (6669000), Antitank 
Company, 22d Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing holding 
by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, vfilich holding is 
hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 50!, you now 
have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. It is noted that accused has five years service; one previous 
conviction for a minor offense was intrdduced; the offenses v1ere all 
charged as military offenses; and although the pistol was loaded, it _ 
was not fired. While accused was not drunk, liquor was an element in­
fluencing his misconduct. It appears to be a case Where suspension 
or· the dishonorable discharge and confinement in a disciplinary train­
ing centerS!ould be considered, 

3. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this of­
fice, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and ~his in­
dorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 4238. 
For convenience of reference, please place that number in brackets at t!l~ 
end of the ordera (CM ETO 4238). 

M~ 
I 7 ~ ..,- -- - I 
·E. C. Mcl\'tEIL, 

Brigadier General, United States A:i:rrry, 
Assistant Judge Ad·1ocate General. 





Eranci: o;:·.'..':'..c0 of 7'.;.e Judge .~dvocatc GeE?ral 
\ ~·:ith the 

:Cl.lr'ops;.'-'1 The:J.ter of Operati--.;n:; 
;ca 287 

t 6 FE8 H45 

CI.! ETO 4239 

UNITED S T A T E s )
) 

v. ) Trial by Ger.I, convened at .:·:.ro ~-\ .• 
U. S. Army (France) , 11 Jctobu· 

Private WILBURN LO~;E ~ 1944. Sentence: Dishonoratl0 
(.34107423), Company K, ) dischm-ge, tot.al fori:-:::i. tu.re..:: er.. : 
28th Infantry. ) confine~ent at hard labor ~or li:~. 

) United States Pcnitentia.7, Lc·";i.;;­
) burg, Pennsylvania. 

EOLJWG by BOAIID OF fu:.vID7 [Q. 1 

RITK'-i, SHEPJ·.!A.1'J and ST1~rzns, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier nc.med above 
has been examined by the Board of }0eview. 

2. Accused was tried upon the folloning Charge anc Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of ~i"ar. 

Specification: In that Private (then Private First 
Class) \7ilburn I.owe, Company K, 28th Infantry, 
did, at St. Eflex, France, on or about 2100 14 
September 1944, desert the service of the United 
States by absenting himself rrithout pro;:>er leave 
from 11is organization with intent to avol(~ 
hazardous duty and shirk important service to 
wit: attack on ene::iy and remaining uhsent nn"t.il 
he surrendered himself to his company at loCO 
20 September 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of tha court 

- 1 ­



(168) 

present at the time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty 
of the Charge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions 
was introduced. Three-fourths of the ~embers of the court present at 
the time the vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dis­
honorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place 
as the reviewing authority may direct, for the term of his natural 
life. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated the 
United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of 
confinement, and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant 
to Article of War 5'*· 

J. Competent, substantial evidence established the pertinent 
facts that accused on the afternoon of 14 September 1944, while his 
company was bivouacked in the rear assembly area on the Crozon Penin­
sula, (France), received actual notice that his company was under 
orders to ~ove that evening to the forward assembly area preparatory 
to an attack upon the enemy early the next morning. Without authority 
of any kind, he left his organization late that afternoon after he had 
knowledge of and before the advance movement started, and remained ab­
sent from his colllP.land until 20 September when he vol1mtarily surrendered 
himself to miHtary control. During his absen~e his ort,aniiatlon, 
col!lJTlencing on 15 September, participated in the battle which resulted 
in the surrender of the enemy forces on the peninsula on 19 September. 
It is no mere coincidence but a highly incriminating fact that accused's 
absence comnenced immediately prior to this important a~tion and ter­
minated after the conclusion of the conflict. Bv his timelv and con­
veniently arranged absence he avoided the hazard~ and peril; of battle 
endured by his fellow soldiers. All the elements of the offense 
chart;ed were proved beyond reasonable doubt (CU ETD 4570, Hawkins, 
and authorities therein cited). 

4. The charge sheet shows that accused is 25 years of age. He 
was inducted 11 July 1941 to serve for one year. (His service pe:riod 
is eoverned by the Senice Extension Act of 1941. ) He had no prior 
service. 

5. The court i7as legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense.· No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were com.'llitted durine the trial. The Board of neview 
is of the opinion that the record is legally sufficient to support the· 
findings of guilty and tho sentence. 

6. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or such 
other punlshment as a court-martial may direct, (.r1.W 58). Penitentiary 
confinement is authorized for desertion in time of war (A.;-; 42). The 
designation of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisbu:g, Pennsylvania, 
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as the place of confinement is proper (Cir.229, WD, ?, Jun.e."1944, 
sec.II, pars.1]{4), 3~, as amended). 

·1 ' 

., .? / /.1or/- ~ .;,,t1=.,
--------~-----------Judge .Advocate 

---~----' __·_._·_u.t;__~,,,,..g_._._Judge Advocate_____.._·....L._...,_~ 
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(l?O) 
·1st Ind. · 

\lat' Depar~ment, Branch O.tf'ioe ot TllEl.. .t~ieljAyocate Gener~ with t_he 
:European Theaiei" flt Operations. l O .t t H 94~ · . T01 CoflllllStlding 
General, Sth tnt'antry Oitldon; APO 81 tt. s. Armt• ,_ 

l., In ths case of Private WitB1JRN ~ (j4101~.3) 1 Compafit X1
2Sth tnl'antt'1J attention is invited to the forego!tig holding by the 
Board or review that the record or trial is legally su!ticient to 
support the tindings o~ guilty and the sentence, which hoiditig is 
he~eby ~pproved. Under the provisions of Article ot War 50t; 1ou 
now have authority to order execution or the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order a.:t'a forwarded to thi1 
otfice1 ibet should be accompanied by the foregoing holding tw.d thia 
ihdorsement. The file number or the record in this otr!ct ia CM ~TO 
~~9, tor convenience or reference please place that numbe~ in 
brackets at the end or the orders (CM ETO 4239). 

/{!~~

Brigadier General, United States Arm:t1 


Assistant dudge Advocate General. 




CON Fl DENTIAL 

(171)Branch Office of The Judge .Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW !IO• 2 
18 fiOV 1944 

CM ETO 4245 

UNITED STATES 	 ) BASE AIR DEPOT AREA., Am SERVICE COM­
) MAND, UNITED STATES STRATEGIC AIR FORCES 

v. 	 ) :ta EUROPE. 
) 

private :NICK J • CATALANO, Jr. ) Trial by GCM, convened at .AAF STATION 
(36643266), Section 4, ?Jain- ) 590, England, 6 October 1944• Sentences 
tenance Division, Base Air ) Dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures 
Depot No. 1. and confinement at hard labor for five ~ years. Eastern Branch, United States 

) Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New 
) York. 

ROI.DING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 2 
VAN BEIBCHOTEN, HILL and SIEEPER, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above h<lB 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specificationa 

CF.NlGEa Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 

Specifications In that Private Nick J. Catalano, 
Jr., Section 4, Maintenance Division, BAD No. 
1, AAF 590, liPO 635, u. s. Arrey, did, absent 
himself' without proper leave, from his command 
at AU 590, APO 635 from about 14 August 1944 
to abo:i.t 17 September 1944. · 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and Specif:J. ­
cation. Evidence was introduced of two previous convictions by special 
court-martial for absences.without leave for 7 and 39 days, respectively, 
in violation of Article of War 61. He was sentenced to be dishonorab~· 
dischareed the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances_due or to be­
come due and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the review­
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1ng authority msy d~ect, ·for f'ive years. ~e reviewing authority · 
approved the sentence, designated. the Eutern Branch, Uni hd States 
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, u the place of' confine­
ment and forwarded the record of' trial :f'or action pursuant to the pro­
visions of' Article of' War 50}. 

3• The prosecution showed that accused was transferred tram the 
17th Replacement Control Depot to Base .Air Depot No. 1 on ll August 1944 
and there assigned to the Maintenance Division, Section 4, tor duty (R5a 
pros.Ex.l). He was quartered. at •hut No. 05•, was missing ·trcm roll-call 
on the evening of' 14. August 1944 and, though.searched for could not there­
after be round (R6,8,9,10; Proa.Ex.l). He had no permission or authority 
to be absent (R6). Accused was returned to e.rm;y control by Military Police 
who apprehended him because he had no pass, on 17 September 1944 (Rl.3114-1 
Pros.Exs.2,3). Neither the Oonmanding Officer, .Adjutant or lst Sergeant d 
accused's organization knew or could identity him. However, he was.iden­
tified. by the hut chief' of' •hut 05• where both were quartered (R5,7,8,10). 

· 4. Accused elected to 
' 

remain 
. 
silent, and no witnesses were intro-· 

duced to testify on hia behalf'. 
; 

5, 'lb• •videnoe ot rtoord 11 am;pl.1 1uftioilnt to 11tablilh the oom­
m111ion by aoouud ot th1 ottou1.alllse4 (M::M, 1928, par,78, pp,62,63, 
CM'!'l'O 3643, BgylN)e ' 

· 6, 
' 

'l'he charge 1h11t 1hoa that aoouaed if 20 rear• of age, He wu 
inducted into the ~. without prior urvio1, at Ohioaso, :tllinoil, on 
20 ?ebru1:7 1943• 

7. 'l'h• court wu iesall.r oon1tituted and had jurildiotion of the 
person and o:f'tenae.s, No errors injuriousJ.r e.f'teoting the 1ub1tantial 
ris;hts of' accused were oc:mnitted during the trial. 'lh• Board of :Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial i1 legalJ.r 1uttioient to sup­
port the findings.of fPl.iltr and the sentenoe. Designation ot the Eastern 
Branch, 'O'nited Statea Diioiplinary Barraoka, GreenhaTenl New York, u the 
plaoe ot confinement is proper (~ 421 Oir.210, vm, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, 
as amended) • l""'fS) (). • • • • • 

4l-'lf(11~,.~~ J'Uds• J.dvooate 
/ 
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1st Ind~ 
(173) 

War Department, nranch Office of 'r.ie Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 18 NOV 1944 TOa Co."lltllalld­
ing General, Base Air Depot Area, Air Service COI:r.lEUld, United States 
Strategic Air Forces in Europe, APO 635, U. s. Army. 

l. In the case of Private NICK J. CA.TAI.AHO, Jr. (36643266), Sec­
tion 4, :.Iaintenance' Division, Base Air Depot No. 1, attention is invited 
to the foresoin& holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support the findings of GUilty and the sentence, 
r1hich holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 
50i, you now have authority to order execution of the sentenc~~ 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accam:;ianied by the foregoing holding and this indorse..-nent. 
'Ibe file n\ll':lber of the record in this office is CM ETO 424-5. For con­
venience of refer~nce, please place that number in brackets at the end of 

the orders (CM ETO 4245){!/a /(U 

,1~~ c, Mcr~IL. i 
1 

Brigadier General, United States A:i:my, 
,k:lsistant Judge Advocate General. 





~ranch office of The Judge Advocate General (175) 
with the 

Europsan Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO• 1 7 DEC 1944 
CM ETO 4249 

UNITED S'.i.'ATES ) LOIRE SF.cTION, CCM.IDNICA'.1.'IOm ZONE, 
) EUROPEAN 'i1HEA.'.l'ER OF OPJ!RA'fION3 

v. ) 

Private. FRANK J. LI'l"1'IE 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at Palaia de 
Justice, Le Mau, France, 3 October 

(32595267), 3890th Q.uarter­ ) 1944• Sentences Dishonorable dis­
master Truck CcmpaDY ) charge, total forfeitures and coa­

) finement at hard labor for rive yearae-· 
) Eastern Breneh, United States Dis­ .. 
) ciplinary Barracks, Greenhave:ii, New York. 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO• l 
RI'l'lm, SARGENT and S'.l.'EV"5. Judge Advocates 

1. At the coaclusioa of the prosecution's cue ill chief the de­
feue eatered a special plea whereby it was coatended that the Conmand­
ing General, Loire Section, Conrnu.J1.icatioa.s Zone, European Theater of 
Qperations, did not possess authority to appoint the court before 
which accused was arraigaed and was being tried. The contentioll is 
based oa the followi:ag factsa 

(a) Base Section No. 2, Comnn.uiications Zone, European 
'!heater of Operations, was establiahed effective 1 June 1944 by Gen­
eral Order 57, 30 May 1944, Europeu Theater of Operations. Brigadier 
General Leroy p. Collins was appoiJ:Lted Commandi:ag General of said base 
seetioa by the aforesaid general order. His duties commenced l June 1944• 

(b) PUrsuant to Article of War 8, the President of the 
UD.ited States, on 23 June 1944 empowered the Commanding General, Base 
section NOe 2, communications Zone, European Theater of Operations, to 
appoint general courts-martial (WD Cable WAR-54815, 23 June 1944) • 

(c) Baae Section No. 2 aforesaid was •redesign.ated• Loire 
Section, Communications Zone, Europee Theater of Operations, by Gen­
eral order 45, Comnunicationa Zone, European Theater of Operations, 
5 September 1944• · · 
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(d) By direction of the President, Brigadier General 
I,fJroy p. Collins was eD.llounced as Commanding General, Loire Sectio•, 
Camnuaicatiou zoae, Europeu '!heater of Operations, by General Or~ 
der 50, Com:nuiioations Zone, European Theater of Operations, 19 
September 1944. 

(e) Ptu'euut to Article of lfar 8, the Presideat of the 
U-ited States, cm 29 September 1944, empowered the Commandiag Gen­
eral, Loire Section, Communications Zone, Europeu '!beater of Opera­
tions, to appoint general courts-martial (WD Cable WAR-38301, 29 
September 1944). 

(t) '!he court betore which the instant accused was arraiga~ 
and tried was appointed by the Commaading General, Loire.Sectioa, Com­
IDWlicationa Zone, :miropeu. Theater of Operatio:as, by paragraph 3, 
~ecial order 20, 'Z7 September 1944• 

Fram the foregoil\g recitatioa of fact8 it is apparent that 
D>ire section, Conm.micatiorus z.one, European Theater of Operatiou, 
1a the ume idRtical jurisdictioa as Baa• Sectio• No. 2, Comnuaica­
tiou Zoae, :suropee:a Theater of Operation.. 'lhe etrect of General . 
()t'der 45, 5 September 1944, COl!lllaicatiou Zone, Europee.D. Theater of·. 
Q?eratiou, Yu simply to change the name ot the juriadictioll. 'lbe 
word •deaigaate• 

•:meana 	 to me•tioa by diatillctive name; to identit)r 
by name, to point out, to name, to make known and 
to diatiaguish trcm others• (12 w&: P Perm, PP•Z77, 
'Z78 ). 

~· prefix •re• contai•ed 1a the word •redNipated• posseuea the mean­
i:ri.g ot 

•agai:ar • 	 used chietly to form worda, esp. Terbs, 
of actioa, de•oting ia ge:aeral repetitio• (of the 
action. ot the Terb), • • •• (Webster's New Inter­
•ational Dictionary, 2d Ed., Pe2'7)• 

'l!leretore, 'Whu General order 45, 5 September 19441 Comnuaicationa Zone, 
Earopea:a ~eater of Operations, •redesigaated• Baa• Section No. 2 as 
Loire Sectiou, it simply renamed it. It did -.ot affect its tundameutal 
uiatence. Bue Sectio• No. 2, COtlllllllicatioas Zone, European Theater of 
Qperationa, contilll.led u theretofore under the name ot Loire Section, 
commmications Zone, ~opeu '!'heater of Operatio:as. The Commaading 
General, Bue SectioD. No. 2, CODIDWlicationa Zone, European Theater of 
O,peratiou, had been empowered b7 the Preaident of the United States 
under Article of War 8 to appoint general courts-martial on 23 June 
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1944, and this power remained operatiTe and unimpaired notwithstand­
ing the ch3llee in na~e cf :;,g jurisdiction. Consequently when the 
Commanding General of Loir3 Sectio• appointed the instant court by 
paragraph 3, special order 20, 'Z7 September 1944, Loire Section. Com­
munications Zone, European 'nleater of Operations, he was exercising 
the a.uthori ty theretofore conferred upoll him by preTious grant. 1he 
court was regularly and duly constituted a:id hn,~ jurisdictio. both ot 
the uccused and of the offense of which he was charged. 

'!be subsequent grut of court-martial jurisdiction to the 
ColllillSilding General, Loire Sectioa, Communications Zone, Europeu. 
'nleater of Operation.a, as ertdoced by War Department Cable WAR• 
38301, 29 September 19441 did not in &DY respect impair th19 preTioua 
grant of authority. It wu requested in order to simplify administra­
tion. As an administrative measure such direct empowerment of the com­
manding Gene:-al. I.oire Sectio:a. COllllllllicatiou Zone, EuropeG Theater 
of Operations, was deairable inuIIJ.lch as it eli.minated. hiatorical re­
search with respect to the exercise of gea~ral courts-martial juris­
diction by the commanding General ot the Loire SectioR, comnu.nication.a 
Zone, European Theater of Operations. However, 1t •either leasened nor 
increased the original authority held by him under the grant tran the 
president of 23 June 1944• 

'!!le Board of Review, therefore, concludes that the court 
properly denied the plea to the jurisdiction of the court. 

2. 'lbe record of trial has been examined by the Board of Review. 
No errors injuriously atfeeting the subatantial rigjlts of accused were 
committed durillg. the trial. The Board ot Review ia ot1he opillion that 
the record ot trial is legally suffieieAt to support the findings ot 
guilty and the sentence. ,..., 

;,,;~ . p 

'i ,-,!_,.. /~~, /;t:i Judge Advocate 

~~~Advocat~ 
~L, JJf:::. 1<-<L .J:.. Judge Advocate 

I 

" 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 7 [ [ C 1944 TOs Coz:manding 
Officer, BrittaDY Base Section, Communications Zone, European Theater 
of Operations, APO 517, u. s. Arm:/• 

1. In the case of Private FRANK J • U'ITLE (32595267), 3890th . 
~uartermaster Truck Company, attention ia invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. 
under the provisions of Article of War 5ot, you now have author!ty to 
order execution of the sentence. 

2. 'lbe publication of the general court-martial order and the 
order of the executio• of the sentence may be done by you as the 
successor in comma.ad to the com:nanding General, LOire Section, Com­
munications Zone, European Theater of Operations, and as the officer 
commanding for the time being as provided by Article of War 46. 

3. When copies of the publiahed order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and thi• 
indorsement. 'nle file number of the record in thia office ia CM ETO 
4249. For convenience of reference, please place that number in 
brackets at the end of the orders (CM ETO 4249). 

/t{k/tCC-£e-f 
'!!:. C. McNEIL, . 

Brigadier General, United States Arnv, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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BOA..1ID OF REVIE:'l NO. 2 14DEC1944 
CM ETO 4250 

UNITED STATES) ADVA.NCZ SECTION C01L:UNICATIONS 
) zm.ra, 1.u'TI.OP:&lN THEA'_Kl, OF OPERA-

v. ) TIONS . . 
) 

Private LEROY BOOKER ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
(.34566720), 4255th Quarter-~ Neauphle-Le-Chateau, France, 

27 September 1944. Sentence:master Truck Co~ l 
Dishonorable discharge, total 
forfeitures and confinement 
at hard labor for twenty yea.rs. 
United States :i.'enitentiEo.171 

) Lewisburg, Pennsylvania.. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIZl NO. 2 

VAU BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


• 

l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined by the i3oard .of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the followingCtarge and Speci­
fication: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 9Jrd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Leroy Booker, 
4255th Quartermaster Truck Compa.iv (TC), 
did, at or near Jelleme, Frunae, on or 
about 31 August 1944, vii.th intent to 
conunit a felony, viz, rape, comrait an 
assault upon :.iada.m.e Yvonne Lell:aire by 
throwing her on the ground, kissing her 
and feeling her person. 

He pleaded not 6uilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and 
Specification. No evidence of ~:revious convictions was submitted. 

4250
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He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, 
to forfeit all pay and allo,va.nces due or to become due and 
to be confined at hard labor, at such place as t:1e revie;~-­
ir.g authority may dir··ct, for twenty years. The revievdr.z 
authority ..l.)):~o-rd trc ccntence, designated the 'Cnited States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of con­
fine;::ient <:.nd forwarded the record of trial fol' action pur­
suant to the provisions of Article of ~far 50~. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution esto.blished, 
without conflict or dispute, the following facts: On the 
afternoon of 31 August 1944 lionsieur and ~adame Robert 
Lema.ire, of 20 Rue des Suisses, Paris, were traveling by 
motorcycle on a road-;;ay 11 a little way out of11 Belleme, 
France. Upon reaching a hill ila.da.me Leµaire dismounted for 
the purpose of walking up the incline to lighten the 4>ad 
while her husband-continued to ride the motorcycle (Rl.3,19). 
He had gone about 100 meters, when a colored American 
soldier approached Madame Lemaire. She related his conQuct, 
through an interpreter, as follows: 

"Suddenly I saw a soldier coming. I 
. continued to walk and then when the 
soldier came up to me and took me in 
his arms hec. twisted my wrist•. He 
broke my bracelet. He threw me on 
the ground, and then he made u& go · 
into the woods, but I didn't want to.
* * *. I fell on the.ground*** I 
got up.· I was screaming all the 
time. * * * He p:Ulled me hard by the 
arm. I fell dovm and he fell on top 
of rne,. and then he kissed me i<. * * 
one time * * * a.nd then he touched 
my legs * * * above j;,,he knee. ffie 
did not rub· her le!JV' ***my dress 
was pulled up by being on the ground
* * * I told him to leave me alone 
***he kept persisting" (RJ.4,17 1 18). 

Ma.dame Lemaire continued.to scream and struggle throughout this 
ordeal {Rl6-17). Her husband heard her screans· and turned back 
but when he reached her the soldier had disappeared (B.14,19). 
He found hb wife trembling and Viith her clothing torn and 
soiled (B.14,19). They went to Belleme and reported to the Ameri­
can Military Police. Accompanied by the latter, Monsieur · 
Lemaire returned to the scene of the assault. They found accused 
"coming out of the woods" some distance from where the.attack 
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occurred (Rl9). He was definitely and positively identified, 

by the victim, as her assailant both in court and also immedi­

ately after his apprehension (RlJ,15,18,19). Accused was 

under the influence of intoxicating liquors, at'the time of 

the assault but was not drunk (R23,24,25). 


4. Accused was advised of his rights, by the court, but 

declined to take the stand and no evidence was offered in his 

behalf. 


5. Assault, with intent to rape is ­

"An attempt to commit rape in which 
the overt act amounts to an assault 
upon the woman intended to be 

· ravished * * * The intent to have 
carnal knowledge * * * must exist 
and concur with the assault. In 
other words, the man must intend to 
overcome any resistance by force 
~ * * and penetrate the woman's 
person. Once an assault with intent 
to commit rape is made it is no 
defense that the man voluntarily 
desisted11 (MCM, 1928, par.149 ,!, 
p.179). . . 

11* * * Intention is a fact which 
cannot be positively knovm to other 
persons * * * a.nd the matter must 
be an inference; v.tich the jury must 
find from established facts * * *11 

(l -;1'harton's Cr.Ev. sec.79, p.96). 

After grabbing the victim's arm, accused took her into the 

woods and thre•v her on tte ~;round, where be fell on top of her. 

At the same time he kissed her and touched her leg above the 

knee. The struggle lasted for some minutes. The conduct of 

accused supports the inference that he assaulted Madame Lenaire 

with the intent to have sexual relations with her without her 

consent and to overcome any resistance by force; further that· 


· his purpose was defeated only b~ her resistance and the approach 
of her husband. 'l'he evidence of the commission, by accused, of 
the offense alleged is thus adequately established (CM ETO 489, 
Rhinehart; CH ETO 3510, Furlong). 

6. The accused is 26 years of age. I'.re was inducted into 

the army at Fort ~enning, Georgia on 18 January 1943 and 

had no prior service. 
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7. The court was leGally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the 
substantial rights ~f accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board of Review.is of the opinion that the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the 
sentence. · ,­

8. Confinement in a United States Penitentiary is 
authorized for the offense of assault with intent to coJ:JIIli.t 
rape (Ail 42, sec.276, Federal Criminal Code (1$ USCA 455)). 
The designation of the 0nited States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania, as the place for confinement is proper (A:N 42, 
Cir.229, ..D, 8 June 1944, sec.II, as amended). 
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~"lar Department Branch Office of The Judge ii.dvocate General with the 
European 'fr1eater of Operations. 14 DEC 1944 TO: . Coru;::anding 
General, Advance Section Communications Zone, :;.;;uropean ?r,eater of 
Operations, Aro llJ, U.S. Army. 

1. In the case of Private IE.WY BOOIU::H. (:34566720), 4255th 
Quartermaster Truck Company, attention is invited to the i'ore5oing 
holding by the Board of :~eview tr.at the record of trial is legally 
sufficient .to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, V{hich 
holdi~ is hereby approved. l.Jnder the provisions of Article of 
~Jar 50-~, you ·now have authority to order execution of ti:e se11te1:ce. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to 
this office, they should be accom)anied by the foregoing holding 
and this indorsem.e:nt. The file number of the record in this office 
Ls C'.:.J ETO 4250. ?or convenience of reference, please place that 
number in orac!·:ets at the end of the order: (c:,~ S?O 4250). 

/l~~
Brigadier General, United states Arrq, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

4250 
,, 


-1­

CONFIDENTIA.l 





CONFlDENTIAL 

Branch O.tfl.oe o.t The Judge J.dToeate General 
1'ith the 

European The&t.er ot Operationa 
APO 887 

00.&RD OF REVIEI HO. 2 1 DEC 1944 
CK ETO 42$3 

. 
UNITED STA.TES )

) 
BRI'rl'.&NY BASE SEmIOlf, COllMUNI­
CilIONS zo~, EJROPUH 1'HEA.TER 

T• )
) 

OF OPm&.TIONS. 

Pr1Tate mvnnr. B&RKER (.34lJ4746), 
196J.st Engineer A.nation . Depot Compar\1'• 

) 
)
) 

Trial. bJ' acv, comened at Rennes, 
Brittan;r, France, 7 October 19414.• 
Sentences Dii:ihonorable discharge, 

) total forfeitures and confinement 
) at hard labor tor 20 7ears. United 
) 
) 

States Penitenti&rT, Lewisburg, 
Penns;rlvan1a. 

Homm b1' BOilD OF REVmf NO. 2 

V.&1' BENSCHOT1!2i1 BILL am SIEEPER, Judge Advocates 


l. The record or trial in the case or tbe soldier named aboTe ba.a been 
exam.i ned ~ the Board o.t Review• 

2. Jocused wu tried upon the .tollowing Charge and specifi.cationsa 

CHARGE& Violation o.t the 93rd Article o.t 'War. 

Specification la (Not Guilt7) 

Specification 21 In that Private El'rln Y• Barker, l96lst 


Engineer Aviation Depot C~, did.1 at or near 
Jlorlaix, Brittan;y, France, on or about S September 
19414., llith intent to cOllllli.t a .teloa;r, viz, rape, cca­
mit. m assault upon Jeanne Vivier ~ threatening her 
'Id.th a carbine, .torcing her to the ground, lJ"1ng cm 
her, placing his hand between her thighs, unbuttoning 
his pants and exposing.his organ. 

He pleaded. not guiltJ'1 and was found not guilty ot Specification l and 
guilt7 o.t Specification 2 and or the Charge. No evidence o.t previous 
comictions was introduced. He was . sentenoed to be dishonorab~ 
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discharged the service, t<"· forreit all par &Ild allowances due or to beco:ne 
due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as tlie rmerlng autho­
rity may direct, for 20 years. The revi.elli.ng authority approved the sentence, 
designated the United States Penitentiary, Lerlsburg, Pennsylvania, as the 
place or con!inemen~~ am i'orwarded the record or trial for action purSUoM1t 
to Article of War 5u;r•. 

3. For the prosecution, lllle. Jeanne Vitlet testified that, as she was 
cycling along the road south or lfo;:-laix at approximate~ l.400 hours on 5 
September 1944, she was halted by r4tl armed soldier who directed her to leave 
the road an:i to follow him along a pathway (R.8,9,14). Thinking that be 
was acting in an official capacity- as a road guard, ll1le. Viviet complied 
with his directi.ons (R.9). A.bout. twenty meters from the road, the soldier 
seized her by the wrist am threw her to the ground in such a manner that 
she ttwu l¢ng entirely under" him. The soldier then unba.ttoned his , 
trousers. lllle. Vivi.et shouted and struggled but the soldier stopped her 
by putting his hand over her mouth and bj" threatening her with his weapon 
(R.10-11). Accused then !'orcib~ separated lllle. Viviet's legs an:i put 
his •private part.• between them (R.U). Abou.:O this time two cyclists 
came d01'Xl the road with the result that accused became apprehensive am 
released Mlle. Viviet. lC.le. Vitlet then ttned awqtt an:l e!!ected her 
escape. Although she suffered scratches and. bruises as the result o!' the 
incident, the soldier did not succeed in ha.Ting intercourse with her (R.11,12). 
lill.ti. Viviet made complaint to the authorities and an identi!'ication parade 
was held at lfhich she identi!'ied accused as her assailant because he "n.S 
very black, had thick lips and a small moustache (R.13120). Her testimo?li1 
with regard to her identification or the accused was corroborated by two 
agents or the Criminal Investigation Division who testified that lllle. 
Viviet not only identi!i.ed accused at the identification parade but did so 
swiftl:y and without hesitation (R.20,26). These witnesses further testi­
fied that they accompanied llll.e. Viviet to a location designated by her as 
the scene of the alleged o!fense 'Where they found that the ground was 
"roughed up" and •trampled• and that there were •toe marks in the ground, 
or marks where the sort dirt had been dug up and the grass was disturbed 
or pressed d01'Il" (R.21,26). One of the agents also .tound a small comb B.nd 
a broken pin. 

4. Accused, after being advised o!' his rights as a witness, testi­
fied that on 5 September 1944, he was posted as a guard on the road at the 
entrance to his camp near llorlaix. He assumed his post at about 1100 hours 
and at approximat~ 1200 hours a driver came b7 to relieve him in order 
to enable him to eat his noon meal. He did not desire to eat so he stqed 
on hie post. The relier stayed with him until approximate).;' 1400 hours, 
and. then he was joined bj" a Private First Class Harris who stS\Y'ed and talked 
wit.~ him until about 1$00 hours at which time accused was relieved (R.32,33). 
He admitted that he saw severtl French girls pass his post on the afternoon 
in question but, in so far as can be gathered !ran the record, he apparent~ 
denied ever having seen Mlle. Viviet until she identified him at the identi­
fication parade (R.34,35). 
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It was stipulated between prosecution and defense, the accused 

consenting, that if' Private Raymond Harris 11ere present in court he would 

testif)" that at 1410 hours on 5 September 1944, he joined accused at his 

guard post and remained there with him until the time accused was relieved. 

at approximately 1500 hours. It was also stipulated that Private Harris 

had made a prior statE1I1ent "Which was to some extent inconsistent with the 

statement introduced in evidence. 


5. The testimony or lllle. Viviet, "fihen considered together with the 
mute evidence or struggle afforded by the condition of the terrain at the 
scene o! the incident, is amp~ sufficient to show the commission of an 
assSlllt. From the considerations that the soldier in queetion threw bilS 
victim to the ground, lay on top or her, separated her legs, unbuttoned. 
his trousers and pressed bis •private part" against her, the court was 
justified in inferring that the assault was made with intent to com.it 
rape. Mll.e. Viviet identified accused as her assailant from a group of 
seven men and did so prompt~ and without vacillation or hesitation. She 
also identified him in court. The court was not bound to JLccept the rather 
inconclusive testimoey of the accused teruli ng to show that he was not the 
.soldier 	involved in the attack. The evidence is amp~ sufficient to support 
the court's finding of guilty of the offense charged. 

6. The victim of the assailt is described as Jeanne Vivier in the 

speci.f'ication and is referred to as Jeanne Viviet in the evidence. Despite 

this variance, the specification is sufficient~ accurate to inform. the 

accused or the offense with which he ns charged and to protect him trom a 

second prosecution for the same offense. The variance is therefore not 

t&tal (People v. Gormack, 302 Ille 332, 134 N.E. 756, 29 A..L.R. ll20 (1922);

31 C.J. 847; Cll ETO 3679, Roehrborn). . 


7 • The charge sheet shows that accused. is 24 years and three months or 
age. He was inducted at Camp Shelby, Mississippi, on 21 October 1941. He 
had no prior service. 

8. The court was legally constituted a.nd had jurisdiction o:r the person 
and o!fenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights o! ac­
cused were committed during the trial. The Board o! Review is of the opinion 
that the record of trial is leg~ sufficient to support the findings o! 

guilty and the sentence. 


9• Pen1tentiary confinement for 20 years is authorized for the offense 
of assault nth intent to commit rape (AW 42; sec. 276, Federal Criminal Code, 
18 u.s.c. 455)). The del!lignation of the United States Penitentiar,r, Lewis­
burg! Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement is proper (AW 42; Cir. 229, 
WD, " June 1944, sec. II, pars. 12 (4), 3!!.)• · 

' ·_-.;;;~;;;;;·~·~~..;5:b~,._--."-Sir..;...'..;.~.;.·~'°"'-:.;;..:;.;~'7:..··- Judge Advocate 

1 
__.....rw-_ .. 1i_?._,_1{.U._i_"-v'..._l_1_-.,,. Judge Advocate 

J()_ • '/'
~~Ad,.._ Judge .Advocate 

. rJ 	 r- 4 2 r.: '·l-3-	 , a~ 
...n~'r1nprr 1 ~L 	 . 
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1st Ind. 


War Iepartment, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 1 Dec 1944 TO: Collllllanding 
General, Brittany Ee.se Section, Communications Zone, APO 51?, U.S.ARMY. 

1. In the case of Private ERVIN w. PARKER (34134?46),.196lst 
Engineer .lviation Depot Com:paey, attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legall.1' 
Stl!ficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, llhich 
holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article o! War 
50i, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorl5ement. The file number of the record in this office is Cl( BTO 
4253. For convenience or reference please place that. number in 
brackets at the end of the order: (Cll ETO 4253) • 

./~_(IC<~; 
Brigadier General, United states Jrrq, 

ABsistant Judge.Advocate General. 
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with the 

European Theater of Operations 
A.PO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

CM ETC 4262 Z4 NOV 1944 

UNITED ST.A.TES 	 BASE AIR DEPOT AREA., AIR SERVICE 

COMMAND, UNITED STATES STRATEGIC 


v. 	 AJ1l FORCES IN EUROPE. 

Private ROUND D. HOPPES 	 Trial by GCM, convened at AAF 
(.37254204), Squadron non, l?th Station 582, 5 October 1944. 
Replacement Control Depot (Avn) Sentence& Dishonorable discharge,I

total forfeitures and confinement 

l 

~ at hard labor for five years. 


Eastern Branch, United States Dis­

ciplinary Barracks, Greenha.ven, 

New York. 

HOIDING by BOAIID OF REVIE\V NO. 2 
VAN BENSCHCYI'EN, HILL and SW~PER, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above ha.s 
been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specificationa 

CHARCEa Violation or the 6lst Article of Viar. 

Specifications In that Private Roland D. Hoppes, Squadron 
11 011 , 17th RCD (Avn), AAF 569, Af'O 6J5, ASC, USST.~, 
did, without proper leave, absent himself from his 
proper station at AAF 569, APO 6J5, from about 2J 
July 1944, to about 2 September 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and Specifica­
tion. Evidence was introduced of one previous co11victio11 by General 
Court-martial for two absences without leave for 5 and 29 days, in violation 
of Article of War 61. He wa.s sentenced to be dishonore.bly discharged the 
service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to beco~e due and to be 
confined a.t hard labor at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, 
for ten years. The reviewing authority approved the sentence but reduced 
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the period of confinement to five years, designated the Eastern Branch, 
United States Discipli.narr Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place 
or confinement and f'orwarded. the record or trial tor action pursuant to 
the provisions of Article or War 5ot. 

Je By introduction in evidence 0£ the morning report or &CCU8edls 
unit (R?) as well as testimony by two sergeants that he could not be 
round on his station during the period or his alleged absence (RS-10) and 
accused's own oral statements to the investigating officer (Rl2·l.3), the 
unauthorized absence from his station was conclusively shown. He was 
apprehended by the Military Police at 2300 hours on 2 September 1944, 
hiding under a bed and covered up by a quilt in the house of a civilian 
(Rl4). He had no permission to be absent (Rl2). 

4. Defense presented no witnesses and accused remained silent (Rl5). 

5. The charge sheet shows accused to be 26 years, ten months or age. 
Without prior service, he was inducted at Wichita, Kansas, on 7 April 1942. 

6. The court was legally constituted and had. jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously af'f'ecting the substantial rights 
or accused were committed during the trial. The Board or Review is or the 
opinion that the record or trial is legally sui'ficient to support the 
tindings of' guilty and the sentence as approved. 

7. The of'f'ense of' absence without leave in violation or Article or 
War 61, is pmisha.ble as a court-martial may direct. T:Q.e designation or 
the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New 
York, as the place of confinement, is proper (AW 42; Cir.2101WD,l4 Sept. 
1943,Sec.VI as amended). 

·:.-_·1_·'.-"-~a_--._·~--:·:_.[_~_:'!'._.~"--"..... ___ ___ Judge Advocate 

-------------- Judge Advocate 

~~~~ Judge Advocate J . c/ 
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War Department, Branch Office of The ,Iuej~ . .a.dv;Q~te General with the 

European Theater of Operations. :4 tJ- NU\' 1~H4 T01 Commanding 

General, Base Air Depot Area, Air Service Command, United States Strategic 

Air Forces in Europe, APO 635, u. s. Army. 


1. In the case of Private ROLA.ND D. HOPPES (37254204), Squadron 
11011 

1 17th Replacement Control Depot (Avn), attention is invited to the 

foregoing holding by the Board of P..eview that the record of trial is 

legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, 

which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of 

War 5otr, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 


2. Yfnen copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 

they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 

The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 4262. For con­

venience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the end 


. of the order: (CM ETO 4262) • 

//~//?re/ 
/, '{. C.--McNEIL, J 

Brigadier General, United States Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 





(193)Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 88? 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

CM'ETO 4266 

UNITED ST A TE$. 

v. 

Private A. B. GUEST', 
(38448574), 416th Engineer 
Dump Truck Company. 

) NOR!~IA.NDY BASE SECTION, COMlnJNI­

) CATIONS ZONE, EUROPEAN THEATER 

) OF OPERATIONS. 

) 

) Trial by GCM, convened at Cher­

) bourg, France, 19.September 1944. 

) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 

) total forfeitures, and confinement 

) at hard labor for seventeen years. 

) Eastern Branch, United States Dis­

) ciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 

) New York. 


HOIDING ey BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


~-• The recot'd of trial in the case of the soldier named above • 
has been examihed by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 93rd Article of Tlar. 

Specification: In that Private A, B. Guest, 416th Engineer 
Dump Truck Company, did, at Manche, ·France, on route 
801 about 7 miles West of Cherbourg,.on or about 14 
August 1944, with intent to commit a felony, viz, rape, 
commit an assault upon Misa.Emilienne Lecomte, by wil­
fully and feloniously stopping her on the road, forcing 
her into a lane, throwing her to the ground, pulling 
up her clothes, getting on top of her, and holding her 
againat her will. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and Speci­
fication•. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. The 
accused was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to for­

4266 
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(194) DONFIDENTJAL 
feit all pay and allowances due or to become due and to be confined 
at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, 
for a period of seventeen years. The reviewing authority approved 
the sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United Stated Disciplin­
ary Barracks, Greer~aven, New York, as the place of confinement and 
forwarded the record of trial for action purs11ant to the provisions 
of Article of war 5~-. 

3. The 20 year old prosecutrix, Emilienne Lecomte, testified 
that a truck passed her on the road at about 10 o'clock on the morn­
ing of 14 August 1944 as she was riding her bicycle from St. Croix 
to Cherbourg. The lone driver, a colored American soldier, clearly 
identified as the accused, diminished his speed and invited her, by 
signs, to join him in the·truck. She undertook to ignore his invi­
tation and to proceed upon .her bicycle, but the truck kept impeding 
her progress by crowding her from one side of the road to the other. 
Finally the accused alighted and seized the handlebars of her bicycle 
(R9). 

"!(stepped down", she testified. 11 He took me by the 
side and drove me by force to the gate • * * * I 
tried to defend myself. Then he pushed me against the 
gate. Then I said to him I would come with him to 
Cherbourg. * * * He answered nothing I understood. 
It was then I tried to run away. · He caught me. * * * 
He pushed me and laid me on the ground. I struggled 
much. It is then that he laid himself on me. * * * 
He raised up my dress, right up to my trousers (RlO)
* * *and put his hand between us" (Rl3). 

He did not,.however, touch any parts of her body (RlO) nor attempt to 
talce off or unbutton any of his own clothing (R13). When she screamed, 
he stopped her with his hand on her mouth. Again, she testified 

"I s'creamed and at that moment passed the American 

motor vehicle. * * * He /;.ccusei} got up. Then 

I was able to get away". 


She went to the roadside where she saw two white American soldiers. 
Accused remained on the road behind her•.One of the newly arrived 
Americans spoke to.accused in English, a language which the prosecu­
trix did not understand (RlO). After that, "two soldiers of the 
American tiilitary Police ar:rived on motors", one of whoIJ drove accused's 
truck to Cherbourg (Rll). 

Private Ldward J. Courtney, Cot1pa.'1y D, 707th f1~ Battalion, 
testified that on the date in question 

"We were riding in towards Cherbourg and I noticed a 
truck parked on the left hand side of the road at an 
angle with the rear and in the center of the road. 

4266ClONF!DEt.!TI ~ l 
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We stopped to investigate and I looked around and 
noticed someone on the right hand side of the road•about 150 feet from us, waving his arms. I went 
down and there was a Lieutenant, one private and one 

. colored soldier and a young lady". 

As to the leny's condition, 

"She . was standing side of the road trembling and very.· 
nervous and she was rather dirty on her back and 
shoulders, and around her waist there was mud and 
particles of grass11 • 

Witness was then permitted to testify, over defense counsel's objection, 
as to statements made by the lieutenant in the presence of the accused. 
In announcing his ruling, the law member stated, 

"The accused having been present, the statements made 
by other parties may be considered by the court as an 
admission by him" (R14). 

The witness then proceeded to testify as follows: 

"The Lieutenant said they found this soldier off the 
road in the bushes. There is a small lane off to the 
right of the road that cuts into the hedge rows and 
as they were passing by he heard a scream. He backed 
the jeep up and seen this soldier with the girl, lay­
ing in the bushes. The girl was laying on her back 
and the soldier.had his hand over her mouth to stifle 
any SGreams and immediately the jeep stopped, they 
both got up and came toward the road. The Lieutenant 
asked me to place this man under arrest on a charge of 
attempted rape". 

The accused said that he paid the prosecutrix 50 francs and that she 
had thrown it in the bushe&. Witness thereupon searched for but failed 
to find it (R15). 

Over defense counsel's objection (R17), there was received in 
evidence a written statement taken by twu. C.I.D.·agents, signed and 
sworn to by accused 15 August 1944, which amounts, in effect, to a con­
fession (Pros.Ex.A); also a subsequent "certificate", likewise subscribed 
and sworn to 'b-J accused before the investigating officer 22 August 1944, 
reciting that accused's rights under .i.rticle of Wer 24 had been ex­
plained to him and that his former statement was true and correct (R29; 
Pros.Ex.B). 

4. For the defense, accused took the stand under oath for the 
limited purpose of establishing the inadmissibility of his confession 
(P.25). Upon the conclusion of his testimony, his confession and subsequent 
certificate (Exs.A and B), both of ~hich had been read to the court, were 
excluded from the evidence and the court was instructed to disregard them4066(R32). Accused then made an unsworn statement in which he admitted soli- ~ 
citing intercourse with prosecutrix, offering her 50 francs 
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"if she would jig-jig with me and she said to me 
1Oui'. I/hen I pulled the 50 francs out and when 

I said 1 ji~-jig 1 , she said 'no 1 • From what I 

could understand she wanted the 50 francs but 

she did not want to jig-jig. During the course 

of the argument I put my arm around her shoulders, 

casually - just laid Iey- arms around her. She 

didn't seem to resent or anything. She told me 

from what I could understand by pointing to Iey­


truck and the road to Cherbourg, she would go 

to Cherbour£. She seened to think I was meaning 

that. I said 'Cherbourg - jig-jig?' and she said 

10ui 1 • So I thought for perhaps 10 seconds and 

said if she could go to Cherbourg with me and jig­

jig, she might a.s well out there. But she didn't 

seem to understand. I couldn't talk J:IU.ch French ­
just what the average soldier knows lookirog in the 

handbook, when all the while Iey- intentions was any­

thi~g but towards violence against her. I merely 

was trying to persuade her to warm her up and get 

her to consent, if she was going to Cherbourg to 

jig-jig with me she might as well out there on the 

road. After that I got her by the arm and coaxed 

her to the lane. She went without a struggle or 

anything. After she got in the lane I offered 50 

francs a.gain and she threw it in the bushes•. She 

tried to run, after. She tried to run and I 

caught her by the arm·. My idea of catching her by 

the arm was only to see if she could in some wa:y 

explain in English that she didn 1t mean to have any­

thing to do with me. She tore loose and I let go. 

She looked as if she wanted to lead me on and then 

changed her mind. She tried to tear loose and dur­

ing the course of tearing loose she fell upon the 

ground. In falling upon the ground she pulled me 

down to keep her from falling. I went down on one 

knee and then I was just holding her and she was 

holding me and I - when I tried to get up there 

was a jeep come along". 


Prosecutrix 11 holleredn, the jeep backed up, accused "turned her 
loose and come down the road". The lieutenant and driver who 
alighted f'rom the jeep searched accused and took a statement .from 
the prosecutrix. 11During that time two liP 1 s came along", who 
"brought me in Cherbourg and booked me" (R33). 

5. The two most compelling (although not the only) corrobora­
tions of prosecutrix1 story are (l) the military policeman1 s state­
ment of what "the lieutenant" said, admitted over objection, under 
the guise of an admission on the part of the accused, and (2) ac- . 
cused's confession,· the latter originally admitted in eyidence and 
read to the court but subsequently excluded theref'rom. 

CONF\DENT\~l 4266 
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The first - the military policeman's version of what the 
lieutenant said - would, of itself, be inadmissible as hearsay, 
although made in the presence of the accused, unless accused's an­
swer was so evasive as to constitute a tacit admission, tantamount, 
in that respect, to silence or failure to deny (Vlharton 1 s Criminal 
Evidence, vol.2, par.657, p.109.3). The accused's answer "that he 
had paid her 50 francs and she had thrown it in the bushes" was, 
under the circumstances, an evasive answer, involving a failure to 
deny any part of the lieutenant's statement to the witness as to 
v;hat te had actually observed, but merely asserting - in confession 
and avoidance, as it were - an alleged unreported preliminary trans­
action between accused and the prosecutrix. The evicence was there­
fore properly admitted. 

Vlith this powerfUl corroborative evidence properly before 
the court, as well as the prosecutrix1 straight-forward story, the 
admissions involved in accused's unsworn statement and the corrobora­
tion furnished by the remainder of the military policeman's testimony, 
it does not affirmatively appear that the impact upon the minds of the 
court of the reading of accused's confession and subsequent certificate 
affirming it, later excluded with instru~tions to disregard both, af­
firmatively prejudiced any substmitial right of the accused (CM ETO 
1486 - MacDonald and r.·:acCrimmon). Substantial competent evidence sus­
tains the court's inference of intent to commit rape (CK ETO 882 -
Biondi and White). 

6. The accused is 20 years and 11 months of age. He vras inducted 
into the J..:roy at Camp Robinson, J.rkansas, 26 January 194.3. He had no 
prior service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. Ro errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Re­
view is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findfrgs of guilty and the sentence. The designation 
of the Eastern Eranch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 
New York, as the place of confiLe~ent is authorized. A penitentiary 
would have been appropriate. 

Judge Advocate 

Judge Advocate 

426G 
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(198) 1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. ! 1· DEC 1944 TO: Com­
manding General, Headquarters Normandy- Base Section, Communications 
Zone 1 .J.:PO 562 1 U. S. Army. 

1. In the case of Private A. B. GUEST, (38448574) 1 4l6th Engineer
Dump Truck Company, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by 
the Board of Review that tte record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which holding is 
herebJ' approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 50i·, you now 
have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorse­
ment. The file number of the record in this office is CI!~ ETO 4266. 
For convenience of reference, please place that number in brackets at 
the end of the order: (Crt. l"TO 4266). 

@t1dtt1'
~~ C. li~cllEil, . 

Brigadier General, United States Armyj 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General (199) 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF RE:vn:w NO~ l 

CM ETO 4269 2 2 NOV 1944 

l 
UNITED STATES) NORMANDY BASE SECTION, COMMUNICATIONS 

ZONE, EUROPEAN THEATER OF OP£RA.TIONS 
v. 

Trial by OOM convened at Cherbourg,
Private IEROY IDVEIACE France, l2 September 1944. Sentence: 
(35717885), 4195th Dishonorable discharge, total for­
Quartermaster Service feitures and confinement at hard labor 
Compall,y' for 20 years. Designation of place 

of confinement withheld.l 
HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO• l 

RITER, SARGENT and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 

1. , The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been e:xalnined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and specifications: 

CHARGE& Violation of the 9Jrd Article of Wars 

Spacif'icationt 11 In that Private :U,roy {NMI) Icvelace 4195tb 
Quartermaster Service Company' did, at Tourlaville, Manche, 
France, on or about ll August 1944, with intent to do him 
bodily harm, commit an assault upon Private First Class 
Horace L. Maynor 4l95th Quartermaster Service Company, b;y 
striking the said Private First Class Eorace L. Maynor with 
a dangerous weapon to wit, a knife. 

Specification:2: In that Private Leroy (NMI) Icvelace 4195th 
Quartermaster Service Company did, at Tourlaville, Manche, 
France, on or about ll August, 1944, with intent to commit 
a felony, viz, murder, commit an assault upon Private First 
Class Horace L. Maynor 4195th QUarterm.aster Service Company, 
by willfully and feloniously shooting the said Private First 
Class Horace L. Maynor 4195th Quartermaster Service Company, 
in the legs with a caliber .30 Carbine. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and specifica­
tion~. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. He was sen­
tenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and 
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allowances due and to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at 
such place as the reviewing authority ma'1 direct, for 20 years. The re­
viewing authority approved the sentence, withheld the designation of the 
place or confinement and the order directing the execution ot the sentence 
and f orvrarded the record or trial for action pursuant to Article of War 
5~. . 

3. The prosecution established by competent, substantial evidence 
that accuaed as alleged in Specii'ications l and 2 respectively, struck 
his victim first with a knife and immediately thereafter shot hill in 
t.1e legs with a caliber .30 Carbine. He did not stop firing until the 
gun jammed and then said "I ought to kill him". It was sholfll clearly 
that accused acted deliberately and violently in the commission or these 
offenses. 

4. After being advised of his rights to testify in his own behal.t (R25) 
accused elected to make a sworn statement and described in detail his at­
tacks by knii'e and carbine on his victim (R26-28) as prel"ioualy testified 
to by prosecution witnesses. 

5. In the opinion of the Board of Review there is abundant competent 
evidence of a most substantial character of all or the elements of the 
offense of assault with a dangerous weapon to wit, a knife, with intent 
to do bodily. harm (CM ETO 1959, ~; Cll ETO ·3494, Martinez) and that of 
assault with intent to commit murder (CM ETO 78, ~; CM ETO 53.3, ~; 
CMETO 1289, Merriweather) and the court oould not properly have doM 
otherwise than find accused guilty of the crimes charged. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 2.3 1ears of age and was 
inducted 19 November 1942. His period of service is governed b,- the 
Service Extension A.ct of 1941. He had no prior service. 

7. The court was legall.1 constituted and had jurisdiction or the 
person and offenses. Jfo errors injuriously a.i'.t'ecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board or Rel"iew 
is o:t the opinion that the record of trial is legall1 sufficient to 
support the findings o.1' gu1lt1 and the sentence. 

s. Confinement in a penitentiar,- is authorized for the ofi'ense 
or assault with intent to do bodily harm nth a dangerous weapon and 
also :tor the ortense of assault with intent to commit murder b1 A.VI 42 
and section 'Z'/6, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA. 455). The designation 
or the Uhited States Penitentiary-, ~burg, Pennsylvania, as the place 
ot confinement is proper (Cir. 229, 8 JWle 19441 par.l,2(4) ,.32) • 

__,,.~-- / ~ 
., , Judge Advocate 

~~~(w/Juag. Advocate 

~L. jjt?; ·t{AJ-). Judge Advocate 
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cn:lFI DENTP.. ~ 




CONFIDENTIAL 

(201) 

lst Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The .T~ Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. Z 2 NOV 194-4. T01 Command­
ing Oi'1'ieer, N.o~ Base Section, Conmnmieations Zone, European 
Theater ot Operations, APO 562, U.~s~. 

l. In the oasa 01' Private IEROY IDVELA.CE (35717885) 4J.95th 
Quartermaster Service Company, attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record ot trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which 
holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 
50!-, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. It is noted that the action in this case did not designate 
the place of confinement. Such designation should be included in the 
action approving the sentence. It is requested that a supplemen"ts.I7 
action designating the place of confinement (Form lO, p.275 JCM) be 
executed and forwarded to this headquarters for insertion in the record 
of trial. Confinement in a penitentiary is authorized for each of the 
offenses of which accused was foUlld guilty in violation of Article of 
War 93, i.e., assault with intent to do bodily harm with a dangerous 
weapon: and assault with intent to commit murder by AW 42 and sec. 276, 
Federal Cr1mina] Code {l8 USc.l 455). The designation 01' the United, 
States Penitentiary, L9wisbarg, Pennsylvania, as the place of con­
finement is proper. (Cir.229, 8 .Tune 1944, par.l,2(4) ,3£). 

3. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 
4269. For convenience of reference please place that nwnber in brackets 
at the end of the ordera (CM ETO 4269). ' 

E. 	C. McNEIL, 
Brigadier 	General, United States Army. 

J.ssistant Judge Advocate General. 

http:supplemen"ts.I7
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Branch Of.rice o! The Judge Advocate General (20J)
with the 

European Theater ot Operations 
APO 887 

OOARD OF BEVml' NO. 2 
2 DEG 1944 

C14 ETO 4275 

UNITED STATES 	 ) FIR.Sr UNITED STATES .&RMI 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial b7 GCY, convened in the vicinity 
) of Soumagne, Belgium, 26 September 

Privates BERNARD E. CRAWFORD ) 1944• Sentences As to CRAWFORD: Dis­
(35409680), and BUDm R. ) honorable discharge (suspended.), total 
HARRIS (7087435), both ot Bat- ) forfeitures, am confinement at hard 
tery •111, 55lst Field Artillery ) labor for five years. 2912th Disci­
Battalion. ) Pl.inaI7 Training Center, Shepton llallet, 

) Somerset, Engla.rxl. As to HARRIS: Dis­
) honorable discharge, total forfeitures, 
) and confinement at hard labor for five 
) years. Eastern Branch, United States 
) Disciplinar,y Barracks, Greenhaven, New 
) York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIE'i' NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTS'l, HIIJ. and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldiers named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused were tried upon the follOlfi.ng charges and specifica­
tions a 

CHARGE It Violation of the 96th Article o! War. 

Specification: In that Private Bernard E. Cralfi'ord, 
Battery A, 55lst Field Artillery Battalion, 
and Private Buddy R. Harris, Battery A, 55lst 
Field Artillery Battalion, acting jointq and 
in pursuance of a common intent, and in con­
junction with Private Eugene F. Stahl, Battery 
A, 551st Field .Artillery Battalion, did, in the 
vicinity of Senonches, France, on or about 28 
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Augu.st 1944, wron~ am without authority 
t&ke, use and operate a motor vehicle, propert7 
ot the United states, value about ?line Hundred 
($900.00) Dollars• 

. CH.&mE II1 Violation ot the 6lat Article o! War• 

Specification 11 In that Private Bernard E. Cralrf'oro, 
Battery A, 55lst Field .Artillery Battalion, did, 
without proper leave, absent himsel.f 1'rom his camp 
in the vicinity or Senonehes, France, from about 
0900 hours 28 .lugust 1944 to about 09.30 hours 29 
Allgust 1944. 

Specification 21 In tha.t Private ~ R• Ha.rris, Bat­
tery .l, 55lst Field J.rtilleey Battalion, did, 1fi.th­
out proper leave, absent himsel.f .from bi• camp in 
the vicinit7 of Senonehes, France, trom about 0900 
hours 28 August 1944 to about 09.30 hours 29 August
1944. ' 

Each pleaded not guilty to and was found gtdlty of their respectin 
charges and specifications. Evidence was introduced o! three previous 
convictions o! accused Crawford, two by' special. court-martial and one 
by' summar;r court !or absence without leave for.19 days, 29 day's, and 
18 days, respect.iv~, in 'Violation of Article o! W'ar 61; and o! one 
previous conviction of accused Harris, by' SUDllllary court, tor seven ~s 
absence without leave, in 'Violation o! Article or Iar 61. Each was 
sentenced to be dishonorabq discharged the service, to forfeit all p.,­
and allowances due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, 
at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, accused Craw.ford 
for ten years and accused Harris for eight years• The reviewing autho­
rity approved the sentences rut reduced the period or confinement of 
each to five years, suspended the dishonorable discharge as to accused 
Crawf"ord until the soldier's release !'rom confinement and designated · 
the 2912th Disciplinar,r Training Center, Shepton llallet, Somerset, England, 
as the place of his confinement; designated the ·Ea.stern Branch, United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of con­
finement of accused Harris and forwarded the record of trial tor action 
pursuant to the provisions of Article of' War 5~. 

J. The undisputed evidence tor the prosecution shows that about 
nine o'clock on the morning o! 28 .&ngust 1944, both accused were observed 
in the bivouac area of the battecy changing a tire on a jeep. After the;r 
changed it, they got in the jeep an:i drove oft through the field. Al­
though no vehicle had been dispatched to them (RB,9), and neither of them 
had authority or permission to be absent 1'ith the vehicle (Rl3) or other­
wise (Rl7), and though search was made through the bivouac area !or each 
accused and the jeep (Rl.3), they were not f'Olllld until they and the jeep 

- 2 - 4275 

http:respect.iv


CONFJDENllA 
(205) 

were seen back in the area the next morning "between 9:30 and 10 o•clocktt (R8­
9). "nle7 bad not occupied their bunk3 the night of 28 .&.ugust (R9). The jeep 
was the property ot the United States (Rl9) • 

•4. Private »igene F. stahl. or accused's unit, who disappeared with ac­
cused, testified as r. de.tense 111.tness that they did not go out or the battery 
area but that they drove a littJ.e way into the woods, some •JOO yards or so, 
deep into the 110ods•,, to do some maintenance 110rk on the jeep. They got to 
drinking, camped b.r the jeep and went to sleep. A Frenchman came along with 
some cognac 

•am we got tangled up llith the cognac he bad brought 

.us. We 15ta\red there a 'While and got sort or drunk 

and just went to sleep and woke up in the morning and 

· brought the jeep back to the spot where we had come tram•. 
Accused Harris was the driver ot the jeep and the others .,,ere just there to 
hel.p hilll." (R20-21). They worked on the vehicle approximate~ a bsJ.t hour or 
so when the Frenchman came along and brought them three bottles or cognac. 
They drank it all and went to sleep about three o'clock in the afternoon, 
waking up about nine o'clock the next morning (R22-23). F.ach accused elected 
to remain silent after being advised ot his rights as a witness (R24). 

·5. The charge sheet shows accused Crawford is 28 years or age; without 
prior service, he was inducted 15 J~ 19421 at Columbus, Ohio. Accused Harris 
is 23 years or age and without prior service enlisted 26 June 1940, at Augusta, 
Georgia. 

6. The court was legal.:q constituted and had jurisdiction or the persons 
am offenses. No errors injurious~ ai'fecting the substantial rights or ac­
cused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review is of the opinion 
that the record or trial is legally sufficient to support the .findings of 
guilty and the sentence as to each accused. 

7. Confinement for five years is authorized !or the offense o! taldng 
and uai.ng1 without the consent of the owner, a motor vehicle tor the profit, 
use or purpose or the taker (AW 42, District or Columbia Code, sec.22-2204(6:62). 
The of.f'ense of absence without leave, in violation of Article of War 61, is 
punishable as a court-martial m;q direct. The designated places of confinement 
are proper. 

udge Advocate 
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lst Ind. 

War Department;, Branch Office of '.lhe Judge Advocate General wi.th the 
F.uropean Theater or Operations. 2 DEC 1944 TO: Command­
ing General, First United states Arrq, APO 230, U.S• .A1.'m:f• 

1. In the case or Privates BERNARD E. CRAWFORD (354()()680), and 
BODDY R. HARRIS (7087435), both or Battecy •A.•, 5.5J.st Field .ArtUler,y 
Battalion, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the Board 

, .at Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support 
~"""tlie findings of guilty- and the sentence, as to each accused, which 
,.- holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions or Article of War 

.5~, ;,you naw have authority to order execution of the sentences. 

2. When copies or the published order are forwarded to this of­
fice, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this in­
dorsement. The file number of the record in this office is Cll ErO 
4275• For convenience of reference, please place that number in 
brackets at the end or the ord.e.rz (Cll Ero 4275). · . 

/Y /) . 

/ ._;#(,/I UL~ 
• {// ,. j ~ / 

,. E. ·c. McNEIL, 
.m"l.gad.ier General, United States J.rttu1 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Branch Of'f'ice or The Judge Advocate General 
id.th the 

European Theater or Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

CY ErO 4280 

UNITED STA.TES ~ 

T• ~ 
Privates HARVEY DENNIS (33589269), ) 
P"ARD H. DIVEBS (33527411), and ) 
WILLIE CASI (.36501708) 1 all of the ) 
217th Port Company, 3Mth Port ) 
Battalion. )

) 
) 

2 0£C 1944 

BRITTANI BASE SEX:TION, COIDJIJNICA.TIONS 
ZONE, mrnoPF.AN THE.lrER OF OPERATIONS. 

Trial b;r GCll, convened at Rennes, 
Brittany, France, 6 October 1944. 
Divers Acquitted. Sentence as to 
Dennis and Cash: Dishonorable dis­
charge, total forfeitures, and con­
finement at ha.rd labor tor 20 7ears. 
United States Penitentiary, Lewis­
burg, Pennsylvania. 

HOU>Jm by BO.ARD OF REVlD NO. 2 
V.&H BENSCHOTEN, HILL aild SLEEPER, Judge .Advocates 

J.. The record of trial in the case or the soldiers named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review• 

2. .l.ccused were tried joint~ upon the .following Charge and Specifi ­
cation: 

CH.ARGE: Violation of' the 9.3rd Article or Ware 
Specification: In that Private Willie Cash, Private 

Harvey Dennis, and Private F.dward Harry Divers, 
all of the 217th Port CoIDpAcy', 386th Port 
Battalion, acting jointly', and in pursuance 
ot a comm.on intent, did, at La Vierge Noire, 
Ploujean (Finistere), Brittany, France, on or 
about .31 Augu.st 1944, nth intent to cOlllllit a 
felo:a;y, viz, rape, camnit an assault upon 
Yvomie Boubemlec, by 1d.llful:q and feloniously' 
striking, band.ling, and throwing to the ground 
the said Yvonne Boubennec am bruising her 
about the face, legs, and right thigh. 

Each pleaded not guilty to and, three-fourths of the members present at 
the time the vote was taken concurring in each finding of gullt;y1 accused 
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Dennis and Cash were toutd guilty of the Charge and Specification. Accu.sed 
Divers was tound not guilty and acquitted. Evidence was introduced ot two 
previous convictions by summary court, as to accused Cash, tor absence with­
out leave f'or ten and one-hal.i' hours and f'or five hours respeotive:q, in 
violation ot Article of' War 61. Three-fourths ot the members present con­
curring when the vote was taken, accused Dennis and Cash were each sentenced 
to be dishonorab:q discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the 
reviewing authority mq direct, f'or 20 years. The reviewing authority ap­
proved the sentence o! each, designated the United States Penitentiary, Levds­
burg, Pennsylvania as the place or confinement and forwarded the record of' 
trial £or action pursuant to Article 0£ i.·~ar SOi. 

J. The evidence introduced by the prosecution, including the testimocy 
o! Madame Yvonne Boubennec and f'ive other French civilians, one a medical 
man, shows that at the time and place alleged in the Specification, the 
prosecutrix was riding her bicycle on a road when she was stopped by at least 
two ot three soldiers who were passing, grabbed, blind.folded, pulled and 
dragged into the bushes off' the road, where each of the two soldiers in turn 
held her down on the ground by force while the other attempted to undo her 
pants. One or the two :finally cut a hole in her pants over her privates.:•{·, 
The soldier who first held prosecutrix down, sitting on her chest to do so;r .·' 
unbuttoned his pants and exposed bis private parts. During this episode :'.:\'. { ..· · 
the woman struggled and resisted. Her screams were fortunately heard by~~}:":>r'~ 
French ci"lrilians who called for the milltary police am the two soldiers, 
her assailants, took orr (Rl0-19). Prosecutrix identified accused Dennis 
as one of those who at tacked her (Rl8). Four French civilians saw the 
prosecutrix at the time and place in question, as she came out or the 
bushes, also one or two negro soldiers who passed through the bushes. The 
woman was bleeding in the face, her robe was tom and she was weeping. A 
handkerchief bearing the name of one of accused, "Willie Cash•, was found 
at the scene (Rl9-.3l; Pros.Ex.l). Doctor Maurice Ie Cars, a French pcysi­
cian, examined the prosecutrix on 2 September and found scratches on her 
race and legs and a bruise on the inside of one of her thighs (R31,32). 
Private Grant Hopson of' the 2l7th Port Com.pa.ey, witnessed the incident and 
substantially corroborated the story of prosecutrix. He said he didn't 
think •she wanted to go in" the bushes. She was •hoUering a little bit.• 
He saw two soldiers holding her and identified accused Dennis and Cash as 
the two. He knew them as members of the 2l7th Port Compaey, J86th Port 
Battalion (R32-34). Accused Cash and Dennis volun'tazoi:q made and signed, 
written statements. Accused Cash in his statement made a complete denial 
that he was with Dennis while he was out of camp that day or that he knew 
anything of the incident in question. .Accused Dennis admitted that at the 
t.1ma and place in question he had assisted in carrying a woman off' into 
the· bushes; that •she was struggling 'and screaming•; that after five minutes 
some people came along and he and his companions ran a.way-. (R38-4l;Pros. 
~3,4). Accused Divers, who was acquitted, testified on his own behalf. 
He la.rge:q corroborated the testimony of the prosecutrix and identified 
accused Dennis and Cash as her assailants (l:i45-49). 
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4. Accused Denn18 and Cash,, advised or their rights as 11'1tnesses1 
elected to remain silent. 

5. The evidence as to the identity or Dennis and Cash and as to their 
attack on Madame Boubermec at the time am place and 'With the intent 
alleged in the Specii'ication was conclusive. It was an assault and batter.r 
lihich employed :torce. She did not consent,, but resisted. The intent was 
to overcome resistance and to have sexual connection by the use of' such 
f'orce as was necessary. This was an assault 'With intent to rape,, in vio­
lation of Article of ~ar 9.3,, the article under which the Charge was laid 
(MCM,, 1928,, par. 148!?,.t P• 165.; CH El'O .37491 ~). Ea.ch accused was 
properly found guilty as a principal to this offense. 

6. Accused Dennis is 22 years or age. He was inducted. on 3 March 
194.3,, at Fort George a. Meade to serve tor the duration of the nr plus 
six months. He had no prior service. 

Accused Cash is JO years old. He was inducted on 25 ~ 1942,, · 
at Fort. Custer,, J.li.chigan,, to serve for the· duration or the war plus six:. 
months. He had no prior service. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction gt the 
persons and offense. No errors injuriously a!'i'ecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of' Review 
is of the opinion that the record is legally' suf'!icient to support the 
findings of guilty and the sentence as to Dennis and Cash. 

8. The offense of' assault with intent to commit rape, in violation 
of Article of War 9.31 is punishable by imprisonment for 20 years (Mell 
1928,, par. l04c, p.99). Confinement in a United States Penitentiary is 
authorized (AWu2.; 18 use 455). . 

~·. 
t t · .... <<.,..~ •• • • I ~ , Judge Advocate 

Judge Advocate 


Judge .Advocate 
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1st Illd~ 

War Department Branch Office 0£ The .Jud$! Jd~l'al;--iri'tb~ 
l!'m'opean Theater ot Operations. 2 DEG 1944 TOa Commandjng, 
General, Brittul;r Base Section, Comzmm1cations Zone, Aro Sl.7, u.s• .6n\r• 

l. In the case of Privates HARVEr DmrnIS (3JS8926"'":mWARD H. 
D:m:RS (3.3S274ll), and WILLIE CASH (.36.$01708), all of' the 21.7th Port 
Comp~, .386th Port Battalion, attention 18 invited to the foregoing 
holding bY" the Board of' Review that t.he record o! trial b legal:cy­
su£ficient to support the findings o! guilty alXl the sentence as to 
DENNIS aild CASH, llhich hol4J.ng is herebY" approved.. 'Under the provi. ­
sions of Article ot \Tar SC>f, you new have authority to order execution. 
of the sentence. 

2. -when copies ot the published order are tornrded to this office, 
they should be accompanjed by' the foregoing holding and this indorse­
ment. The tile Jllllllber o! the record 1n this o.ttice is CK ETO 4280. 
"For convenience o! reference please place that· number 1n brackets at 
the end ot tbe order: (Cll ETO 4280)•. 

.·/(?u~'
I ~ c. KcNEIL,.. 

Brigadier General, United States Arrrq, 
Assistant Judge .&dvocate General• 

. CONFIDENTIAl 
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Branch OffiCe of The Judge il.dvocate General 

with the 

Lilropenn Theater of Operations 


A?O 887 

-· ·-·. 
"'·BOA.RD OF RE.'VIJ;;'.'l NO. 1 

CM El'O 4285 

UNITED STATES )
) 

v. ")
' )Private (formerly Private First ) 

Class) Al·lDR.E.'rf GENTILE (3.3.388770) 1 ) 

Company L, 28th Infantry · ~ 

) 

17 NOV 1944 

STH INFANl'RY DIVISION 

Trial by GCM, convened at· A?O 8, 
U.S. Army, 20, 25 September 1944•. 
Sentence1 Dishonorable di~charge, 
total forfeitures and confinement 
at hard labor for life. Eastern · 
Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York. · 

,f 

HOLDING BY BOJulD OF IillYIEl1 NO. 1 
RITER; SARG:Elil' and STEVENS 1 Judge .Advocates 

I 

1. The record of trial in the c~se of the soldier named above has 
been axe.mined by the Board of Review. 

2•. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE1 Violation of the 75th Article of Viar. , 
Specification: In that Private (then Private First Class) 

Andrew Gentile, Company L, 2Sth Infantry, being pre­
sent with his company Vlhile it was engaged with the 
enenzy-, did, at or near Gousenou, :ii'rance, on or about 
August 2.3, 1944, shamefully abandon the said company, 
and seek safety in the rear, and did, fail to i·ejoin 
it until he surrendered himself to Captain Stedman P. 
Stauffer Jr., at or near Bourg-blanc1 'l"rance, on or 
about August 26, 1944. 

lie pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of the court pre­
sent at the time the vote was taken concurring, \vas found g11ilty of the 
Charge and Specification. No evidence of previous convictions was intro­
duced. Three-fourths of the members of the court present at the time the 
vote was taken concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged 
the service, to forfeit all pay and allo\'rances due or to become due, and 
to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may 
direct, for the term of his natural life. The reviewing authority approved 

' I 

- 1 - 4285 
r~'fflDENTJAL_ 



(212) 
\ 

the sentence, designated the ~astern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, and forwarded 
the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of riar 5~. 

,3. The evidence herein is substantially similar to that in the com­
panion case of CM ETO 4CJ1.3, Martin U, Folse, in which case also the ac­
cused was a member of Company L, 28th Infantry. On the basis of the hold- • 
ing by the Board of Review in that case, the record of trial herein is 
~eld legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 
The dei'ense motion vrhich in ei'fect was one for findings of not guilty was 
properly denied (Rl.3) (CM ETO 3722, Skamfer). 

4• The charge sheet shows that accused is 22 years of age and \'las 
inducted 11 December 1942 to serve for the duration of the war plus six 
months. He had no prior service •. 

5. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 
of accused were committed during the trial. The "Board of Review is of the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the find­
il:.gs of guilty and the sentence. 

6. The penalty for misbehavior before the enemy is death or such 
other punishment as the court-martial may direct (J•W 75).. The designation 
of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 
New York, as the place of confinement is authorized (Ar: 42; Cire' 2101 ViD, 
14 Sep 1943, sec, VI, as amended)~ . 

~ ..>--; / · 
_,_:·_,,.~_;~:',_.~_._.(-~-·--'//,;;;..~-'"-7____Judge Advocate 

_.....(s_r_c_K,_I_,l-..i-.H;.;.00-...P...,I-.'_,r.U....._)___Judge Advocate 
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l::it Ind. 

'iiar Department, Bral1cll Office of Tbe J~c;l.z.!1 Advocate Gene!'al w:1.t.h the 
b'uropean Theater of Operations. . l 7 NlJV 1944 T01 Cornmandin;: 
General, 8th Infe.ntry Division, .APO 8, u.s. A:rrrry. 

·1. In the case of J1rivate (forr.10rly ?rivate First Clc.ss) J.1-TDRZ:i 
Gi:IJ:'I!.i: (3338$770), Company t, 28th Infantry, attention is invited to 
the foregoing holding by the'Board of aeview that the record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sen­
tence, which holding is hereby e.pproved. Under the provisions of Ar­
ticle of ~le.r 50}, you now have authority to order e:>:ecution of the 
sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forrrarded to this office, 
they should be e.ccompanied by the foregoing holding and.this indorsement. 
The file nui11be1• of the record in this office is CM El'O L.285. .Per con­
venience .of reference. please place that number in brackets ·at the end of 
the order: (Civi EI'O 4285). · . . . 

f1~u~ ~ ~ . 
E, C. l.IcNEIL, 

Brigadier General, United Statefl Arrrv, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Bl:'anoh Of'tice of' The Judge J.dTOCate General (215) 
with the 

Imopean '!'heater or Operationa 
JP() d1 

BO&Jm. (JI Rl5VDI JO. 2 
2 4 AIOV 1944 

l1.II'l'J:D S'l'il!:S BASE AIR m:PO'f AREA, AIR Bmm 
COMMA.ND, UNITED STil'FS S'l'RlTJ:GlC . 
.llR FORCF.S IN EOROPE.l

Pr1n.te G'EORGB W. ALLIN, ) Trial b,r GCJl, conT9ll8d at Black­
(348ll536), Section 6, ) burn, Lancashire, England, 11 Octo­
Squadron B, Maintenance DiT• ber, 1944. Sentence1 Dishonorable 
iaioa, Bue Air DeJ>:Ot #2. discharge, total torteitares and 

~ 
continement at bard labor tor tin 
79ara. Federal Ref'ormator;r, 
Chillicothe, Ohio. 

l 

HOLDING bJ" roARD 01' RJSV.IJ:'d NO. 2 
Vil BENSCHOTEN, HILL alld SLEZPm, JUDGE ADVOCATES 

l. The record of' trial ill the cue ot the soldier named abova baa 
been enm1ned bJ" th9 Board of' ReTiew. 

2. (.lccused 1fUI tried upon the f'ollcnr.l.ng cbarpa and iptCiticationaa 
' ' 

CHARGE Ia Violation of' the 93rd. .Article ot War. 

Speciticationa In tha.t Pri:n.te Georce w. J.llen, Section 6, 
Squadron B Main+ .._ DiT, Bue Air Depat llo. 2, J.a 
582, APO 635, did at Blackbarn, W.Oa, Engl and, on or 
about 6 September 1944, with intent to commit a tel~, . 
T.11, rape, commit an uaaul.t upon Mra. Renee J.nn.e Xtr17, 
b;J' willtulq and f'eloni~ 1tr1Jd.ng the aaid Mi-1. Renee · 
.lnne Xer1'7 on the raoe· and~ with b1e fi1t1. 

ClWtGI lla Violation ot the 96th Article ot.l'ar. 

Speciticationa In that * * * did. at Blaokbara, Lanoa, 
Engl.aZJd, on or about 6 September 1944, wronituJ.l1' tab 
and UH without proper authorit7 a certain. motor nhicle 
to wita t ton 4 x 4 truck, the propertT ot the tJniW . .·.. . 
states ot a Talue ot more than tso.oo. · :&l8'1· 

CONFl~t.NTIAl • - · . 
- 1 ­

http:wronituJ.l1
http:1tr1Jd.ng
http:Pri:n.te
http:f'ollcnr.l.ng
http:COMMA.ND


- -

(216) 

He pleaded not guilt;y and was found guilt1 ot the charges and apeci­
ticatiOllll. No erldence of previous convictions was introduced~ H• 
was Nntenced to be dillhonorably discharged the service, to torte! t 
all pq and allowances due or to become due and to be con.tined at 
hard labor, at Sllch place as the reviewing authority ~ direct, tor 
ten 79ara. The reviewing authorit;y approved the Hntence but reduced 
the period ot confinement to tive ;years, designated the Federal Re• 
tormator;y, Chillicothe, Ohio, u the place ot confinement, and forwarded 
the record ot ~rial tor action pur1U&Z1t to Article ot War 50i-. 

,. ,, ... 
" . 
3. At about 1400 hours on 6 September 19~, a i- ton 4 x 4 truck, 

number 20327192, wu dispatched to accuaed u drber tor the purpoH ot 
enabl.Ulg hill to lll&ke a trip trOll Arllrf Air Force Station 582 to Burton­
1r0od (R;,6,7,lOJ Proa Ex 1). No dmatione trom the normal route trbm, 
post to destination and return were authorized (R6,7). On the enning 
ot 6 September 19~ accused waa seen at a dance in the cit;y ot Black· 
burn (Rl4). While there, he introduced himaelt to Mra. Renee Arm. 
Xen7 and asked her to dance with him (R28). She accepted. and, during
the enning, with her friend Mrs. Margaret D.uxbury, accompanied accused 
to a hotel where the7 each had three glasses ot beer atter which the7 
returned. to the dance (Rl4,15). When the dance ended, accused offered 
to drin Mra. Kerr;y and Mra. Duxbur,y home in "hi• car11 (RJ.;). On the 
wq to Mrs. Kerr;r' a home, accused was stopped by' a police otticer who 
told accused his 11 a1lencer n.s not working properq and he'd han to 
get it attended. to• (Rl.'5). Mrs. Duxl:m7 was dropped ott near her home 
and accused and Mrs. Kerr;y continued. on their. wq, but, apparenU7 at 
Mrs. Kerr;y's suggestion, stopped at a corner some three minutes walk 
tro:m. Mrs. Kerr;y•s home (Rl.6). At this time accused put his arm around 
Mrs. Kerr;r, tried to kiss her and "his hand started wandering". Mrs. 
Ker17 told accused to stop am •a struggle started• (R16). During the 
course ot the struggle accused. pushed Mra. Kert7 into the back ot the 
vehicle, tried to lltt her clothing and asked her to •let me have a 
little bit or you kn01r what I mean• (Rl.6,17). Mrs. Kerr;y retused with 
the comment that accuse4 couJ.d have •plenty ot people in the tow." 
Accused replied 11 I don't want it from other people, I want it f'rom you11 

(Rl7). .Arter further struggle, accused ceased his advances, and again
started the vehicle. During this portion of the journey Mrs. Kerr;r 
•managed to tllng the door open at the right side, and I could see some­
one on the road~, and I shouted out 'Hdp', but.he pushed me back and 
kept on dril'ill8'• Accused drove to another point some five miles from 
the location where he had first stopped, 'resumed his advances and 11the 
tight started agaiD• (Rl.7). She testified that accused had his hands 
"ill over the place•, that is, "all over me" (RlS). During the course 
of' the struggle, Mrs. Ker17 knocked the rear window out of' the vehicle. 
The tight again abated and accu.aed again drove oft. As accused was 
driving sl01fq, Mrs. Kerr, got out ot the vehicle through the aperture 
lett by the displaced rear wind01r and started to run down the road. 
Accused stopped, caught her and again pushed her in the back of' the 
nhicle. At this time accused hit her several times on the f'ace and 
chin (RlS,19). During the course of' the struggle accused asked her 
several times to have intercourse rith him (R27) ~ be 'Pllt his ~a..287•
under her clothing and touched her "private parts senrll times ~RJ.W 

~ 



CONFJDEU1IAL (217) 

She never at any time consented to his actions (R27). .A.tter this 
Mrs. Kerry didn't "remember veey much more" since she was by that 
time •absolutely exhausted" (RlS). She next remembered accused 
calling her name and "bringing me around". When she regained con­
sciousness, her clothing was disarranged and, to the best ot her re­
collection, her skirt was up around her neck. Accused then took her 
home (Rl.9). She had found his cap in the car seat and she kept it (Rl9) • 
.A.ccused when shown the cap stated that he had one just like it (R29). 
Mrs. Kerry suffered scratches end bruises as the result of' the encounter 
(R20,33,.36). Certain of her clothing was torn end stained with blood 
(R20122,.33, Pros Ex 2-8). At the time Mrs. Kerry returned to her home 
she was experienc:i.ng a discharge trom her semal orpna which she testi­
fied was not a usual menstrual discharge since the flow accompanying 
her last menstrual period had ceased some three clqs previousl7 (R25). 
Subsequent to the attack, L!rs. Kerry was examined by two physicians. 
One of these physicians testitied that his examination disclosed a 
zrwnber of surface stratches and minor bruises on her face and body. Ee 
also f'ound evidence of' hemorrhage and stated that, in his opinion, a 
discharge such as that described by Mrs. Kerry would probab~ be jbe 
result ot arough handling.• (R.34). The second physician testified that 
his e:aamina.tion disclosed bruises over both of 11rs. Kerry's eyes and her 
lips, a "very marked" bruise underneath her chin, and slight bruises on 
her shoulders, ankles and the inner aspects of' her knees and thighs (R.36). 
It was also the opinion ot this physician that a discharge such as that 
described by' Mrs. Kerry would not be due to a recurrence of' the menstrual 
now but "definitely •••• from some other ~ause -- a scratch, a cut, some 
bruising ot the delicate mucous membrane" (R.37). 

The prosecution introduced a statement made by' accused to the British 
constabulary af'ter having been advised of his rights which contained re­
citals which were, in broad outline, similar to the testimony given b,y 
l.lrs. Kerry. However, the statement contained no admissions of srry violent 
treatment toward or any struggle with her (Pros Ex 9). The prosecution 
also introduced a statement made by accused to the investigating officer 
af'ter having been similarly advised of bis rights which also contained 
recitals generally in accord with the testimony given b,y Mrs. Eerry, ex­
cept that accused did not state that any tight or struggle had taken 
place and expressly denied striking or hitting the victim (Pros Ex 10). 
In both statements accused stated that the vehicle used on the night in 
question was "jeep #203Z7792". An examination of this vehicle on the dq 
after the alleged assault disclosed that the rear window was "complete~ 
gone" and "the e:xahust - where it joins the muffler was broken, so that 
the engine was a little.louder than it should be" (R9). It was stipulated 
that the t ton 4 x 4 truck numbered 20}Z7792 was the property ot the 
United States and had a value ot more than $50 (RlO). 

4. After being advised ot his rights as a witness, accused ms.de an 
unsworn statement in which, after first admitting that his previous written 
statement was true, he said he and 11the girl" had had eome drinks and that 
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she nseemed to be f'eellng pret.t,' hot -- what I call •tight" when thflJ" 

lef't the dance hall. He also stated that the girl was w11Hng to per­

mit him to take her home in the jeep, and, once on the we::f home, was 

willing to go tor a ride 11'1th hill. He further asserted that he ba4 · · 

proceeded at her direction to a location which the girl stated was 

•nice and quiet•. Af'ter their arrival there, the girl got in the back 
seat ot the jeep voluntaril7 and •we started necking arotmd, like 
young tolks do, so ehe didn't resist at all, and I started to plq *** 
llith her knees*** and then she said 'No', am I rode on home• (!42). · 

It was stipulated that U Technical Sergeant E. L. Bell were present 
in court he would testify that accused had been under lli·imediate 
supervision since November ot 1943, that accused was a goOd drinr, that 
both his general reputation and his reputation tor truth and nracity 
were good and that accused, on numerous occasions, had been specific~ 
requested b7 various of'ticera on the post to act aa their driver on 
matters ot otticial business. (B4L). 

5. The testimon;y of' Mr•• Kerry, taken together 'Id.th the test~ 
ot the two physicians with reference to her condition atter the incident, 
clearl:r indicates that she was the victim of' an asaaul.t am battery on 
the ennillg in question. There was evidence that accused pushed her 

. in the back of' the vehicle, llf'ted up her clothing, asked her to •let :me 
haw a little bit of' 70U know what I mean•, and 8a1d. •I don•t nnt it 
tron other people, I want it trom ;rou.• There na also· evidence that 
accused. made repeated advances to Mrs. Kerr;r, put hie hand• under her 
clothing; touched her genital organs and atrnck her about tbe tac•. Har · 
teatimon;y 1ndieatea tha.t ehe ottered Ti.olent reaietance and made attempta 
to escape which nre thwarted. bT the accused. She denied consenting to 
hie advances. While Xra. Kerrr ~ ha.n tacitly invited certain advances 
by dancing and dr~ nki ng with accused during the enni.ng and by accepting 
hi• invitation to take her home, thie tact cl1d not juatit.r acouaed•a 
later conduct in the tace of' her protests and .resistance. There was 

, 	 ample evidence. to suppDrt the inference that the aaeault n.a accompanied 
by an intent to ban carnal knowledge of' the Tictim b7 torce and without­
her consent. The court waa, there.tore, Warranted in tlld1ng acouaed 
guilt7 ot Charge I and it& apecif'ication (CM E'l'O 2966, FombT). There 
'1'8.1 aleo substantial competent met.De• to support the tiJ:idillg of' guilty 
ot Charge II and 1ta apeci.tication (CM Ero 492, LnU). 

6. The charge sheet ehowe that accused 18 21 year• ad ten aontha 
ot age. He na 1.nducted at Fort JlcOlellan, il&bama, on 7 JuJ.T 1943, to 
serve tor the duration ot the. nr plus eix month•. He bad no prior aer­
Tice. 

·7. The court waa lee~ constituted aDd had juriedictiea ot the 
peraon and otteMH. No errors injuriouaq attecting tbe &mbatantial 
righta ot accused were committed during the trial. The Board of' Rmn 
1a ot the opinion that the record ot trial ia leg~ eutticient to 8UppQrl 
the thd1np of' guilt7 and the aentence. 
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. s. Continement in a penitentiarT is authorized tor the cr1:me 

ot assault with intent to commit rape (Alf ~J aec 'Z'/6, Federal Criminal 
Code (18 UOOA. 455)). 'l'he designation ot the Federal Retormatol"71 
Chillicothe, Ohio, is proper (Cir. 229, 111>1 8 June 1944, Sec ll, par.
la(}.),3a).- - . 

Judge Advocate 

/ ; . ' 

~-..1/_'~l;-·.-~-·~i~-·~-·~-t_..._,/_l_~_l-_.1__·_~~--J'lldgeAdvocate 
~ 
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lat Ind. 


War Department, Branch Oftice of The Judge Advocate. General 'with 

the EurOJlean Theater of' Operations 2 4 . N O\J 1944 TOa comm&nd­

ing General, Base Air Depot Area, Air Service Comm.nd, United States 

Strategic Air Forces in Europe, APO 635, u. s. J.rfq. 


l. In the case ot Prin.te GEORGE w. ALLEN ()48ll536), Section 
j,, llaintenance Division, Base Air Depot #2, attention is invited to 
the toregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record ot trial 
i• leg~ suf'f'icient to Sllpport the f'1ndings o£ guilty and the sentence, 
which holding is hereby approved. UDder the provisions of Article of 
War SOi, you now have authority to order execution ot the sentence. 

2. ltb8n copies ot the published order are forwarded to this o.ttice, 
the;r ahould be accompanied by the :foregoing holding and thia indorsement. 
The tile m.llllber ot the record in this of'f'ice is .CM Ero 1+2.~. For con­
ftnience o£ reterence pl.ease place that muaber in braokets at the end. ot 

. ! the orders (CM E'.L'O 1+2.~) • 

. JI~/ C. I

~~~/ r,,?f c.-_/ 
E. C. McNEIL, 

Brigadier 	General, United sta.tH Jrrq, 
Assistant Judge .Advocate General. 
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with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 8'2!7 

BO.ARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 11 NO'l 1944 

ClJ ETC 4292 

UNITED STATES ) VIII CORPS 

v. 

Private First Class JAMES E. 
HENDRICKS (33453189), 3326th 
Quartermaster Truck Company 

) 
) 

)~ 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at Morlai:x, 
Finistere, France, 6-7 September 
1944. Sentence: to be hanged 
by the neck until dead. 

HOLDING by BOAP..D OF REVIE'N NO. l 

Rrl'ER, SARGENT and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review, a.Ua the Board submits this its 
holding to the.Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the Branch 
Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater of Opera-
u~. . 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 
Specification: In that Privat~ First Class, 

James E. Hendricks, 3326th Quartermaster 
Truck Company, Both Quartermaster Battalion 
(Mobile), did, at Plumaudan, Cotes du Nord, 
France, on or about 21 August 1944, with 
malice aforethought, willfully, deliberate­
ly, feloniously, unlawfully, and with pre­
meditation kill one Victor Bignon, a human 
being by shooting him with a rifle. 

CHARGE II: · Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 
Specification 1. In that * * * did, at Pluma.udan, 

Cotes du Nord, France, on or about. 21 August 
1944, unlawfully enter the dwelling of 
Victor Bignon, with intent to commit a 

criminal offense, to.wit, rape therein. 
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Specification 2. In that * * * did, at Plurnaudan, 
.Cotes du Nord, France, on or about 21 August 
1944, .with intent to conunit a felony, viz: 
rape, commit an assault upon Noemie Bignon, 
by willi'ul.ly and feloniously grasping her 
and pointing a rifle at her and attempting 
to have sexual intercourse with her. 

He pleaded not guilty and, all members of the court present at the 
time the vote was taken concurring, was found guilty of all charges 
and specifications. No evidence of previous convictions was intro­
duced. All members of the court present at the time the vote was 
taken concurring, he was sentenced to be hanged by the neck until 
dead. The reviewing authority, the Commanding General, VIII Corps, 
approved the sentence and forwarded the record for action under 
Article of War 48. The confirming authority, the Conunanding General, 
European Theater of Operations, confirmed the sentence and withheld 
the order directing execution thereof pursuant to Article of War 5~. 

3. The following facts were proved by the·prosecution's evidence: 

On 21 August 1944 there resided at Percoud, in Plumaudan, 
Cotes du Nord, France, Constint Bouton and his family, consisting of 
his wife, Marie-Louise Arrot Bouton, and his three sons, Raymond, 
Charles and Rene (Rl2,37-38,84). Their habitation consisted of a 
one-room house and a cellar or basement (RlJ). . At about 11 p.m. on 
that date a colored Amer~can soldier, without permission, ente~ed the 
Bouton domicile while tbe family was present (R38,84). The soldier 
wore a raincoat, helmet and y~llow shirt and carried a gun. He was. 
thin and of average height (R40-41,85). 

He asked for 11 Madame" or 11 JVIademoiselleu (R84,85). When he 
received a negative answer he followed L'.adame Bouton about the room 
and atteopted to kiss her, but was prevented ~rom doing so by the 
action of her.husband and sons (R38-39). In order to pacify him 
the son, Raymond, gave him two eggs, which he placed in the right · 
pocket of his raincoat (R39,40,42,43,85), After receiving the eggs 
he left the house (R39,85). , 

Across the road from the Bouton domicile resided, on said 
date, Victor Bignon with hie wife, Noemie -(Bougis) Bignon, his daughter, 
Jeannine, age 18 ¥ears, and a farmer's boy, Roger Robert, age 12t 
years (R?,8,25-26). The Bignon menage consi~ted of one room. Beds 
were located in three corners or the room, which was entered by a 
single door (R8 128). At a time soon after 11 p.rn. on 21 August 1944 
the entire family was abed. A heavy knocking was made upon the 
door (RS,10126,27) accompanied by a demand to open it (RS,27). The 
voice also spoke the words "ouvrir-ouvrir-Mademoiselle", which ex· 
pression was repeated several times (Rll,i2,27). Admission to the 
house was denied the stranger. He then fired a shot through the 
door and pounded on it with the butt or his weapon {RS,27). In order 
to prevent his entrance r'.!onsieur and l!adame Bignon arose from their 
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bed and leaned and pushed against the door (F~S,9,19). About five 

minutes later a second shot was discharged throll(:h the door. 'l'he 

bullet struck Bignon on the head and he fell to the floor (R8,9,27,28). 

His death was instantaneous, as the left front area of the skull was 

blown away and part oi' his brains were spread on the floor (R6-7; Pros. 

Exs.1,2). 'l'he second shot also wounded I.!ad8Lle Bignon (R8,1S,27). 

After the fatal shot was fired the door was forced open and a black 

American soldier entered. He wore a raincoat and helmet, carried~ 


gun, and was of average size (R9,10 119,21,27,31). He grabbed the 

yotlllg woman, Jeannine, by the arm and tore her pinafore in which she 

had clad herself upon arising fror.1 her bed. The pinafore was admitt ­
ed in evidence a.s Prosecution Exhibit .3(P..17-18,27). Imr.1ediately 

thereafter I.Iadame Bignon, Jeannine and Roger Robert hurriedly left the 

Bignon house and sought refuge and protection in the Bouton house 

across the road. Bignon's body remained on the floor behind the 

open door (R9,l2,27,29). The colored soldier, carrying a gun and 

wearing a raincoat, accor.ipanied I.'.adame Bignon, Jeannine and Roger (Rl3, 

27,29). During the movenent to the Bouton house he grasped Jeannine 

h',r the arm (R29). The mother, daughter an0 Roger were adrnitted to 

the Bouton hor.1e (Rl3,29,.39) and Jeannine went into the cellax (W,29). 

The soldier encountered Charles Bouton in the court yard of the nouse 

and aimed his gun at him. The boy became frightened and ran fron 

the house. He remained hidden in a neighboring field while the 

colored man was in the house (R86). The negro entered the room of' 

the Bouton house ir.J11ediately therea~er. He was the same soldier 

who had previously visited the Bouton home and received the gift of 

two eggs (R.39,40,42). There were present in the room Hada.me (Bougis) 

Bignon, Roger Robert, and Rene Bouton (F..l.3,40). The colored man 

menaced them with his gun, forced Rene and Roger to lie on a bed and 

ordered them to "keep still". They remained passive (Rl6,40). He 

then turned his 1.ttention to Ke.Came Bignon and directed her to the bed 

upon which Rene was lying (Rl4,15,40). He attempted to nrorce her" 

(R14,40). 11 She struggled and shrieked so as to keep him away and 

not be forced 11 (R14,16,40). As soon as he entered the room he ex­
posed his penis which was erect (Rl5). Madame Bignon, in her effort 

to protect herself', grasped his penis in her hand (R15,16) and he had 

an emission (Rl6). During the course of the strugele the colored 

man raised the wooan's dress and pointed his gun at her, but did not 

succeed in securing sexual connection with her (P..16,41) nor did he 

touch her private parts (R16). The woman finally freed herself from 

her assailant when he aimed his gun at her and hid behind a table. 

The negro then left the house (Rl6,18). 


Additional evidence with resoect to the identifice..tion of ac­

cused as the perpetrator of the homcide and the concomitant offenses 

will be siu:i.marized in connection with the subsequent discussions of 

sar.ie. 


4. The accused elected to remain silent and the defense intro­
' duced no evidence (R97). 

4292 


http:Rl3,29,.39


CON Fl DENTIAL 


(224)
5. {a) Specification 1 of Charge II alleges facts constituting 

the crime of housebreaking (MOM, 1928, par.149{e), p.169). · There 
is substantial evidence that the colored soldier. who forced his we:y 
into the Bignon domicile after killing the owner entertained the 
specific intent to rape one or more of the female occupants thereof. 
Evidence of his demands for "Mademoiselle", and of his prompt attack 
upon Jeannine, the young girl, when he gained entrance, followed by 
his pursuit of the mother and daughter when they sought refuge in 
the Bouton home, coupled with his lustful actions toward Madame Bignon 
immediately thereafter, is adequate to prove the unlaw:rul. intent. 
No other inference can possibly be drawn from this evidence. The 
record is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty {CM 
ETO 78, Watts).- . 

(b) Specification 2 of Charge II charges assault with intent 
to commit rape upon the p·erson of Madame Bignon. The evidence proves 
all elements of the offense beyond reasonable doubt. No extended 
comment is necessary (CI\ll ETO .3.309, Ifil?E, and authorities therein cited). 
The fact that the man abandoned his attack before accomplishment of 
his purpose as a result of his victim's successful defense of her vir­
tue does not affect his guilt (MOM, 1928, par;l491, p.179; CM ETO 3309, 
~). 

(c) Charge I and its Specification allege the crime of mur­
der. The facts are simple and few and the legal principles involved 
are elemental. A colored American soldier, armed with a lethal wea­
pon, near the hour of midnight, sought admission to the oodest home of 
a French citizen. He accompanied his demands with loud knocks on 
the door and cries for "I~!ademoiselle". Admission being denied, he 
fired a shot through the door and atter.ipted to break it with the butt 
of his gun. The householder, llonsieur Bignon, in the defense of his 
home and his womenfolk, held_ the door from the inside by pressing 
against it. The intruder knew, or should have knovm, that some per­
son was on the opposite side of the door barring his entrance. Not­
withstanding these facts, he deliberately fired a second shot through 
the door whfoh entered Monsieur Bignon•s cranium, producing instant 
death. 

. . 
11t:urder is the unlawful killing of a human 
being with malice aforethoueht. 'Unlaw­
ful' means without legal justification or 
eS:cuse. * * *• · 

* * * * * 
"Malice aforethought may exist when the act 
·is unpremeditated. It may mean one or 
more of the following states of mind preced­
ing or co-existing with the act or omission 
by which death is caused. * * * knowledge 
that the act which causes death will prob­
ably cause the death of, or' grievous bodily 
harm to, any person, whether such person is 
the person actually killed or not, although 
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such knowledge is accompanied by indiffer­
ence whether death or grievous bodily harm 
is caused or not or by a wish that it may 
not be caused; intent to commit e.ny felony"• 
(Underscoring supplied (t.l::M, 1928, par. 
148!, pp.162-164). 

" The conviction is sustainable on the basis of two of the principles 
~bove announced. 

(1) It is manifest that the discharge of the firearm through 
the house door with knowledge that a human being was standing im­
mediately on the other side of it to prevent it being opened, was an 
act which intrinsically carried its own proof of malice aforethought. 

"The proven facts disclose an act of homi- ' 
cidal violence which inherently is of such 
vicious, brutal savagery as to carry with­
in itself proof of malice aforethought and 
therefore irrefragably stamps the offense 
murder and not manslaughter." (CM ETO 
3585, mate). 

The principle v1as discussed and approved in CM ETO 268, Ricks; CM 
ETO 422, ~j CM ETO 438, 2mllh; CM ETO 739, Maxwell; CH ETO 1901, 
Miranda; CM ETO 1922, Forester and Bryant; CM ETO 2007, Harris; CM 
ETO 31801 Porter; CM ETO 3042, ~· . 

(2) The intruder, although convicted of housebreaking only, 
waj in fact gui~ty of burglary, a felo~ (rimr, 1928, ,par.l49g, p.168). 

· · "Burglary is the breaking and entering, in 

the night, of another's dwelling house, 

with intent to commit a felony therein. 

The term 'felony• includes * * * rape * * *· 

It is inunaterial whether. the felony be 

committed or even attempted 11 .(r.1CU, 1928, 

par.l49g, p.168). 


• 
Housebreaking, of which he was convicted, is also a felony (D.C.Code, 
sec,22-1801(6155). He was in the act of committing such crime when 
_he killed Bignon. 

"Intent to kill is not a necessary element 
in the crime of murder in those cases 
where the design is to perpetrate an un­
lawi"ul act, and the homicide occurs in 
the carrying out of that purpose;- and in 
such cases it is not necessary to a con­
viction that the jury believe beyond a 

_doubt that the accused intended to kill 
the decedent, or to do him bodily harm". 
(Underscoring supplied) (1 Wharton's 

Criminal Law - 12th Ed., sec.420, p.632). 4292 
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Upon this theory the intruder was guilty of murder (CI.1 ETO 1453, 
Fowler). . 

6. (a) The c~cial issue in the case revolves about the ques­
tion of identification of the colored soldier who murdered Bignon 
while breaking and entering his domicile and who thereafter, in the 
Bouton home, assaulted Madame Bignon with intent to rape her. The 
same soldior·committed all of the crimes. The French civilians 
involved, and who appeared as ·witnesses, were unable to make identi ­
fication of accused as the culprit (R.31,4.3 1 881 89) 1 although f!.adame 
Bignon testified that accused'"looks like him*** resembles him 
(referring to the assailant), but I cannot tell for certain" (R23). 
In order to meet this situation the prosecution introduced the follow­
ing evidence to support the charge that it was the accused who com­
mitted these crimes: · · 

Rene Bouton and Charles Bouton testified that the colored 
soldier who visited the Bouton home early in the evening received two 
eggs from their brother, Raymond, which he plac~d in the right pocket 
of his raincoat (R40,43,85). 

Lieutenant Charles F. Micha.els, 3326th Qua.rterma.ster Truck 
Company, was the supply officer of the company. He testified that 
when accused cB.l'le to the compa11y an M-l rifle 1 bearing serial number 
2296283, was issued to him (RLi4,45). He identified Prosecution 
Exhibit 6 (R45) as accused's rifle. There were also issued to ac­
cused 50 rounds of .30 caliber ammunition for use in his rifle ·(R46). 
In connection with the loading o~ the rifles the following instruc­
tion was issued to the company& · 

"* * * in the M-l rifle, the men would ca:rry 
seven rounds of anunuiiition in the rifle. A 
full clip of eight would necessitate one 
round being in the cha.r.iber. As a safety 
·precaution, we instructed the men to carry 
only 7 rounds in.the rifle in order to en­
able the rifle not to have a round in the · 
chamber.· Only 7 rounds were the instruc­
tions. * * * The ammunition was to be put in 
the gun, but the bullet was to remain out of 
the chamber and the safety was to remain on. 

If, at any time, that they thought they had 
need to put a round in the chamber". (R46, 
48). 

Lieutenant Donald F. Tucker·, commanding officer of 3326th 
Quartermaster Truck Company on and prior to 21 August 1944, testified 
that about.11:30 p.m. on 21August1944, he was in bed. He hea:rd 
two nwell spaced shots and some screams". • He arose, secured a de­
tail of eight men and went to investigate. The company on that date 
was located about a mile north of Plumauda.n. As he and his detach­
ment advanced, loud shouts and screams were hea:rd emanating from a side 
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road, which they entered. A light was seen in a house, the door of 
which was open (R47-48). A soldier, who spoke French, called into 
the house, but there was no response. A noise was heard in an ad­
joining hedge. Lieutenant Tucker challenged twice but received no 
answer. A man came out of the hedge. Shots were fired and the 
man took cover in the ditch. One of the corporals recognized the 
man as the accused. When "picked up" he was ten yards .from the 
house which was the home of a family named "Bougis" ( 11Bougis" was the 
maiden name of Madame Bignon (R25) ). It was about midnight (R50). 
When asked by Lieutenant Tucker why he was out of camp accused replied 
that he was 

"on the water detail, and he had gone to 
take a leak, and the truck had gone off 
and.le.ft him, and he was trying to .find 
his wq back to camp" (R51). 

Lieutenant Tucker knew that statement was .false and so informed accus­
ed (R52). 

) 
, Accused said 

"he was walking on the road with Privates 
Nichols and Earls, and he was endeavoring 
to get back to camp when we found him.fl 
(R52). 

As the detail was about to leave, one of the soldiers looked 
in ihe door of the house and saw the body of a man. There was tta 
hole in the top of the head, and what appeared to be brains on the 
floor". Lieutenant Tucker inspected accused's rifle. It had been 
.fired recently and there were but five shells in it. Prosecution 
Exhibit 6 (the rifle) was the gun which accused had that night (R52­
53). He .further questioned accused as to his knowledge of events. 
Accused denied a:n:y knowledge (R59,67). Accordingly, Lieutenant 
Tucker directed him, 11 Go look through the door at the body".· Accus­
ed did so and then returned and sat on his helmet. 

"After sitting there a .few moments, I talk-· 
ed with him again, and I told him if he 
was involved in any wa;:r to let me know; and 
I also told him that whatever he told me 
could be used against him in a court mar­
tial. Then he began to shiver like he 
had a chill, and he said, 1! 111 tell you 
what I know about it.• Then he told ·me 
about getting lost and finding this house. 
Then he told me about getting to this 
house and knocking on the door, and nobody 
answered, and he .fired a round through the 
door. He knocked again, and nobody 
answered, and he fired another round 
through the door. 
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"Q. Then what happened? · 

"A I asked him what happened then, and he 
said he didn 1 t remember anything until he 
heard us coming up the road." (R59,60,77). 

Lieutenant Tucker had previously warned accused of his riehts ·to re­
mai~ silent, made no promises of immunity to him, nor did he threaten 
him (R68,75). . . 

About 2:30 a.m., 22 August, accused was taken to the 
military police headquarters in Dinan, where Lieutenant Naiser, the 
military police officer, examined and searched him. A' clip of five 
bullets was removed from accused's gun (R53,61). They were identi­
fied and· admitted in evidence as Prosecution Exhibit 7 (R55). At 
the Bignon house Lieutenant Tucker found, during an investigation by 
French police on 22 August (R33), two empty .30 caliber machine gun 
shells.· One was discovered on the steps in front of the door, and 
one about two feet to the right of the door. They v1ere of the type 
used in an M-l or .JO rifle (R62-64). The shells were introduced 
in evidence as Prosecution Exhibit 8 (R62). 

Accused wore a raincoat when encountered. He removed it. 
and delivered it to Lieutenant Tucker. It was untidy and had what 
appeared to be blood stains on the left hand side of the collar and 
lapel (a55). At the military police station that coat was search­
ed and there was an egg (R95-96; Pros.Ex.10) and one round of ammuni­
tion in the pocket. "Dog tags" bearing number 33453189 and the · · 
name of James E. Hendricks, a billfold and accused's pay book were 
also removed fro'm his person at the military police station (R57-58). 
After receiving warning as to his right to remain silent, accused was 
questioned by Lieutenant Naiser, in Lieutenant Tucker's presence 
(R6l), who reported the interview as follows: 

"Lt Naiser was doing the questioning. He 
asked Hendricks whether or not he fired the 
rifle, and Hendricks told him that he had 
gotten lost and had gone to this house to 
try.to get directions back to camp. As he 
approached the door, he stumbled. When he 
stumbled, he dropped his rifle and it went 
off. · He reached down to put the safety 
on his rifle, and it went off again. Then 
he tells he went over to this house across 
the road, and in this house an old lady 
gave him some cider. He drank the cider, 
and that's all he remembers until we picked 
him up. 11 (R60,77)., 

Simone Deniel, a chemist's assistant employed at the Llorlaix 
Hospital and an expert in blood tests and detection, testified that 
she had tested the stains found on the raincoat taken from accused 
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.(R89-91; Pros.Ex.9) and found that they were blood. She also dis­
covered on accused's rifle (R45; Pros.Ex.6) "very, very feeble 
traces" of what might be blood (R92).. She was unable to deter­
mine whether_ the blood was that of human origin (R93). 

(b) The duty of the Board of Review in considering the issue 

as to the identity of the assailant in the instant case is to examine 

the record of trial for the purpose of determining whether there is 

~ompetent, substantial evidence that accused was the perpetrator of 


_the crimes which were proved beyond reasonable doubt (CM ETO 3200, 
~' and authorities therein cited). · 

The inculpatory facts which are summarized above were un­
contradicted. They form a matrix of evidence which beyond reason­
able doubt inculpates accused. The instant case is illustrative.of 

the strength of so-called circumstantial evidence when properly con­
nected and presented to the court. It possesses ~nherent trust­
worthiness and reliability which is even more convincing than person­

al identification by witnesses (CI.I ETO 2686, Brinson and Smithl. 

Particularly is this true where the witnesses are not familiar with 

negro·characteristics and faces, as in the instant case. 


The Board of Revie~, therefor~, concludes that the record of 
trial contains evidence of a most substantial character identifying 
accused as the colored American soldier who broke and entered the · 
Bignon house, killed the master thereof and thereafter assaulted his 
wife with intent to rape her. 

"With this evidence before the court, it was 
its province and duty to evaluate it, judge 
of the cred~bility of witnesses and reach a 
determination whether the accused was the 
man who committed this atrocious crime. The 
evidence identifying him as the culprit was 
substantial and its reliability and trust­
worthiness are unimneached. · Under such 
circumstances, the findirig of the court will 
be accepted as conclusive and final upon 
appellate review" (CH ETO 3375, Tarnley). 

The Tarpley case is sustained by CI.I ETO 492, ~; CM ETO 503, Rich­
~; CM ETO 531, McLurkin; CM ETO 559., Monsalve; CM ETO 1621, . 
Leatherbem; CM ETO 2686, Brinson and Smith; .CM ETO 3200 1 ~). 

7. The charge sheet shows accused to be 21 years four months of 

age, and that he was inducted 1 February 1943, to serve for the dura­
tion of the war plUB six months. He had no prior service. 


8. The coiirt was legally constituted and h~ jurisdiction of 
the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Rev~ew is _of the opin~on that the record of trial is legally 
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sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 


· 9. The penalty for murder is death or life imprisonment, as the 
. court-martial may direct (AW 92)'. 

,I 

~_,..._____...__._"""~-Judge Advocate · 

~~~~2'::::'.-4L:::;j~~~~~··~:-~·~;udge Advocate 

..!~;(~- Judge Advocate . 
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·1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office. of The Judge J.dvocate General. with the 

European Theater of Operations. 11 NOV 1944 ' TO: Commanding 

General., European Theo.tar of Operations, APO 887, U. S. Army• 


.·. 

1. In the case of Private Fil-st Class JAMES E. EENDRICKS 

(33453189); 3326th Quartermaster Truck Company, attention is .invited 

to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record of 

trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and 

the sentence, which holdiny is hereby approved. Under the provi-· 

sions of Article of War 5Qi, you now have authority to order execution 

of the sentence. 


2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 

office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding, this in­

dorsement, and the record of trial which is delivered to you herewith. 

The file number of the record in this office is CM E'!'O 4292. For 

convenience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the 

end of the order: (CM ETO 4292). 


3. Should the sentence as imposed by the court and confirmed by 

you be Ca?Tied into execution, it is requested that a full copy of. 

the proceedings be forwarded to this office in order that its files 


lmay be. _co.inplete. 

//tP;t!ky 
. E!... C. l\IcNEIL, 

Brigadier General,· United States Arar:1, 
Assistant Judge .Advocate General. 

(Sentence ordered executed. GCW 109, ETO, 19 Nov 1944) 





CONFIDENTIAL 
(2.3.3)Branch Of'tiee or The Judge Advocate General 

with the ·, 
European Theater or Operations 

APO 887 

BOARD OF REVlEW NO. 2 

CM ETO ~93 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

Chief Warrant Officer 
WALTER S. HOWARD, 
(W-2108159), Headquarters 
Communications Zone, Ordnance 
Service. 

~ 0 NOV 1944 

HEADQUARTERS, COMMUlUCATIONS ZONE, 
EUROPEAN THEATER OF. OPERATIONS. 

Trial by GCM, convened at Chelten­
ham, Gloucestershire, England, 4 
September 1944. Sentence: Dis­
honorable discharge, total torfei: ­
ture1J and confinement at hard labor 
tor two years. Eastern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York. 

HOIDING b.J' BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SIEEPER, Judge Advocates 

1. The record or trial in the case or the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board or Review. 

2. Accused w~s tried upon the following Charge and specifications: 

CHARGE: Violation or 94tJi Article of War. 

Specification ls In that Chief Warrant Officer Walter s . 
.	Howard, Headquarters, Communications Zone, Ordnance 
Service, European Theater of Operations, did, at 
Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, England, on or about 1 
February 1944, wrongf'ully and knowingly sell ten 
wrist watches of the value of about $170.00, property 
ot the United States, furnished and int&nd~d tor the · 
military service thereof. · 

Specification 2i In that * * . * did, at Cheltenham, 
Gloucestershire, England, on or about 1 February 
1944, wrongf'ully and knowingly- sell two typewriters 
of the value or more than $50.00, property ot the 
United States,i'\lrnished and intended for the military 
service thereof. 4293 
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Specification 3: In that * * * did, at Cheltenham, 

Gloucestershire, England, on or about 1 April 

1944, wrongtully and knowingly sell twenty wrist 

watches of the value of about $340.00 property of 

the United States, i'urnished and intended for the 
military service thereof. 

Specification 4: In that * * * did, at Cheltenham, 
Gloucestershire, England, on or about 1 Jult 1944, 
wrongfully and knowingly dispose or, by gi:rt to 
Herbert Leslie Dickenson, a British civilian, two 
Elgin wrist watches of the value of about $24.00, 
property of the United States, i'urnished and intenqed 
for the military service thereof. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and speci­
•fications. 	 No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. He 
was sentenced to be dishonorabl7 discharged the service, to forfeit all 
pay and allowances due or to become due and to be confined at hard 
labo~ at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for two years. 
The reviewing authority approved only so much of the findings of guilty 
of Specifications 1, 2 and 3 as involves the wrongf'ul sale, and, of 
Specification 4, the wrongful disposition by gift, of government property, 
furnished and intended for the Military- use thereof, described and 

.valued in the respective specifications as follows: 

In Specification 1, two wrist watches .o~ a value 
of about $23.95; in Specification 2, two type­
writers of some value not in excess of $20.00; 
in Specification 3, one wrist watch of a value 
of about $'9.00; and in Specification 4, two 
Elgin wrist watches of a value of $18.00; 

approved the findings of guilty of the Charge and the sentence, de­

signated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, 

Greenhaven, New York as the place of confinement and forwarded the 
record of trial for action pursuant to the provisions of Article of 
War 50!-. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution shows that: :Austin Edward 

Smith, manager of the Corner Club in Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, Eng­

land, on or about 1 February 1944, bought first a single watch and then 

another one or two, from accused (RS). Later he bought ten watches~. 

brought to him by accused in small boxes. Eight watches were sold by 

Smith to a Mr. Manners and two to a Mr. Snelling. Smith paid accused 

three pounds each for them (R9) in payments of five or ten pounds at a 

time. Smith, as a witness, identified in court, Exhibits A-7 and A-8 

as watches he got from accused and which he .(Smith) -"handed them in 

mysel.r". Smith testitied that about 15 March {RlO) accused "brought 
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them" a typewriter to the club which he bought and paid accused for 
and that about six weeks later he bought another typewriter from ac­
cused who "brought it down on a cycle and brought it into the club." 
Smith did not open the box but sold the typewriter to Bert Manners, 
a butcher, for 20 pounds {Rll) having paid accused 16 pounds for it. 
The other typewriter was purchased from accused and sold to Manners 
in a similar way without Smith opening the bo:x:. About the first of 
May, Smith got another 20 watches from accused (R12) who brought . 
them to Smith in installments. Smith did not examine them but they 
were in boxes similar to Exhibits C-1, C-2 and C-3 which he identi­
fied in court as watches he had purchased from accused. These watches 
had 11USA11 or "Ord" and numbers on the back (Rl.3). Smith testified to 
buying these ten watches, two type?iriters and 20 watches fromccused 
at a price of "from two pounds up, and the first one was three pounds 
ten," for each watch (Rl.4). Smith knew accused "fairly well" as they 
"used to have a drink together" (RlS). Smith opened only two or three 
o:f the watches, the rest were in sealed boxes but he saw then: when the 
people to whom he sold them opened them (B21). He bought no watches 
from anyone other than accused (R22). 

E. J. Snelling, a transport driver, testified that he bought 
four watches from Austin E. Snti.th and positively identified ExhibitG-4 
as one he had worn and Exhibits C-1, C-2, and C-3 as similar to the 
watches he got from Smith (R21-25) and which he recovered and turned 
over to the police when told by the police they wanted them (R25-26). 

Ivan B. J. Manners testified he knew accused "by sight" and 
identified him {R26). · He bought eight watches and two typewriters from 
Smith and returned them to the police. He identified Exhibit A-1 as 
like seven watches he had bought wrapped up and Exhibit A-S as a Hamil­
ton wrist watch of the type of the other seven. He bought the type­
writers, a Royal and an Underwood on two occasions and identified 
Exhibits B-1 and B-2 as the ones in question which he had used in his 
office and which he had turned over to the police (R26-30). 

Herbert D. Dickenson, a Cheltenham butcher, testified that 
accused was a customer of his shop and about the first part of July ac­
cusad made him a gift of two wrist watches (Exhibit D) which watahes 
he turned over to the police (R30-36). 

A stipulation by accused, defense counsel and the trial judge 
advocate to the effect that if Technician Fourth Grade ~alter o. Ronson, 
(35798273), Headquarters Detachment, European Theater of Operations, 
Ordnance Service, were present in cou.rt he would testify that as a member 
of the Administration Section of Ordnance Service, as above, at Chelten­
ham, England, in 1943, he drew from the post quartermaster for the 
Ordnance Service two typewriters, an Underwood, serial No. 224099 and a 
Royal 1011 , serial No. X555754, and 
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If Detective Sergeant H. J. Price were present in court 
he would testify that Exhibits A-1 to A-3 inclusive were handed to 
the police by Bert !ilanners, together with Exhibits B-1 and B-2. 
Exhibits C-1 to C-4 inclusive were delivered to the police by E. J. 
Snelling and that Exhibit D consisting of two Elgin watches were 
turned over to the police by H. L. Dickenson, all in the month of 
July 1944 (R36-37). 

Major c. P. MacDonald, Ordnance, was assigned to the office 
of Chief Ordnance Officer or which section accuaed was a member (R38). 
He testified that accused's duty, among other things, consisted in the 
co-ordinating and requisitioning of materials. Exhibit A-5 was opened 
and identified by him as a 7 Jewel Elgin Ordnance watch, government 
property, an "item of T/E equipment" which cannot be bought and is 
issued only to special people. Exhibits C-1, C-2, C-3, C-4, D, and A-1 
to A-8 inclusive were all identified by witness as Ordnance watches 
and property or the United States Government for use in the military 
service. A Hamilton 17 jewel watch, witness valued at $14.95 and the 
7 jewel Elgin at about 09.00 (R38-40). None of them were obsolete pro­
perty or sub~ect to general sale (R41). These watches are for requisi ­
tion from staff sections and higher headquarters and no formal record 
of them is kept and issues were made without receipt. Exhibit A-1 to 
A-8; B-1 and ·B-2; C-1 to C-4 inclusive and EXhibit D were a.Widtted in 
evidence. The court took judicial notice or AR 30-2720, paragraph 4, 
limiting the cost in the purchase of typewriters (R44). 

4. Accused remained silent after having his rights as a witness 
explained to him. No evidence was produced in his behalf. · 

5. To convict accused or the offenses charged it must be shown 

11 (a) 	 That the accused sold or disposed or certai:':l propert,' 
in the manner alleged; 

(b) . 	that such property belonged to the United States and 
that it was f'urnished or intended for the military 
service thereof; 

(c) 	 the facts and circumstances of the cas'e indicating 
that the act of accused was wrongf\il.ly or knowingly 
done; and 

(d) 	 the value of tb~ :;-iroperty as alleged" (~~M,1928, par. 
150j., p.185) •. 

The evidence clearly sustains the findings of guilty of BO much of 
each specification as was approved by the reviewing authority. 

6. The check sheet shows accused to.be 36 years four months or 
age. He enlisted in March 1932 and has had continuous service; 'llarrant 
as Junior Warrant Officer 30 December 42 and as Chief Warrant Officer 
7 J·uly 1943. 4293 
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7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
. the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­

stantial rights or accused were committed during the trial. The Board 
of Review is ot the opinion that the record or trial is legally suffi ­
cient to support the findings ot guilty as approved and the sentence. 

8. Conviction of a sale of government property of a value of 

less than $20. m~ be punished by confinement at hard labor for not 

to exceed six months. There are four separate offenses herein, one 

involving property of a value of $23.95 0CM1 1928, par.104.g, p.100). 

Confinement in the United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 

New York, is proper (AW 42; Cir 2101 WD, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.II, par.2~ 

as amended). 


Judge Advocate 
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l 

1st Ind. 

vrar nepartMent, Branch Office of The Judg_e Advocate General With the 
European Theater of Operations. 3 V NOV 1944 TO: Com­
manding General, Headquarters Cornnrunications Zone, European Theater of: 
Operations, ~O 887, u. s. Army. 

1. In th~ case of Chief Warrant Officer WALTER S. HOWAIU), 
(W-2108159), Headquarter~ Communications Zone, Ordnance Service, atten• 
tion is invited to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that 
the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty as approved and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. 
Under the provisions of Article of War Sot, you now have authority to 
order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 
4293. For convenience of reference, please place that number in 
brackets at the end of the order: (CM E!0'4293). 

ftlfltk1i .~~~ E. C. Mc.NEIL, 
Brigadier General, United States Army, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
I 
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(239)Branch 0£tice ot The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 0£ Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 2 9 NOV 1944 
CM ETO 42.94 

UNITED STATES )' NINTH UNITED STATF.s ARMY 
) 

) Trial by GCM, convened at Morlaix, 


l France, 23-24 September 19.44. 
Privates First Class WlLLIAM E. Sentences: As to accused Davis ­
DAVIS (3.3541888) and J. C. POTTS To be hanged by' the ~ until 
(34759592), both of Jl2lst ) dead; as to accused Potts - Dis­

l 
Quartermaster Service Company ) honorable discharge, total for­

feitures and confinement at hard 
labor for life. United States 
Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsyl­
vania. 

HOLDING BY BOJIRD OF FXVIEW NO. l 

Rrl'IB, SARGENT and STEVEUS, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldiers named above 
has been examined by' the Board ot Review, and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of 
the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European. 
Theater ot Operations. 

2. Accused were tried jointly upon the following charges and 
specifications: 

CHARGE I 1 Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private First Class William E. 
Davis and Private First Class J. c. Potts, both 
of 3l2lst Quartermaster Service Company-, 563rd 
Quartermaster Battalion, acting jointly, and in 
pursuanee of a conunon intent, did, at Guiclan, 
Finstere, France, on or about 22 August 19.44, with 
malice aforethought, will.f'ully, deliberately felon• 
iously, unlaw.t\tlly, and with premeditation, kill 
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one Germaine Pouliquen, a humBll being, by 
shooting her with a rifle. 

CHARGE II1 Violation of the 9Jrd Article of War. 
acting jointly, and in pursuance or a 

Specifications In that * * */did, at Guiclan, common intent, 
Finstere, France, on or about 22 Au.gust l9M+, 
with intent to commit a felony, viz, rape, 
commit an assault upon Germaine Pouliquen, 
by will.f'ully, forcibly, and feloniously hold­
ing her and attempting to have carnal knowledge 
or her. 

Each accused pleaded not guilty to and was fO'Wld guilty of both 
charges and their specifications, all of the members of the court 
present at the ti.me the vote was taken concurring in the case of 
accused Davis, and at least two-thirds of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring in the case of 
accused Potts. No evidence of previous convictions of either ac­
cused was introduced. All members of the court present at the 
time the votes were taken concurring, accused Davis was sentenced 
to be hanged by the neck until dead, and accused Potts was sentenced 
to be dishonorably discharged the service, ~o forfeit all pay and 
allowances due or to become due, and to be coni'ined at hard labor, 
at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for the term of 
his natural life. 

The reviewing authority, the Commanding General, Ninth United 
·states Army, approved the sentence as to accused Davis and forwarded 
the record of trial for action under Article of War J.Z, approved the 
sentence as to accused Potts, designated the United States Penitentiary, 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, aa the place of confinement of this accused, 
and forwarded the record of trial for action pursUBllt to Article of 
War 50i. The confirming authority, the Commanding General, European 
Theater of Operations, confirmed the sentence as to accused Davis, 
and withhel~ the order directiny execution thereof pursuant to the 
provisions of Article of War 5(}2• 

.3. The evidence for the prosecution was substantially as follcms: 

On 22 August 1944, Jacques Pouliquen, 28 years of age, lived 

at Locmenven, Guiclan, Department of Finistere, France, with his wife 

Germaine (the deceased), age 2.3, and one daughter who was two and a 

half years old. The Pouliquens had been happily married for about 

three years (R7,l71 24-25,36). Living near the Pouliquens were Mesdames 

Jacquette Roue and Jeanne Kergoat (Rl7 ,20-21) and ~fonsieur Ernest 

Keruzec (R48,67). A map or "pla.cque" or the neighborhood was admitted 

in evidence, the d~fense stating there was no objection thereto (RS; 

Ex. 2). 


CONFIDENTIAL 4294 
- 2 ­



CONFIDENTIAL 

On 22 August, after the evening meal which occurred (241) 
about 5 pm four colored soldiers, namely, Private First Class 
Leroy Bowles of accuseds' company, a soldier named Ira Isabelle, 
and both accused, left camp and visited a farm where they helped 
some French people "tote in some hay11 and carry some seeds "up­
stairs of the barnn. They were given cider during the time they 
worked (R8-ll). The evidence indicated that the farm they- visited 
was that of one Francois Gestin, and that Pouliquen, Ernest Keruzec, 
Louis Quiviger, Michel Gestin and other French civilians worked 
there at the time (R25-26,44-45,48,60). The farm of Francois Gestin 
was not far from the area shown on Ex.2 (Rl6-l?). 

Bowles testified that the four soldiers then left the farm 
and started up the road. They then came to the Pouliquen house where 
they stood at point B on Ex. 2 and saw a woman in the yard at point 
A (Rll-12). Potts went into the yard, talked with her and then 
entered the Pouliquen house, followed by the woman. Davis and witness 
remained in the yard and Isabelle went up to the door and.said "Come 
on, let's go". Potts left the house and the four soldiers walked 
toward the Kergoat house on their way back to camp. On the wey Bowles 
observed an old lady (f1!adame Roue) in her yard. When they reached 
point C on Ex. 2, they stopped and accused Davis said that he was 
"going down there and see could he get anything from this lady" 
(iiadame Pouliquen). Bowles and Isabelle returned to camp and accused, 
Potts and Davis, armed with carbines, returned in the direction fror:i 
whence they came (Rl3-15). Witness did not enter the Pouliquen house 
nor did he know what happened therein (Rl5) • He was paid at camp 
about 9 pm and saw Davis Potts at camp later during the evening (P.16). 

On the same evening Ma.dame Roue, 57 years of age, noticed 
four black soldiers cross the fields near her house and go down the 
road marked "Path" on Ex. 2. She went to obtain water and upon her 
return saw one black soldier aim his gun at l•~adame Pouliquen (the 
deceased) who stood at a point marked D on Ex. 2 about four feet aw~­
£rom the soldier. Deceased called for help, asked Ma.dame Roue to 
secure deceased's husband, and said 11 they are about to kill me". It 
was about 8 pm. Another soldier who was on "the brim" of the rec.cl, 
"made a sign" for Madame Roue to pass on and she went to the horae of 
Madame Kergoat (Ex. 2). The four colored soldiers were the only one:.:; 
Madame Roue saw that evening (Rl?-20). 

As a result of her conversation with Ma.dame r..oue, Ma.dame 
Kergoat went immediately to the Gestin farm where Pouliquen, Quiviger, 
Ernest Keruzec and Michel Gestin were threshing, and the four men.:im­
mediately hastened to the Pouliquen home (R2l1 26,44,491 60-6l). Madame 
Kergoat followed the four Frenchmen and when she reached the crucifix 
on Ex. 2, she saw a black soldier seize Madame Pouliquen by the shoulder 
and throw her to the ground. Madame Kergoat then went to the home or 
Ernest Keruzec and en route heard some shots. Less than ten minutes 
after Maria.me Kergoat saw Madame Pouliquen thrown to the ground, the 
latter was brought wounded to the Keruzec home (R22·24). · 

4294 
- 3 ­

http:Maria.me


CONFIDENTIAL 


{242) 

As Pouliquen approached his house with the other three 

men f'rom the direcition o:f' the crucif'ix, he heard his rlfe scream 

when he was at point E on Ex. 2 (R26-27). He entered the house 

and saw his wife lying across the width of the bed, her legs 

hanging over the edge, and her dress, pulled up :f'ar enough to 

expose the upper part o:f' her legs. A black soldier, standing on 

a stool, was on top o:f' her between her legs. He held her left arm 

under her back. Madame Pouliquen, who weighed about 60 "kilos", 


_ tried to push him away with her right hand. Another soldier held 
her feet. A third soldier who was in the center of. the room held 
Pouliquen's daughter by ~ hand, and a fourth soldier stood near 
the door (R28-30,38). His wife asked Pouliquen to take her out o:f' 
the house (R.30). He pulled the black soldier from his wife and 
observed at that time that his private parts were exposed. The 
soldier put his penis back in his trousers and the other soldier 
released his hold on her feet (R.30-31,39)'. Pouliquen identif'ied 
accused Davis, the "darkest one", as the soldier who was on top of 
his wife, and accused Potts as the soldier who held her feet (R.31). 
Davis then "came after" Pouliquen and aimed a gun at him which had 
been' picked up from against a cupboard by either the soldier who 
held his daughter, or by the soldier who stood near the door. 
Pouliquen fled from the house .followed by his wife and daughter. 
One or two soldiers were then outside in the yard (R31-34,38-39,40). 
Pouliquen ran toward the corner of the Rou.e house and then between 
the Roue house and his own toward the road. Two shots were fired 
at him and a bullet hit the wall o:f' the Roue house above his head. 
He heard his wife scream, returned to tm corner between the two 
houses and saw his rlfe lying on the ground at point D on Ex. 2. 
She had not been shot at that time. He then ran back between the 
two houseJ, jumped over the hedge into the road shown at the top 
of Ex. 2 and ran dovm toward the crucifix. Just before he reached 
point F on Ex. 2 he heard two more shots, stopped and saw Davis and 
Potts standing in the road at points E and H on Ex. 2. He saw Davis 
who faced in the direction of the crucif'ix. Davis aimed at the de­
ceased who fell into a ditch at point_G (R.32-34,36-371 39,.41-42). 
Pouliquen lifted his wife from the ground and with Gestin, took her 
to the home of Ernest Keru.zec on Ex. 2. She appeared to be suf'fering 
great pain, said that she was wounded in the abdomen and that she was 
"done for". The incident occurred about 8 pm, French time, and 9 pm 
American time (R34-35,39). Pouliquen was positive in his identifica­
tion of both accused (R.36,.41-42). It was sufficiently light so that 
he could distinguish the faces of the soldiers in the house, even 
though there was no artitidial light therein (R39). 

Louis Quiviger testified that wb!n he reached the Pouliquen 
house he saw Pouliquen enter and remove a black soldier from within. 
Quiviger did not go beyond the threshold and did not see arvone en­
deavoring to have intercourse with Madame Pouliquen. Another black 
soldier who was within the house aimed a gun at Quiviger, who fled 
across the field to Gestin's house. He heard about eight or nine 
shots but did not see who fired then. At the trial, Quiviger want 
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over to a line of six colored soldiers and identified Davis as 
the soldier who threatened witness with a gun, and was positive 
in his identif'ication. Quiviger testified that Davis was not the 
soldier who was pushed out of the house by Poullquen (R44-47). 

When Ernest Keruzec ran toward the Poullquen house he 
heard Madame Poullqu.en scream when he was at point J (R49-50), and 
then saw her leave the house (R501 53). He saw tour colored soldiers 
at the house and observed Pouliquen pull one soldier out of his 
home. Keruzec also saw ano:t;her soldier leave the house (R5l). 
When Keruzec arrived at the door 

"the black took their guns. When we saw that 
we went awey running. We saw them aiming at 
us 11 (R50). 

After he ran about 40 meters Xeruzec observed that Mada.me Poul.i­
qu.en followed after him. When Keruzec reached the road intersec­
tion shown on Ex. 2 he heard a shot and a buJ.let whistled. He 
looked back and saw that a soldier who stood at point K aimed a 
gun at them. They continued to run. A second shot was fired and 
Keruzec saw Madame Pouliquen fall in a ditch at point L. At this 
time Keruzec was at point N and Pouliquen at Point M. Keruzec re­
mained near her for a few seconds and then went for a doctor 
(R50-5l,53-57j. He heard seven or eight shots in all, two or three 
of which were fired in his direction (R52-53). At the trial Keru- .. 
zec went to a line of six colored soldiers and identified accused 
Davis as the soldier who witness saw fire at Mada.me Pouliquen 
(R5l-52). Although Keruzec did not turn around after the second 
shot was fired (R56), Davis was the only one who stood in the road 
when witness turned around and saw him about one minute before the 
woman was shot (R54). Witness also identified, from among the six 
colored soldiers, accused Potts as one of the soldiers wpom he saw 
that eveni?ig at the Pouliquen house before witness ran awa:y (R52-53).­
Davis was the onJ.i soldier Keruzec saw af'ter the latter fled f'rom 
the house (R53). Keruzec was positive in his identification of both 
accused. The shooting occurred about 8 pm French time and 9 pm Amer­
ican time (R57). Both accused and two other soldiers observed the 
threshing in the afternoon (R56-57). 

Michel Gestin also, upon his arrival, saw four colored 
soldiers at the Pouliquen home (R62) and saw Pouliquen enter the 
house and drag out a black soldier (R61). One of the soldiers 

"threatened us with his gun, then we ran towards 
the Roue farm and we jumped on the road; then 
one fired and hit :the wall of the house; then we 
sta:yed a while on the road and came toward the 
Gestin farm" (R6l). 
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When Gestin reached point P on Ex. 2 he heard a shot lwd saw 
,,, 

Madame 
Poullqu.en f'all at point G. He saw that the "darkest" of the f'our 
soldiers stood on the road at point J and aimed a gun in her direc­
tion (R61-64). Madame Pouliqu.en appeared to suf'fer great pain, 
moaned, and said "The blacks have killed me" (R64-65). Witness lJ!l­
mained in the road about two minutes, after which he saw no soldiers. 
He, Pouliquen and two others then took the wounded woman to Ernest 
Keruzec•s house (R61-62,6J-64). The following collo~ occurred on 
direct examination of' witness1 

•Q. 	 Mr. Gestin, do you think that you would 
recognize sxr:f of' the men that you saw at the 
Pouliquen house at about the time that this 
shooting occurred if you were to see them 
again? 

A. 	 Yes. Three. 

Q. 	 I'll ask you to stand up and face 6 soldiers 
lined up over there and tell the court whether 
you see among those 6 men any of the men that 
you saw at the Pouliquen house at about the 
time this shooting occurred. 

A. 	 Yes. 

Q. 	 How many men do you see among the 6 men that 
you are now looking at that you saw at the 
Pouliquen house the night of the shooting? 

A. 	 Two. 

Q. 	 Will you step over to the 6 men and put your 
hand on the shoulder ot each of' the two men 
that you see there that you saw at the 
Pouliquen house at the time of this shooting? 

A. 	 (Witness responded by walking over to the 6 
colored soldiers touching two of them on 
their shoulders). • 

TJA1 I would like to have the record show that 
the witness has placed his hand on the 
shoulder of J. c. Potts; likewise, to have 
the record show that the witness has placed 
his hand on the shoulder of William E. Davis. 

Q. 	 Now, Mr. Gestin, are you absolutely sure that 
the two men that you have picked out over 
there were the same two men that you saw 
immediately before or after the time of this 
shooting? 
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A. Yes" (R63-64). 

When Francois Keruzec, brother or Ernest Keruzec, arrived 
at the latter's home on that evening, Madame Poullquen was on a mat­
tress on the rloor.. She appeared to be suffering great pain. In the 
car on the wa:y to a hospital at Morla.ix she said to Francois that 
she "had a vecy sad death•, and that she "had been violated11 (R67-69). 
At the Morlaix hospital an operation was performed upon Ma.dame PouliqU;en 
but as it was determined that she was in a dying condition and beyond 
medical aid, the incision was closed. She was not examined. "for rape". 
It was stipulated by the prosecution, defense and accused that she died 
23 August as the result of a bullet wound, that the bullet entered the 
lower left-hand quadrant or the abdominal cavity and emerged from th~ 
left buttock, and that the wound was inflicted 22 August 1944 (R7-8;' 
Ex.l). She died at the home or her mother in Guiclan in the Depart­
ment of Finistere (R25). 

l 

Captain Robert L. Sloss, 543rd Quartermaster Group, ap­
pointed investigating officer, interviewed both accused and warned 
them as to their rights. Davis then made. a statement and Potts 
listened to it and "concurred in it". The statement was reduced to 
writing and signed by both accused on 9 September. It was admitted 
in evidence over the objection of the defense, the prosecution re­
questing the law member to advise the court 

"that the part or this statement that 
concerns Davis can be construed and taken 
against him and that part against Potts, 
against Potts only" (R?l-73; Ex. 3). 

Corporal Richard Booker, 5llth Military Police Battalion, 
testified that on 28 AUcaust he investigated the incident, went to 
the scene, secured three witnesses and took them "through three dif­
ferent {quartermaster) companies". Ea.ch witness "picked out" Davis, 
Potts and Bowles. The line-ups consisted of colored troops and 

•At 	no time during the line up did the one 
witness see who the other witness was picking 
out" (R74-75). 

Booker fUrther testified that when questioned the men denied "being 
there". About two days later Isabelle was questioned and 

"We * * * found out that these three other 
colored soldiers had been at the farm so 
when these other three were confronted by 
Isabelle, they more or less gave a story 
that started to run true to form, and before 
the evening was over Davis said that he fired 
the shot at the woman" (R75). 
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Booker did not recall if' he advised Davis and Potts of their 
rights before they made their oral statements, but he did so be­
fore they signed subsequent written statements. Witness informed 
them or their rights under Article of War 24, told them that they 
did not have to make or sign any statements, and. that it they did 
so, such statements could be used against them in a court-martial 
(R~5-76). :Each accused, without promise or reward, then signed a 
written statement dated 28 August, which was offered in evidence 
against him only. When the statements were offered in evidence by' 
the prosecution, defense counsel stated that there were "No questions" 
(R76-77). Booker, then questioned by the court, testified that during 
the interrogation or accused by himself, another soldier and two 
lieutenants, accused were not threaW..ied or manhandled, but that 
•there was some shouting going on". Asked if' an:.rone addressed rough 
language to accused he testified: 

"Except for the fact they were called a 
liar or something like that; there was pro­
bably some cuss words going on because the 
other officer figured he was lying and knew 
he was lying and cailed him a liar * * *. 
When we got the signed statements from them 
they were allowed to smoke" (R77). 

The statements were admitted in evidence over the objection or the 
defense (R78; Exs. 4,5). 

As each accused testified substantially in accordance with 
the three statements admi~ted in evidence (Exs.3,4,5), they are not 
set forth hereiJ?.. · 

4. For the defense, each accused appeared as a witness after 
he was advised as to his rights (R.81,96-97). Both testified that they, 
Bowles and Isabelle helped stack hay and store seeds at a farm earlier 
during the d8\Y and that they were given some cider (R82,94,97,99-l00). 
Both accused confirmed Bowles' testimony that they left Bowles and 
Isabelle in the road and returned to the Pouliq.u.en house, where they 
had seen Madame Pouliquen a short time before {R84-85,101-l02). Each 
accused was then armed with a fully loaded carbine. Potts' gun had 
15 shells in the magazine (R.85) and Davis' weapon had l4 shells in 
the magazine and one in the chamber (Rl02-103). Each admitted that 
his purpose in returning was to try to persuade Madame Pouliquen to 
engage in sexual relations with him (R.85,98,101-102). Upon their re­
turn, Potts said "Bon Jour" to her in the yard and she said something 
in reply which he did not understand. She and Potts then entered the 
house, .followed by Davis. A 11 ttle child was in the room (R.85-86,97, 
102-103). The three then sat on the bed. The woman sat between ac­
cused. Potts put his hand in her hair, .fondled her breast, and asked 
if she would have intercourse with him in exchange .for "K" rations. 
He had two packages o.f the rations in his shirt. She laughed and said 
lfNon compris". Potts asked her to a zig-zig" and she again replied 
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"Non comprisa. She did not scream or push him aV18'3'. They had 
never seen the woman before and d:Xlnot know she was married. They 
aat on the bed for about 20 minutes, but the woman did not accept 
the ttK• rations. She simply smiled and shook her head (R82-85,88-89, 
97-981101,103). Davis understood that she was "not agreeable" to 
the idea (RlOl). He did not sq anything to her during the 20 min­
utes, as he did not "know how•. He did not touch her and just sat 
next to her. He watched Potts, who talked, ran his hand through 
her hair and fondled her breasts. He could see that Potts "wasn't 
making 8:rr:f time, so there wasn't BJ:o/ need for me to trytt (RlOS-110). 
They did not indulge in intercourse, nor did they- attempt to force 
the woman to submit to sexual relations (R83,89,90,91,98,lOJ,l08-llO). 
She did not scre8lll during this interval (R82,89,104). 

Potts testified that at the end of 20 minutes two French­
men burst into the house, raised their voices, and went toward D1ad.s 
in a threaten!r.m . .manner;, said some.1;hing to him and pointed "their 
finger in his"face". It appeared that.they 11.were going up on him". 
Potts bec8llle frightened, dashed from the·~ouse and ran toward camp. 
He saw some other Frenchmen out~ide the house (R82,89-90,94,96). 
When he was about a half mile from the houae he heard some shots. 
Later, Davis whistled, caught up with him and said 

"Potts, I believe I shot that woman. I 
didn't intend to do it. I was trying to 
scare those Frenchmen off me" (R82-83,91). 

They then went to their bivouac area (R82). 

Davis testified that when two Frenchmen entered the 
house, Potts ran out of the house. The Frenchmen rushed at Davis, 
seized him and tried to take his gun. Davis became frightened, flung 
one aside, tussled with the other, broke loose, and followed by- both 
Frenchmen ran outdoors. outside there were other Frenchmen (R97-98, 
104-105,109-llO). In the yard, Davis stopped and faced the house. 
Two Frenchmen left the house, started to run &W8\f from him, and he 
fired two shots over their heads and toward the wall or the house 
(R97,l05). He then went to the road at point R on Ex.2, and fired 
three shots. Madame Pouliquen stood in .:the door or the house when 
he began to fire. She ran out or the house on his second shot and 
was at point S when1he fired the third. She then 'lumped down on 
the road and ran quite a little W8\f11 • Davis then saw her seize her 
side and ran. Davis fired in an easterly direction, never fired 
in the direction or the grass triangle on Ex.2, and in all did not tire 
over five shots. When he fired the·first two shots, both Frenchmen 
ran toward the Roue house and when he tired the other throe shots, 
the Frenchmen and the woman ran aw8\f fropt him and no one came toward 
him (R97 ,105-107). Davis was the· only one who did any shooting and 
Potts tired no shots (R99,108). Asked why he fired the rifle after 
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he left the house, Davis testified that the Frenchmen were behind 
him, he thought they were trying to ce.tch him and do something to 
him, and he fired to "scare them away from men. He did not intend 
to hurt aey-one (R98-99). Asked why he fired t10 shots when the 
two Frenchmen ran toward the Roue house, and three shots when the 
Frenchmen and ·Madame Pouliquen ran from him, he testified that he 
did not know where he was shooting 

nbut I was just scared and I fired three 
more ti.mes * * *· I was scared the Frenchmen 
would try to do something to me * * *• I 
just kept on pulling the trigger of the gun
* * * best I knowed I was trying to defend 
myself'" (Rl07). 

5. Certain procedural questions require consideration: 

(a) At the close of the case for the prosecution the 
defense moved for findings of not guilty of both charges and specifica­
tions as to accused Potts on the ground that the prosecution "has 
failed to make out any case". The motion was denied (R80-81). As 
to the Specification of Charge II, the prosecution's evidence was of 
a competent and substantial character which sustained the findings 
of guilty of each accused, and the Board of Review is of the opinion 
that the motion as to such specific~tion, was, therefore, properly 
denied (CU ErO 3147, G8yles, ~ ~' and authorities cited therein). 
As to the Specification of Charge I, the Board of Review, for reasons 
hereinafter set forth, is of the opinion that the motion should have 
been granted. 

(b) After accused were arraigned and before their pleas 
were entered, defense counsel interposed "a motion to sever", stating 
that accused were jointly charged and that each accused was listed as 
a witness for the other on each charge sheet. The motion was denied 
(R6). 

With respect to severa.~ce of trials of accused jointly 
charged with an offense, the Manual for Courts-Martial directs: 

"A motion to sever is a motion b'J one of two or more 
joint accused to be tried separately from the other 
or others. It will regularly be made at the arraign­
ment. The motion should be granted if good cause is 
shown; but in cases where the essence of the offense 
is combination between the parties - conspiracy for 
instance - the court may properly be mare exacting 
than in other cases with respect to the question 
whether the facts shown in support of the motion con­
stitute a good cause. The more common grounds of this 
motion are that the mover d8sires to av9.il himself on 
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his trial of the testimony of one or more of his 
coaccused, or of the testimony of the wife of one; 
or that a defense of the other accused is antagon­
istic to his own; or that the evidence as to them 

-will in some ma.nnerwsjudice his defense. (Winthrop)" 
(MOM, 1928, par. 71~, p.55). 

Whether such a motion should be granted or denied is a matter 
within the soW1d judicial discretion of the court (CM ETO 895, ~' 
~ .!!:!) • The testimony of the accused in their own behalf was not 
in conflict, but displayed a marked consistency. The testimony of 
each accused disclosed his presence with the victim at the tioe end 
place of the alleged assault with intent to coMnit rape, but was in 
denial of the commission of such assault. At the time of the shoot­
ing by accused Davis, which caused the victim's death, his testimony, 
and that of accused Potts, shoV1ed that the latter was not then present. 
However, according to F'ouliquen1 s testirnoey accused Potts was present. 
Upon all the evidence, it is clear that the court.did not abuse its 
judicial discretion in denying the motion (ell ETO 3147, Gayles, et al). 

(c) On several occasions, prosecution witnesses testified 
on direct examination that the Pouliquens were happily marri"d and 
that the victim was a good mother, of good character and did not asso­
ciate or engage in 11a£filis" with other men (R21-22,.36,46,65,66). No 
attack on the woman's character had been made by the defense nor did 
the defense object to the testimony. The admission of this evidence 
was clearly erroneous (CM 2.4rJ788, Bull. JAG, Mar. 1944, see.395(8), 
pp.95-96). However, the Board of Review is of the opinion that in the 
instant case the guilt of both accused of the offense of assault with 
intent to commit rape v.ras so convincingly established by the evidence 
that such erroneous admission of evidence as to the victim's reputation 
did not injuriously affect their substantial rights within the purview 
of the 37th Article of Vlar (err. ETO 1069, ~). 

(d) Prosecution's Exhfbits 3, 4 and 5, consisting respec­
tively of a statement sj~ed by both accused, and staten!ents severally 
signed by each of them, were received in evidence over the objections 
of the defense. It was established that each acctwed was informed 
of his rights under Article of War 24, was told he was not under com­
pulsion to make or .sign any statement and if' he did so such statement 
cotU.d be used against him in a court-martial (P.71-72,75-76). Assum­
ing that each statement so given was a confession, tl:ere is no evid­
ence that it was given under circumstances that would deny its admis­
sibility. The court's determination will not be disturbed upon ap­
pellate review in view of the substantial affirmative evidence of 
their voluntary nature (CL: ETO 559, !1:onsalve; CM El.'0 1606, ~; 
CM EI'O 2007, Vi. Harris; CT!l ETO 3469, ~). The fact that each 
statement was reduced to writing by one other than accused does not 
militate against its admissibility (CM El'O 438, H, Smith; CM El'O 
2Q(J/, W. Harris; CM ETO 3469, ~) • 
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6. (a) Charge II and Specification: 

Each accused was found guilty of assault with intent 

to commit rape, as alleged. 


(1) As to accused Davis, it was established by 
competent, substantial evidence that at the Pouliquen home, while 
his victim was lying across the width of a bed, her legs hanging 
over the edge with her dress pulled up far enough to expose her 
thighs, he laid on top of her, while she tried to push him away with 
her right hand. He was pulled .from her by her husband, who had come 
to her rescue in answer to her screat'.ls and who then observed the ex­
posed private parts of accused Davis. The evidence supports the 
findings that at the time of this assault upon his victim, he enter­
tained the specific intent to rape 11.!adame Pouliquen (CM ·ETO 2500, 
~; CI11 ETO 309.3, Ror:iero; CM Kl'O 316.3, ~' ~; CM El'O 3255, ~; 
CM ETO 3897, Dixon). 

. (2) As to accused Potts, it was also established 
by competent, substantial evidence that he held Mad.a.me Pouliquen by 
the feet at the same time that accused Davis was on top of her. On 
his own testimony he had entered her dwelling, armed with a fully 
loaded carbine, for the purpose of persuading he~ to have sexual re­
lations with him. 

The distinction between principals and aiders and 
abettors has been abolished by Federal statute and an aider and abettor 
may be convicted as a principal (sec.3.32, Federal Criminal Code, 
18 USCA, 550; 35 Stat.ll52). The distinction is also not recognized 
in the administration of military justice. All a.re principals 

_(Winthrop's Military Law &Precedents - Reprint, p.108). 

"Under Sec.332 of the Federal Criminal Code, 
above quoted, the acts of the principal becotie 
the acts of the aider and abettor and the 
latter may be charged as having done the act 

himself and be indicted and punished according­
ly. By virtue of said statute a principal of 
the second degree at common law becomes a 
principal in the first degree (De Preta v. 
United States, 270 Fed.73; Conelli v. United 
States, 289 Fed. Fed.791; Kelly v. United 
States, 258 Fed. 392, certiorari denied, 249 
U.S. 616, 63 L.Ed. 803). Premised on the above­
stat~d doctrine is the established and well re­
cognized rule that an accused may be charged 
with and .found guilty of the crime of rape al ­
though he did not actually have intercourse with 
the victim if the evidence establishes that he 
was present at and aided and abetted the ravisher 
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in the accoI:Iplishment of the act of intercourse 
(52 CJ, sec.50, p.lOJ6; State v. Flaherty, 128 
Maine J.41, 146 Atl. 7; People v. Zinn, 6 Cal. App. 
(2nd) 395, 44 Pac. (2nd) 408; People v. Nieto, 14 
Cal.App.(2nd) 7C!'l, 58 Pac.(2nd)945; People v. 
Durand -- Cal.App.(2nd) .---, 134 Pac.(2nd) 305~ 
CM NATO 385,Speed (CM ETO 374D, Sanders, ~ .!!J). 

The evidence also supports the findings that accused Potts was 
guilty of assault with intent to rape .Madame Pouliquen under the 
principle or law above set forth and the established precedents 
of the Board of Review (CM ETO 72, Farley and Jacobs; CM ETO 1453, 
Fowler; CM Er0 .37,._0, Sande}"' et al; CU El'O .3851, Watson and Wimberly~ 
Cl,! ETO 4444, Hudson, et al • 

(b) Charge I and Specification: 

Each accused was found guilty of murder, as alleged. 

(1) As to accused Davis, the evidence shows that, 
as soon as he and accused Potts were interruped in their joint attempt 
to rape Madame Pouliquen, as above set forth, he seized his carbine. 
After he had been evicted from the house he began to fire shots at 
her husband and others who had come to her res~ut. One of these shots 
struck and caused the death of Madame Pouliquen. 

"Nur(ler is the unlawful killing of a human being with 
ma.lice aforethought.· 'Unlawful' means without legal 
justification or excuse. 

* * * Malice does not necessatily mean hatred or personal 
ill-will toV1ard the person killed, nor an actual in­
tent to take his life, or even to take anyone's life. 
The use or the word 'aforethought• does not mean that 
the malice must exist for any particular time before 
commiss,ion of the act, or that the intention to kill 
nn.lst have previously existed. It is sufficient that 
it exist at the time the act is cormnitted (Clark). 

11I.Ialice aforethought may exist when the act is 
unprerieditated. It may mean any one or more of the 
following states of mind preceding or coexisting with 
the act or omission h°'J which death is caused: An 
'intention to cause the death of or ievous bodil 

o an erson, whether such person is the person 
actually killed or not (except when death is inflicted 
in the heat of a sudden passion, caused by adequate 
provocation); knowledge tbat the act which causes 
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death will probably cause the death of, or 
grieJl!nls bodily harm to, any person, whether 
such person is the person actually killed or 
riot, although such knowledge is accompanied 
by indif'ference·whether death or grievous 
bodily harm is.caused or not or by a wish that 
it may not be caused; intent to~~o1!!niit a:ny 
felony" (ttM, 1928, ps.r.l.48_!, pp:J.b2;16J-164) 
(Underscoring supplied). 

11It is murder, malice being presumed or inf'erred, 
where death is caused by the intentioruil and un­
lawf'ul. use or a deadly weapon in a deadly manner 
provided in all cases there are no circumstances 
serving to mitigate, excuse or justif'y' the act. 
The use or a deadly weapon is not conclusive as 
to.malice, but the inference of malice therefrom 
~}liS!-o\rercome, and where the facts and circum­
stances or the killing are in evidence, its (sic) 
erlstence of' malice must be determined as a fact .. 
fron the .,evio.ence. 

* * * In order that an implication of malice may arise 
from the use or a deadly weapon it must arpear that 
its use was wili'ul or intentional, or deliberate. 
This, like other matters of intent, is to be gathered 
from the circumstances of the case, such as the fact 
that accused had the weapon prepared for use, or that 
it was used in such a manner that the natural, ord­
inary, and probable result would be to take life" 
(29 C.J., sec.74, pp.1097-1101) (Underscoring supplied). 

The evidence plainly indicated that accused Davis, angered 
by the fact that the joint enterprise contemplating Madame Poul1quen1s 
rape had been thwarted, deliberately and without the slightest excuse 
shot his victim in cold blood. The findings of guilty as to accused 
Davis were supported by substantial, competent evidence or a most 
convincing character (CM ETO .3932, 10.uxdal; CM El'O .3180, Porter; 
CM El'O 1901, Miranda; C!1! ETO 1161, waters; CM ETO 4.38, ~ ). 

(2) As to accused Potts, a vital question arises in the 
court's findjng him guilty of this Specification and Charge. The 
evidence indicates that at the time of th~ shooting by Davis, accused 
Potts had either fled from the scene, as shown by his own testimony 
and that of accused Davis, or was present and took no part in the 
shooting according to the testimony of Pouliquen, the only witness 
who testified that he saw him with Davis in the road at the time of 
the shooting. It was evident beyond question that at that time both 
accused had abandoned and desisted from their joint attempt to rape 
Madame Pouliquen and had left the house where such attempt had been 
perpetrated. 
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nThe weight or authority is that i£ a number 
of persons enter upon the commission of a felony, 
a11 are crimina.lly responsible for the death of 
a person that ensues as a natural consequence of 
the common felonious purpose, although the one 
accused m~ not have done the actual killing. 
This.rule has been deemed broad enough to include 
homicides committed in attempts to escape from 
the scene of the crime, or 'where the kilJ.ing·is 
done immediately after the conclus1on of tte pro­
ject, for the purpose of preventing detection.' 
See lJ R. c. L. p. 732. The only exception to 
this general rule seems to be found in People v. 
Marwig (1919) 227 N. Y. 382, 125 N. E. 535, 22 
A.D.R. 845, infra, and is recognized by implica­

tion in People v. Walsh (1933) 262 N.Y. 140, 186 

N. E. 422, infra, both these cases seeming to 

have proceeded upon the theory of technical com­

pletion of the felony, influenced in part, if 

not wholly, by the fact that the homicide occurred 

after the perpetrators had left the scene of the 

crime. 


In People v. Marwig (1919) 227 N. Y. 382, 125 
N.E. 535, 22 A.L.R. 845, the court held that to 

render one of two who conspired to rob a store 

guilty of murder for the shooting by his companion 

of a person who attempted to interfere with their 

escape after they had left the store (there being 

no evidence that they carried awa:y anything of value), 

the conspiracy must not only have extended to the rob­

bery but also have included the attempted escape. The 

limitations on vicarious liability for :nIUC'der in the 

first degree have been expressed in many wa:ys, and the 

theories which have been evolved are not always as 

much in conflict as may at first appear. Reference 

to People v. Marwig (N. Y.) supra, which has been 

widely quoted and considered, will disclose many of 

the limitations which seem to have been considered by 

courts adhering to theories which upon the aurface 

might.appear divergent. The implications contained 

in People v. 1'iarwig (N.Y.) supra, and other decisions 

which seem to limit the range of operation of parti ­

cular felonies, as regards the definition of first ­

degree felony murders, were criticized in People v. · 

Boss (1930) 210 Cal. 245, 290 p. 8811 infra, as folJ.oVls: 

They •are generally cases in which the crime is held 

to be completed upon an entry or breaking into a bt'.ild­

ing, and the conclusions therein are influenced by the 
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rule of law that a felonious entry or breaking 

is sufficient to constitute the crime. That rule 

was adopted to make punislunent of this class of 

crime more certain. rt was not intended to relieve 

the wrongdoer from a:ny probable consequences of his 

act by placing a limitation upon the res gestae 

which is unreasonable or unnatural.' Undoubtedly 

the recent decisions indicate that the view as to 

what constitutes 'perpetration of' or •engagement in' 

felonies, in defining first-degree felony murders, 

has been somewhat brDadened, with due regard, of 

cour~ to the ordinary rules of cause and effect. Al­

lowance must also be made for the inherent character­

istics of the particular felony involved. In this 

connection it is to be observed that in People v. 

Marwig (N.Y.) supra, although a technical robbery was 

involved, there was no evidence of retention of loot, 

or asportation, in effecting the escape. 


Where several defendants engaged in the robbery 

of certain premises, and, upon detection by officers, 

sought to escape therefrom, one of them fatally shoot­

ing an officer standing on the outside, from or while 

standing near a rear door on the premises (his posi­

tion being a disputed question),· the court, in People 

v. Walsh (19.3.3) 262 N.Y. 140, 186 N'.E. l.;22, in revers­

ing a joint conv:Lction of murder in the first degree, 

because the trial court had in effect instructed the 

jury that if they believed the people's evidence they 

might convict of llILU'der in the first degree, observed 

that whether t.~e robbery was still in progress when 

the.shot was fired depended largely upon the inference 

to be drawn frow the conduct of the one firing it, and 

said: •rt should have been left to the jury, W'lder in­

structions pointing out generally that the killing, to 

be felony murder, :nust occur while the actor or one or 

more of his confederates are engaged in securing the 

plunder or i;1 doing something immediately connected 

with the underlying crime: * * * that escape may, un­

der certain unities of time, manner, and place, be a 

matter so immediately connected witn·the crime as to 


.be 	part of its comrnission; ***but that, where there 
is no re.:i.sonable doubt of a complete intervening desist ­
ance from the crime, as by the abandonnent of the loot 
and running aw~, the subsequent homicide is not murder 
in the first degree without proof of deliberation and 
intent' - citing People v. M.arwig (N.Y.)supra. The 
court also obserged that it was possible to have a 
factual situation in such cases where only one conclu­
sion could be drawn as to whether the homicide took 
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place during the commission of the feloey, but 
that instances where the trial court might instruct 
upon the proposition as a matter or law were exception­
al" (108 ALR 847, 848). 

"Thus, where several persons have combined together !'ol!' 
.the purpose of committing a felony1 and upon an alarm 
they run in dif'ferent directions, and one of them, 
being pursued, kills the pursuer, the others cannot be 
considered as principals in such act. Rex. v. White, 
Russ. &R. C. C. 991 and Jones v. State, 14 Ohio c. C. 
35 and 47, touch on this point. 

The case of People v. Knapp, 26 Mich. ll2, at 
page 115, in my judgment, correctly states the rule: 
1It is undoubtedly possible for parties to combine in 
order to malce an escape effectual, but no such agree• 
ment can law.ruJ.ly be inferred f'rom a combination to 
do the original wrong. There can be no criminal re­
sponsibility for anything not fairly within the comra.2!} 
enterprise, and which might be expected to happen if 
occasion should arise for anyone to do it. In other 
words, the principle is quite analogous to that of' 
agency, where the liability is measured by the express 
or implied authority. And the authorities are quite 
clear and reasonable which deny any liability for acts 
done in escaping, which were not within e:rry Joint pur­
pose or combination" (People v. Marwig (1919), 227 N.Y. 

382, 125 NE 535, 22 ALR 845,8491 850). (Underscoring 
supplied) 

"There is no criminal liability where the homicide was 
a fresh and independent product of the· mind of one of 
the confederates, outside of', or foreign to, the common 
design, or where it did not result from something which 
was fairly within the common enterprise, and which might 
have been expected to happen if occasion should arise 
for anyone to use it" (26 Am. Jur., sec.68, p.205). 
(See also 26 Am. Jur. secs.64-69, pp.202-206; 29 CJ sec. 
82, p.1107). ­

In the instant case, it is apparent that the shooting of IJadame Pouli ­
quen took place after completion of the joint felonious assault and 
abandonment of the common felonious intent to rape her and after both 
accused had left tlie scene of such a.ssault. There was no evidence of 
a joint purpose b1' the two accused to shoot in order to effect their 
escape, or for e.:n:y other purpose following the abandonment of the orig­
inal venture. Nor does it appear that the reason for the shots fired 
by accused Davis was to effect an escape. ·In fact, no.reasonable ex­
planation can be discovered in the evidence for the senseless action 
of accused Davis in .firing on French civilians, who were then f'leeing 
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with all possible haste from his presence. No evidence appears in 
the re~rd that accused Potts participated or acquiesced by words 
or action in the shooting by Davis, but, on the contrary, all the 
evidence shows that, their common enterprise of assault with intent 
to rape Madame Pouliquen having terninated, Pott_s tcok immediate 
flight and offered no further violence to anyone. Davis himself 
stated Potts had already left when he ca.~e from the house and fired 
at the French civilians (Pros.Ex.4). In short, no agreement by 
accused to use firearms in such a manner as to endanger life for a:rr:r 
purpose following the abandonment of the joilll;assault may fairly be 
inferred from the evidence. The shooting by Davis was not "fairly 
within the connnon enterprise" and might not reasonably have been 
"expected to happen" under the circumstances. The combination of 
accused was for the purpose of raping Madame Pouliquen and of doing 
such things as would aid in its accomplishment. Vlhen the purpose 
was frustrated and Potts departed from the scene, the combination 
terminated, and with it Potts)>cri:ninal responsibility for Davis' 
murderous acts. Upon all the evidence and the law as above stated, 
the Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally insufficient as to accused Potts to support the findings 
of guilty of the Specification of Charge I and Charge I and legally 
sufficient to support only so mu.ch of the sentence, as to accused 
Potts, as provides for dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures, 
and confiner.ient at hard labor for 20 years. 

7. The charge sheet shows that accused Potts is l.9. years 
one month of-age and was inducted 21September1943 at Fort Benning, 
Georgia. Accused Davis is 29 years five months of age and was in­
ducted 7 October 1943 at Richmond, Virginia. F.a.ch was inducted to 
serve for the duration of the war plus six months. Neither had a:ny 
prior service. 

8. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the persons and offenses. Except as noted, no errors injuriously 
affecting the substantial rights of either accused were committed 
during the trial. The Board of Review is of the opinion that as to ­
accused Davis the record of trial is legally sufficient to support 
the findings of guilty and the sentence, but that for the reasons 
stated, as to accused Potts the record of trial is legally insufficient 
to support the findings of guilty of Charge I and its Specification, 
legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty of Charge II and 
its Specification and only so much of the senten.Ce as provides for 
dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures and confinement at hard 
labor for 20 years. 

9. As to accused Davis, the penalty for murder is death or 
life imprisonment, as the court-martial~ direct (AW 92). As to 
accused Potts, confinement in a penitentiary is authorized for the 
crime of assault with intent to commit rape by Article at War /.;;. and 
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section 276, ~'edera.l Criminal Code (18 USCA 455). The designation 
of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Penn5'1/lvania, as the 
place of confinement, is proper (Cir.229, rm, 8 J~me 1941~, sec.II, 
par. l,!2(4), J,!2). 

-~__......:_....._.i.,_~..... ·-· 1....,...h....r.....__Judge Advocate/ ......_L_.--~---·_Ut_·_~....._""*
·V 
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lst Ind. 


iiar Department, Branch Office of The Jud~ Mlocate Ge~ral with 
the European 'i'heater of Operations. ~ ~ ri.OV 1944 TO: Com­
manding General, European Theater of O:i::e rations, APO 88?, U. s. Army. 

I 

1. In the case of Private First Chis WILLIA!:! E. DAVIS 
(33541888), 312lst Quartermaster Service Company, attention is in­
vited to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the re­
cord of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty and the sentence, which holding is here°h'/ app:- oved. Under 
the provisions of Article of War 5~, you now have a~hority to 
order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to 
this office, they should be acconpanied by the foregoing holding, 
this indorsement, and the record of trial which is delivered to 
you herewith. The file number of the record in this office is CM 
ErO /i2.94. For convenience of reference, please place that number 
in brackets at the end of the order: (CM ETO 4294). 

J. Should the sentence as imposed by the court and confirmed 
by you· be carried into execution, it is requested that a full copy 
of the proceedings be forwarded to this office in order that its files 
may be complete. ;, ~) / r , 

,'/ . ./11. ~~ ..-,,,,,., 
I · t 

'· ' . ,. I 
E. C. McNEIL, 


Brigadier General, United States Arrrr:f. 

Assistant Judge Advocate General, 


(Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 146-, ETO, 21 Dec 1944) 



CONF!DEiHlfll 
(259) 


lst Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The J21fe..Mvocate General with the 
Emtopean Theater of Operations. NUV 1944 TO: Com­
manding General, 9th United States Army, JJ'O 339, u. S. Army. 

l. In the case of Private J. c. POTTS (34759592), 3l2lst 
Quartermaster Service Company, attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally 
insufficient to suppor~ the findings of guilty of Charge I and its 
Specification and legaily sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty of Charge II and its Specification and only so much of the 
sentence as provides for dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures, 
and confinement at hard labor for 20 years. Such holding is hereby 
approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 5Qt, you now have 
authority to order execution of the sentence, modified accordingly 
by supplemental action, which should be forwarded to this o:ffice for 
attachment to the record of trial. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
o:ffice, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number or the record in this office is CM El'O 
4294. For convenience or reference, please place that number in 
brackets at the end or the order: CM l!.'TO 4294). · · 

/ . . 
. .. -1'1/''//' l//,/~~ - t. --- I,,.,_. t ; 

t. C. McNEIL, 
;' 

Brigadier General, United States ~' 
Assistant Judge Advocate General~ 
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with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 14 DEC 1944 
CM ETO 4300 

UNITED STATES IX TROOP CARRIER CDr.'.MAi'ID ~ 
v. 

Private First Class 

)
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at AllF station 
4134, APO 133, England, 23 September 
1944. Sentence: Dishonorable dis-

SAMUEL J. KOIIDRIK (33.316867), 
Headquarters 313th Troop 
Carrier Group 

) 
) 
) 

charge, total forfeitures and confine­
;?gent at hard labor for ten years. 
'Federal Reformatory, Chillicothe, Ohio. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record or trial in the ease of the soldier named 
above has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and specifi ­
cations: 

CHARGE: Violation or the 93rd Article or war. 
Specification 1: In that Private first class Samuel 

J.· Kondri.k, Headquarters .313th Troop Ca~rier 
Group, IX Troop Carrier Command, did, at Grant­
ham, Lincolnshire, England, on or about 1.3 
Augu·st 1944, in the night-time, feloniously 
and burglariously break and enter the dwelling 
house of Mrs. Pam Hartley, Red Cross Building, 
Market Square, Grantham, Lincolnshire, England, 
with intent to commit a felony, viz, larceny, 
therein. 

Specification 2: In that * * * did, at Grantham, 
Lincolnshire, England, on or about 1.3 August 
1944, feloniously take, steal and carry away 
one (1) wrist watch, value about $60.00 property 
or Corporal Philip Flohr, Headquarters Squadron, 
82nd Service Group, and one (1) pair ladies' hose, 4 3 0 0 

·value about $1.50, property or Mrs. Pem Hartley, 
Red cross Building, Grantham, Lincolnshire, Englazt~ii 

- i - nmmoa: r1AL .. , , ............ 
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He pleaded not guilty; and was found guilty of Specification l 
except the words "in the night-time, feloniously and burglarioualy 
break'and", substituting therefor the word "unlawf'ul.ly", ot the 
~:;cepted words not guilty, of the substituted word guilty; of 

,.: 'Specification 2 guilty, except the figures "$60.0011 and 11$1.50", 
substituting therefor respectively, the figures 11 $50.00" and "$.50, 
or the excepted figures not guilty, of the substituted figures 
guilty, and guilty of the Charge. No evidence of previous convic­
tlons was introduced. He was sentenced to be dishonorably dis­
charged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to 
become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place I.ii. 
the reviewing authority mey- direct, for 12 yea.rs. The reviewing 
authority approved the sentence but reduced the period of confine­
ment to ten years, designated the Federal Reformatory, Chillicothe, 
Ohio, as theplace of confinement and forwarded the record of trial 
for action pursuant to the provisions of Article of war 50h · 

3. Evidence for the prosecution shows substantially the 

following facts: 


On 12 August 1944 Corporal Philip Flohr left for safe ­
keeping, with Mrs. Pemberton Hartley, directress of the American 
Red Cross Club in Grantham~ England, a gold case Waltham Premier 
wrist watch (R6, Pros.Ex.lJ. Before leaving Grantham for a few 
hours on the follmrlng afternoon, 13 August 1944, Mrs. Hartle7 
locked the watch in the top drawer of her dresser in her bedroom, 
located on the third floor of the Red Cross building {RlO). She 
also locked her bedroom door. llhen she next returned to her room 
at approximately midnight, Mrs. Hartley found her door unlocked. 
She looked for the watch but could not find it. The dresser drawer 
was open and a pair of tan rayon ladies' stockings, as well as the 
watch, was missing therefrom (Rll,12). On 14 August 1944, Corporal 
Flohr reported the loss of his watch to Staff Sergeant Frank Mata­
lick, who was in charge of the instrument shop at Army Air Force 
Station 484 (R6). A detailed description of the watch made at this 
time indicated it to be a.curved type, white race wrist watch with 
Roman numerals on it. The watch bad a gold band attached and the 
crystal was cracked at one corner. The watch face at this corner 
was described as being "kind of dirty11 (R6). He left a written 
description or his watch. 

About two days later the accused brought a Waltham 
Premier watch to Sergeant Matalick which fitted the description he 
had of Corporal Flohr 1 s watch, asking him to put a crystal on it 
and to effect other repairs {R.23,24). This watch, Corporal Flohr 
identified as his property {R7,23, Pros. Ex.l). The facts in connec­
tion with the reported loss of the watch and the receipt ofasimilar 
one tor repair, were reported by Sergeant Uatalick to Lieutenant 
Gregg of the Military Police. On 18 August 1944, accused came to 
the instrument shop to pick up the watch and was placed under arrest 
{R27). Thereafter Lieutenant Gregg examined the personal effects or 
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the accused and discovered a pair of women's stockings, which 
·Mrs. Hartley identified as her own {R13,27,28, Pros. Ex.2). 
He also examined Mrs. Hartley's room in the Red Cross Building 
and found that the locks on the door and dresser drawer had been 

_pried open 	and broken {R27). The prosecution's evidence further 
shows that accused was seen by an employee of the Club at some 
time between 8:30 and ten o'clock on the evening of 13 August 
1944 on the top landing on the third floor ot the Red Cross Club, 
outside of Mrs. Hartley's room (RlS,27). The third floor is 
used only for living quarters of the Red Cross Club personnel 
and no soldier is allowed up there. 

Concerning the value of the items in question, 

Sergeant Matalick testified that he was an "instrument special· 

ist"; that he had been working with instruments tor "about two 

years"; that he did watch repair work on the side and had had 

"quite a bit" of opportunity to value watches; that in his opin­

ion the watch in question (Pros. Ex.l) was worth "about ten or 

twelve pounds" --- "right close around fifty dollars" (R23,57). 

Mrs. Hartley valued the hose (Pros. Ex.2) at "Two shillings and 

nine pence" - - "roughly fifty cents". They were acquired through 

the Quartermaster Sales Store in London (R58). 


4. The accused, after having been f'ully inf'ormed of' his 
rights as a witness, elected to be sworn and testii'y. He denied 
that he was on the third floor of the Red Cross building on the 
date in question, although he admitted going into the club twice 
that evening (RJl,32,40). He identified Prosecution's Exhibit I 
as a watch which his brother had given to him as a present about 
two years before (RJJ,34), and Prosecution's Exhibit 2 as a pair 
of silk stockings which he had bought "on the main drag" in 
Palerno, Sicily "after my organization le.ft me down there" (R34,35,36). 
Accused's presence in the Angel Hotel and at various "pubs" in 
Grantham on the evening of 13 August 1944, was corroborated by the 
testimony of his co-driver. He returned to his station that night 
shortly after 11 o'clock (R30,32). 

5. Housebreaking is a lesser included offense or burglary 

and is defined as the ­

"Unlawful entering o.f another's building 
with intent to commit a criminaJ. offense 
therein (Par.149~,MCM,1928, p.169). 

This offense is broader than burglary in severaJ. particulars incJ.ud­

ing the fact that the entry may be "either in the night or in the 

daytime" (Par. 149~, ?i.CM, supra}. 


The corpus delicti of the offense was anply proven and 

accused found in possession of the missing property: 


430( 
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1 Defendant•a explaAation of his possession 

of the frui t"s ..of a burglary {housebreaking) 

is.entitled to proper consideration by the 

jury • • * However, to avail a defendant 

his explanation should be, not only reason­

able and credible, but also such as to raise 

a reasonable doubt in the minds of the 1 jury 

• • • and, it haa been held that the jury 

~ properly convict on the basis of defen­


ant•s possession of the stolen goods, even 

though the State has not direct1y disproved 

the truth of defendant's explanation of his 

possession. • • • an e;xplanation contradicted 

by other evidence need not be believed by the 

ury, or will not, as a matter of law, revent 


conviction" 12 CJS, sec. 9f, PP•7 0-7 l 

(underscoring supplied). ­

Cross-examination of the accused developed inconsistencies 
and improbabilities in his story. He claimed that he had broken the 
watch about a year before and only had an opportunity to have it re­
paired two days after Corporal Flohr lost his watch. However the 
watch and the stockings found in possession of accused were identified 
as the property of Corporal Flohr and Mrs. Hartley respectively. These 
matters were questions of fact for the court to determine and findinf!i9 
on such facts, where supported by substantial evidence will not be dis­
turbed by the Board of Review (CM ETO 1360, ~f CM ETO 1953, Lewis). 

The limited evidence concerning the value of the stolen 
articles has been set out above. It is well established thats 

•other than as to distinctive articles of Govern­

ment· issue (Par.1533; Sup.V, Dig. Ops. JAG, 1912­
1940) or other chattels which, because of their 

character, do not have readily determinable mar­

ket values, the value of personal property to be 

considered in determining the punishment author­

ized for larceny thereof is the market value" 

(CM 208002 - Gilbert; CM 208481 - Ragsdale; CH 

218143 - Rocco; sec.585, McClain,_ criminal Law; 

all cited in 16 B.R. 300). 


Sergeant Matalick's testimony. that, in his opinion, the watch was 
worth "ten or twelve pounds • • • right close around $50.00" is not 
adequate proof of the market value of the watch. However, he is 
somewhat qualified as an instrument specialist. As to proof of mar­
ket value of a watch and other articles of stolen personal property 
before it, the Board of Review has held tha,t the court could •from 
its inspection alone, determine that· the property had some value• 
(CM 228742 • Blanco). 
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There is no competent evidence as to the market val~e of 
the rayon stockings. However, in addition to the fact that the 
court could find that the hose in question had some value, the 
court could also take judicial notice of Arrey Regulations 30-3000 
(~uartermaster,CO'rps Price List of Clothing and Equipage) (t~M, 1928, 
par.125, p.1.)5). Therein rayon stockings are listed, and priced at 
53¢ per,,Pair. 

It may therefore be inferred from the evidence and from the 
"descriptions of the stolen articles that they had some substantial 
aggregate value in excess of $20.oo. 

'lhe maxinnun punishment by confinement authorized by para­
graph 104c of the Manual for Courts-Martial for housebreaking is ten 
years, and for larceny of property of a value of $50.00 or less and 
more than $20.00 is one year. Inasnuch as the reviewing authority 
reduced the period of confinement from 12 to 10 years the sentence is 
withi~ the legal limits authorized. 

6. The charge sheet shows accused to be 2.5 years of age. He was 
inducted. in the Array, without prior service, at Philadelphia, Pennsylvania,
9 ;J'Une 1942• 

7. 'lhe court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were comnitted during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to sup­
port the findings of guilty and. the sentence. The designation of the 
Federal Reformatory, Chillicothe, Ohio, as the place of confinement is 
proper (AW 42r Cir.229, WD, 8 J'une 1944• sec.II, parsel,!(l), 3!)• 

~~' (. f .··- ~ 
; ·. · 'C\;.0..,,..~1t.. •. "'~· · ~._ • ~.... J'udge Advocate 

~· J'u~ge Advocate 

~"d,Jrr J'udge Advocate , {/ . 
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1st Ind. 


War Department, Branch Office ot The Ju:ige Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 1 4 DEC 19.U TO: Command­
ing General, IX Troop Carrier Command, .Aro 1.3.3, U. ·s. Army. 

l. In the case or Private First Class SAMUEL u. KO?-i'DRIK (.3..3..316867), 
Headquarters .31Jth Troop Carrier Group, attention is invited to the fore­
going holding b,y the Board of Review that the record or trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings or gu1lty and the sentence, which 
holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions or Article of War 50t, 
you now have authority ~o order execution ot the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded in this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 4300. For conven­
ience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the end of 
the orders (CM ETO 4..300). · 

/~a·r/ .;(.' C. McNEIL, 
Brigadier General, United States Army, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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with the 


European Theater ot Operations

APO 887 


BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
14 DEC 1944CM ETO 4303 

UNITED S T .A. T E S 	 ) · NINTH Am FORCE 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial b7 GCM, convened at Laval, France, 
6 September 1944. Sentence: Dishonor-· 

Private JESSIE C. HOUSTON ~ able discharge, total forfeitures, and 
(38238543), Company •An, ) confinement at hard labor tor eight 
447th Signal Construction ) years and six months. United States 
Battalion, Aviation, Ninth ) Penitentiar;r, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 
Air Force ) 

HOLDDlG by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocate a 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named 
above has been examined 'b1 the Board of Review. 

. 2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specitica­
tions 1 

CHARGE Is Violation or the 6lst Article ot War. 

Specifications In that Private Jessie c. Houston, 
Company "A", 447th Signal Construction Batta­
lion, Ninth Air Force, did, without proper 
leave, absent himself trom his organization 
at USA Station 4Z'l AP0.696, u. s. ·Army trom 
about 060C1 hours 2 Ju11 1944 to about 1030 
hours 3 Jul,- 1944. 

CHARGE II: Violation ot the 65th Article ot War. 

Specifications In that * * * did, at USA Station 
42.7, APO 696, u. s. Arrr.rr, on or about 3 Jufy 
1944, use the following insulting language 
toward First Sergeant James N. Pqton, a non­
commissioned oftieer who was then in the exe­
cution or his office, "Get ott that old shit" ·­
and 11You are too Goddamn ha.rd on us men", or 4303 
words to that e!tect. 
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CHARGE III: '-Violation ot the 6Jrd Article ot War. 
I 

Specification: In that * * * did, at USA station 
1.2.7, APO 696, U.s. Army, on or about 3 Jul7 
1944, behave himeelt with disrespect toward 
First Lieutenant THOMAS N.K. CAMERON, hia 
superior orticer, b.r wrongtul.17 and sarcas• 
ticall7 saying to him "That 18 a tine wq to 
talk to an enlisted man•, or words to that 
ef'f'ect. 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE I1 Violation ot.the 9Jrd Article of' War. 

Specitication 1: In that * * * did~ in the vicinit7 ot 
·Gatteville,.Manche, France on.or about 31Jul.71944 
with intent to commit a felony, viz, murder, commit 
an assault upon Private Willard E. Flaherty-, by' 
willf'ully and feloniously striking him the said 
Pvt. Williard E. Flaherty on the shoulders. with a 
hand axe. 

Specitication 2: In that * * * did, in the vicinity ot 
Gatteville, Manche, France, on or about Jl July 
1944, with intent to commit a telony, viz, murder, 
commit an assault upon Private Raymond H. Mechlin, 
by' willtull.y and f'eloniou.sl.y striking him the said 
Pvt. Raymond H. Mechlin on the head with a hand axe. 

Specification 3: In that * * * did, at or near Gatteville, 
France, on or about Jl July- 19"4, with intent to do 
them bodily harm, corunit an assault upon M. Marcell 
Garcon, M. Louis Garcon, Mme VVe Alexis Garcon, and 
Mme Marie Garcon by shooting into the house in which 
they were then present with a dangerous weapon, to 
wit, a Thompson sub-machine gun, caliber .45. 

ADDrrIONAL CHARGE II: Violation of' the 6lst Article ot war. 

Specification: In that*** did, without'proper leave, 
absent himself' trom his organization at or near 
Barfleur France from about_OlOO hours .31Jul.71944, 
to about 0230 hours Jl July 1944. 

ADDITIONAL CHARGE III: Violation of the 96th Article ot War. 

Specification: In that *·* * did, at his company bivouac 
area near Gattevllle, ?l.anche, France, on or about 
Jl July 1944, wrongtully take and use, without pro­
per authority, a certain motor vehicle, to wit, i 
ton 4 x 4 truck, US·20349035, property of' the United 
States of' a value of more than $50.00 
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He pleaded guilty to Charge I and its Specification when arraigned 
but was permitted to change this plea to one of' not guilt7 when the 
testimony in the ca$e.was concluded (R55). He pleaded not guilt7 
to all other charges and specifications. He was found guilty of' 
all charges and spec.lfications with the substitution in Specif'ica­
tions l and 2 of Additional Charge I, ot the words 11 do bodily- harm 
with a dangerous weaponn, for the words "commit a felony, viz, mur­
der". Evidence was.introduced of' three previous convictions b)r 
fJUJlUll8l7 court, one tor wrongtul_use of' a gover?llllent vehicle in vio­
lation of .Article of' war 96, one tor absence without leave tor about 
one day and breach of' .·restriction in violation of' Arti'3les of' War 61 
and 96, and one tor absence without leave tor about one day and 
wrongf'ull.:y leaving camp in improper unitorm in violation of' Articles 
ot War 61 and 96. He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged 
the service, to f'orf'eit all pay and allowances due or to become due 
and to be cont'ined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing 
authority- may direct, tor eight years and six months. The reviewing 
authority- approved the sentence, designated the United States Peni­
tentiary, Lewisburg, Pem1S7lvania, as the place of' confinement, and 
forwarded the record of' trial for action pursuant to Article of' 

!far 5~. . . 


3. The evidence tor the prosecut~n showed that accused 

absented hi.m.selt without leave from his station from about 0600 

hours 2 July 1944 to about 1030 hours 3 Ju17 1944 (Rl3,14,15, Pros. 

Ex.1,4). Upon his return to the post, First Sergeant James N. Peyton 

summoned him to the orderfy room for the purpose of having him sign 

"a slip * * *1 a kind of confinement order, to keep him in camp"

(Rl3,15). Accused re.tu.sad to sign the slip and an altercation ensued 

as the result of which the first sergeant ordered accused to leave 

the orderl;r room. Accused told the first sergeant to "Get up off 

that old sbitn and le.rt the orderly room with the remark "You are too 

Goddamn hard on us men" (Rl3,l4,16117, Pros. Ex.4). Later that dq, 

accused obtained the permission of bis compan:r commander to speak 

with the battalion commander with respect to the incident (Rl7,1S). 

When he went to battalion headquarters he again becsme loudly' argu­

~entative and was ultimately- dismissed b)r First Lieutenant Thomas N. 

K. Cameron, the battalion adjutant (RlS). Accused saluted and turned 

to leave "and as he went he said sarcastically 'That is a tine wq to 

talk to an enlisted.man'" (Rl91 Pros. EX.4). Accused's hearing and 

tone of' voice during the conversation was ttarrogant and disrespecttul" 

(R20). 


It was further shown that on 31 Jufy 1944, between 0100 . 
and 0200 hours, accused approached the gate ot his bivouac area in a 
jeep and was halted by the guard. As he had no trip ticket, the guard 
at the gate "stepped backtt to call the corporal of' the guard. At this, 
accused "drove on out the gate". Accused "didn't seem to be drunk" at 

. · this time. A witness who had seen accused at about 12:30 that night 
testified that accused at that time "had had a couple or drunks" bu.t 
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was not drunk {R.231 24-25). Another witness who had seen accused 
at roughly the same time testified that accused was •reeling.goofy" 
but that he "knew what he was doing" (R22). •Around midnight" on 
30 July 1944 an American soldier came to the home ot M. Marcel 
Garcon near Gatteville, No~, France {R27). In the house at 
this time were M. Marcel Garcon, M. Louis Garcon, Mme. Marie Garcon, 
Mme Vve. Alexis Garcon, and Mlle. Alexis Garcon (R.32). The soldier 
was drunk and was armed with a Thompson sub-machine gun (R29,3.3). 
He knocked at the door tor approrlmatel7 ten minutes and, when M. · 
Marcel Garcon finally came to one ot the upstairs windows ·to learn 
what was desired, the soldier asked tor some cognac. M. Garcon 
replied "pas cognac" and closed the window. At this, the soldier 
•shot three bullets into the door and two through the window I had 
just closed" {R27,32, Pro1. Ex.5,7). M. Garcon then opened the 
door. l'he soldier again asked for cognac and, upon being told 
that n()'~cognac n.s to be bad, asked tor and received some cider. 
He then started to search the house and finally f'o"Jlld some cognac 
(R.28,32) • .A.a he was drinking the cognac, M. Garcon left the house,, 
tound two American soldiers, and reported the incident to them. 
The two soldiers returned to the house with M. Garcon, took the 
soldier into their custody and drove away (R28,34). The French 
witnesses were not able to identity accused as the soldier who 
committed the_ acts concerning which they had testified. 

Private Raymond H. Machlin testitied that early in. the 
morning of 31 Ju11'-l944 a Frenchman approached him and Private 
Flaherty, and asked them to accompany him. _ They did so and "he 
took us to his French house and motioned tor us to go upstairs•.· 
There they tound the accused and attempted to get him to leave. 
Atter •~Alittle argument" and "a 11ttle scuttle•, Machlin and 
Flaherty got accused in the accused's jeep and started to take 
him to their battalion headquarters (R.35). Mechlln drove because 
he thought accused was 11 too drunk to drive" (R.41). As they pro­
ceeded down the road, accused picked up "an army band axe from 
some place 1n the· jeep * * * and hit Private.F~aherty with the 
axe• (R.35-.36). Flaherty exclaimed, "I have been cut" (R.36a) ,· 
and at this, Mechlin turned toward the accused and the accused 
struck Machlin •over the helmet• with the axe (R.36). He used 
the cutting edg~ ot the blade and the blow made a dent in the 
helmtit (R42, Pros. Ex.12). The jeep then let't the road and went 
into a ditch. ACcused treed himself' and began to run down the 
road (R36). He staggered slightly as he ran but ran •comparative-· 
ly tast• (R39). Machlin and Flaherty did not give chase'because 
the area was mined. Rather, they reported the incident to the 
security patrol and Mecblin took Flaherty to nthe medics• (R36a,43). 
Flaherty suf'tered a cut two inches long, one half' inch deep on his 
right shoulder and a wound tYO and one halt inches long, inch wide 
and one halt inch deep in his lett shoulder (R44). Accused was 
slightly drunk at the time ot the incident but not too drunk to 
know what he was doing (R39). . 
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Accused abandoned his gun when he f'led. Mechlln 
identitied the gun in question as a Thompson sub-machine gun, 
caliber .45, number 729545. The records cf' accused's organizat!on 
showed that a Thompson sub-machine gun number 729545 was iesued 
to the accused on 26 June 1944 (Rl2). 

The jeep which accused was driving on the night in 
question was nU111bered 20.3490.35 (Rll,40,45). This vehicle was. as­
signed to accused's organization (Rl.2). Accused was not authorized 
to use the vehicle on the night ot .30 Jul,-: or, early morning ot .31 
July 1944 (Rl2,25,26,46). lt was stipulated that this vehicle was 
the property ot the United States and had a value in excess ot 
$50 (R26). . . . 

I 

Accused had no permission to be absent on the morning 
ot .31 July 1944 (Pros. Ex.2) •. · 

4., Accused, af'ter having been advised ot his rights as a. 
witness, took the stand but limited his testimo~ to Charges I, 
II and III only. He admitted that he absented himsel.1' without 
leave tor the period set forth in the Specification ot Charge I. 
He :f'urther admitted that he made the statements set torth in the 
specifications ot Charges II and III but inf'erentially denied that 
such statements were intended to be disrespectful. (R47,4S,49). 
He also stated that the "paper" he was given to sign was a "confine• 
ment order", that he had understood he was restricted to his area 
as punishment for his absence without leave and that he had com­
plied with the restriction. 

. Certain witnesses were called by the prose~tion whose 
testimony tended.to show that the restriction in question was an 
administrative restriction pending trial and was not imposed as 
company punishment (R51,5.3·55). 

5. The evid9nce adduced by the prosecution, together with 
accusecl1s admissions, is amply suf'ticient to support the court's 
tinding ot guilty under Charge I and its Speci!ication. The only 
question in connection with this rinding is whether accused had 
already been punished tor the ottense imder .Art1.cle ot war 104 so 
that subsequent punishment theref'or was barred (lCM, 1928 par.69,g, 
p. 54). On this question, there was evidence in the record f'rom 
which the court could tind that any restriction imposed upon accused 
after hia absence without leave was an administrative restriction 
pending investigation and trial and was not imposed as punishment 
under .Article ot War 104. The court was thus justified in rejecting 
the contention ct the def'ense that trial ror the absence without 
leave ·charged in the Specif'ication of Charge I was barred because 
ot rormer punishment under Article of' War 104. · . 
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There was also' ample evidence to support the findings 
under Charges II and III and the specifications thereunder. The 
prosecution showed, end accused admitted, the making of the state­
ments set forth in the specifications. There was testimony to 
the effect that.these statements were made in a disrespecti'ul. man­
ner. Any issue raised b;y accused's attempt to show that no disre­
spect was intended was a question of fact tor the court. 

Nor is there any substantial question as to the pro­
priety ot the court's finding un:ler Specifications 1 and 2 ot 
Additional Charge I. Competent uncontradicted evidence showed 
that the accused struck Private Flaherty on the shouleers and 
Private Mechlin on the helmet with a band a.rte. The cutting edge 
ot the blade was employed. There can be little doubt that a band 
axe, so used, is a dangerous weapon. Flahert1 received rather 
severe wounds as the result of the blows and the blow directed at 
llechlin dented his helmet. The type of weapon used, the resulting · 
injuries and damage, and the circumstances under which the assault 
was made support an ini"erence that the assault was accompanied b;y . 
an intent to do bodily harm (CM 19.3085, Dig OP; JAG, 1912-40, sec.451 · 
(10), p • .31.3). 

With respect to the offense alleged in Specif'ication .3 of 
Additional Charge I, here too there can be little doubt that an as­
sault was committed and that such assault was made with a danger~ 
weapon (Wharton's Criminal Law, 12th Ed., Vol.I, sec.804, p.1101). 
Some question may exist, however, whetmr the assault was accompanied 
b;y the requisite specific intent. The Manual for Courts-!!artial con­
tains the following discussion with reference to the offense of as~ 
ea.ult with intent to do bodily harm (Ll:M, 1928, par.149J!, p.lSO): 

"This is an assault aggravated by the specific 
present intent to do bodily harm to the person 
assaulted by means of the force employed. It 
is not necessary that any battery actually en­
sue, or, i£ bodily- harm is actually intlicted, 
that it be of' the kind intended. Where the 
accused acts in reckless disregard of the safety 
of others it is not a defense that he did not 
have in mind the particular person injuredn (Un­
derscoring supplied). 

While this discussion indicates that an assault with in­
tent to do bodily harm is an assault aggravated b;y the specific pre­
sent intent to do bodily harm to the person assaulted, 1t also in­
dicates inferentially that such intent, or its legal equivalent, 
may be interred f'rom conduct which is in reckless disregard of the 
safety ot others. In this same connection, see CM ET0.2$99, Reeves, 
in which case the accused was charged with the rather similar. of­
fense of assault with intent to commit nnrder. The evidence in that 
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case showed that accused recklessly pointed and fired a rifle 'into a 
group of men who were riding on a truck. The Board held the record 
legally sutricient on the ground that accused's conduct showed such 
a reckless disregard of human life as to supply the requisite speci­
fic intent to commit murder or the legal equivalent of such intent. 
The prinoiple )f the cited case is applicable by' analogy here. The 
conduct of accuse1 in the instant case, in !iring f'ive rounds from 
a Thompson sub-machine gun into a dwelling which he knew to· be oc­
cupied, certainly constitutes conduct in reckless disregard of the 
safety of ot.- .3rs and, in view of the considerations set forth above, 
may properly be characterized as an assault with intent to do bodily 
harm with a dangerous weapon. And since this conduct was not only 
in reckless disregard of the safety of M. Garcon, whom accused 
specifically knew to be in the house, but also in reckless disregard 
of' the safety of' any of its occupants, it follows that accused com­
mitted an assault with intent to do bociily harm on the respective 
occupants, as alleged (Ct: Kincaid, 24 B.R. 247 at 254). Some ef'f'ort 
was made by' the defens& to show that accused was too drunk to be 
capable of entertaining the specific intent necessary to establish 
the commission of the offense alleged. While there was testimoicy" 
that accused was drunk, there was also testimoey that accused nk:new 
what he was doinga. Accused was suf.ficiently in possession of his 
faculties to decand liquor, to search the house and to ef'f'ect his 
escape shortly after he had been apprehended. Whether accused was 
too drunk to entertain the requisite intent tor this offense was an 
issue of fact tor the court and, on the evidence in this case, it 
does not appear that the court abused its discretion in reaching its 
decision upon this question, (Bull JAG, Vol II, No. 11, Nov. 1943, 
sec.451(10), p.427). 

No substantial question is presented in connection with 
the findings of guilty of Additional Chargea II and III and the speci­
fications thereunder. 

6. The charge sheet sho•s that accused is 23 years and nine 
months of age. He wa9 inducted into the army, at Houston, Texas, on 
5 September 1942. No prior service is shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offenses. No errors iJllj.uriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of acGused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of Review is of' the opinion that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The United' States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 
was designated as the place of confinement. Confinement in a peni­
tentiary is au\;horized tor the crime ot assault with intent to do 
bodily ha.rm with a dangeruus weapon (AW 42; sec.276 Federal Criminal 
Code (18 USCA 455)). However, as accused is under 31 years of age 
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and the sentence ia tor not more than ten years, the designation 
• 	 ot a Federal Retormator,y as the place ot conf'inement i• required 

(Cir. 229, l'ID, g June 1944, sec.II, pars.l,!(1), 3.a). The place ot 
confinement should be changed to the Federal Retormator,r, Chillicothe, 
Ohio (Idem). 
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War Department1 Branch Ottice ot Tpe Judge Advocate General with 
the Zuropean !'beater of Operations. 14 DEC 1944 . TOI com.-,,­
man.ding General, Ninth Air Force, APO 696, u. s. Arn'f¥• 

l. In the case of Private JF.SSIE c. HOUSTON (3823854:3), 
Company" •.l", 447th Signal Construction Battalion, Aviation, Ninth 
Air Force, attention is invited to the foregoing holding bj" the 
Board of Review that the record or trial is leg~ sutricient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which holding 
ia herebj" approved., Under the provisions or Article of War 50h 
1'011 now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. As accused is under Jl years ot age and the sentence 
is tor not more than ten years, the designation ot the United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place ot con­
finement ia improper and should be changed to the Federal Reforms.- r · 
tory-, Chillicothe, Ohio. This may be done in the published general 
court-martial order. 

3. When copies of the published order are forwarded to 
this office, they should be accompanied bj" the foregoing holding 
and this indorsement. The tile number of the record in this office 
is CM ETO 4303. For convenience or reference, please place that 
number in brackets at the end ot the orders (CM ETO 430:3). 

//(fU!&t~ 
1 E. C. McNEIL, 

Brigadier General, United States Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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(277)Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the

' European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BO.ARD OF REVIEVI NO. l 7 NOV 1944 

CL! ETO 43C1) 

UNITED STATES) FIB.ST UNITED STATES J.re.iY. 
) 

v. ) Trial by Ger,;, convened at Head­
) quarters First United States A:rmy, 

Private THEROH W. McG.ANN ) near Fougerolles du Plessis, 
(39332102), Company A, 
32nd Signal Construction 
Battalion. 

) 
) 
) 

France; 28 August 1944. Sentence: 
To be hanged by the neck until 
dead. 

HOLDING by BO.AIW OF REVIE\1 NO. 1 

RITER, SARGENT and STEVEJ:.iS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its 
holding, to the Assistant Judce Advocate General· in charge of the Branch 
Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater of Opera­
tions. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 
Specification: In that Private Theron \7. McGann, 


Company A, 32nd Signal Construction 

Battalion, did, at Quibou, i\.lanche, France, 

on or about 5 August 1944, forcibly and 

feloniously, against her will have carnal 

knowledge of Madame Yvonne Emilienne Eugenia 

Vaudevire. · 


He pleaded not guilty and, all members of the court present at the time 
the vote was taken concurring, was found f,'Uilty o.f the Charge and 
Specification. Evidence was intrQduced of two previous convictions 
by summary court, one for absence without leave for three days in viola­
tion of Article of War 61, and one for''loitering on his post as. a 
sentinel in violation of Article.of War 961"1 • All members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken conciirring, he was sentenced to 
be hanged by the neck until dead. 

1 

The·reviewing authority, the Com­
ma.rtling General; First United States A:rrrry, approved the sentence and 
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forwarded the record of trial for action under Article of War 48. 
The confirming authority, the Commanding General, European Theater of 
Operations, confirmed the sentence and withheld the order directing 
execution thereof pursuant to the provisions of Article of War 50-h 

3. The evidence for the prosecution showed that on 5 August 
1944, accused's company was stationed about a mile north of Quibou, 
near Canisy, France (R7,20). On that date Madame Yvonne Vaudevire, 
of Paris, was living in Quibou with Madame Paulette Martin, a re.f'ugee 
from Cherbourg (RS,14-15). About 9:30 p.m. the two women were in 
Madame IJartin1s kitchen (R8,16) and two .female children were sleeping 
upstairs (Rl0,14). Mada'Ile Vaudevire could not speak or understand 
English but Madame Martin studied the language for two years and 
understood ·_it a _little (R9,16). 

Both women :testified that someone knocked "hard" on the door 
and, when Madame Vaudevire opened it, accused asked "How about pulling 
a piece?" Madame Vaudevire replied 11 No, impossible11 , whereupon he 
repeated his question and she made a similar reply. He then, unin­
vited, forced his way into the house and went over to ~1!ada.rne i.Iartin. 
He placed his hand on his revolver, which was in a holster, seized her 
about the waist and asked "Will you pull a piece?" She answered in 
English 11 No, impossible; tomorrow". He replied 11 Ho, tonight" (R8-9, 
16-17). !.!a.dame r.:artin said to r\~adame Vaudevire, who was standing 
near the door,· "Get out of the door so I can go out and call for help".' 
Madame Vaudevire replied 11 No", and accused then went to the door, lock­
ed it and put the key in his pocket. Holding ~ black (Rll) revolver 
he lined up the two women in front of him, one behind the other. 
lfadame Vaudevire, being afraid, raised her arms and said "Yes, I con­
sent" (R9 ,17). Accused came after her (R9), and r.1adame Hartin saw 
them go over to a davenport (R.17) which was in the kitchen (Rl0,17). 

l.Iadame Vaudevire .further testified as follows: 

Vfhen accused pointed the gun at the women. she·told him she 
preferred 11 to give in, not to shoot" (Rl2). She also told him the 
children were in a room upstairs but "may be he did not understand" 
(RlO). He removed her clothing in a rough manner, leaving her en­
tirely naked, and placed her garments on the davenport. He did not 
tear the clothing (Rl0,12). She was "kind of dizzy" and "very 
afraid" (R.12). He sat down on the davenport and, because she was 
"mostly dead than living", put her on his lap, naked, facing him (RlO, 
12). His penis then entered her private parts and he indulged in 
sexual intercourse with her. The "act was complete" and consu.~ed 
about 20-30 minutes (R9-ll). He used a rubber (R12). During the 
act Madame 1.iru·tin remained in the kitchen on the other side of' the 
room and covered her eyeo with her hands (Rl0-11). Accused looked 
steadily at !1'.adame r.:artin all the time, continually pointed his re­
volver at her and never put down the weapon for a moment (Rl0-11,13). 
The following questions and answers occurred during direct and cross­
examination of Madame Vaudevire: 
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"Q. 	 Why did you have intercourse with this 
accused? 

A. 	 Because he was going to kill us both 
(Rll). 

******** 
Q. 	 Did you consent to this act with the ac­

cused? 
A. 	 Mo; by force, because he wanted to kill 

us; if I consented it was to stop him 
from killing us. 

******** 
.Q. 	 .Do you mean you were frightened? 
A. 	 Yes; very afraid• 

.. 
Q. 	 That is what you mean by being more dead 

than living? 
A. 	 Yes; if I wouldn't have been afraid, I 

wouldn't have let him do it" (Rl2). 

Ma.dame Vau.devire further testified that accused had removed 
his jacket, and after the act was completed several bullets fell out 
o:t his pocket. He "roughly" made witness pick them up while he 
kept his revolver pointed at Ma.da~e 1Ja.rtin (Rll,13). After the 
bullets were recovered he pushed witness with his hand 

"but.he wanted to kill Mrs. Martin; I tried 
to make him understand not to commit an 
act 	like that; he was afraid that Mrs. 
Martin would not consent" (Rll). 

l!a.dame Martin testified that Madame Vau.devire "seeing the 
danger raised her arms and said, 'Yes, I consent'"• When Madame 
Vau.devire and accused went toward the davenport, witness hurried over 
to the table in the kitchen and stood about three or four meters away 
from the davenport with her hands over her eyes (Rl7,18,19). She 
did not observe the removal of the victim'~ clothing nor did she see 
where the clothes were placed (Rl9-20). Although she renained in 
the kitchen, witness did not observe the sexual act for she kept her 
eyes covered during the entire incident for a reason s~e could not 
explain (Rl7-18). She heard bullets fall on the floor (RlS), and 
thereafter saw Madame Vaudevire, clad in her underclothes, standing 
before accused trying to prevent him from shooting witness. "* * * 
he wanted to kill me. I had refused. He wanted to kill me". 
Witness did not know how lo~g she held her hands over her eyes (Rl7). 

Both women further testified in substance that accused then 
took J';ladam.e Martin's French-English dictionary, found the word ncom­
plaint" and indicated that no complaint was to be made concerning the 
incident, that he was leaving the next day. He was assured by the. 
women that no complaint would be made (Rll,17,19). Madame Vaudevire 
testified that they 11 had to consent to whatever he said to try jio 
get rid of him" (Rll). Accused offered a cigarette to his victim, 
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took one himself, put his revolver back into its holster, opened the 
door with the key which he had in his pocket and departed (Rll,17). 
I.:adame Vaudevire finished dressing before he left (Rll). Madame 
Eartin testified that accused pointed the pistol at her twice, once 
after he entered' the house and once when he ordered her not to com­
plain about the affair {Rl8,19). The following afternoon (Sunday) 
Madame Vaudevire reported the incident to the police.· She did not 
make a complaint on the evening of the incident because it was dark, 
tvm two small children were upstairs, and the women did not want to 
go out. The following night (l'l:onday) she identified accused at an. 
identification parade of soldiers (RJ.4,20). Both witnesses iden­
tified accused at the trial (RS,16,19). 

On cross-examination Captain Herman P. Siebken, com.'na?lding 
officer of accused's cor.ipany (R6-7), testified that he had known ac­
cused for about 14 months. He could not testify that accused was 

"mentally unbalanced or aeything like · 
that. He could be where he was a 
good soldier, at times, and then a.gain 
he wasn't" (R22). · 

I 

He was known to be a prevaricator (R22). 

On 8 Aqgust agent John Tl. Landon, 16th Military Police CIS, 
Criminal Investigation Department, interviewed accused and, after ad­
vising him of his rights, took his statement which Landon reduced to 
writing. The statement, which was signed by accused, was obtained 
without threats or promises and it was admitted in evidence, the de­
fense stating there was no objection thereto (R22-24; Pros.Ex.l). 
It was, in pertinent pa.rt, as follows: 

"On Saturday Aug 5, 1944 at about 1930 hrs 
I left our bivouac area and went souviner 
hunting in sor.ie fields near.Canisy, France 
near Quibou also. I had started back 
about 2300 hrs, I did not have a watch and 
just guessed at the time, about 2345 I 
arrived at a farm house and knockeq on the 
door, a woman opened the door and I walked 
in. there was another woman in the room, 
I asked them both for a·piece of ass ~n 
French, as best I could, rrry expression was, 
1Sil vous plait Madame, Voulez-Vous tirer 
un coup?' they both talked to each other 
in French a tew minutes I took rrry gun out 
and the brwiett I' .now know as Madame Vaudevire 
came over to me and in a coy manner. I 
then motioned for her to go to the davenport 
and with my gun I motio~ed for the short 
wooan I now know· as Madame Martin to go in a 
corner and stay there. I went to the 
davenport with !.\a.dame Vaudevire and started 
loveing her up, I pulled her dress up and 
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I sat on the davenport &nd nade her sit on 
my lap faceing me, this is the position I 
used to have intercourse with. I used a 
rubber during this intercourne I then 
&Ot up and put my fatigue jacket back on, 
I had removed it when I started the inter­
course, when I put it on some live ammwrl­
tion fell out of a pocket and she picked 
it up. the other woman !;:adam I.lartin sat 
in the corner and was faceing away from us 
during the intercourse. After we finish­
ed t:adame Vaudevire took out a French 
dictionary and looked up something and said 
something about 11 comrade" and I looked up 
the word "complaint" and made her under­
stand she was not to do this, I also told 
her that Vie were leaving there the next day 
and she should not say anything until I had 
left, also even after I had gone. I lit 
a cigarette and offered her one, v.a stood 
around a rninuit or so and I then gave her 
back the key to the door and she unlocked 
it and I left, I had taken the key and 
locked the' door when I first came in. I 
was definitely not drunk, I did have two or 
three drinks out of a jug of cider that a 
French civilian man gave me earlier in the 
evening." 

4. The defense offered no evidence and, upon being advised of 
his rights, accused elected to remain silent (R24). 

5. 	 "Rape is the unlawful ~arnal knowledge of a 

woman by force and without her consent. 


*****.;(•**** 
Force and want of consent are indispensable 
in rape; but the force involved in the act 
of penetration is alone sufficient where 
there is in fact no consent" (ECI.:, 1928, 
par.148~, p.165). 

11The force. The force implied in thE? term 
'rape' may be of any sort, if sufficient to 
overcome resistance, * +:· * It is not 
~ssential that the force employed consist 
in physical violence; it may be exerted in 
part or entirely by other forms of duress, 
or by threats of killing or of grievous 
bodily harm or other injury * * *· 

l'Ton-consent. .Absence of free will, or non­
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consent, on the part of the female, may con: 
sist and appear * * * in her yielding through 
reasonable f ee.r of death or extreme injury im­
pending or threatened; * * * in the fact 
that her will has been constrained, or her 
passive acquiescence obtained, by * * * other 
controlling means of influence" (Winthrop's 
~tllita.I7 Law and Precedents - Reprint, pp. 
677-678) (Underscoring supplied). i .' 

11 Acguiescence through fear not consent. Con­
sent, however reluctant, negatives rape; but 
when the woman is insensible through fright or 
where she ceases resistance under fear of 
death or other great harm (such fear being gag­
ed by her own capacity), the conswmnated act 
is rape" (1 Wharton's Criminal Law, 12th Ed., 
sec.701, p.942) (Underscoring supplied). 

"The extent and character of the resistance re­
quired of a woman to establish her lack of 
consent depend upon the circumstances and rela­
tive strength of the parties, and not upon the 
presence or absence of bruises or other 
physical injuries". CM 236801 (1943) (Bull. 
JAG, Vol.II, No.8, Aug 1943, sec.450, p.310). 

\ 

"Carnal knowledge· of the female with her con­
sent is not rape, provided she is above the 
age of consent, or is capable in the eyes of 
the law of giving consent, or her consent is 
not extorted by threats and fear of immediate 
bodily harm. * * * There is a difference be- · 
tween consent and submission; every consent 
involves submission, but it by no means follows 
that a mere submission involves consent" (52 
CJ, sec.26, pp~l016,1017) (Underscoring 
supplied). 

No elaborate discussion of the evidence is required in this 
case. The identity of accused as the assailant and the fact of 
intercourse with his victim were freely admitted by accused in his 
voluntary written statement~ The testimony of Madame Vaudevire to 
the effect that she submitted to the act of intercourse solely be­
cause of accused's menacing use of his revolver, and her resultant 
.utter terrorization and fear of impending death if she did not sub­
mit, was substantially corroborated by the testimony of Madame Martin~ 
Further, accused in his written statement substantially admitted his 
eommission of the offense alleged. He stated that he knocked on 
·the door and when it was opened he entered, locked the door and kept 
the key. He then asked the two women for intercourse, used his re­
vo1ver in order to effect his purpose, ma.de Liada.rae Vaudevire sit. on 
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his' lap facing him, and ordered I.1adame i\artin "to go in a corner and 
stay there". After the act was completed he warned the women that 
they were not to make any 11 comple.int" concerning the incident, and 
surrendered the key to the door when he departed. The court's find­
ings of guilty were supported by a wealth of substantial competent 
evidence and wil~ not be disturbed by the Board of Review upon appel­
late review (CM ETO 3141, Whitfield; CM ETO 3709, 1:artin; CM ETO 4194, 
~;>CM ETO 3740, Sanders,~}. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 23 years one month of 
age and was inducted at Portland, Oregon, 13 May 1943, to serve for Ii 

the duration of the war plus six months. He had prior service in 
the Oregon Hational Guard, 162nd Infantry, from 4 September 1940 to 
22 August 1941 and was discharged· as a private because of a convic­
tion by a civil court - character poor. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affectine the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of 
Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

S. The penalty for rape is death or life imprisonment, as the 
court-martial may direct {AW 92). 

Judge Advocate -
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1st Ind. 


Har Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 7 NOV 1944 TO: Commanding 
General, European Theater of Operations, APO 887, U. S. Army. 

1. In the case of Private THERON W. L!cGANH (.39.332102), Company A, 
J2nd Signal Construction Battalion, attention is invited to the forego­
ing holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which 
holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 
50i, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. ~·/hen copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding, this in­I 
dorsement and the record of' trial v:hich is delivered to you herewith. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 4309. For 
convenience_ of reference, please plS:ce that number in brackets at the 
end of the order: (Cl1 ETO 4309). · 

.3. Should the sentence as imposed by the court be carried into 
execution it is requested that a complete copy of the proceedings be 
.furnished this offic.a..in order that its files may be complete. 

. . ' 
'' .'///,,. /:;tA..-L?.,..? ,. 

,· ,, ,,ri/ . .~/·/; . . c....- I 

/.~~. t-C: ·.~cNEIL, / 
Brigadie~ General, United States A:rnry,

I Assistant Judge Advocate GeneraJ - . 

(Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 104, ETO, 15 Nov 1944) 
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Eranc~ Office of 'l'he Judge Mvocate Goneral 
with the 

European Theater of Operations 
APO 887 

BOA.i":>JJ OF FEVIE~'f :rn. 2 9 DEC 1944 
Cl.: :ETD 4332 

UI!I'i'ED S T .A. T E S 	 ) ADV.dhCE SECTIOlJ, co::.mrrc.ATI015 zorE, 
} FUtOPfJ\.F TfiEATER OF OPi"·P..ATIOl'iS. 

v. 	 } 
) Trial by GCf.;, convened at Neav.phle­

Technician Fifth Grade ) Le-Chateau, France, 26 September 
JOSEPH L. SUTTO;;, (32917452), ) 1944. s~ntence: Dishonorable 9is­
4010 ~u&rtermaster Truck Coffpany, \ 

) charge, total forfeitures, and con­
(TC) ) finement at hard labor for fifteen 

) years and six months. tnited States 
\ 
) Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pe1.nsylvania, 

HOLD IliG by .ao;c-m C·F rJ::VIJ!;W i<O. 2 

VAN 3Ei.SCE01'E~·l, HILL and SL::EPI.:R, Jl.i_dge .b.dvocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board 0f Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifica­
tions: 

Ci.AEGE I: Violation of -:.he 93rd Article of i:ar. 

Specification 1: In that Teclmician Fifth Grade 
Joseph L. Sutton, 4010 !2uarterriaster Truck 
Cor.ipany ('i'C) did, a.t or near St. Pierre-Du­
I::onte, Fri;..."1ce, on or about 25 Aw,ust 1944, 
with intent to do him bodily harm, cof!lillit an 
assault upon Ser£':eant Armstead r.. Steward, 
by snooting at him with a dangerous weapon 
to wit, a carbine. 

Specification 2: In that * * * did, at or near 
St. Pierre-Du-l:onte, France, on or about 25 
August 1944, with intent to do him bodily 
harm, commit an assault upon Private First 
Class Junior I.:aeee, b:" shooting at him with 
a dant;~rous w~a.po11 to wit, a carbine. 
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Specification 3: In that * * * did, at or near 
St. Pierre-Du-Monte, Francej on or about 25 
Auguat 1944, with/intent to do him bodily 
harm, commit an assault upon Private James 
P. Lonon, by shotbting at him with a danger­
ous weapon to wit, a carbine. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 63rd Article of War. 

Specification: In.that*** did, at or near 
st. Pierre-Du-Monte, France, on or abou~25 

' 	 August 1944, behave himself with disrespect 
toward First Lieutenant Henry B. Zuidema, his 
superior officer, by saying to him while point­
ing at him a loaded carbine 11Don1t touch me or 
I'11 kill you" or words to that effect. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of all charges 
and specifications. Evidence of two previous·convictions was 
introduced, one by summary court for disrespect towards a super­
ior officer and one by special court-martial for assault upon a 
fellow soldier, in violation of Articles of War 63 and 93 respec­
tively. He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the ser­
vice, ·to forfeit all pay and allmvances due or to become due, and 
to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing 
authority may direct, for 15 years and six months. The reviewing 
authority.approved the sentence, designated the United States Peni­
tentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement, 
and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to the pro­
visions of Article of War 5o§-. 

3. A sw:una.ry of the evidence, as related by witnesses for the 
prosecution is substantially as follows: 

Snecification 1: 

Sergeant Armstead L. Steward, 4010th Quartermaster Truck 
Company, identified accused as a member of his. organization and 
testified that on 25 August 1944: , 

11m1en I first notided him he was not far from Adams , 
and I walked up to him and told him to put the gun 
down, and he said, 'What the hell h&.ve you got to 
do with it' and said 1Get in front of me•, and I 
took him at his word and ·got in front of him. I, 
stopp~d and he said, 1Lake a. move and I 111 shoot 
you 1 • I hit the gun and it went off. He told 
me to go ahead and walk in fron~ of him, which I 
did. * * '*: \le walked on· up to my tent and I 
said 1.Sutton, I've got a can of pucding in here, 
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can I get it? 1 He said, 'Yes, but don't 
make any funny movement or I'll shoot•. 
I got the pineapple pudding, JJut we didn't 
have a can opener. * * * I ran behind the 
truck. * * * When I got behind the truck 
I saw Lieutenant Zuidema running dovm, and 
I heard an 1OJ shot~ The next time I saw 
him, Lieutenant Zuidema had brought him to 
the orderly room" (R20,21). 

Sergeant Steward i'urther testified that he had played with accused 
in the past but never with firearms; and that: "I just told him to 
put the gun dovm * * * I wasn't playing then". Whereupon accused 
said: 

111 V/hat the hell you got to do with it, get 
in front of me and if you make any quick 
movements I'll shoot'. I took a couple 
of steps, and he had the gun pointed dovm, 
and I took my left arm and hit the gun 
that is when gun went off. He had it 
pointed like that (indicating)". 

He was asked 'Facing you?" To which he answered, "That is right, 
sir" (f.21). The sergeent said that accused had a 11 carbine11 , that 
"he wasn't smiling" and 11 ! Vias thinking if I didn't march I vroUld 
get shot, so I marched" (R.22,23). 

On cross-examination Sergeant Steward testified that he 
did not :::ee accused fire •the carbine; that h~ did no'j; have it 
po:lr.1ted at h1rn but 11 to the left of 1me" 'and at port ar!!ls; that the 
gun went off when he /jjtewa.rfil hit it (R23). 

Specification 2: 

?rivate First Class Junior Maeee, 4010th ~lua.rtermaster 
Truck Company, testified as follows: 

"I was playin~that evening, drimkirig a little 
bit, and he Laccusefil got high and started 
playing a little rough, and he cut·n:e on the _ 
finger with a knife. He gave me the knife to 
cut him, and I threw it into the weeds. He 
wanted the knife--he wanted to make me get it, 
so I went and tried to find i~ and I couldn't, 
so he went and got his rifle and came back 
and was going to r.iake me find i tn (P..5). 
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Ee further testified that we were 

11 just playing. :1 e always did play, but 

Sutton made me ma.d '*· * * He went a.nd got 

his :ifle a.nd told me I ha.d better find 

it, * '*· * to show him where I threw the 

knife * i(· ~· I pointed in the weeds * * -K· 


/:a.n:fl Sutton fired the rifle * * * /fi.e waJil 

Id.,:.it beside me * * * he fired right at my 

finger * * * I felt the shot". 


Asked if he felt the shot Magee replied "Yes, Sir, go by the end 
of my finger" (R~,9,11). Magee testified on cross-exa.r.iination that 
accused did not point the carbine at him but that he pointed it over 
in the bushes; that he a.nd the accm:ed were good friends when the 
incldent happened and were good friends now; that they had been 
drinking toe;e4:.her during the afternoon fo question (R?,9,10). 

Specification 3: 

Private James P. Lonon, 4010th· Quartermaster Truck Company, 
testified that on 25 August 1944: 

11 ! was working on a truck. I am an assistant 

driver, a.nd we were taking the top off to make. 

it stationary. Vie saw Sutton and I;:agee playing 

and they were looking in the bushes, I. don't lmow 

what they were looking for, and I heard a shot go 

off. I looked over and saw Sutton with a gtui, 

and I didn't pay much mind, so vre went on work­

ing, and about 15 minutes later I heard another 

shot and looked around and Sutton was with 

Sergeant Steward, and 'they walked up to where 

I was working. I said, 'Sutton, may I speak to 

you a minute•,*** we had also been playing 

together, and he said, 'You come along too'. He 

told us to get in front of him. Sergeant Steward 

ha.d promised me a can of pineapple, and he asked 

Sutton if I could go in and get it. I did,-but 

we didn't have anything to open it with so I 

asked Sutton·if I could go over to my tent and 

get a knife, and he said '.Eo 1 • He didn 1 t answer 

me right away and I started on a.l'ld he said, 

'Don't take another step or I'll shoot you'. I 

thought he was kidding, I took another step, and 

I heard a shot fired. I went over to my· tent 

where I had my 1 03, and I took it out. Sutton 

and I were pretty good friends, so I tried to 

talk to him because the shooting now was close 

to the officers, al'ld it would bring them do\n1 

on him, and he would r;et into a lot of trouble. 

I shot in the ground and it didn't have any,ef­

fect, so I ran buck to the fence were the rest 

of the troops were. Lieutenant Zuidema came 4332. 

http:Id.,:.it


ummoENTIAL 

(289) 
down and went over and said someti,ing to 
Sutton. He was about 50 yards from ine, 
and he caine over and asked me for my gun 
and went bacl: over and got Sutton and my­
fel.f, and took us up to the or,derly room" 
(Rll-12). 

Lonon amplified his statement. 

11 He /ftuttoi} had a carbine * * * I obeyed 
him*** We went to Sergeant Steward's 
tent which is about 20 feet .from my tent 
* * * when I started to make a motion to 
start the gun went off, and as I was not 
looking in the general direction of the 
gun I couldn't tell whether he was shoot­
ing at me or not * * * I went * * * about 
18 .feet * * * and hid behind the trailer 
i<· * * Sergeant Steward left the same time 
I did, when Sutton shot at me he ran" 
(Rl2,13). 

Asked if he was playing when accused fired, Lonon replied 11 No, Sir". 
However, accused was "laughing" when Private Lonon e.nd Sergeant 
Steward were marching in front of him (Rl6). · 

On cross-examination, Lonon testified that he and Sutton 
were good friends and had 11done lots of playing together", includ­
ing 11 rough play" when "some shots were fired by me and the accused"; 
that on the day in question he did not see Sutton shoot the gun as 
11 he had the gun across his knee -l!· * * I told him to be careful as 
it was loaded. I started to walk, when I heard the shot". Lonon 
was about 11 6 .feet" away at the time. 

Snecification of Charge II: 

Lieutenant Harry B. ZuideCTa, 4010th Quartermaster Truck 
Company, {R26) testified as follows: 

"On this particular night I had been up to 
the commandir.g officer's quarters; * * * 
I heard a shot when I was sitting there 
but paid no attention to it because· there 
was shooting in the different cor1panies or 
had been shooting in different companies 
e'\-ery now and then. I left the company 
conunander's quarters and started down toward 
the first platoon, * * * I heard another 
carbine shot. * * * it sounded to me like 
it was in the vicinity of the second pl"atoon. 
* * * I got half way down the field and I 
heard another shot and I recognized that shot 
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as being in our company area, so I doubled 
tirr.ed dmm to where I heard' the shot. On 
my way down I saw the r.~en evacuatir:g the area 
of the second platoon &.nd going in the opposite 
direction of the shot. When I got down near 
the trucks I saw Sutton ducking behind a truck 
and he,. had his carbine, but I dicn 1 t see who 
he was firing at. I asked him what he was 
doing and he pointed the gun ~.t me and ~aid, 
'Don't touch me or 1 will have to kill you. 
James Lanen and reyself are having it out'. 
I tried to explain to him that shooting rifles 
a.t each other \1ould lead to someor:e getting 
killed, and he told rr.e. it was either going to 
be him or I,onon. I told him to point t!'le gun 
in another direction and he did. He wouldn't 
let me have the gun. I asked him for it three 
or four times, and each tiMe I would ask him 
for it he would say 'Don't touch me or I 1 ll 
kill you•. I reasoned with him, and told 
him if I got Lonon•s gun would he give me his 
gun and he said, 1Yes 1 • Ee wouldn't give me 
his gun until I got Lonon•s. I went e.nd 

. asked 	Lonon for his gun and he immediately 
gave me his gun, and I went back to Sutton 
and then he gave me his gun. I then took 
the two men up to the orderly room. Before 
Sutton gave me his carbine he took the clip 
out of it, and I looked in both of the cham­
bers of the guns and one bullet was in them~ 
(R27). . 

Asked in what position accused held the gun at the time he was 
told to surrender it, Lieutenant Zuidema replied: 

"He had it pointed at me, clip in the carbine, 
an,d finger on the trigger, ready to shoot 
* * * in a ready position" (R28). 

He further testified that accused "raised his voice" and to tr.at 
extent he was disrespect:f.'lll; that his manner of speech was convinc- , 
ing (R28,29). The men of the company, except those up·at tte front, 
or when attacked, or unless on guard, were not allowed to have am­
nrunition in their rifles or carbines. There had been two or three 
meetings in which t.h~y had been warned against the promiscµous 
firing of guns (R29). 

Captain Jose L. Robert, 1.iedical Corps, testified that 
shortly ai'ter the incidents occurred he exat'ined accused and found 
that he had a "strong alcoholic breath" but that 11 he Vias not drunk 
physically or mentally"; that Sutton was "sober" and in 11 .t'ull posses­
sion of his faculties" ·(R30). 
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4. The evidence on behalf of accused con~ists of the testi ­

mony of the first sergeant of accused's organization who had 
known accused as a soldier for a year and testified as follows: 

"I h4ve found Private Sutton very coopera­
tive since he has been in this company. 
I have never had any trouble with him in 
carrying out orders. I<one of my other 
non-commissioned officers have had trouble 
with him. I have never called him down 
for being insubordinate. I do not consider 
him a dangerous man in any way. Ee has 
taken orders from me any number of times 
that I know any number of other soldiers 
would have balked at. Sir, since he has 
been awaiting trial I have not had him Ul!­

der guard. I trusted him as a soldier and 
as a man, and he didn't leave the bivouac 
area. Basically I don't consider him a 
dangerous man. At that particular time, 
I imagine you would call it war strain. 
He, perhaps got hold of too much cognac, 
and I don 1 t think he was responsible for 
what he did 11 (R33). 

Accused, after being fully informed, by the court, of his 
rights as a witness, elected to remain silent. 

I 

5. Concerning Specification 1 of Charge I, the proof shows 
that the sergeant of accused's unit walked up to ~utton who was 
carrying a loaded weapon and told him to "put the gun down". 
Whereupon accused made certain insubordinate remarks and ordered 
the sergeant 11 to f;;et in front" of him, at the same time threaten­
ing the se~eant by saying, "make a move and I'11 shoot you". 
The sergeant then "hit the gun and it went off". He testified 
that he 11wasn 1 t playing then''; and that "I was thinking if I 
didn 1 t march I would get shot, so I marched". Although the ser­
geant testified that accused did not point the guri directly at 
him but rather "down", 11 to the left" and at 11port arr:J.s", his testi ­
mony establishes an assault with a deadly weapon by showing that 
accused, armed with a loaded carbine, threatened to shoot and there­
by forced him to "march";, supporting, as well, the inference of in­
tent. The allegation of the specification that the cssault was 
committed "by shooting at him" was mere surplusage (Cf.i ETO 764; 
Copeland and Ruggles). Questions concerning the credibility of 
witnesses and the resolving of disputes of fact are issues for 
the sole determination of the court and unless palpably in error, 
such findings will not be disturbed by, the Board of P.eview on 
appellate review (CM El'O 1899, Ricks; CM ETO 19~3, Lewis). 
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As to Specifications 2 and 3 of Charge I, the eddence 
shows that accused shot 1.n the direction of Private First Class 
!1~agee and Pr:J.vate Lonon when the former was pointing into the 
bushes where he had thrown accused's knife, and in the direction 
of the latter when Lonon started to leave the tent. 1lagee felt 
the bullet graze his fineer and Lonon was only a.bout six feet 
frora the tent when accused fired the carbine. '.l.'he handling of 
the firearu in these instances was such as would likely produce 
death or great bodily harm. The facts and cirCu.mstances clearly 
indicate that accused was careless and reckless in the use of a 
loaded weapon; that he had been drinkine; the.t he made repeated 
threats to and demands upon l;iagee and Lonon and that in the 
execution of these threat~ he fired the weapon at or near them. 
He was therefore properly fomid guilty, under Specifications 2 
and 3, of assault with intent to do bodily ha.rm with a dangerous 
weapon, as all~ced (Cti ETO 3475, Black-well; Ci.! ETO 764, Copeland; 
Cl1: ETO 2899, Reeves) • 

The record contains much evidence to the effect that 
accused and the victims assaulted and allegedly assaulted were 
engaged in rough play with firearms - a sort of war game in which 
each gave commands and accepted orders; that accused and the victims 
were good friends; that there could not have been, under the cfr­
cumstances, malice, ill will, or the required intent to do bodily 
harm. However, the record contains evidence to the contrary. The 
findings of the court, where supported by substantial evidence will 
not be disturbed upon appellate review {CM EI'O 1953, Lewis; supra 
and authorities cited therein). 

Concerning the Specification of Che.ree· II the evidence is 
substantial and uncontradicted that accused behaved himself in an 
insubordinate and disrespectful manner tovrards Lieutenant Zuidema, 
Lis superior officer, on the da.te and under the circUI'l.st.ances, as 
alleged. 

6. The charge sheet show& that accused is 24 yea.rs of age. 
He was inducted, without prior service, at Newark, New Jersey, 24 
.b.pril 1943. 

7. The court ·.ras legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the 
substantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board of ~eview is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 
The desibnation of the United States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsy­
lvania, as the place of confinement is authorized {Cir.229, WD, 8. 
June 1944, sec.II, par.11:4, .3E)• 
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$. Confinement in a penite!ltiary is authorized for assault 

w5.th a dan::;erous weapon (AW 42, sec.276, Federal Criru.nal Code, 18 
USCA 455). 

r;;;:- \ - .
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•. ~..,1 ·ti- ,lc....•th.-."4-#,,·.n 0 Judge J.dvocate 

,fin~ Juaee Advocate 

4·~~ Jud;;e ;.dvocate 
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1st Ind. 

·ilar Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate GenerJ :id.:th1 
the Europea."l Theater of Operations. 9 nEC 19.14 TO~ CoJ!i-i 
manding General, Advance Section, Comnnm1ca1.1ons Zone, European' 
Theater of Operations, A:PO 113, U. s. Arrrry. 

1. In the case of Technician Fifth Grade JOSEPH L. · SUTI'OH, 
{32917458), 4010 1~uartermaster ':ruck Company, (TC), attention 
is invited to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the 
record of trial is legally sUfficient to support the findings of 
guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. Under 
the 'provisions of Article of War 5Dt, you now have authority to 
order execution of the sentence. 

2. '\'ihen copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and 
this indorsement., The file number of the record in this office iS 
CE ETO 4332. For convenience of reference, please place that number 
in brackets at the end of the order: (Cfi! E~O 4332) ., 

·AfY#'//1 . 
- ~ ·'.'. 

/ E(c. McI'iEIT.~: 
Brigadier General, United States Arf!J3', 


Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Branch ()ffice of The Judge -:Advocate General (295) 
_ with .the . 

European Theater or Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO· 2 

8 NOV1944 
CM ETO 4337. 

UNITED STATES 	 ) CENI.'RAI.. BASE SECTION, COMM!JNICATION3 
) ZONE, .EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPERATio:s· 

v. ) 

Second Lieutenant RANDOLPH 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened in London, 
En.gland, 17 August 1%4• Sentc-nce.; 

wm3LOW (0-11111/.49), Head­ ) Dis:nissal. 
quarters and Service Com­ ) 

. pany, 660th Engineer Topo­ ) 
graphic Battalion, Corps ) 
of Engineers • ) 

HOIDIID by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SI.EEPER, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the .Assistant Judge Advocate General with the European 
Theater of ,Operations. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following ·charges and specifica­
tions a 

CHARGE; Violation of the 6lat Article of Wai:. 

Specifications In that 2d Lt Randolph Winslow, Head­
quarters and Service Comfiany 660th Engineer Topo­
graphic Battalion, ETOU3A1 did, without proper 
leave, absent himself from his station at Dis­
trict I, Kew, Surrey, England, from about 1 J'Uzy 
1944, to about 3· July 1944· 

ADDITIONAL CHARGES 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 58th .AJ::ticle of War. 

Specification: In that 2nd Lieutenant Randolph Win­
slow, Headquarters and Service Company, 660th 

4337 
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Enc;ineer Topographic Battalion, E"J.ropean Theater 
of Operatio:is, u. s • .Army, did, at Kew, Surrey. 
Engla"ld, on or about 15 July 1944, desert the 
service of the United States and did remain ab­
sent in desertion until he was apprehended at Lon­
don, Engla.'1dt on or about 31 July 1944· 

CF.ARJE II: Violation of the 69th Article of War. 

(Finding of Not Guilty.) 


Specification: (Finding of Not Guilty.) 


CHA.~~ III: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 
{Finding of Not Guilty.) 

Specification: (Finding of Not Guilty.) 

He pleaded not guilty to all the charges and specifications. He was found 
guilty of the original Charge and Specification.; guilty of the Specifica­
tion of Additional Charf$e I, except the vrords 11 desert 11 and •in desertion•, 
substituting therefor, respectively, the words."absent himself without leave 
from" and "without leave", of the excepted words, not guilty, of the sub­
stituted words, t;ttilty; of the Additional Charge It not guilty, but guilty 
of a violation of the 6lst Article of War; and not guilty of Additional 
Charges II and III and their respective specifications. Evidence was in­
troduced of one previous conviction by general court-martial for absences 
without leave for eight days and. for three days, in violation of Article 
of War 61. He was sentenced to be dismissed the service. The approving 
authority, the Commanding General, united Kingdom Base, Communications 
zone, European Theater of Operations, approved the sentence and forwarded 
the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of '\1ar 48. The confirm­
ing authority, the com:aanding General, European Theater of Operations, con­
firmed the sentence, stating it was "wholly inadequate", and withheld the 
order directil1g execution thereof pursuant to the provisions of Article Qf 
'\1ar 50h 

J• The evidence for the prosecution PhOWS that on 1 July 1944 ac­
cused was a Second Iieutena"lt of the 660th Engineer Topographic Battalion, 
xew Gardens, Surrey. On 1 July the battalion adjutant received from Cap­
tain Moore of Company "A", said battalion, with which company accused was 
at that time on duty, a report as to the status of accused as the result 
of which by search it was found that accused was absent (R7-10). On 3 July 
accused returned to the battalion and was ordered by his battalion commander 
to arrest in quarters. Thereafter he slept in a room assigned to the of­
ficer of the day. The area occupied by the unit at that time was entirely 
enclosed by barbed wire and a wooden fence and all entrances and exists 
were guarded (Rll). On 13 J~ly it was reported to the battalion adjutant 
that accused had attempted to leave.the premises and he advised accused 
that he (accused) was in arrest in quarters and if he attempted again to 
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leave the premises, his confinement in the guardhouse would be 
requested. On the evening of 14 July the battalion adjutant in­
formed accused that the Staff Judge Aclvoeate of Central Base Sec­
tion in London, wished to speak to him and that a vehicle would 
be furnished him next morning to mal;:e the trip and on completion 
of the interview, he was to immediately return. Later the ag­
jutant saw the driver and, as a result of his report, searcHYthe 
building and found accused absent., Inquiries at accused's form.er 
billet and elsewhere, failed to locate hL'n and he was not found in 
the area again until 3 .August, althoubh repeated search was made 
(Rl3). The morning report of accused's unit for 3 July was ad­
mitted in evidence as Prosecution :EY..J1ibi t 1. It shovrs accused 
fro,,'Tl duty to "AWOL eff 1 July" and "AWOL to ~ in q_rs 0800 11 • The 
morning report of accused's unit for 17 Jul~'was admitted in evi­
dence as Prosecution Exhibit 2 (RJl). It shows accused •Fr ar in 
qrs to AWOL eff 1700 15 July". 

'Ihe porter at the Jules American Red Cross Club in L::>ndon, 
testified that on 31 July 1944 he came in contact with accused, find­
ing him asleep on a floor unoccupied and not let to officers, at 
about 7,30 o'clock in the morning. He atter.:pted to arouse accused 
end then called the head porter (R23)• Some ten minutes later he 
saw accused coming down from the roof with a "C.I.D. officer". Ac­
cused seemed to be in a drunken stupor and he found a half bottle 
of whiskey in a locker at the side of the bed accused had occupied 
(R24). Accused was brourllt into the Provost Marshal's office in 
London about midmorning of 31 July by a "C.I.D. Agent" and was sent 
to the dispensary for examination and then confined. He appeared 
drunk (R26). 

Agent John H. Bryant, 8th Military Police, Crir.linal In­
vestigation Section, in response to a phone call about 0930 hours 
31 JUly, went to the Jules .American'Red Cross Club where he found 
accused in the office of the Club Director from where he was taken 
to the g~ardhouse. He was intoxicated (R27). Later, on the follow­
ing day (R30), Bryant was present when accused, after due warning 
as to his rights, made a written statement which was admitted in evi­
dence as Prosecution Exhibit No. 4 (R28). (In this stateme~t accused 
admits all the essential elements ot the <:£ feiiaes of which he was 
found guilty. ) 

4. The evidence for the defense shows that accused for at 
•least a month• prior to 5 July 1944 had slept in the •o.n.• roam 
outside the door of which ia a bell at least 12 inchea,in diameter 
rung a.s a warning whenever buzz bombs were coming over. It rung 
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on one occasion 17 times in a 24-hour period. Otherwise, also, ac­
cused's sleeping place was noisy (:FG2-JJ). 

Accused as a witness testified that he had approximately 
four years and eight months service in the regular ariey" prior to his 
current enlistment, was commissioned on 1 March 194J, after graduat-· 
ing frcim Officers• Candidate School, came to the European Theater of 
Operations in February 1944, end to his present unit late in May 19~-4· 
Dlring the six weeks prior to 27 June he had been restricted to the 
post, sleeping in the officer of the day's room, a busy place in ad­
dition to having the buzz bo..'llb alar.rn in the adjoining corridor. Dur­
ing this time he acted as Assistant Operations Officer. On 27 June 
he was released from •restriction to limits". He left the post on 
the evening of .3 0 J'une , a Friday, and returned the following Monday• 
It was not necessary to secure permission to leave. He· reported to 
captain r.!oore at the regular time for duty on the Monday morning and 
was told that he was "restricted to the post" until such time as Moore 
could talk to the adjutant (RJ7-J8). Tb.is restriction was never changed 
to arrest in c;i.uarters. On 13 July Captain Minor told him, lrYou under­
stand you are restricted to the post, and if you should make any at ­
tempt to leave I should be forced to have you sent down to the CBS 
guardhouse and confined 11 (:FG 9). on the evening of Friday, 14 July, he 
was told to report to the "TJA" in IJ::>ndon on the 15th of July, and he 
did so. He did not return in the same vehicle as the driver had some 
other errands and accused told him that he (accused) would return by 
tube. He did not return to his unit but stayed in London, at the Nor­
mandie Hotel, the •Jules Club• and with various civilians, register­
ing in his correct name and at all times wearing his complete uniform 
(:FG9). His intention was to return to his unit. On cross-examination, 
he admitted that on his release from restrictions he went back to his 
billet for one night only and then returned to sleep on the post as it 
was more convenient. ~e two days he was absent, 1 and 2 July, he per­
formed no military duties nor any on the night of JO June (R40). He 
knew on l J'11..ly that his unit was alertrd and that he was to get his 
equipment together and stay with his company (R41). He had made no 
arrangement to take off Saturday, l July, and on JO June had been told 
to "Get your stuff ready and then report to the Operations Officer". 
He did not consider he was absent without leave on 1 July (R42). He 
admitted that when he reported to Captain Moore on the morning of .3 
J'Uly, he was asked for some explanation of where he had been and had 
answered, "I don't want to offer any explanation, but I do ask you to 
forgive me for making a mistake" and that he _had been kept in so long 
he •had to get out and let off some steam•. At that ti.me he was told 
he could not be excused and charges would be preferred against him 
and that he "was restricted to the post" by which he understood he 'was 
not to leave the area until released by_proper authority (Rl:.J). He 
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knew that charges were pending againat him during the period 3 .Tuly 

to 15 July (R46) and there was nothing to prevent him from return­
ing to his unit v;hen his interview was completed on 15 .Tuly or dur­
ing the following two weeks until 31 July (R47). The neuropsychiatric 

officer of the 7th General Dispensary testified that he observed ac­

cused for about one hour on 3 Aug..lBt; that accused was sane and had 

alTiays been sane, was responsible for his actions and knew the differ­

ence between right and wrong (R48-49); that in his opinion accused had 

difficulty in making the change-over from an enlisted man to an officer 

(R50). 


5. The 6lst Article of War 

•is 	designed to cover evecy case not elsewhere 
provided for where any person subject to mili ­
tary law is through his own fault not at the 
place where he is required to be at a time when 
he should be there" (MCM, 1928, par.132, pp.145­
146 ). 

~e record of trial clearly indicates, and accused admita his unauthor­
''lz'ed absences, aggravated by the further fact that the second absence 
occurred at a time when he knew he was restricted to the post under pend­
ing court-martial charges for his first absence. 

-'· 
6. The charge sheet shows accused to be 37 years seven months of 

age. He was appointed a Second Ueutenant, "AIJS, c.E. 11 , 1 March 1943· 

He stated that he had four years and eight months prior service. 


'• 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rii;hts of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to sup­
port the findin~ of g..iilty and the sen.;ence. Dismissal is authorized 
uni er Article of War 61. 

Judge Adv.::>c..ite 

___.C....sr...... ..... ____ ___ J"udge Advocate ..m{....TI_.r .._R_CS?. IT_,__A=-iL) 

J'..idge Advocate 

- _,t:; ­ 4337
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'\'Tar Dep:ll'tment, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General v:i th the 
European Theater of Operations. 13 NOV 1944 TOa COlllffinnd­
ing General, European Theater of Qperatio'1S, .KPO 887, U.S. krmy~ 

1. In the case of Second Lieutena..rit R.A}'!DOLPH WTI:SLG'V (0-1111449), 
Headq,uarters a..-id Service Company, 660th En~ineer Topographic Battalion, 
Corps of Engfoeers, atte!'.tion is invitoo to the fore£;oing holding of the· 
Board of Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient to suj?­
port the findings of cuilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby 
a:pproved. Under the provisions of Article of War 5ot, you now have 
authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this of­
fice, they should be accoir;panied by the foregoing holding and this in­
dorsement. '!be file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 4337. 
For convenience of reference, please place that number in brackets at 

the eW of the order1 (CM~((!?tU-c;, ­
/:?f. C • Uc!'JEIL. 

' Brigadier General, United States .Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

(Sentence ordered executed. GCW 129, ETO, 12 Dec 1944) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

With the 
European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 

BOA.RD OF REVmi NO. l 

CM ErO 4338 

UUITED STATES 

v. 

Second Lieutenant ROBERr R. 
mvARDS. (o-819oo8), Air 
Corps, 57lst Bombardment 
Squadron (H), .390th Bom­
bardment Group (H) 

10 NOV 1944 

) • .3D BOMBARD1iEN1' DIVISIOU 

~ Trial by GCM, convened at.AA.F Station 
15.3, APO 559, u.s. A;rm:r, 7·october ~ 1944. Sentence a Dismissal,·. total 

) forfeitures, and confinement at ha.rd 
) labor for one year. Eastern Branch, 

l United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
Greenhaven, New York 

HOLDING by OOA.RD OF REVmr NO. l 
RITER, SA..'fWEl~ and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 

l. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above has been 
examined by the Board of Review and the Boa.rd submits this, its holding, to 
the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the Branch Office of The 
Judge Advocate General with the D.tropean Theater of Operations. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 
Specification: In that Second Lieutenant Robert R. 

Edwards, 57lst Bombardment &luadron, 39oth Bom­
bardment Group (H), did, without proper leave, 
absent himself from his station at AAF Station 
153, APO 559, U.S. A:rrrry, from about 20 August 
1944, to about 19 September 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and Specifica­
tion. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. He was sentenced 
to be dismissed the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to 
become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the review­
ing authority may direct, for one year. The reviewing authority, the · 
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Commanding General, 3d Bonbardment Division, approved the sentence and 
forwarded the record of trial for action under Article of War 48.· The con­
firming authority, the Commanding General, European Theater of Operations, 
confirmed the sentence, designated the Ea.stern Branch, United States Dis­
ciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, and 
withheld the order directing execution of the sentence pursuant to Article 
of Vfar 50-.~. 

3. The evidence for the prosecution was substantially as .follows: 

On l4 August 1944, accused was a member of the 57lst Bombardment 
Squadron, 390th Bombardment Group, stationed at AAF Station 153. His duty 
assignment was that of co-pilot. On the evening of that date he left the 
station on pass coYering 15 and 16 August and was due to return on 17 August 
(R5). On 18 and 19 August he was not seen at the station and, consequently. 
on 20 August a search was made of his barracks and of the area in which it 
l'Tas situated, but he could not be found. An announcement over the Tanney 
system throughout the entire base, and calls to the officer's club, the 
combat library, and combat mess brought no response from accused (Rl0,11). 
From 20 Aueust to 19 September repeated searches were made for him in his 
barracks and in the area. He vras not found (RlO,ll 12,13). He was not 
present for duty from 19 August to 21 September (R6), and was not seen at 
the station during that period (Rl0,11,12,13,14). Pertinent entries on the 
morning reports of accused's organization show that he was absent without 
leave from 20 August to 19.September 1944 (R7,8; Pros. E>cs.l,2,3)• He was 
not authorized to be absent from duty during that period (R6). He returned 
to his station on 19 September 1944 and stated to the clerk in the orderly 
room of his organization that he was placing himselt in arrest in quarters 
(Rl.3). 

4. After having been advised of his rights, accused elected to make 
the following unsworn statement through his counsel in extenuation of the 
offense charged against him: 

"The defendant came to this field as a co-pilot 
of a B-17 crew, and after two uneventful missions 
he sustained a burn in his right eye. After 
that he was sent to various hospitals because 
whenever he went in a plane he found that his 
right eye blurred his vision; and his complaint 
was that while he felt he could fly as an indiv­
idual, he certainly could not fly in formation 
flight. There was considerable discourse, exam­
inations, and trouble for him as to whether or 
not he should fly with the eye as it was; and 
he finally attempted to fly a mission but was 
forced to abort: an hour and a half after take 
off his right eye teared and his vision became 
blurred• The defendant had one duty assignment 
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here and that is as co-pilot. I.f ne wasn1 t 
flying as a co-pilot he would have absolutely 
nothing to do unless given another assignment; 
and at the time of the alleged absence the de­
f cndant • s crew had gone do'l'm. in action and he 
was waiting on the ground, tcy1.ne to .find some 
way of correctine either an astie;m.atism or 
something else radically wrong with his rie;ht 
oye. So that i.f he were awa:y from duty during 
that period his f eelines were not such as to 
make him feel he was doine something as a per­
son who intentionally walked off, since he felt, 
as stated in the medical report, that while he 
would like to~ anywhere as an individual he 
felt he would be jeopardizing the lives of nine 
other individuals and the plane, i.f he were fly­
ing."(PJ.6). 

-
The defense offered no evidence to contradict the evidence intro­

duced by the prosecution. 

5. The .findings of guilty of absence without leave as alleged are 
ful:cy- supported by the evidence. 

6. The charge sheet shows accused is 24 years and 9 months of age. 
He enlisted in the Regular A:rmy 5 November 1941, at Fresno, California, 
and was discharged to accept a commission in the ~ Air Corps 4 December · 
1943. He vras connnissioned a second lieutenant, Air Corps, 5 December 1943. 
No prior service.is shown~ 

7. The coilrt was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 
of accused were committed dur:i.r.g the trial. The Board of Review holds that 
the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findines of guilty 
and the sentence. 

8. The designation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, Nsw York, as the place of confinement is authorized 
by Pl'f 42 and Cir. 210, WD, 14 Sept 1943, sec. VI, as amended. 

Judge Advocate 

.~....-.:~-~-'----~-..<---};;-/-~--~--">-~--..s;.-/c-,~e Advocate 

y ~ ::7 
' . Judge Advocate 

--~~~~~~--~~~~-
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1st Ind. 


War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 1 O NOV 1944 TO: Comm.anding 
General, European Theater of Operations, APO 887, u. s. Arrrry. 

1. In the case of Second. Lieutenant ROBERT R. Ell'7ARDS (0-819008), 
Air Corps, .571st Bombardment Squadron (H), 39oth Bombardment Group (H), 
attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that 
the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. Under the pro­
visions of Article of War .5~, you now have authority to order execution 
of the sentence. · 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this o.i'fice, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file number of the record in this office is CM· ErO 4338. For con­
venience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the end of 
the ordert (CUETO 4338). 

·1 
.·)' )'' 

..··/, ~. /'~
i/_,,.l '!~f(.t .. Cr ;/ 

..... ,, i /
I 

E.
. 

C. McNEIL, 
Brigadier General, United States Army, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

(Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 108, ETO, 18 Nov 1944) 

·­



CONFIDE.i;IIAL 

(305)Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater· ·of Operations 
APO 887 

BOA.RD OF REVIEW NO. l 11 NOV 1944 
CM ETO 4339 

UNITED S"TATES ) 2D APJ<iOPJID DIVISION 

Trial by GCM, convened at Headquarters 
2d Armored Division, APO 2521 U.S.Army,Captain~ B. KIZINSKI l) 26 September 1944. Sentence: Dismissal, 

(0-374009), Medical Corps, total forfeitures, and confinement at 
Medical Detachment, 4lst ·.~ bard labor for five years. Eastern 
Armored Infantry Regiment. ~ Branch, United States Disciplinary 

Barracks, Greenhaven, Ne;v York. 

HOIDING. by BOA.RD OF REVIE'\7 NO. l 
RITER, SARGENT and STEVENS, Judge Advocates . 

l. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above 

has ~en ex.a.mined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, 

its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the 

Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the European Theater 

of Operations. ­

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification& 

CHARGE:& Violation of the 85th Article of War, 

Specification:, In that Captain ·Alexander B. Kizinski, 
Assistant Surgeon, 2nd Battalion medical Detach­
ment, 4lst Armored Infantry Regiment, was at or 
near St Pierre des Fleurs, France, on or about 
25 August 1944, found drunk while on duty as the 
Assistant Surgeon in charge of the Medical Detach­
ment, rear element, 2nd Battalion, 4lst Armored 
Infantry Regiment, and while his unit was engaged 
in combat against the enemy. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and Specifi ­

cation. No evidence of previous convictions was introduced. He was 


. sentenced to be dismissed the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances 
/ 
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due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place 
as the reviewing authority may direct, for five years. The reviewing 
authority, the Coml'Jlallding Gencral1 2d Armored Division, approved the 
sentence, designated the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, and 
forwarded the record of trial for action under Article of War 48. The 
conf'irr.Ung authority, the Corn:ianding General, European Theater of Oper­
ations, confirmed the sentence and withheld the order directin~ execu­
tion thereof' pursuant to Article or War 50-}. .. 

J. The evidence for the prosecution was substanti£1.lly as follows& 

On 25 August 1944, accused was assistant surgeon, 2d Battalion, 
4lst Armored Infantry negiment, and in charge of an aid station located 
near the to'rm of St. Pierre· des Fleurs, France. It was his duty to 
give medical aid to casualties broug.~t back from the front and to those 
who became casualties in the rear area, to evacuate them, and to direct 
the work or the enlisted men who were assisting him. His unit was in 
contact with the enemy and casualties had been brought in early that 
morning (R.4,6,l4,l6). The area around the stat~on itself was subjected 
to intermittent shelling and some of the shells fell in the front yard 
of the house occupied b1 the station (R6,16). Two ambulances from 
another unit were attached to the station and remained near it. Calls 
for them were received at the r.::.dio half-track which was part of the 
station equipment (R5). Everyone at the station, except accused, 
seemed aware or the danger from the shells. He was seen taking two 
drinks of 11 Calvados11 at about 10:30 that morning and seemed befuddled 
(R5,7,8). The officer in charge of the ambulances moved them to a 
comparatively safer position about a mile away. Accused did not move 
his station to the new a.mbula11ce point. A radio mos"age was sent to 
Captai."l Huskins, battalion surgeon and superior officer of accused, 
vmich apprised him of the situation. He radioed back an order to 
accused directing him to move the station to the new ambulance point. 
Uhen informed of the order by the radio operator, accused said, "To 
hell with it,. we •re going to stay here" (R5,l4). 

At about 2 p.m. Captain Husans went to the aid station at 
the request of the radio operator. There he found accused lying on 
the floor as if asleep. The station had not been moved. When, 
roused, accused was slovt to respond, v1as "glary-eyed", and waved his 
he..11d and smilad as if nothing had happened. He did not rise from the 
floor except on one elbow. He denied having received any instructions 
to move. lie did not appear fit to perform his duties c.nd Captain B"..l.S­
kins himself went out to attend to fo-.u" casualties who had been re­
ported while he was at the station (Rl5,l6). 

At about 3 p.m. Capta:L~ Segenreich, a medical officer, examined 
accused on orders from :Jajor Ha.u_ltenberrj', colll!llailding officer of the 
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medical detachment oi' the 4lst_Armored Infantry Regiment, and regimental 
surgeon. He round accused.slumped on the half-track, with alcohol on 
his breath, and uninterested in the activity around him. His speech 
was slow, slurred, but coherent. Normally he spoke distinctly and 
with ordinary rapidity. In Captain Segenreich'::: opinion accused had 
been drinking and his condition was·such that he vrould have been unable 
to perform his duties properly (RJ.2113114). 

_ Major Haukenberry him.self, who saw accused at the request o! 

Captain Huskins, found him lying on the ground by the balf'-track. He 


' 	 did not stand until requeste·d to do so and a.i'ter some urging. He was 
unstead on his feet. His speech, though coherent, was retarded and 
slurred. The odor of alcohol was on his person. In the opinion of 
this witness accused was under the influence of alcohol to a degree 
which prevented him from carrying out his duties in an efficient manner 
(Rl71 18). Two witnesses, both of them enlisted men on duty at the sta­
tion, testified that accused was drunk (R7,12). 

4. At his own request, accused was sworn and testified substan­

tially as.follows& 


On. 25 August 1944 he was on. duty as assistant surgeon, 2d 

J;3.s.ttalion, 4lst Armored Infantry Regiment. The area in the immediate 

vicinity of the station was then being shelled (R19). lie had not been 

able to sleep on the nights of 23 August and 24 August because of the 

shelling and because he had to rise early to treat casualties. His 

nerves were "pretty well shot up" and he.was a.f'raid of breaking dO'l1ll. 

He thought a.few drinks would help him. He took two or three drinks 

of "French whiskey" in the morning of 25 August (P..20) • He hac: known 

for two years that a few drinks would, in.his own words, "put him 

under". One or two small drinks would affect him. His physical con­

dition was impaired on 25 August but he did not know whether by mental 

fatigue pr alcohol (R21). _ 


. In extenuation of the offense and not,to prove insanity, the 

existence or which the defense expressly.disclaimed, accused testified 

to a history or epilepsy and alcoholism in his family. As far as he 

knew, he had none or the symptoms of epilepsy, but the thought that the 

disease \vas supposed to be hereditary depressed him. For the past 12 or 

l3 years he had been drinking from one-half to one pint of liquor a day 

when he had nothing to do and was not on duty (R21). 


rt.ajor Miller, division psychiatrist of the 48th Armored Division, 
testified that accused had become a mild depressive type as a result or 
the situation existing within his family, and that he possessed a reactive 
depression with alcoholism as a symptom. Such a type might turn to alco­
hol as an outlet (R2.3). · . 

It was stipulated that the qualification card or accused con­
tained seven ratings in the colW!D1. of his record of service marked manner 
of performance. Six were 11excellent11 

1 and one was "very satisfactory'' 
(Rl.9). . 
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5. The evidence before the court, including the admissions of ac­
cused on the stand, fully established that on 25 A'l.lc"'USt 1944 he was en­
gaged in the performance or his military duties at an aid station as 
assistant surgeon of the battalion named in the Specification and while 
thus engaged, he became intoxicated to such a degree as to impair the 
rational and full exercise of his mental and physical faculties. There 
is, therefore, adequate proof of the two elements of the offense, namely, 
that accused was on.a certain duty, and that he was found drunk while on 
such duty (1.DM, 1928, par.l45,pp.159-l60; CM ETO 33011 StohlJn.a.nn, 1944). 
The court could take judicial notice that the o.ffense was committed in 
time of war. The allegation and proof that the offens€was committed 
while his unit was engaged in combat with the enemy, though not essential 
to show a violation of Article of War 85, constitute an element of aggra~ 
vation. · 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is JJ years of age and 
that his commissioned service began 17 December 1940. No prior ser­
vice is shown. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction or· the 
person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 
rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion.that the record of trial is legally sufficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

s. The penalty for a violation of Article of War 85 by an officer 
in time of war is dismissal from the service and such other punishment 
as the court-martial may direct (AW 85). The designation of the 
Eastern Branch,. United States Disciplinary Barracks, Gre~nhaven, New 
York, as the place of confinement is authorized byA.W. 42 and Cir.210, 
YID, l4 Sep 194.3, sec. VI, as amended. 

~ · ·· Judge Advocate 

~d;t,£~ge Advo~te 
t:£r11:tA{ Z:. r;Jti;;-4.,;. Judge Advocate 
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War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with.the 

European Theater of Operations. 11 NOV 1944 TO: Co~d-
ing General, European Theater of Operations, APO 887, U. S. Armt~_.. · 


1. In the case of Captain ALEXANDER B. KIZINSKI (0-.3'74009), Medi­
cal.Corps, Medical Detachment, 4lst Armored Infantry Regiment, attention 
is invited to the foregoing holding of the Board of Review that the 
record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty 
and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved, Under the provisions 
of Article of War 50-}, you now have authority to order execution of the 
sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
The file nwnber of the record in this office,:is CM ETO 4.3.39. For con­
venience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the end 
.of the order a (CM ETO 4.3.39). · 

/"/ . 

;,-y J 11 · I . 
I 1 · ,. I I ./ / (I ! ( 

/ ·~- /c. r;:NE;L, -· . · . 
Brigadier General, United States Army, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

(Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 117, ETO, 8 Dec 1944) 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 
with the 

European Theater 	of Operations 
APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
1 DEC 1944 

CM ETO 4349 

UNITED STATES ) IX Am. FORCE SIBVICE COi.J.:Al\1D. 
') 

v. ) Trial by GClll, convened at W' 
) Station 519, Grove, Berkshire, 

Private FRANCIS R. MORNEAU, 
(39688851), Replacement Pool, 
Squadron 11A11 , 13th Replacement 

) 
) 
) 

England, 22 August 1944. 
Sentences Dishonorable discharge, 
total forfeitures, and confine­

Control Depot (Aviation) ) 
) 

ment at hard labor for two years. 
Place of confinement not designa­

) ted in action. 

HOLDDJG by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 
VAN BENSCEOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 6lst Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private Francis R. Morneau, 
Squadron A, 13th Replacement Control Depot (Avia­
tion), did, without proper leave absent himself 
from his organization, at AAF Station 433, from 
about 2 June 1944 to about 16 July 1944. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and Speci­
fication. Evidence was introduced of two previous convictions by 
special court-martial for absences without leave for nine d~~s and ten 
days respectively, both in violation of Article of War 61. He was 
sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to forfeit all 
pay and allowances due or to beco:r::e due, and to be confined at hard 
labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for two 
years. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, without desig­
nating the place of confinement, and forwarded the record for trial 
for action pursuant to the provisions of Article of War 50!-. 
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3. The prosecution, without objection by the defense, intro­
duced a copy of Special Order 133, Headquarters, lst General Hospital, 
ETOUSA, dated 30 Mayl944, paragraph 7 of which provided that accused, 
then assigned to the Detachment of Patients, lst General Hospital, 
was transferred in grade to the 13th Replacement Control Depot, and 
would proceed to that station on or about 31 May 1944 reporting on 
arrival to the Conunanding Officer thereof' for duty (R6, Pros Ex.G-2). 
Corporal Max Andrews, Squadron A, 13th Replacement Depot, Station 
433, testified that his assignment in the squadron was that of Area 
Chief', that accused was "turned over" to his area for billeting on 
18 July 1944, and that accused had not been present in the witness' 
organization for duty prior to that date (R6). On cross-examination, 
witness stated that subse.quent to 18 July 1944 accused was a "good 
soldier", that he came to the witness and "voluntersred to do anything 
he could" and that, as a result, he was detailed as night charge of 
quarters in the orderly room (R7). It was stipulated by and between 
the prosecution, defense and the accused that accused nturned himself 
in" to the British police in Waltham Abbey, Essex, on 16 July- 1944, 
and was in turn released to the custody of the United States Military 
Police on the same date (R7). 

4.· Accused, after having been advised of his rights as a witness, 
testified that he was 47 years of' age, that he had been married and 
divorced, and that he had children one of whom was an Aviation Cadet 
(R8). He stated that he had been troubled by family- matters because 
his wife had remarried and he had received letters from his diildren 
which led him· to believe that they were not "being treated as they 
should be" (R9). He enlisted during the "last World War" and setved 
18 months (RlO). Vlith the advent of the present war, he thought per­
haps he "could do some good in the Service" so he again enlisted (RS). 
Subsequent to this enlistment, accused was offered a discharge 11 two 
or three timesn but rejected the offers (Iil.O). While still in the 
United States, he was treated for rheumatism and arthritis and a medi­
cal officer recommended that he not be sent overseas but accused 
11 talked him out of that" (R9). He was again hospitalized in England 
and it was recommended that he be returned to the United States. 
However, accused did not wish to be transferred out of his "old out­
fit" and requested that he be permitted· to remain with his unit. 
His request was granted (R9). He also testifi~d that he had been, 
hospitali~.ed a.nc on sick call at other times during bis current term 
of enlistment (K8,9). Another of his commanding officers had recom­
mended that he be sent home because of illness but accused was 11always 
able to talk him out of itll. He did not believe his condition was 
"as bad as it actually is and that is the reason I have tried to stay 
in the service" (RlO). 

On cross-examination, accused testified that he left "the 
Hospital" on 2 June 1941~ and had "turned himself in" on 16 July 194. 
During at least a portion of his absence he stayed with friends at 
Waltham Abbey (R9). . 
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It was stipulated that if Captain Marcus P. Goumas, 

Assistant Surgeon, 13th Replacement Control Depot, Arm:y Air Force 
Station 433 were present in court he would testify that the accused 
was seen by him on Sick Call on 25 July 1944, at which time a diag­
nosis of chronic bronchial asthma, moderate, cause undetermined, 
plus chronic bronchial bronchitis, mild, cause undetermined, was 
made. Accordingly, accused was admitted to Sick Quarters and 
treated until 8 August 1944, when he was discharged. At the time 
of his discharge, his condition remained unimproved. The climate 
in the European Theater of Operations was deemed to be "not favorable" 
for the accused (Rl0,11). It was the opinion and reco~.mendation 
of Captain Goumas that accused "be returned to the Zone of the.Inter­
ior as he has passed his stege of usefulness to the Army in this 
theater" {Rll). 

5. The evidence adduced by the prosecution, together with 
the testimony of accused on cross-examination, constitutes evidence 
amply sufficient to show that accused absented himself without leave 
as charged from 2 June 1944 to 16 July 1944. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 46 years and 7 
months of age, that he was inducted at Fresno, California, on 24 
November 1942, and that he previously served from 20 April 1918 to 
20 September 1919 with the 7th Cavalry. · 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substan­
tial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board 
of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally suffi­
cient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 

8. The Eastern Branch, United States Disciplin8.1"1' Barracks, 
Greenhaven, ~ew York, may properly bedesignated as the place of con­
finement (AW 42; Cir.210, VID, 14 Sept. 1943, sec.VI, as amended). 

,-,...,. ,-­
~"' ~ r . 
· _ · >t"'l.-· ~"'-''~ ~ ~--._, Judge Advocate 

rlt--../ ~I.11

,/11w ~ Judge Advocate .. 
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War Department, Bra.'1Ch Office of '.i'he Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 1 Dl=C lQAIJ TO: Com­
manding General, IX Air l'orce Service Cor.illlai1a, ARI' 149, U. S. .Axrrry. 

l. 	 In the case of Private FH&:crs R. J.:ORliE...'.i.U, (.39688851), 
11A11Replacement Pool, Squadron , l.3th Replacement Control Depot 

(Aviation), attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the 
Board of Review that the record of trial is legally su.fficient to 
support the findings of guilty and the sentence, which holding is 
hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 5~-, you 
now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. In your action approving the sentence you should have 
designated the place of confinement. However, this may now be don~· 
by supplemental action which should be forwarded to this office 
for atte.chment to the record of trial. The Eastern Branch, United 
States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, is the u::1thorized 
place of confinenent for this prisoner, if the dishonorable discharge 
is to be executed. 

3. l'Ihen copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM 
EI'O 4349. For convenience of reference, please place that number in 
brackets at the end of the order: (CltI 1"1'0 4349). 

Ci',;' 

/1
/~</ ,///;/../'. /,;tc ; 

I 
1l/,·· 1 I 

! .... 

E. C. Hcl:EIL, 

Brigadier General, United States Arrrry, 


Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Branch Office of The Judge~~dTocate General 

with the 
European Theater of Operations 

.APO 8f'J7 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 15 DEC 1944 

CM ETO 4.352 

UNITED STATES ) THJRD ARMORED DIVISION 
) 

PriTate WILLIAM H. 
(36.3271.37), C
Armored Engineer Battalion 

ompan
SCHROEPPEL 

y B, 2.3rd 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Trial by GCM, conTened at Raeran, 
Belgium, 11 October 1944. Sentence: 
Dishonorable discharge, total for­
feitures and confinement at hard 
labor for 15 years. Eastern Branch, 

) United States Disciplinary Barracks, 
) GreenhaTen, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge AdTocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named aboTe 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried on the following Charge and Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification: In that PriTate William H. Schroeppel, 
Company B, Twenty-third Armored Engineer Battalion, 
did, at Coordinates VK955404, Map Sheet Rl, Koln, 
two miles southeast of Stolberg, Germany, on or 
about 15 September 1944, while before the enemy, 
by his misconduct endanger the safety of Task 
Force 1, which it was his duty- to defend, in that 
he became drunk while a member of an anti-tank 
gun crew on outpost duty. 

He pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and 

Specification. No eTidence of previous convictions was introduced. 

He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the serTice, to foEt'11ard labor 

feit all pay" and allowances due or to become due and to be confined/ 

at such place as the reviewing authority- may direct, for 15 years. 


- l 
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The reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated the 
Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 
New York, as the place of confinement and forwarded the record of 
trial tor action pursuant to Article ot War 5~. 

3. On 15 September 1944, accused was a member of Company B, 
23rd Armored Engineer Battalion (Rll). His platoon was commanded 
by Lieutenant George E. Conley and his squad by Sergeant Ralph H•. 
Wiley (R6,ll). Lieutenant Conley testified that at approximately 
1030 or 1100 hours, 15 September 1944, his platoon was ordered to 
report to a bridge "about a mile this side of Stolberg and take 
over the maintenance on the bridge and road, also to protect the 
bridge". He arrived at the designated area between 1200 and 1300 
hours and immediately set up his local defenses (R7-8). He in­
structed Sergeant Wiley "to set out a .37mm gun crew" at a road 
block "about hal.f a mile to a mile outside of Stolberg" (RS,10). 
The lieutenant had been in.formed that there were enemy troops "up 
in front of me" and the gun crew was "set up with the idea that 
there were enemy in front o.f them" (RB,10). During this time the 
platoon was under artillery fire and occasional small-arms fire. 
Also, within three-quarters of an hour after the outpost was set 
up 

"a dough boy came down the road and artillery 
backed him up on the corner down to our out 
post which lasted about halt an hour" (RS). 

Some three or four hours later, at approximately 16oo or 1630 hours, 
an infantry company (apparently friendly) came "down the road and 
pulled out in front" and Lieutenant Conley "pulled on back closer to 
the bridge" (RS). Accused was at this time in Lieutenant Conley's 
vehicle and the lieutenant noticed that accused was drunk, so drunk, 
in fact, that "he could hardly walk" {RB-9). Lieutenant Conley 
caused accused to be remoTed from the vehicle and "from there on I 
didn't have anything to do with him" (R9). Accused had been a member 
of the lieutenant's command for approximately two years and had had 
interior guard duty "innumerable" times (R7). 

Sergeant Wiley testified that accused was a member of his 
squad on 15 September and that between 1100 and 1200 hours on that 
day he "took the men out on the 37 and set it up". Accused was detailed 
as an ammunition carrier and was instructed as to ·his duties. The 
sergeant had the 

"37 gun zeroed in on a road block and I had 
a .JO caliber machine gun on the right flank-­
five men on the 37, two men on the .30 cali­
ber. We were supposed to protect that road 
up through there" {Rll-12). 
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At the time "there was some /Jriendl'i} infantey out ahead of us but 
we did not know it" (R14). Accused was sober at the time the outpost 
was set up. At about 1215 hours, 

"there was a shell landed pretty close to 
the house. I walked around to. see it the 
man was alright; he was sober then11 (Rl.3,14). 

Between 1200 and 1.300 hours the sergeant made an inspection of the out­
post and discovered that accused was missing. After search, accused 
was found "sitting in the cellar talking to himsel£, drunk" (Rl2,14). 
He had a quart bottle with "something yellow in it" which the sergeant 
took .from him and destroyed {Rl2). Sergeant Wiley then tried to seber 
accused but "he was drunk and I couldn't do nothing with him" (Rl.3). 

_In his drunken condition accused was of no value to the gun squad (Rl4). 

4. Accused elected to remain silent, and the defense introduced 

no evidence. 


5. The evidence adduced, while lacking in.detail, showed that 

accused was assigned to perform the duties of an ammunition carrier 

with a five-man gun crew set up as an outpost to protect a road and 

bridge at a time when his platoon was unier enemy fire. It was also 

shown that accused becwne grossly drunk while assigned to this duty. 

By such action he unfitted himself for the performance of his duty 

at a time when his services were highly necessar,r thus increasing the 

hazards to which his unit was already subjected. This offense, while 

here charged under Article of War 96, is similar to the conduct de­

nounced by Article of War 75, and the evidence here presented might 

well have been sufficient to support a finding o.f guilty under· the 

latter article had the offense been so charged (CW. ETO 1109, Armstrong; 

Winthrop's Military Law and Precedents - Reprint, 19201 pp.621-628). 

In any event, the offense, as alleged in the instant case, constitutes 

a closely related military offense under Article of War 96 end the 

evidence present is sufficient to sustain a finding of guilty or the 

offense charged (Cf: CM ETO 1109, Armstrong, supra). 


6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 33 years ten months 

of age, and was inducted at Camp Grant, Illinois, on 26 March 1942. 


7. The court was legally constitut~ and had jurisdiction of 

accused and the offense. No errors injuriously affecting the substan­

tial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The Board or 

Review is of the opinion that the record or trial is legally sufficient 

to support the findings of guilty and sentence. 


8. The designation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disci­

plinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement is 

proper (AW 1+2; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept.194.3, .sec.VI, as amended). · 


~~~[-~~ Judge Advocate 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Of'f'ice of The Ji.iru:.e ,M.v9cate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 15 Utl,; 1944 TO: CoJ;l!!landing 
General, Third Armored Division, APO 253, U. S. Army. 

1. In the case of' Private WILLWII H. SCHROEPPEL (36327137}, 

Company B, 23rd Armored Engineer Battalion, attention ls invited to 

the foregoing holding of the Board of Review that the record of trial 

is legally suf'ficient to support the findings of guilty and the sen­

tence, which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of 

Article or War 50i, you now have authority to order execution or the 

sentence. 


2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 
4352. For convenience of reference please place the number in brackets 

· at the end of the order: {CU ETO 4.352). 

/(ji;eu~~-~ 
. E. C. McNEIL, 

Brigadier General, United States Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 

B0.ARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 6 JAN 1945 
CM ErO 4376 

UNITED STATES 	 ) ADVANCE SF.CTION, COU,JJNICATIONS ZONE, 
) EUROPEAN THEATIB OF OPER.ATI01lS 

v. 	 ) 
) Trial by GCM, convened at Rambouillet, 

Private JOHN C. JAR.VIS ) France, 12 October 1944. Sentence: 
(38311129), 3398th Quarter- ) Dishonorable discharge, total for-· 
master Truck Company ) fei tures and confinement at hard 

) labor for 20 years. Eastern Branch, 
) United States Disciplinary BaITacks, 
) Greenhaven, New York. 

HOLDING by BOARD OF REVIE\1 NO. 2 _ 
VAN BENSCHO!'EN, IIlLL and SLEEPrn, Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above has 
heen examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon 	the following charges and specifications: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 	69th Article of War. 

Specification: In that Private John C. Jarvis, 
3398th Quartermaster Truck Company, having been 
duly placed in aITest to quarters on or about 
21 June 19.44, did, at Negreville Bivouac Area 
Norniandy France on or about 9 July 1944, break 
his said aITest before he was set at liberty 
by proper authority. 

CHARGE II: Violation cf the 96th Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at Negreville 
Bivouac Area, Normandy France on or about 9 
July 1944, through carelessness, discharge a 
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US Carbine, Caliber .30 M-1 in his bivouac area. 

CHARGE III: Violation of the 64th Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * did, after having re­
ceived a lawful command from Lt. Andrew J. Hart, 
his superior officer, to surrender a carbine, 
did at Negreville Bivouac Area, Normandy France 
on or about 9 July 1944, willfully' disoliey the 
same. 

He pleaded not guilty to and waa found guilty of all charges and specifi­
cations. Evidence was introduced of f:!ve previous convictions by summary 
court: the first for rePi.is:i.ng to. obN the lawful~ orger of a noncommissioned 
officer to drill and the second-for refusing to obey the lawful order of a 
commissioned officer to report for extra duty, both in violation of Article 
of nar 96, the third for absence without leave (no pass), in violation of 
Article of War 61, the fourth and fifth e.ac;:.}}. f<?.;" disobedience of the 11!."'.'­
ful order of a noncomrriissioned officer, in violatlon of Article of War 
64 (sic). · He was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, 
to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be con­
fined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, 
for 20 years. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated 
the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, Mew 
York, as the place of conf'inement, and forwarded the record of trial for 
action purusant to the provisions of Article of ITar 5~. 

3. With reference to the Specification, Charge I, the evidence 
shows that, on or about 20 June 1944, while his organization was stationed 
in England, accused ~as placed in arrest in quarters and informed that 
being in .arrest in qiJartere: meant that he 'l'!as restricted to his company's 
bivouac area. His organization arrived in France on 6 July. At the 
marshalling area, before leaving England, his company commander told him 
that he ~as still in arrest in quarters and that he would continue to be 
in arrest in quarters after his arrival in France. On 9 July 1944, 
while his status remained unchanged, accused, without permiEsion, left 
his company's bivouac area in Negreville, France. 

Concerning the Specification, Charge II, the prosecution showed 
by strong circumstantial evidence that on 9 July 1944, accused, standing 
at a point approximately 50 yards distant from his company's bivouac area, 
delilerately fired several shots from a government carbine into an 
earthen bank. 

With reference to the Specification, Charge III, the evidence 
for the prosecution shows that after the firing ceased, accused and two 
other soldiers emerged from the driveway onto the road directly opposite 
the entrance to the bivouac area (RlO). They had between them one 
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carbine only, which had been issued to Private Warner, on~ of the other 
two, but which accused was swinging on his shoulder as they approached 
the area (Rll,14,16,19). Simultaneously, the duty officer, First 
Lieutenant Andrew J. Hart, of accused's organization, arrived at the 
entrance, running to ascertain the direction of the firing (R14). 
The guard testified that, as accused left the lane and entered the road, 
he offered the gun to one of his companions who had already reached to 
take it when Hart arrived (RlO,l. According to Hart, he requested ac­
cused "to give me the gun. LAccusei/ said he couldn't" (Rl4), explain­
ing in a courteous and respectful tone that 11 it wasn't his gtm 11 (R17-18). 
Hart thereupon repeated his request. Hart definitely characterized his 
first two demands as requests and not orders (Rl6-19). When accused 
continued to refrain from complying with these requests, Hart said, "Jarvis 
* * * I'm giving you a direct order to give me that carbine" (Rl7). Ac­
cused 

"still said he couldn't give it to me. He stated, 
'Just a minute', and handed the gun to Private 
Harner. I asked Private Warner to give me the 
gun and he did" (H14). · 

"About three or four minutes" elapsed from the time of Hart's first re­
quest until the carbine was actually delivered to him (Rl7). He received 
it, however, in 11a matter of seconds" after he changed the form of his 
demand from a request to an order (Rl8). As soon as Warner received the 
carbine from accused, he handed it to Hart (R17-18). Accused was courteous 
to Hart when in response to the officer's direct order, he requested him 
to wait "a minute" while he, accused, handed the carbine to Warner (Rl7, 
18). The uncontradicted evidence shows that at no time was he actually 
disrespectful to Hart 11other than the fact", according to the latter's 
testimony, that 11 he wouldn't give me the gun" (Rl8). 

4. After his rights were explained to him, accused elected to take 
the stand tmder oath as a witness in his own behalf (R27). He testified 
as follows: 

"Sir, two pals and I were coming out walking 
down the lane with -- when some shots wer~ 
fired. It was in the direction from which 
we were coming. We were coming back into the 
area, sir, our area, when Lt. Hart came out and 
asked who fired the shots, sir. We didn't 
know who fired the shots, sir. * * * In fact, 
no one around knew because all the guards were 
around but the guards didn't know. So, he 
asked for my carbine and'I told him -- he 
reached out his hand and said, 'Give me the 
carbine.' I said, 'Sir, this not llzy' carbine'. 
He asked for it again. I saiq, 'Sir, please 
let me give it to-warner?' · So, I said, 'Let 4376 
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me give it to '\'larner so he can give it to you. 
It's his carbine.' So, at that I gave it to 
Warner and '.'Tarner handed it over to the 
Lieutenant" (R28). 

Repf'ating: in further detail, his version of '\Vhat occurred immediately 
after the shooting, accused testified: 

n;·rhen the Lieutenant car.:e out he asked who fired 
the shots and he carre directly to me. I said, 
'Sir, we don't know who fired the shots.' He 
said, 'It came fror.i your direction.' He said, 
'Give me the carbiLe. 1 I said, 'Sir, that's 
not my carbine. This is Warner's carbine. 1 

He said -- I said, 'Sir, if you will permit me 
to give it to ~'~nrner so he can give it to you 
I will a;Jpr1>ciate it. 1 Aft.er that the carbine 
was given to him * '* -li By lf.!arner. At that 
time I had handed it to Vlarner when I asked him 
if he will permit me to give it to ~"Tarner. But 
when he saic it was a direct order -- * * * It 
was between hands, between my hand and ~Varner' s 
hand". 

After that it "couldn't have been a second" until \iarner gave it to him 
(H29). If not complying with the Lieutenant's request to give him the 
carbine was a mistake, it was 

"not a mistake by wantine to willfuJ.ly disobey 
an order. It's a mistake in ignora.~ce on the 
part of rrr:r basic training which I had, sir. 
* ~ +. I was taught not to give up my weapon by 
request, only give it up by order. That's the 
reason why I did as I did at the time". 

As to the situation ~hen Hart changed the form of his der1alld from a request 
to a direct order, accu.sed explained: 

"Actually when he was giving the direct order 
it was bet¥reen hands, between mine and ~·rarner' s • 
* * * We were standing side by side and the 
Lieutenant was facing us. * * * In other words, 
before he was able to give the direct order, 
sir, when he asked for it the second time, I was 
giving it to ,,,.arner. He in turn gave it to the 
Lieutenant. Tlhen he said it was a direct order, 
Harner had it and '\'!as gi·•ting it to him" (R33-34). 
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5. The evidence clearly sustains the findings of guilty of the 
Specification and Charge I. 

The Cpeci~icaticn, Charge II, alleges that accused carelessly 
discharged a carbine in the bivouac area. TJ-:e record shovrs that the 
carbine nas deliberately fired from a point 50 yards outside the 
bivouac area into a bank w}•ich was also outside. These arc E<ntirely 
different offenses, the gravar.en of one beinG carelessness, the other 
violation of orders. '!:'he offense proved was not the offense charged. 
The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally insufficient to support the findings of guEty of Charge II and 
its Specification. 

Concerning the Specification, Charge Ill, the evidence shovts 
that Lieutenant Hart ti:-;ice reguestec1 accused to give him the carbine. 
In explanation of !:is failure to comply "Tith these two reauests, accused 
e:>:;:ilained that "it '7asn 1 t his gun 11 • Hart then gave accused a direct 
order to give him the carbirn~, ..r!1ereupon accuf:ed requested Eart to '.'1ait 
"just a minute", at the same time handing the carbine to ''lamer, of whom 
Hart, im:ediately der.anded and from ''Thom he immediately received it -­
within 11 a matter of seconds" fron the tir'.le he issued his first and onl:1 
direct order to accused. The carbine had, as a matter of fact, been 
issued to ::arner with whose permission accwed ·:ras carrying it at the 
time he was ordered to deliver it to Hart. According to the guard, who 
testified for the prosecution, and. according to accused, the latter was 
in the act of handinc the carbine to ''Tarner at the time he was ordered 
to give it to Ea.rt, and, instead of desisting, nerely completed the 
delivery wl::ich he had already begi.m. 1!lhile Hart's testimony does not 
a.ffirr:atively corroborate the others 1 as to this par-Sicular phase of the 
transaction, it does no~ controvert and is not inconsistent with it. 
Al though accused's delivery of the gun to '7arner instE:ad of Hart was in 
contravention of Hart's order and thns constituted a disobedience of it, 
no such intentional defiance of authority is involved as is necessary 
to constitute accused's action a violation of .i:irticle cf :Tar 64 (Bull. 
JAG, Vol.II, No.8, Aug 1943, par.422(5), p • .308). In ot)1er 1"ords, the 
offense, under all the circurnstancer, was not 11 such a direct and flagrant 
a.ct of di:::obedience as is contemplated by A. !f. 64, the punishment for 
which may be death11 (Dig.Olis .JAG, 1912-1940, sec.L;22( 5), pp.285-286). 
Accused 1 s conduct, however, in avoiding cornplfa.nce in the e:xpress manner 
directed, involved the less"'r included offense of failure to obey the 
lawful order of a conmissioned officer to the prejudice of cood order 
and military discipline, in violation of .clrticle of War 96. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 29 ~ars seven months 
of age and that, vrith no prior service, he was ino.ucted at I\ew Orleans 1 

Louisiana., 21 September 1942. 

7. The court was legally constittlted and had j1D."isdiction of the 
person and offenses. Other than those noted, no errors injuriously 
affecting the substantial rights of accus'ea were cornmitted during the 
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trial. For the rea~ons stated~ the Board of Review is of the opinion 
that the record of trial is lebally insufficient to :::upI)Ort the findings 
of guilt~r of CharGe I1 ano. its f:'pecification, arid legally sufficient to 
support t.hP fjnc1ings of guilty of Che.ree I and its Specificatfon and 
only so nruch of the fincings of guilty of the Specification, Charge III, 
as involvPs finding accused guilty of failing to cbey the lawful order 
of his supf'rior officer in violation of Article of '.'far 96; and only so 
much of the sentence as involves dishonorable discharge, total forfeitures 
and confinernPnt at hard labor for nine months. 

8. Confinement in Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary 
Parraclcs, GreE:nhaven, Ne\'! York, is authorized (A'i 42; Cir.210, VlD, 
14 Sep 43, sec.VI, as amended). 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 6JAN1945 TO: Commanding 
General, Advance Section~ Comnrunications Zone, European Theater of 
Operation:, APO 113, U. S. Army. 

1. In the case of Private JOHN C. JARVIS (38311129), 3398th Quarter­
master Truck Company, attention is invited to the foregoing holding by the 
Board of Review that the record of trial is legally insufficient to support 
the findings of guilty of Charge II and its Specification, and legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty of Charge I and its Specifi ­
cation and only so much of the findings of guilty of the Specification, 
Charge III, as involves finding accused guilty of failing to obey the 
lawful order of his superior officer in violation of Article of nar 96; 
and only so much of the sentence as involves dishonorable discharge, total 
forfeitures and confinement at hard labor for nine months, vrhich holding 
is hereby approved. Under the provisions of Article of War 5%-, you 
novr have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. I particularly invite your attention to the fact that the 
period of confinement authorized for the offenses of which accused was 
legally convicted is nine montr~. In view of this, suspension of the 
execution of the dishonorable discharge wilJ. conform to prer,ent policies 
of this theater for the conservation of manpower. Accordingly, by 
adclitional action, ':7hich should be forwarded to this office for attach­
ment to the record, you should reduce the period of confinement to nine 
months, and it is suggested that you suspend the dishonorable discharge 
until the soldier's release fron confinement and designate Loire Disci­
plinarJ Training Center, Le ifans, France, as the place of confinement. 

3. ~hen copies of the published order are fo!"'aarded to this office, 

they should be·accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement._ 

The file nwr.ber of the record in this office is c:.: ETO 4376. For con­

V€nience of rsf€rence please place that number in brackets at the end of 


:the order: (CM ETO 43?6). 
C1#~/~- ( 1" .~ 

/·t~~/:-// .. . !- l !' ~/ 
E. C. MclJLIL, 

Brigadier 	General, United States arrry, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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16 .FEB 1945BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 1 

Cll ETO 4382 

UNIT ED STATES) STH INFANTRY DIVISION 

-v. 	 ~ ·Trial by GClC convened_!.t Aro 81 U.S. 
.A.rrq (France~, 21 October 1944. Sen­

Private THFBON C. IONG tence: . Dishonorable discharge, total 
(14007767), Compa.!11' B1 !or!eitures and confinement at hard. 
l,3th In!antl"l" labor for life. .Eastern Branch, United 

States Disciplinary' Barracks, Greenhav~, 
New York.I 

HOIDING b7 BOARD OF REVIElT NO. 1 

RI'lEa, SHERMAN and S'I'.EVENS,, Judge Advocates 


l. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined b7 the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Speci!ica­

tion: 


CHARGE: Violation of the ;8th Article of War. 

·Specitieation: Irl that Private Theron c. long, (then 
Corporal), Company B, 13th Intantry, did, in the 
vicinity- of Brest, France, on or about 8 September 
19441 desert the service-of the United States b7 
absenting himself without proper leave from hie 
place of duty-1 with intent to avoid hazardous 
dut7, to witz participation in combat against 
the enem;r,, and did remain absent in desertion 
until on or about 9 September l9i.4• 

.	He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members cf the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring,, was fouiid iuiJ.~ . ', 
of the Specification,, except the words and figures 8 September iw,8 2 
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· substitutillg., therefor respectively the words and figures 0900 
8 September';'14ihd further except for the words 9 September 1944, 

· substituting therefor respectively the words and figures 1100 
a September 1944; of the excepted words not guilty, of the 
substituted words guilty; of the Charge, guilty. No evidence 
of previous convictions was introduced. Three-fourths of the 
members of the court present at the time the vote was taken· 
concurring, he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the 
service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or to become due, 
and to be co!lfined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing 
authority may direct, for the term of his natural life. The 
revie1'ling authority approved the sentence, designated the Easte:tn 
Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, 
as the place of confinement, and forwarded the record of trial 
for action pursuant to Article of War 50-}• 

. J. The evidence in this case shows that accused on 7 September 

1944 was a corporal and assistant squad leader of a platoon in 

Company B, 13th Infantry (R7). On that date accused's company 

was in reserve 300 yards in the rear of Company C, 13th Infantry

(R4,7). The attack on Brest, France, was in progress (R5,6,9,10). 

Company C was in close contact ~~th the enemy - so close in !act 

that hand grenades were thrown (RS). On the evening of said date a 

warning wa.s issued to the members of Company B that it would replace 

Company C on the front lines on the next day (8 September) and that 

an attack on the enemy would also be made by Company B on that date. 

The warning was given through the chain of colll!and from the company 

comoander to the squad leaders who imparted the information to the 

squad members (R5,ll,15,17). The members of accused's squad were 

given instructions to this effect by the squad leader on the evening 

of 7 September (Rl7) and it was COlliill.On and general knowledge in the 

company (R6,12). Cornnencing in the early morning of 8 September, 

Company B was under small arms and artillery fire (RB). Between 

0800 and 0900 hours it moved forward to replace Company C. The 

enemy wa.s Yd thin 700 or eoo yards of Company B and as the company 

advanced it received enemy ar~illery and mortar fire (R5,8). 


Early in the morning of 8 September (0.300 hours), accused 

asserted that his left leg pained and bothered him. At 0700 hours 

his platoon comr:,ander permitted him to go to the battalion aid 

station for treatment. An hour after breakfast accused left the 

company for the aid station (R9,16). The medical officer at the 

station testified that he did not treat accused on that date but 

that he saw him in the courtyard of the station. Accused informed 

him that his platoon commander had directed him to remain with the 

Headquarters Colliparty' because he was unable to participate with his 1 

cor1pany (R21). At about 0900 hours while Company B was moving 

forward to replace Con:pany C, accused rea;,peared at the company. He 

informed his squad leader that he was under orders to report back 

to the aid station (Rl6). 
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Accused did not report to the aid station nor did he 

remain with his company. He appeared at the. company kitchen (then 

located 10 to 15 miles in the rear of Company B) between 1100 

and 1200 hours on S September and there he remained until the attack 

·on Brest was completed the next day (R2.3). 

In a statement ·voluntarily made to the investigating 

officer (Pros.Ex.A), accused admitted he knew his com~ was 

preparing for an attack when he left it and that he had no authot­

ity to go to the rear. As a witness in his own b~, accused 

admitted he went to the kitchen after he went to the aid station 

(R28,JO). . 

The evidErtce is convincing that accused by means of 

artifice and. falsehood, a.t the crucial moment when his company 

was going into an attack upon the en6lll1"1 succeeded in .treeing 

himself from control of his superior officers, He was thereby 

afforded the opportunit7 o.t seeking safety in the rear and he a­

vailed himself of it. He went to the company kitchen ten to 

15 miles in tpe rear of the attack and there remained in compara­

tive safety until the battle hazards were concluded. There was 

substantial evidence from which the court was justified in in­

ferring that be knew of the battle plans and the perils to which 


·he would be exposed. His actions bespoke clearly his intent to 
avoid these. battle hazards. The subtlet7 of the means he employed 
taints his cowardice with fraud and deceit. The of.tense with which 
he was charged.was clear~ proved (CM ETO 4570, Hawkins, and 
authorities therein cited). . 

4. The charge sheet shows that accused is 22 years two months 

of age. He enlisted 2.3 September 1940 at Fort Jackson, South 

Carolina, to.serve for three years. His service period is governed 

by the Service Extension Act of 1941. No prior serv:tee is shown. 


5. The court w.as legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 

the person and offense. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­

stantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 

Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 

legally suffieient to support the findings of guilty and the sentence. 


6. The penalty for desertion in time of war is death or 

such other punishment as the court-martial may direct (AW' 58). 
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Designation of the Eastern Branch, United States Disciplbar;y 
Barracks, Greenhaven,- New York, as the place of confinement 
is authorized (Cir.2101 WD, 14 Sept.1943, sec.VI, as amended}. 

__·"""~_._:+._·_..: i............_·_______ ·- Judge .Advocate 

' 

~<~-J~e Advocate 

4382 
, 
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1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 1 6 FEB 1945 TO: Command-
1.n& General, Sth Infa.ntey Division, ilt> S, U.S. A.rmy. 

l. In the case 'ot Private THERON C. IDNG (11+007767), 

Company B, lJtb In!antey, attention is invited to the foregoing 

holding by the Board of Review that the record of trial is 

legally su!!icient to support the findings-of guilty and the 

sentence, which hold~ is hereby approved. Under the provisions 

o! Article of i'far 5o2, you now have authority to order execution 

ot the sentence. 


2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this 
office1 they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding am 
this indorsement. The file number of the record in tr.is office is 
Cl{ ETO 4382. For convenience of reference, please place that number 
--~ts _at _the end of the order: (CM ETO 4382). ­

/~(,~'
) E. C. McNEIL, 

Brigadier General, United States Jrnv, 
_ -~si_s~t.___~e Advocate_ General_•\- _ 
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with the 

European Theater of Operations 
1.:PO 887 

BO.AJID OF F.EVIT'i1 I~O. 2 2 9 DEG 1944 
CM ETO 4386 

UNITED STATES 	 ) 2D .4.ru.lOfill) I:IVISICH 
) 

v. 	 ) Trial by GCM, coi.vened at Headquar­
) ters 2d Armored Division, (Holland) 

Privates CECIL ~'I. GREEN ) 16-l;l October l944. Sentence '.as to 
(.38451694), and WILLARD ) each-accused: Dishonorable d :Lscharge, 
PHILLIPS (14000193), both ) total forfeitures and confinement at' 
of Cor.1pany B, Supply Batta­ 'J hard labor for 15 years. United States 
lion, 2nd Armored Division. ) Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOLDmG by BOAFJ) OF P..EVIEii NO. 2 

VAN BEilSCHOTEH, HILL and SLEEPLP., Judge J.dvocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the soldiers named above 
has been examined by the Board of f,eview. 

2. Accused, with their consent, were tried together upon the 
follo\ving charges and specifidations: 

~ 

CHARGE I: Violation of the_ 96th 	Article of \'[ar. 

Specification l: In that Private Cecil W. Green, 
Company "B", Supply Battalion, 2d .?.rmored 
Division, APO 252, was at or near Heerler­
heide, Holland, on or about 5 October 1944 
drunk a.rid disorderly in uniform in the home 
of Frau Vandenhoff, #20 Hetelstraat, Heerler­
heide, Holland, under circur~stances as to 
bring discredit upon the military service. 

Specification 2: In that * * * did at or near 
Heerlerheide, Holland on or about 5 October 
1944, violate a standi~g order of the First 
US .Army dated 15 September 1944,-in that he 
did, without proper authority, leave his 
bivouac area at or near Heerlerheide, Holland 4386 

- 1 -
CONFIDENTiAL 



CONF!OENTIH 
(334) 

and visit the town of Heerlerheide, Holland. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 93rd Article of War. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at or near 
Heerlerheide, Holland, on or about 5 Octo­
ber 1944, with intent to commit a felony, 
viz, rape, co1mnit an assault upon fl.:ien Wy­
nen, by will.fully and feloniously attempt­
ing to force the said I1iien Wynen to the 
eround and placing his hands over her mouth. 

PHILLIPS 

CHJ.F..GE I: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification 1: In that Private Willard (NIIU) 
11 B11Phillips, Cornpany , Supply BattaUon, 2d 

Arraored Division, APO 252, was at or near 
Heerlerhiede, Holland, on or about 5 October 
1944 drunk and disorderly in uniform in the 
hor;ie of Frau Vandenhoff #20 IJetelstraat, 
Heerlerhiede, HoJ.land, under such circum­
stances as to bring discredit upon the mili ­
tary service. 

Specification 2: In that * * * did at or near 
Heerlethiede . , Holland on or about 5 October 
1944, violate a standing order of the First 
US Army dated 15 September 1944, in that he 
did, without proper authority, leave his 
bivouac area at or near Heerlerhiede, Holland 
and visit the tmm of Heenlerhiede, Holland. 

CHJJ-:GE II: Violation of the 93rd Article of rrar. 

Specification: In that * * * did, at or near 
Heerlerhiede, Holland, on or about 5 October 
1944, with intent to cor..mit a felony, viz, 
rape, cor.u::it an assault upon l':elly i7ynen, by 
willfUJ.ly and feloniously placing his hand 
over her mouth o.nd forcing the said I~elly 
Hynen to lie on her back. 

I 

Each accused pleaded guilty to Charee I and Specification 2 there­
under, and not guilty to Specification 1, Charee I, and to Cheree 
II and its Specification. Each was found guilty of all charees and 
specifications. l:o evidence of previous convictions of Green was 
introduced. Evidence was introduced of' one previous conviction of 
Phillips by sunr:ary court for absence without leave for one day, in 
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violation of Lrticle of .:ar 61. Three-fourtLs of the members 
present at the tir.te the vote was taken concurri!'..g, euch accused 
was sentenced to be dishonorably di$Chart;ed the service, to for­
feit all pay and allowances due or to beco:r.ie due, and to be con­
fined at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may 
direct, for 15 years. The reviev1ing authority approved each 
sentence, designated tte United ~tates Penitentiary, Lewisburg, 
Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement for each accused, and 
forwarded the record of trial for action under the provisions of 
Article of i7ar 5cY;t. 

J. The evidence for tl::e prose~tion shov:s that in Eeer­
l°erheide, Holland, lived EenryJoseph Van<lenhoff, mine worker, 
with his wife a.rid eight children, of wltor.1 two -- raen and l'lelly 
'Nynen, aged 18 and 16 years, respectively -- i::ere Frau Vandenhoff' s 
daughters by a former narriage (P.7-8,lJ-14,17,26). At 1:30 on the 
morning of 5 October 1941,, Frau Vandenhoff was awakened by a ring­
ing of her doorbell and a knocking on the door (RS,14). ";Jhen her 
husband opened the door, the two accused ~1ere outside and e.sked to 
come in and warm themselves (RS-9,14). Lccused spoke no Dutch and 
the Vandenhoffs no English, but accused Phillips knew a little 
German and so did the Ve.ndenhoffs (P.11,13,15,13) • .A.ltl:ough both 
accused were strangers to the Vance!1hoffs and l:ad obviously been 
drinking, the Dutch couple received them cordially (R9,1J,14,16). 

Upon entering, accused deposited their guns in a corner 
of a front bedroom through which they passed on the way to the 
kitchen where their hosts lighted a fire and brewed coffee for then 
(R9,ll,14,15,28). Hhen the baby awoke, accused asked to see the 
children and were ushered into a becroor.1 where all eight of the 
children slept (P..9,14). There Phillips handed Eelly her dress and 
told her that she and Uien were to join them in the kitchen (R9,15, 
Ie,27). 'rhe girls dressed and went to the kitchen where !Ielly drank 
a cup of coffee with the accused (Rl0,18-19,27). 

Frau Vancenhoff served accused bread and cabbe.ge as well 
as coffee (RlO,lL,). .Accused asked for meat and bt.:.i:.ter. iihen told 
that the family he.ct none, they offered to fetch some from their 
nearby bivouac area stipulating, ::..t the same time, that tt:e girls 
should acconpany them (Rl0,14,27). Frau Vandenhoff expressed her 
unV1illingness to t~1.is arran~ement. iihen accused insisted, she sug­
gested to her husLand that he go along. He started to put on his 
shoes but desisted when accused signified their disapproval by 
pointing to his shoes and repeatedly saying "No" (Rll,12,15,20,27-28). 
Frau Vandenhoff testified that when she said that the girls should 
not go along, accused went into the front room and took their guns 
from the corner (Rll). According to Mien, "when they were speaking 
to my father they were in the kit.chen and the guns were in the Sleep­
ing room11 • She te~tified thut "before they went they put on their 
overcoats and took up their guns" (li.28). Vandenhoff remarked that 
the accused were good soldiers and would bring the e;irls back (Rll,13). 
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He testified that he was afraid they would use their guns, they, were 

"swinging them around" and "working the bolt" but also that he gave 

his permission for the girls to go with the accused because one of 

the soldiers had a roEary and he thought t.hey were "pretty good guys 

after all they were religious 11 (:F-~15). He remained in the kitchen while 

the girls and soldiers nent through the hall on the way to the front 


·door (R28). In the hall Green banged ·on tqr-~with his elbow and 
said, "'Boom, boom, boom"' (I-:ll,lJ,20). They left 11ith their guns on 
their shoulders and their arms around the reluctant girls (F.20 1 28). 
Iden was vreeping when she left and so was her mother (Ell,12). 1;elly 
testified that they only went with the soldiers because they h&d to. 
"The soldiers forced us with their guns 11 (R20). 

Green and i·iien stopped in e. meadow before they reached 
the bivoue.c area (P..21,29). -'1th his arms around her, Green kissed 
Lien three tirues (:E.30); then, indicating "by motions" that he was 
cold, he spread his overcoat on the ground, pointed to it and said, 
111 :Co, do, do 111 , Hhich Lien interpreted to oean that he wanted her to 
lie d ovm upon it (E29, 30, 31). Lhe indicated her unwillingness, v1here­
u.pon he seized her "at the back" and undertook to push her to the ground. 
However only one of Lien's hands and one of her knees ever actually 
touched the ground. ·..'hen she began to cry, accused placed his two hands 
over her I:louth (~L29, 31). She then attempted to flee, "and the soldier 
took me at my left foot, and I nearly fell on the ground, and then I got 
free and ran away11 • She ran all the way home, crying for her mother 
and for Nelly (Ii.29,30). Viben she arrived, having been absent approxi­
mately a quarter of an hour, 11 she was crying and she was nervous11 (Rl2,16). 

Phillips and Nelly proceeded to his tent in the bivouac 

area,about 10 to 15 meters from the meadow (P..20-21). He forced her into 

his tent with his knee, after seizing her at the back. She sat down on 

some blankets and he went to the kitchen. When he returned, after 

about two minutes, he brought some cans with him (fi.21). Then, placing 

one lfand on her neck and the other on her back, he pushed her down so 

that she lay on her elbows (R21-22). She was never at any time forced 

completely dovm on her bacl-: but remained, until she finally arose, lying 

on her forearms with her legs outside the tent (?..22-23). llhen she at ­

tem11ted to cry, he held his two hands on her mouth. She "tried to come 

into sitting position again but I couldn't "· Accused unbuttoned his 

trousers, exposing his privates to her observation. She beat him in 

the face and kicked him. He loosened one button on her coat, held one 

hand over her mouth and tried to get his hand under her dress (fi.22). 

She freed herself then and sat up (R25). J..ccused t1t that time 11 heard 

someone climbing over the fence so he went out.side of the tent to look 

who was there". This terminated the e.ssault, during which, Nelly testi ­

fied, she kicked bin twice, hit him once in the face and cried out only 

once and no more because 11 he got hls hand over my mouth and I couldn't 

(R2.3). 
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. Outside, Phillips found Green climbing over the fence. 
The two, after talking together, approached the tent and Phillips in­

tructed Helly to come out. Green took her to the kitchen truck, 
bout 20 meters distant, once forcing her aeainst the truck and whenthe cried; he threatened to shoot her if she didn't keep still. Phil ­

~ips remained in the tent (R23) •. In the kitchen, Green procured soms 
eans and "told me to ta.ke some of them bwt I didn't". Green had her 
.in his arms bmt freed her when Phillips joined them and the three re­
turned to the tent. Phillips 11 had two cans with him and said if I 
would do fo~ five minutes what he asked I could have those two cans 
of meat" (R24) •. Then, 

11 the two soldiers began to talk together and I 

fled away. * * * I fled to the wire and the 

soldier with the black hair L'Phillip_i7 came 

behind me and I was just over the wire when 

he reached the sane place. I was on the other 

side of the wire, and he was inside, and he 

asked me again if I would do five minutes what 

he asked then I could have those two cans of 


' meat11 (R24). 

Nelly ran directly home. 11 In the meadow I ran", she testified, 
"and on the street I walked" (I~24). When she arrived, bearing 
canned food which she had ta.ken from the camp, she v:us excited; she 
had mud on her shoes and her dress and stockings v1ere torn as the re­
sult of her hurried climbing of the fence (Rl2,16,24,26). She had 
been absent from home for about half an hour (Rl2). 

Llajor James D. V!ebster, investigating officer, testified 
that after being warned, accused Phillips made a sworn and accused 
Green an unsworn-statement (RJ3,J5). According to Phillips, members 
of the Vanderhoff far.iily told accused that there was no food in the 
house and no milk for the baby whereupon they offered to procure tome. 
"The man said that the r,irls could go with them, and at first he 
started to go with them but changed his mind" (R34), Phillips did not 
know why. Fhillips proceeded, with 11 the girl11 , to his corapany area, 
leaving her just outside his tent while he 

"went off then to the kitchen to get some milk 

and when he came back to the tent where the 

girl had br·en she was standing under a tree, 

and then he heard some shots that rather 

frightened him, so he too~ the girl to the 

fence where they had come in, and let her go. 

When he had first cone into the area he had 

hi5 arra around her, and when he stopped at 

the tent he h~~ kissed her, and she didn't 

fight him, but pushed him away. He did not 

touch her other than that, and did not attempt 

to molest her clothing,_ and did.not touch his 

clothing "' * *" (R34) : .· 
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Green's statement was to the effect that the Dutch family where 
he was giv~n some coffee gave him also 

"a hard luck story about having no milk for 
the baby. The man in the house got the coats 
for the two girls and told them to go with 
him. He went with one of the girls. The step­
father of the two girls made no attempt to go 
h:t.mself. He walked with the girl to the company 
area of Company B and he had his arm around the 

· girl and when he got to the fence gate he left 
the girl and walked on up to the area. He did 
not ntternpt to love up the girl and did not 
take off his coat, he wasn't with her long 
onough after they stopped to even take his 
coat off. * * * He then went into the area and 
found the other girl standing under a tree and 
he kissed her and she did not struggle, but 
pushed him awa;y. He stated the other girl did 
act a little bit frightened and he didn't know 
whether his kissing her frightened her or whether 
she was already frightened. He did not attempt 
to love her up or anything else. He v1alked to 
the kitchen and when he came back she was gone" 
(RJ6). 

4. After their rights were explained to both accused, Phillips 
elected to remain silent, Green to take the stand in his own behalf and 
also "as a defense witness for Private Phillips" (RJ8-J9). He \'las 
sworn and testified substantially as follows: 

I 

On 4-5 October 1944 he shared with Phillips a pup tent in 
his company bivouac (F.39). ';/hen he entered the area, in the early 
morning of the 5th, Phillips and rrthe girl" were standing "right beside_ 
each other" under a tree 25 or 30 feet from the tent. Accused joined 
them and kissed the girl, who did not appear to be angry (R40). Phil­
lips accompanied her to the fence. After she left, Green went to the 
kitchen (R40,41). 

5. There is substantial evidence that each accused at the time 
and place alleged cor.u:iitted an assault upon the girl named in the 
applicable specification. The sole question requiring consideration 
in each instance is whether there is any substantial evidence that the 
assault was made with intent to cor.u:iit rape. 

"The lntent to have carnal knowledge of the woman 
assaulted by force and without her consent must 
exist and concur with the assault. In other 
words, the man must intend to overcome any re­
sistance by force, actual or constructive, and 
penetrate the woman's person. Any less 'intent 
will not suffice" (UCfJ, 1928, par.1491, p.179). 4386 
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11 The inter..t to corr.mit rape mttstappear from 
the ev:l.dence to have been such as that the 
accompanyinz battery, if effectuated, would 
have amounted to the leeal crime of rape. 
It rm~st be in.:'erable from all the circumstances 
tha~ the design of the assailant, in the battery, 
was to gratify his passions at all events and 
notwithstanding the opposition offered--to over­
power resistance by all the force necessary to 
t'·.e successful accoraplishment of his purpose" 
(;:inthrop 1 s Ulitary Law and Precedents, Eeprint, 
p.688). 

"The question whether there is any substantial 
evidence to sustain the finding of the court 
that at the tir:te of the assault accused had the 
intent to rape the girl, is a question of law 
which must necessarily be considered by the Board 
of Review and does not involve determining the 
weight of the evidence or passing upon the credi­
bility of witnesses. 1:'ihere an assault is commit­
ted on a woman or girl, and the f'acts do not af­
ford a reasonable basis for the inference of an 
intent to commit rape, the Board of Heview will 
not approve a finding of guilty of assault viith 
such intent (Ci.1 199369, Davis; CPii 220805, PeaJT; 
Clf. 230541~ Janiel)" (er,; 239839, Harrison (1943 , 
25 BR.273J. 

11 0nce an assault with intent to cor.imit rape is 
riade, it is no defense that the man voluntarily 
desisted" (r.:cLI, 1928, par.1491, p.179). 

In Green's case the details of the act~al assault committed in the 
meadow present a highly questionable basis for the inference that ac­
cused intended then and there to employ ultimate force if necessary to 
achieve his purpose. In Phillips' case, I:elly's evidence presents a 
stronr;er fou1:dation for such an inference, in that the assault she 
described was definitely aggravated by elements of indecency. In 
neither case was the violence more than negligible and neither girl 
suffered any physical injury. Accused moreover manifested dispositions 
to per~uade and bargain, which, though not v;holly inconsistent with an 
intent to use ultimate force if other measures failed, certainly casts 
some doubt as to their imrmdiate intention of doing so. But when con­
sidered in connection with accused's conduct in exploiting their status as 
liberators ~o coerce the unwilling girls to leave their home at one 
o'clock in the morning, under circumstances disclosed by the testimony 
of four members of the fanily, the slight violence employed in the as­
saults mieht reasonably be construed as motivated and accompanied by a 
more· sinister purpose than mere unconscionable inducement to reluctant 
consent. ~lith such aqdi tional and highly significant evic:ence to sup­
port the inference of -concomitant intent, the court's findings of ;:;u4~8 6 
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of assault with intent to commit rape may not legally be disturbed 
on appellate review (CM ETO 1953, Lewis). 

6. On ~he second (and concluding) day of the trial, the two 
prosecutrices, I-'rau Vanderhoff and her husband, addressed a joint · 
petition, siened by all four, to the court urging leniency, repre­
senting that when accused were in their house, they vrere under the 
influence of alcoholic drinks and, as a result thereof, not wholly 
responsible; furthermore, that their acts on the occasion in ques­
tion produced no harmful consequences. 

7. The charge sheet shows that Green is 21 years of age and 
that, with no prior service, he was inducted at Little Rock, Arkansas, 
22 February 1943; that Phillips is 22 years of age and that, with no 
prior service, he enlisted at Jacksonville, Florida, on 23 ·July 1940, 
to serve for 3 years, his service period having been subsequently ex­
tended by the Service Ex:tension Act of 1941. 

8. 'I'he court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of 
the persons and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial. rights of any of the accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sentences. 

9. Penitentiary confinement is authorized under Article of War 
42 upon conviction of assault with intent to commit rape in violation 
.of the Article of ':ia.r 93 (18 USC 455). The designation of the United 
States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confine­
ment is authorized (Cir.~29, llD, 8 June 1944, sec.II, par.l(b) 4(3b). 

4386 
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(341) 
1st Ind. 

Viar Department, Branch Office of The2J§dftt_~~~aate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. TO: Command­
ing General, 2d Armored Division, 1J'O 252, U. s • .Army. 

1. In the ~ase of Privates CECIL W. GREEH (3$451694), and 
WILLARD PHILL::::PS (14000193), both of Company B, Supply Battalion, 
2d Armored Division, attention is invited to the foregoing holding 
by the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally sufficient 
to support the findings of guilty and the sentence, as to each ac­
cused, which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of 
Article of Yiar 50i,-, you now have authority to order execution of the 
sentences. 

2. I have approvec the holding of legal sufficiency after 
much consideration and with reluctance. As an office of appellate 
review, the Board of Review and myself are botind by certain rules 
which have been stated, as follows: 

"Convictions by court-martial may rest on infer­
ences but may not be based on conjecture. A scin­
tilla of evidence - the 'slightest particle or 
trace', is not enough. There must be sufficient 
proof of every element of an offense to satisfy a 
reasonable man when guided by normal human exper­
ience and common sense springing from such exper­
ience" (cr.i 223336 (1942), Bull.JAG, Aug. 1942, 
Vol.I, Ho.3, sec.422, pp.159,162). 

"In the exercise of its judicial power of appellate 
review, tlllder A.U. 50-}, the Board of Review treats 
the findings below as presumptively correct, and 
attentively examines the record of trial to deter­
mine whether they are supported in all essentials 
by substantial evidence. To cor.stitute itself a 
trier of fact on appellate review and to determine 

the probative sufficiency of the testimony in a re­
cord of ~rial by the trial co'llrt standard of proof 
beyond a reasonable doubt ·v1ould be a plain usurpa­
tion of power and fr-.1ske.tion of justice" (CU 192609, 
Hulme, 2 B.R. 19,30). 

"The weighing of the evidence and the determining of 
its 3ufficiency, the judging of credibility of wit­
nesses, the resolving of conflicts in the evidence 
and the deter;-.iination of the ultimate facts were 
functions corunitted to the court as a fact-finding 
tribu...'1.al. Its conclusions are final and conclusive­
ly binding on the :!Joard of Review· where the Sl}'lle are 
supported by substantial competent evidence" \Cl1·i ETO 4386895, Fred Davis et al). 
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The reviewing authority, however 1 r.as a bronc1er power. 
He is perr.iitted to weigh the evidence and it is his duty to do so 
and to consider all other aspects of the case, in order that justice 
may be done. 

These two soldiers are convicted of assault with intent to 
rape. As to the intent required in this crime, there seems to be a 
misunderstanding - a belief that all that is necessary to maJ(e out 
the crin:e is a desire for sexual intercourse accompanied by an assault. 
This view fails to distinguish other cases which are sometimes described 
as forceable fondlir:g or indecent assault, which are prelimfoary to 
and with the hope of securing voluntary intercourse. The requisite 
intent is stated on page 179, L'.CM, as follows: 

11Tl:e intent to have carnal J:.nowledge of the 
woman assaulted ]?;z_forc~nd vrithout her conseJlj: 
must exist and concl:I' with the assault. In otter 
words, the man must ~11_d-19_9~.9.£m.0-?ny repis­
~~for~, actual or constructive, and pene­
trate the woman's person. Any less intent will 
not suffice". (Underscoring supplied). 

'£he conduct of these two soldiers in invading the Dutch home 
after midnight was disgraceful to J.merican arms. They could well have 
been charged with kidnapping the t vm girls. nut the assaults were not 
brutal, were not persisted in and do r..ot convince 1:1e that they intended 
to overcome any resistance b;)r the force necessary. The girls were not 
physically injured. They were manhandled but neither was forced to a 
complete prone position. Both escaped and were not pursued. Both they 
and their parents have requested leniency. It is evident that, after 
one girl fled, they could have accorr.plished rape of the other 1 had that 
been their intention. 

It is my suggestion, therefore, that by supplementary action 
you approve only so much of the findings of guilty under Charge II and 
its Specification, as to each accused, as involves an aggravated assault 
in the manner alleged. Such offense will support confinement for five 
years. The other two offenses will support confinement for one year. 
Green is 21 years of age and has served almost tv10 years; Phillip is 
22 years of'age and has served more than four years. Both soldiers 
were drunk and so far as shown, their prior records were good. It is 
belieyed that the dishonorable discharge as to each should be suspended 
so that the government nay preserve its ri5ht to use them again as 
soldiers, a.~d the Loire Disciplinary Training Center should be designated 
as the place of confinement. 

J. rlhen copies of the published order are forwarded to this office, 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement. 
'rhe file number of the record in this office is CI1i ETO 4386. For conven­

4386 
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ience of reference, please place that nmnber in brackets at the 
end of the order: (m.: El'O 4386). 

P.(~'
E. C. !ic..•lEIL, 

Brigadier General, United States Aney, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

4386 






CONFIDENTIAL 

Branch Of.fice o:r The Judge Advocate General (345) 
with the 

European Theater of Operations
APO 887 

BOA.RD OF lmV!EW ?:o• 1 

CM ETO 4428 2 2 NOV ·1944 
UNITED STATES 

v. 

Private ClrIS ROOS (.357978.38), De­
tachment of Patients, United States 
Army Hi:>spital Plant 4167 

UNITED KINGDOM J3ASE;, COMMUNICATIONS 

ZONE, EUROPEAN THEATER OF OPERATIONS 


Trial by GCM, convened at Whittington 

Barracks, Lich:tield, Staffordshire, 

England, 27 September 1944. Sentence: 


l 

Dishonorable discharge, total for­

feitures and confinement at hard labor 
for 20 years. United States Peniten~ 
tiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania. 

HOIDING by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l 

RITER, SARGENT and STEVENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of' trial in the case of' the soldier named above has 
been examined by the Board of' Review. 

2•. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Specificationi 

CHARCi&a Violation of the 9.3rd Article of' War. 

Specification& In that Private otis (NMI) Ross, Detach­
ment of Patients, United States Army Hospital Plant 
4167, did, at Warwick, Warwickshire, England, on or 
about 21 August 1944, with intent to commit a felony, 
viz; commit rape, commit an assault upon Mrs. Frances 
Mary West, by will1'ully and feloniously throwing the 
said Mrs. Frances Mary West on the ground and placing 
his body upon her. 

1fe pleaded not guilty to and was found guilty of the Charge and Specifica­
tion. Evidence was introduced of one previous conviction by special court­
martial for absence without leave for ll9 days in violation of Article of 
War 61. He was s~ntenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, to 
forfeit all pa.7 and allowances due or to become due, and to be confined 
at hard labor, at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for 
20 years. The reviewing authority approved the sentence, designated the 
United States Penitentiary, U:lwisburg, PeMsylvania, as the place of con­
finement, and forwarded the record of trial for actio~ pursuant to Article 
of War 5()!-. · . · 
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. 3. The evidence 1ndisP!ltab1y established that, at the time and place 
alleged, Mrs. Frances Mary West, of 42 Friars Street, Vla.nrick, was talcing 
her ema.11 dog for a walk. J.s ,she was returning home she was suddenly at ­
tacked by the accused who . 

11 threw me to the ground. He proceeded to 
:pllt bis.hands up my clothes. Then I strug­
gled. I got partially' to my knees and he 
threw me down again and turned me over on 
one side and tried to pill my knickers down. 

• I screamed and shouted •helpl in desperation." 

He got on top of her while she was on the ground. She sustained a 
scratched and bleeding nose and bruises on one side of her 1'aoe (R.6-8). 
Robert W. Henshall, a sheet metal worker, of Friars Street, Common Gates, 
Warwick, saw accused follow and then run after Mrs. West (RlO). At the 
time 01' the attack, she was seen on the ground with accused on top 01' 
her and Henshall and two other men 11 shouted to them". Accused jumped 
up and ran, but was quickly "captured and brought back and turned over 
to the police" (Rll). He was quiet, ma.de no effort to run away, talked 
sanely' and sensibly and was not drunk (Rl2) • At the trial he was identi ­
fied as her assailant by Mrs. West (RlO) and by Henshall (Rll). Lance 
Corporal Horace Fisher, Budbrooke Barracks, near Warwick, saw accused as 
he was pursued by three men. He was present when accused was overtaken 
and heard him say "I1' Ilve done anything wrong, I'll pay tor it" (Rl3). 
On 24 August 1944, accused was interviewed by First Lieutenant Victor D. 
Reynolds, 307th Station Hospital, who warned him of hie rights Under the . 
24th Article of War (R14) • Accused indicated .that he understood bis · 
rights and voluntarily signed a statement, which described his .following 
Mrs. West, knocking her down and running when people approached (Rl5-l6; 
Pros. Ex.l). 

4. .J..fter his rights were explained to him,. accused elected to remain 
silent and no evidence was introduced in his behalf (Rl.6-17) • 

5. The evidence supports the findings that accused at the time of 
the assault upon bis victim entertained the speci.fio intent to commit 
rape. The i'indings of guilty- were i'ully warranted (CM ETO 2500, ~; 
CM ETO 3093, Romero; CM ETC .3163, Boy4, Jr.; Cl4 ETO 32551 J22!!; CM ETO_ 
3644, Nelson). 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 24 years seven months o.f 
age and was inducted 2 April 1943 at Cincinnati, Ohio. He had no prior 
service. 

7 • The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction o.f the per­
son and offense.. No errors injuriously'a£i'ecting the substantial rights of 
accused were oollill11tted during the trial. The Board ot Review is 01' the 
opinion that the record oi' trial is legally sui'i'icient to support the 
.findings oi' guilty and the sentence. 

442f' 




CONFJDENTJAL 

(34?) 

a. Confinement in a penitentiary' is authorized for the crime ot 
aasa.ult with intent to commit rape by- AW 42 and seo.276, Feders.1 Cr:hn,nal 
Code {18 USC1 455). The designation o~ the Uilited States Penitentia.r;y,
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place ot confinement is proper (Cir. 229, 
WI>, 8 Jtme 1944, sea. II, pa.rs. l.£(4), 3.Jl). · 

'+ ·­__i_c-_;_,,,_ .._,.._ Judge Advocate.•._,__ .. ::_',---- ­

. ~¢~Advocate 
lkvJ_ Z. ~, J"'1ge Advocate 
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War Department, Branch 0£.tiee o! The Judge Advocate General with the .. 
European Theater of Operations. 2 2 _NO~ 1944 TOa Conand1ng 
General, United Kingdom Base, Communications Z'one, European Theater of 
Operations, APO 413, U.S.Anor. 

l. In the case of Prlvate a.rrs ROSS (35797838), Detachment ot 
Patients, United States Army Hospital Plant 4167, attention is invited. 
to the !oregoing holding. bJ'. the Board of Review that the record of trial 
is legall\y sut.ticient to Sll.pport the i'1ndings o:t guilt7 and the sentence, 
which holding is hereb7 approved. Under the provisions of Article of War
50!-, 7011 now have author1t7 to order execution of the sentence. . 

2. 'lhen copies of the'pu.bllshed order are forwarded to this o.tfice, 
they Bhould be accompanied by' the foregoing holding and this 1ndorsement. 
The file number ot the record in this office ia 011 ETO 4428. For con­
nn1enoe of reference, pl.eue place that mm.ber in brackets at the end ot 
the Ord.era (CJl ETO 4428). 

/ff!Ptit:u ~; 
E. 	C • JlcNEIL,. 

Brigadier 	General, United States J.rrq, 
Assistant Judge .ldvocate General. 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General 

with the 
European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 

19 DEC 1944BOARD OF ru:.vu.1 NO. l 

CM ETO 441+3 

UNITED STATES) 8TH INFANTRY DIVISION 
) 

v. ) Trial by GCM:, convened at AFO #8, 
) U.S. Army, (France), 27 October 1944. 

Private GEORGE H. DICK ) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
(6849121), Company B, ) total forfeitures UJ.d confinement at 
.28th Infantry ) hard labor for life. Eastern Branch, 

) United St&tes Disciplinary Barracks, 
) Greer.haven, New York. 

HOLDING by BOAR:) OF REVIEil NO. l 

RITER, SAR.GENT and STEVENS, Judge .Advocates 


l. T'ne record of trial in U:c case of the soldier na.'ll.ed 
above has Lieen e.xa.11in'ed. by the :Soard. of :::Cevie·;r. 

2. Accused w<..s tried upon tile following Charc;e and 
specifications: 

Ct:AnGE: Violation oz tlce 26th •.rticle of ·,:ar. 

Specification l: In that Private George H. 

Dick, Compar;.y .i3, 28th Ini.'c..ntr-.{, being 

on bua.rd.~nd posted as a sentinel, at or 

z1ear two (2) miles r.ortheast }iolzthULJ., 

Luxembllurg on or a'-io:..t OJ.30, October 

13, 1944, ci.id leave his post before he 

w2.s regularly relieved • 


.Specification 2: In thd {c * i< beinc on 
guard and posted as a sentinel, at or 
near two (2) miles northea.st Holzthum, 
Luzembourg <:2 or about C330, October 13, 1944, 
was found sleeping under a haystack, about 
thirty (30) fE.et from his post. 
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He pleaded not guilty and, three-fourths of the members of the 
court pr<::sent at the time the vote was taken concurring, was 
found guilty of the Charge and specifications. No evidence of 
previous convictions was introduced. Three-fourths of the 
members of the c 1urt present at the time the vote was taken 
concurring, he was ser1tenced to be dishonorably discharged 
the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due or. to become 
due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the 
reviewing authority may direct, for the term of. his natural 
life. The reviewing authority approved the centence, designated 
the .2astern Eranch, l;nited .States Disciplinary Barracks, Green­
haven, hew :Lork, as the place of confinement, and. forwarded the 
record of trial for action pursuant to Article of liar 5oi. 

3. The undisputed evidence established that on the morning 
of 13 October 1944, at 0200, accused, a member of Company B, 
28th Infantry (R4), assumed his assigr1ed guard post in the 
Siegfried Line, near. Holzthum, Luxembourg (R9.,10,14,23-25). 'I'he 
post, which was a one man post (R16) anci stationary (R6,15), 
consisted of a hole in the ground about ten or 15 yards from a 
haystack (R7) and commanded a field of fire to the front (R9) ~ 
where en~ny patrols had been operating (Rl4,16). The nearest 
known enemy activity at the time was about 800 yards fron the 
post (R25). The sentinel was to remain in the hole (R9-10), and 
accused was present when orders concerning the posts in the area 
were given to the men (R25). When his successor on guard caine to 
relieve him at 0300 hours, accused was not to be found ·(R5). His 
squad leader, notified of his absence, made a search for hirn in the 
immediate area without success (R6). Private heith E. Roth, a 
member of accused's squad, joined in the search and crawled into 
a hole in the haystack vihere he found a soldier ;mom he heard 
11breath loud. 11 He shook the soldier's leg and returned to report 
the circumstance to his platoon leader. The latter returned to 
investigate, but the unidentified occupant of the haystack had 
vanished. A short time later Roth overheard "some other fellows 
talking11 to accused., who said to them that "he was asleep around_ 
the haysto.ck11 (RS,11,12,13). On the same day at 0700 (R19), 
accused 1 s commanding officer talked with him,• warned him of his 
rights under the 24th Article of liar, advised him ttthat he didn't 
have to say anything", and that what he said might be used aga.ist 
him. He asked accused"whether or not he slept on post11 • Accused 
answered 11Yes 11 (R18). 

4. After his rights were explained to.llim, accused elected 
to remain silent (Rl9-20). . 

5. Charges were served on accused three do.ys before the 
11 No 11trial date. In this instance, accused unswered when asked 

if he objected to 11 being br.ought to trial at this time" (R3-4) 
and it was evident that none of his substantial rights were 
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thereby prejudiced (CM ETO 5004 Scheck and authorities therein 
cited). 

6. ·The record of trial makes no reference to the 
presen·ce at or absence from the trial of either F'irst Lieutenant 
Peter Pellegrini, an Assistant Trial Jud6e Advocate, or First 
Lieutenant Ja..~es A. Sears, an: Assistant Defense Counsel. Their 
absence, however, 11 in no wise affected the validity of the. 
proceedings or rigl:.ts of the accused11 ( Ciit l'.30217 (1919) 1 Dig. 
Ops. JAG. 1912-1940, sec.)95 (54), p.235; .CM ETO 4235, Bartho­
lomew et al). ·-

7. As to Specification 1, the elements of proof of 
the offense alleged are: 

11 (a) ·That the accuseci. was posted as a sentinel, 
.as alleged; and (b) that he left such post with­
out being regularly relieved'' (MC1J1 19281 par.
146s, p.161). . 

The fact that the sentinel was not posted in the regular wq. 
is not a defense (MCM, 1928, par,J.46!, p,160), The evidence 
without contradiction shows that at 0200 13 Yctober 1944 
accused assumed sentry duty at his designated post and that at 
some time before 0.300 he left his post before he was regularly 
relieved. His guilt, a.s alleged, was clearly shown by the 
evidence· (CM EID 21311 Maguire, Wld cases therein cited). 

8. Referring to Specification 21 there are three ways 
b7 which a sentinel may commit an offense in violation of 
Article of ~1ar 86: by being found drunk on post, sleeping on 
post, or by leaving it before he is regularly relieved. Once 
a sentinel leaves his post before he is regularly relieved, 
the offense is complete and it is imm.a.terial ·whether he then 
sleeps in his tent or barracks, o:r even under a haystack, a.s in 
this instance. Unless ac~used was on his post, it was improper 
to charge him with · 

"sleeping un:ier a haystack, about thirty 
(30) feet from his post 11 • 

wider Article of War 86, since such conduct is not prohibited 
by any langUAge in the article. Neither could accused properly 
be ch8,J'ged with or found guilty o! such conduct in violation 
of Article of War 96. 

110ne transaction, or what is substantially 

one transaction, should not oe made the 

basis for an unreasonable multiplication 

of charges against one person. 'l'hus a 

soldier· should not be char.'.:_,ed v•ith dis­
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orderl1 conduct and for an assault vmen 

the disorderl1 conduct consisted in 

making the assault, or for a failure to 

report for a routine schedule duty, such 

as reveille, and for absence without 

leave, when such failure to report 

occuir.edduring the period for which 

he is charged with such absence without 

le<n:e. * * *{MCM, 1928, sec.271 p.17). 


So 1 in this instance, accused could not properly be charged as 
set forth in the language of Specification 2 for an offense in 
violation of Article of War 96, as a neglect to the prejudice 
of good order and military discipline, when the conduct alleged 
was not wrongful in itself,·b~t merely followed the offense of 
leaving his post before he was regularly ~elieved, al.ready 
charged under Specification 1. 

In adding Specification 2 the draftsman of the charges 
was undoubtedly influenced by the thought expressed in the 
followi?lb language: 

"However, there are times when sufficient 

doubt as to the facts or law exists to 

warrant making one trc::.nsaction the basis 

for charging two or more offenses" (MCM, 

1928, par.27, p.17). 


The· pleader was evidently in doubt as to whether accused, on the 
facts, should be charged with leaving his post or \dth being found 
sleeping on his post and thus in effect, pleaded the offenses 
in the alternative, anticipating that one of the Specifications 
could be supported by the evidence. 

'~Th.ere, however, the case falls quite 
_clearly within the definition of a certain 

specific article, to resort to plural 

charges is neither good pleading nor just 

to the accused * * * An unnecessary 

multiplication of forms of charge for the 

same offence is al.ways to be avoided" 

(Winthrop's J.!ilitary Law and Precedents, 

Reprint, p.143). 


For the foregoing reasons, the Board of Review is of 
the opinion that the r~cord of trial is legally insut!icient to support 
the findings under Specification 2 of the Charge. 

9. The charge sheet shows that accused is 27 years of age 
and was inducted 23 October 1943, to sern for the duration of 
the war plus six months. He had prior service with Infantry 
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Unassigned from ll December 1933 to 17 ;.Iarch 1936, 
inclusive. 

10. '.lhe court was legally constituted and had juris­
diction of the person and offense. Except as noted no 
errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights of 
accused were com.ilitted during the trial. The Board of Review 
is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally suffi ­
cient to support the findings of guilty of Specification 1 
and the Charge, legally insufficient to support the findings 
of guilty of Specification 2 and legally sufficient to 
support the sentence. 

11. The pe~lty for leaving post by a sentinel Qefore 
he is regularly relieved, in time of war, is death or such 
other punishment as tile court-m.arti::l may direct (AW 86). The 
designation of the Eastern Branch, United St~tes Disciplinary 
Barracks, Greenhaven, i·iew York, as the place of confinement 
is 'proper (AW 42; Cir. 210, WD, 14 Sep 1943, sec. VI, as ar.;ended). 

Judge Advocate 
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lst_Ind. 

War Depar~nt, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 

the European Theater of Operations. 19 DEC 1944 'l'O: · Command­

ing General, 8th Infantry Division, APO 8, U.S:;. Ar!ll:f~ 


1. In the case of Private GEORGB-11. DICK (6849121),, 

Company B, 28th Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing 

holding b7 the Board of Review that the record of trial is 

legally sufficient to support the findir,gs of guilty of Spec­

ification l of the Charge and the Charge, legally insufficient 

to support the findint;s of guilty of Specification 2 ·of the 

Charge and legally sufficient to support the sentence, which 

hold~ is hereb7 approved. Under the provisions of Article of 

War 5~, you now have authority to order execution of the sen­
tence. · 


2. "';'lhen copies of the published order are forwarded to 
. this office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding 

and this indorsement. The file number of the record in this office 
is CM ETO 4443. For convenience of reference please place that 
number in brackets at the end ~f the order: (CM E'l'O 4443). 

~~'. 
Brigadier General, United States krmy, 

Assistant Judge Advocate CGen~:i:_al. · 
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with.the 
European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 

BOARD OF REVIEVI NO. l 

CM ETO 4444. 
1 s ~;o~ 1~44 

UNITED STATES ) .ADVANCE SECTION, CCf&lJNICATIOHS 
) ZONE, EIJROPE.AN THEATER OF OPERA­

v. ) TIONS. 
) 

Sergeant JOHNNIE E. HTJ'D30N ) Trial by Geri!, convened. at Reims, 
(34741799), and Technician ) France, 3 October 1944· Sentences 
Fifth Gr:ade IEO V.A.IENTINE, ) AiJ to accused Hudsons Dishonorable 
SR•. , (3 2954278), both of' ) discharge, tot~ forfeitures and 
396th ~uartermaster TrUck ) confinement at hard labor for life. 
Company, and Technician Fifth ) United States Penitentiary, Lewis­
Gr:ade 09CAR N. NEilMAN (35226382), ) burg, Pennsylvania. As to accused 
Head~uarters and Head~uarters Can-) Valentine and Newmans Each to be 
paey, 712th Railway Operating ) hanged by the neck until dead. 
Batt~ioo. ) 

HOIDINJ. by BOARD OF REVIEW NO. l . 
RITER, SARGENT and STEVEN9, Judge Advocatea 

l. The record of trial in the case of the soldiers named above 
has been examined by the Board of' Review, and the Board submits this, 
its holding, to the Aasistant J"Udge Advocate General in charge of' the 
Branch Office of The J'udge Advocate General with the European Theater 
of Q.Perations. 

2. Accused were charged s'eparately and tried together by direction 
of' the appointing authority. 

Accused Htldson was tried upon the ·following Charge and Specif'­
icationa: 

CHARGEs Violation of the 92nd Article ot War. 
Specifications In that Sergeant Johnnie E. Hu.dson, 

396th Q,uartermaster Truck Company, did, at or 
near Beaunay, France, on or about .18 September 
1944, forcibly and feloniously, against her will, 
have carnal knowledge ot R8Ylllonde Dehu. 
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Accused Valentine was tried upon the following Charge and 
Specification: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of \Var. 
Specifications In that Technician Fifth Grade ~o 

Valentine, Sr., 396th Q,uartermaater Company, 
did, at or near Beaunay, France, on or about 
18 Septe.mber 1944, forcibly and feloniously'· 
against her will, have carnal knowledge of 
Raymonde Dehu. 

~cused NeVllllaD. vras tried upon the following Charge and Specif­
ication1 


CP'...ARGE: Violation of the 92nd Article of War. 
Specification: In that Technician Fifth Grade 

OScar N. Newman, Headquarters and Head­
quarters Company, 712th Railway Operating 
Battalion, did, at or near Beaunay, France, 
on or about 18 September 1944, forcibly and 
feloniously, against her will, have carnal 
knowledge of Raymonde Dehu. 

Each accused pleaded not guilty. Four-fifths of the members of the court 
present at the time the vote was taken concurring, accused Hudson was 
found guilty of the Charge and Specification' directed against him. All 
of the members of the court present at the times the votes were ta~en 
concurring, accused Valentine and Newman were each found guilty of the 
Charge and Specification directed against each of' them. Evidence was 
introduced of one previous conviction of accused Ne'l'mlaD. by sun:m.ary court 
for absence without leave of unstated duration, in violation of Article 
of War 61. All of the me.mbers of the court present at the times the 
votes were taken concurring, accused Valentine.and Newman were each sen­
tenced to be hanged by the neck until dead and accused Hudson to be dis­
honorably discharged the service, to forfeit all pay and allowances due 
or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, at such place as 
the reviewing authority may direct, for the term of his natural life. 
The reviewing authority, the Commanding General, Advance Section, Com­
nn.mications zone, European Theater of Operations, with respect to ac­
cused R.idson approved his sentence, designated the united States Peni­
tentiary, ~vlisburg, Pennsylvania, as the place of confinement and for­
warded the record of trial for action pursuant to Arttcle of War 501. 
With respect to accused Valentine and Newman he approved their respective 
sentences and forwarded the record of trial for action under Article of 
War 48. The confirming authority, the Commanding General, European 
'!heater of ~eration.s, confirmed each of the sentences imposed upon ac­
cused Valentine and Newman, and withheld the order directing execution 
of each of the sentences pursuant to Article of War 50!. 
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3. The evidence for the prosecution was substantially as fol­
lows 1 

About 6 pm (French time) on 18 September 1944 the accused 
Newman (white) and Valentine (colored) entered the caf'e of' Madame 
Madeleine Pionnier in Fr91110lltiers, Marne, France, and there encountered. 
Mademoiselle Renee Pionnier, the daughter of the proprietrest (R7,8,10). 
They solicited sexual intercourse from the young woman and also alcoholic 
liq_uor. Upon being refused they departed (R7,8 ). They proceeded in a 
•jeep• to the shop of Madame Germaine Dehu in the same town. New.nan 
entered the shop and requested of Madame Dehu and her daughter, :Maclemoi­
selle Raymonde Dehu, age 17 years, butter and. cheese (Rn,12,13). Upon 
being informed by Raymonde that none was available, Newman pointed to 
the •jeep• and repeated the word 1 butter•. Madame nehu, believing New­
man had butter and cheese in the motor vehicle, accompanied him to it. 
She was followed by Raymonde (Rl0,12,14). When they reached the •jeep• 
accused Valentine was in the clriver•s seat behind the steering wheel 
and accused Hudson (colored) was in the rear seat lying down (Rl2,14). 
Without warning, Newman picked u.p Raymonde, threw her into the car, 
placed her next to Valentine in the front seat, entered the car and sat 
next to her (Rl0,12,14). Madame Dehu grabbed her daughter, who attempted 
to hold to her, but Nemnan broke the hold. Valentine started the motor 
and clrove the •jeep• away. The girl struggled to free herself' and cried 
for help as the •jeep• was clriven rapidly through the village (Rl2,14). 
Finally Newman pushed the girl into the back seat of the car where Hudson 
held her fast (R9,14). While in the car Newman removed Raymond.e's clrawers 
and hygenic bandage. The gir~ was in a menstrual period _(Rl.4). 

Valentine "clrove the vehicle in the direction of Champaubert and 
then Etoges and near the latter community turned aside to the small vil ­
lage of Beaunay vlhere the •jeep" was stopped. Newman and Valentine clragged 
the girl from the car and threw her on to the ground (R15). At that time · 
her outer apparel had not been removed (Rl9). Valentine was armed with a 
rifle which he twice placed at Raymonde's head while she fought her as­
sailants (Rl6,20). Without unclressing Raymonde Newman forced his penis 
into her private parts and engaged in sexual intercourse (Rl5,16,16}). 
mien Newman had completed the sexual act, Valentine took his :plac::e on 
the girl•s body and likewise had complete sexual connection with her 
(Rl5)• 

At the conclusion of the act of intercourse by Valentine the 
victim escaped and within a short distance encountered a French cyclist 
to whom she a:p:pealed for protection. She mounted the bicycle with him. 
'!be three accused in the •jeep• followed the girl and the cyelist. When 
they overtook them, Valentine threatened the man with his rifle. She 
testified that the Frenchman put her off of' the bicycle and said, •it 
would be better if I (Raymonde) went• (Rl5,19). The accused :placed Ray­
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monde in the vehicle end themselves entered it. It was driven into a 
side road and halted (Rl6)•. The young woman waa then entirely disrobed. 
by the accused {Rl6,19,20). She was thrown to the ground and Newman 
had sexual intercourse with her frsr the second time. Valentine, :f'ollow­
ing Newman, sexually engaged. the girl (!U6). It was now that Hudson :f'or 
the :f'irst time attempted to secure intercourse with her. He laid on top 
o:f' her but e:f':f'ect.ed no penetration (Rl6,17). Raymonde succeeded at this 
stage o:f' the orf!:/ in breaking away tram. Ihdson and he ceased his e:f':f'orts 
to overcome her (Rl7)• She was returned. to the car, but her clothing, 
except the blouse, was not recovered. However, Hudson placed. his :f'ield. 
jacket about her. In this state o:f' undress she was taken into the vil ­
lage where B.idson reclaimed his jacket. 'lbe girl then wore only her 
blouse which reached to her Waist. ·Shaken, cold end bruised, she was 
at about 10130 p.m. allowed to depart (Rl7). 

With. respect to Hudson, Raymonde asserted. that upon arrival at 
the scene o:f' the tirst acts of intercourse he gav~ her a small Catholic • 
medal. !!he girl put it around her neck to •protect" herself'. He in:f'ormed. 
her he was a Catholic. "He was less brutal.than the other two• (Rl8,20), 
althou.gh he made a determined effort to penetrate her upon the.occasion 
ot the second attack and she freed herself only as a result of her strug­
gle and resistance. Prior to the time Newman and Valentine first had 
intercourse with ller, Hudson held her by the wrist (}U2,33). Raymonde, 
recalled as a witness for the court, amplified her testimony thusa 

· •until the moment that the white mau and the driver 
.raped. me HUdson held me prisoner, but when the other 
two men started on me he drew away. The colored man 

. (Valentine) held me down and stood over me while the 
' 	 mite man (Newman) rBi>ed. me. • • • At first it waa 

my impression that this man (HUdson) wanted to pro­
tect me, bu.t afterwards I saw that he ·was with the 
others. That is when: he iayed (sic) down on me• (R.33 ). 

Raymonde was examined by DI:'. Henri Provendier, Montmort, Marne, 
F.rance, at midnight (French time) on 18 September 1944 '(R20-21). His re­
port o:f' her condition was as follows a 

. 
'Her mental state --- she was very, very excited.. 
She reminded me of a person I have already seen 
that had been questioned by the Gestapo. She was 
very, very excited and seemed to have reached the 
limit of her strength. Physically, she bore traces 
of numerous bruises on her legs. Her legs were 
scratched. She bore scratches on her forearms, and 
she had been beaten behind her right ear. I could 
distinctly see the traces of teeth of the high and 
lower jaws. I found no traces on her breast or on 
her dress or on her stomach. • • • I made a tem­
porary examination without med~al inatruments OO?-d 
I saw inaide the girl's privates. I saw that she, 4444 
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had been torn, but I am not sure of having seen a 
man•s sperm because of the blood. I continued my 
examination locally with an electric lamp, a torch, 
and I found that the lips were swollen and torn. I 
can also say that the hymen was torn also. • • • I 
saw that this girl's private party had been torn on 
the superior party.above and below the whole length. 
Her parties were torn at least four or five millimeters• 
{R21). 

At 4 p.m. on 19 September 1944, First Lieutenant N. ?.I. Horn­
stein, Medical Corps, 28th Field Hospital, also made a physical examina­
tion of the girl (R21-22). He testified as follows concerning his find­
in&'31 

•Q,. 	 Will you tell the court what you found upon examina­

tion or this girl7 


A. 	 First I found her .lips were badly bruised. She had 

a bad bruise behind the ear which looked as if caused 

by teeth. On her back she had a bad superficial 

abrasions and bruises. She also had some cuts on her 

thighs. Her hymen had been brolcen recently in three 

places also a tear or the fourchette. 


Q,. 	 What is the fourchette7 
A. It is the outermost pOJ:ltion of the vagina. 

q,. Was the tear on the top side or the bottom? 

A. Both. 

Q,. That would be extending backward to the rectum'l 

A. Yes sir. 

Q,. How long tears did you find? 

A. 	 The tears were three-quarter.s to an inch long. Tears in 

the hymen were about a half inch long. 

Q,. Could you tell l'lhether the;:{ were new or old tears? 

A. They were definitely new tears. 

Q,. Was the girl menstruating at that time? 

A. 	 She was" (R22). 

Statesments of the accused each bearing date 19 September 1944 
were introduced in evidence (Newmana R24J Pros.Exs.7 and 8; Hudson1 R26, 
'Z'l; Pros.Exs.9 and 10; Valentines R'Z'l,28; Pros.Exs.11 and 12). In each 
instance the court was instructed thats_ 

11 only so much of the statements as pertains to the 
accused making it will be considered and any state­
ment involving any other persons is not considered" 
(R26). 
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rna.smuch as the above extra-judicial statements are similar in substance 
and effect to the unsworn statements of each accused made in open court 
it is unnecessary to reproduce them. 

4. For the defense, Captain Donald H. Martin, 396th Q,uartermaster 
Truck Company, commanding officer of accused Hudson and Valentine, tes­
tified that the characters of each of them had been excellent and that 

"Sergeant Hudson had been ope of my outstanding 
non-cor.unissioned officers in this theater of op­
eration. He has handled machines and ammunition 
in my c~any. I have trusted him with more trucks 
than ordinarily given to a Buck Sergeant because he 
had been efficient. I have not, until this incident, 
found anything detrimental to his character. Corporal 
Valentine back in the states was assistant to my sup­
ply sergeant and his work was of the highest caliber, 
and I found he was thoroughly to be trusted. In this 
theater he has performed as a truck driver, and noth­
i~g but the incident here has been reported to me to 
lead me to believe he was not operating efficiently• 
{R29). 

Each accused elected to make an unsworn statement to the court. 
The same are as follows, 

Hudson 

"I borrowed the Lieutenant's peep. I asked him could 
I borrow it to go down town, but did not tell him why 
I wanted it. ·r get T/5 Valentine to go with me. I 
goes to Chalons. We goes in a place and has several 
drinks there. After having several drinks there is a 
white soldier man by the name of Neil. We offered him · 
a drink and asked where we could get a bottle to take 
back to one of our officers. After we had several 
drinks we goes to another cafe. On our way he wanted 
to stop at the J;PO. He told u.s he would take us to 
another ca:f'e and probably get a bottle. We goes up 
and we has several drinks. I am pretty drunk :reys elf. 
I told them I was ready to go back to camp. They said 
no let's go someplace. Ile drove to some other town. 
We stopped nnd had somethins else to drink, I can't 
remember exactly what. I think it was wine. They 
picks up a girl in the peep. .At that time I was ly­
ing in the back because I was drunk. They drove down 

. further. I raised up and the lady was sitting in be-· 
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tween Valentine and Newman. She was struggling and 

I didn•t pay any attention because I was drunk. 

1'hey moves in a little field. I vanited and I was 

feeling bad. I feel better and asked why they didn't 

leave her alone. They wouldn't say anything. One 

said your turn now. 'l'he kid was '.cying on the ground. 

She was trying to tell me something. After I realize 

what was going on I layed on her. I gave her my ros­

ary because we bad (sic). I did that to show her I 

wanted to help her and didn't want to harm her• (!\30­
31). 


Valentine 

•Hudson 	had the peep. He didn't tell me what he had it 
for. We went to Chalons. He.told me to get a bottle 
at Chalon.s. We were looking for a truck lost a few 
nights before. We looked at Chalons and didn't find 
any line on it. We went to a cafe, went in and had a 
few drinks. We left there and went to another cafe. 
From there vie picked up Neil Newman. We had a few 
drinks there and left and went to another cafe to have 
a few drinks. Then we started looking for the truck. 
Ifudson v1as driving at that time and I took over the 
wheel. We drove to a little town. Newman pulled over 
to the curb. I thought he was asking for information. 
At that time he grabbed this girl, I asked him uhat 
he was doing, and 'he said drive on. We drove off about 
a LU.le or two. We pulled off on a little road; took 
her out of peep lying her on the ground and New.man in­
tercoursed her, then Hudson intercourse her, a.'1.d then 
I intercoursed her. I wanted to get her home but I 
didn't kno;1 where she lived. We put her back in the 
peep. Hudson put her in the car end gave her his 
jacket. We took off and started down the other high­
way for Chalons and the J.!?s stopped us and ~ut us in 
arrest• (I\31). 

Newman 
/ 

•on the afternoon of 18 Se~tember I went across to the 
railroad station at Chalons. I went in to get a beer. 
! got beer and met two fellorm. They inq,uired about 
Chalons. I told them I knew a fellow \\'ho might sell 
a bottle. I asked him and he couldn't do it. \Ve 
started to APO. They said they would let me off. \7e 
went out and drank te.."l. q,uarters of champae;ne with our­
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selves and two MPs and I don't know how much cognac. 
The place was closing and somethinc \7as said about 
Paris. We started to go. I was driving. Valentine 
said he was going to drive. I told him he ccrJ.ld '7e 
went to another town. I don't remember seeing the 
girl. I thought HUdson was the man v1ho got her in 
the peep. I don't remember having stopped, but once 
Valentine had his carbine in front of me and said I 
was going to be first. He got out first and he had 
the gun. He told me to get out. He put a shell in 
the chamber of the carbine. She was preying and he 
told me to take her pants off. By that time he tore 
them off. She was still preying. He slapped her two 
or three times. I told him not to hit her. By that 
time she was on the ground. I got on top of her. I 
supposed I penetrated her but I don't think I came. 
I went back. I-rudson got on her. Valentine pulled 
him off and screv1ed her again. We got into the jeep . 
and Johnnie gave her.his jacket. We proceeded up the 
road and the MPs stopped us• The Sergeant out there 
went over and got a command car and they took state­
ments from me. I have been under arrest since" (!Ul­
32). 

5. The trial of the three accused together, pursUPnt to direction 
by the &]pointing authority, although they were charged separately, was 
proper under the circumstances herein disclosed (CM ETO 3475, Blackwell, 
et !!:!• end authorities therein cited). 

6. The legal principles governine; this case with respect to New­
man and Valentine are well established and free from doubt. '!hey may 
be su.."lltnarized as follows 1 

"Rape is the unlawful carnal knowledge of a woman 

.by force and without her consent. 


J.]:J.y penetration, however sli[,ht, of a wonan's geni- . 
tals is sufficient carnal knowledge, l'Jb.ether emission 
occurs or not. 

'!he offense may be comr.rl.tted. on a female of any age. 

Force and want of consent are indispensable in rape5 
but the force involved in the act of penetration is 
alone sufficient where there is in'fact no consent. 

:Mere verbal protestations and a pretense of resistance 
are not sufficient to show want of consent, and where 
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a woman f'ails to take such measures to frustrate 
the execution of' a man's design as she is able to, 
and are called for by the circumstances, the infer­
ence may be drawn that she did in fact consent• 
(Di, 1928, par.J.4.8E_, p.165). 

•Where the act of intercourse is accomplished after 
. the female ields throu f'ear caused b threatSOf' 
great in there is constructive force, 
and the act is rape, actual physical force or actual 
physical resistance not being required in such cases, 
even where the female is capable of consenting. It 
hes been held that, where the fEmale yields through 
fear, the offense is rape, whether or not the appre­
hens ion of bodily harm is reasonable, although there 
is also authority that the threats must create a 
reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm, and 
that the threat rust be accompanied by a demonstra­
tion of brutal force or a dange~oua weapon, or by an 
apparent power of execution• {.52 c:r, sec.32, p.1024) 
(underscoring supplied). 

•con$ent, 	however reluctant, negatives rape; but '\'lhere 
the wo::io.n iD insensible through fright, or w!iere she 
ceases resistfil1ce under fear of death or other c;reat 
harm (such fear being gaged b~· her ov:n capacity), the 
consumnated act ia rape. "' • • Nor is it necessar~/ 
that there should be force enough to create •reason­
able ap:;irehens ion of death.' But it is necessary to 
prove in such case that the. defendant intended to com­
plete his purpose in defiance of all resistance" (1 
Wharton's Criminal Law, 12th Ed., sec.701, pp.942-943) 
(underscoring supplied). 

The testimony of the victim, Raymonde Dehu, corroborated and 
supported by the testimony of Dr. Provendier and Lieutenant Hornstein, 
proves beyond all doubt or contradiction that Newman and Valentine each 
had carnal knowledge of the girl, on two separate occasions. Four dis­
tinct acts of copul~tion uere shown. Penetration of the young woman's 
private parts during each of these acts of intercourse was proved and 
admitted by Newman and Valentine. 'Ihe first element of the offense vrith 
which these men were charged was therefore established o.nd no further 
conment is necessa..-..y. 

These acts of intercourse were compelled by force and violence 
visited upon the person of the victim by her assailants. The evidence 
cries aloud with proof of her non-consent and resistance to the attacr...s 
'upon her virtue. The young WOI!lDn struegled ae;ainst the advances of the 
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accused when she was kidnapped and placed in the •jeep• by Newman 
and d'..U'ing the course of the drive to the scene of the first as­
saults (Rl.4). I).U'ing the first acts of intercourse by Newman and 
Valentine she resisted but was held in captivity by the brute 
strength of her captors (Rl6). In spite of the ferocity o~ the at ­
tacl<:s and the overpowering strength o:!' the three accused she suc­
ceeded in escaping, and was recaptured when a fellow countryman re­
fused her succor (R15)• A:f'ter she had been taken prisoner the second 
time and entirely disrobed she continued her resistance, only to be 
subdued by Newman and Valentine, who again violated her. When Hudson 
attempted to force intercourse upon· her she succeeded in escaping 
from his embraces (Rl7). Raymonde described her physical mistreatment 
(aside from the sexual acts h 

•'lbe 	colored soldier (Valentine) struck me, 

pinched and kicked me, and the white man 

(Newman) twisted my 'l'ITist. The third man 

(HUdson) did not strike men (Rl9). 


Her external injuries she detailed as follows 1 

•I bore a bruise behind my head, my upper lip 
.was swollen, my left cheek was scratched, and 

I had bruises on my back all over ey body ex­

cept the breast. And I also had a swollen 

finger• (Rl9)• 


The foregoing is a substantial body of evidence which supports 
the court•a finding that Raymonde did not consent to any of the acts of 
intercourse with Newman and Valentine but conversely that she resisted 
all of' their advances and that intercourse was obtained by the two men 
only as a result of overcoming her strength and power of' resistance. 
Her conduct from beginning to end of the ghastly affair makes •non­
consent and actual resistance reasonably manifest•. 

In addition, there is uncontroverted evidence that Valentine 
mE-naced and threatened her with the rifle he carried. Twice he placed 
the muzzle of the gun to her head while she was fighting to shield and 
protect herself. Fear of her life thus became a factor which the court 
was authorized to consider in measuring the youns girl's conduct in the 
light of' the rules of law. 
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The Board of Review is of the opinion that the findin.ss 
of giilty as to accused Newman and Valentine are fully supported by 
competent and substantial evidence of convincin3 and irrefragable 
character. They llI.l.St be accepted by the Boa.rd of Review upon appel­
late review as conclusive and final (CM ETO 1899, Hicks; CM ETO 
2472, IDevins; CM ETO 3141, W'.aitfield; CM ETO 3197."'Colson & ~; 
CM ETO 3709, :r.rartin; CM ETO 3718, Steele; CM ETO 3740, Sanders, ~ 
_&; CM ETO 3859, Watson & Wimberly; CM ETO 4017, Pennyfeather). 

7. The legal sufficiency of the finding of Hudson's guilt is 
determinable upon a basis separate and differ~!t from that of Newman 
and Valentine. I!!.1dson had no actual sexual connection with Raymonde. 
Althoug.li he placed himself upon her body and attempted the sexual act 
with her, the evidence is clear that the girl either prevented the 
penetration of her person by Hu.dson or that he was physically unable 
to enter her person with his penis. 

'l'he proof, however, establishes the fact that IIudson uas an 
aider and abettor of both Newman and Valentine in their acts of raping 
the girl on both the :first and second occasions. Evidence of Hudson's 
culpability con::mences with his holding of Raymonde in the back seat of 
the •jeep" after she was kidnapped and while she was being transported 
to the site of the first attack upon her. He continued to act as the 
girl's jailer after the •jeep" had been stop_ped a..."ld Newman and Valentine 
:prepared to ccmnit the rapes. Raymonde described Hudson's conduct 
graphically t 

1Until the moment that the white man (Newman) 
and the driver (Valentine) raped me, Hu.dson' 
held rrie prisoner• • •• (I\33)• 

'1.bat Hudson did not withdraw from the attack upon Raymonde is evidenced 
by the fact that when Newman and Valentine had each obtained satis­
faction on the girl's body for the second time, Hudson made an effort 
to secure intercourse with her. 

'l,be white man and two negroes acted in unison with a co.'ltnon 
intent and a common purpose of accomplishing the rape of Raymonde. They 
were each active, violent participants in the outrage committed on the 
young girl. Hudson, although he.failed in the consummation of the sex­
ual act, obviously gave direct and efficient assistance to Newman and 
Valentine in their raping of the innocent, helpless victim. The dis­
tinction between principals and aiders and abettors has been abolished 
by Federal statute and an aider and abettor may be convicted as a prin­
cipal (sec.332, Federal Criminal Code, 18 USCA 550; .35 Stat. 1152). The 
distinction is also not recognized in the administration of 1nilita:ry jus­
tice. All are principals (Winthrop's Military Law & Precedents - Reprint, 
p.108). 
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•under Sec. 332 of the Federal Criminal Code, above 
.quoted, 	the acts of the principal become the acts 
of the aider and abettor and the latter may be 
charged as having done the act himself and be in­
dicted and punished accordingly. By virtue of said 
statute a principal of the second degree at conmen 
law becomes a principal in the first degree (De 
Preta v. united States, 2:10 Fed.73; Conelli v. United 
States, 289 Fed.791; Kelly v. United States, 258 Fed. 
392. certiorari denied, 249 u.s. 616, 63 L.Ed.8D,3). 
Premised on the above stated doctrine is the estab­
lished and well. recognized rule that an accused may 
be charged mth end found Qlilty of the crime of rape 
although he did not actually have intercourse with the 
victim if the evidence establishes that he was present 
at and aided and abetted the ravisher in the accomplish­
ment· of the act of intercourse (52 c~. Sec.50, p.1D,36J · 
State v. Flaherty, 128 Maine 141, 146 Atl.7; People v. 
Zinn, 6 Cal. A.pp. (2nd) 395, 44 Pac.(2nd) 408; People 
v. Nieto, 14 Cal. ~P· (2nd) 7CT?, 58 Pac•. (2nd) 945; 
people v. Durand -- Cal.~p. (2nd) ---, 134 Pac. (2nd) 
305; CM NATO 385, Speed)' (CM ET0.3740, Sanders, et 
al). 

T"ne record of trial is therefore legally su!ficient,to sustain the find­

inc of the court that HJ.dson was 61.lilty of the rape of Raymond under the 

principle of law above set forth and the established precedents of the 


. Board of Review (CM ETO 72, Farley & Jacobs; CM ETO 14531 Fowler; CM ETO 
3740, Sanders, .tl &; CM ETO 3851, Watson & Wimberly). 

8. '!he charge sheets show: 

HU.dson is 21 years of age, and that he wa.s inducted at Fort 

Benning, Georgia, 3 ?,larch 1943. 


Valentine is 24 years of age, and that he was induct~d at Fort 

Dix, irew Jersey, 16 July 1943. 


New:nan is 26 years two months of age, and that he was inducted 

at Colwnbus, ·Ohio, 13 August 1943. 


None of accused had ail:f p~ior service. 

9. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the 

::;>ersons and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial 

rights of ailY of accused were committed dtn'ing the trial. The Board of 

Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient 

as to each accused to support the findings of 91ilty and the sentence. 
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10. The penalty for rape is death or life inprisonraent 83 a 
court-martial may direct (AW 92). Coafinem.ent in a penite~tiary is 
authorized for the crime of rape by Article of Wa:r 42 and sections 
Z78 end 330, Federal Criminal Code (18 USCA 457,567). The desig­
nation of the united States Penitentiary, Lewisburg, Pennsylvania, 
as the place of confi~ement of accused Hudson is authorized (Cir. 
229, WD, 8 JU.ne 1944, se~_.II, }Jit's.1E_(4) and JE_). 

l ,,,..,,, I 
~ 1' •. 1~ 

/I('/ J.1~ /',.. /, ,; •/ Judge Advocate 
----~---------~~--

I 

__(..,.s...r_CK--.,.-IN;;.;.m;H.-CSP=.-IT.-'.AL=)...___ J'u.dge Advoeate 

Judge Advocate 
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War Department,_ Bra.'1ch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 1 8 NOV f!M!. T01 Coomiand­
ing General, Advance Section, CcmimunicatiC"".S 'Z""one, European Theater of 
operations, KEO llJ, u. S. Army. 

l. In the case of Sergeant JOHl!NIE E. HODSO..'tf (34741799), 396th 
~uartermaster Truck Company, attention is invited to the foregoing 
holding of the Board of Review that the record of trial is legally 
sufficient, as to the soldier above named, to support the findings 
of guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this of­
fice, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this in- · 
dorsement. The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO 4444. 
For convenience of reference please place that number in brackets at the 

' end of the orders (01! ETO 4444)• 

/(f;//tu; 
E • C. McNEIL, 


Brigadier General, United States A:i:my, 

.Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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War Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
Ettropean Theater of Operations. ·1 ~ NfW tau. TOa Cormnand­
ing General, European Theater of Operattoh'.s, ll'O~?. u. s. Army. 

· le In the case of Technician Fifth Grade IEO VAIENTINE, SR. 
(32954278 ), 396th Q.uartermaster Truck Company. and Technician Fifth 
Grade <BOAR N • NEWMA•.~ (35226382), Headquarters and Headquarters 

Company, 712th Railway Operating Battalion, attention is invited 
to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the record of 
trial is legally sufficient as to each accused to support the find­
ings of guilty and the sentence, which holding is hereby approved. 

2. i'lhen copies of the published orders are forwarded to this 
office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding, this in­
doraement, and the record of tr~al which is delivered to you herewith. 
The file number of the record in this office is CMETO 4444. For con­
venience of reference please place that number in brackets at the end 
of the orders a (CM ETO 4444). • 

3. Should the sentence as imposed by the court be carried in~o 
execution, it is requested that a ccmplete copy of the proceedings be 
furnished this office in order that its files may be complete~ 

/f/«1f&eej·
~: ' E. c. McNEIL, 

Brigadier General, United States Army, 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

\ Incl1 

iRecord of Trial. 


(Sentences ordered executed. GCID 114, 115, ETO, · 25 Nov 1944) 
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European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 

BO.lulD OF F.EVI;;·r no. 1 

C1: r.ro 4452 

18 NOV 1944 
UNITED STATES ) DC BOI.'.BER COi,Th'AtID, now desi~ted 

) 9TH BOMBA.RDiiiElIT DIVISION (Li) 
v. )

) Trial by GCM, convened at W' Station 
First Lieutenant PHJLil' L. 
Tfu.\TISO ( 0-1796550), 1288th 

) 
) 

.358, APO 595, U.S. Arey; .30 August, 
2 September 1944. Sentence: Dis­

lililitary Police Company ) missal, total forfeitures, end con­
(Aviation), (formerly of ) finement. at ha.rd labor for one year. 
Detachment A, ll75th IV:ili­ ) Place of confinement not _designat~d. 
tary Police Company (Avia­ ) 
tion)), Corps of Mi.litary ) 
Police. ) 

HOLDING by BOAPJ) OF RE'VTI:";f NO. 1 

RITIB, SARG..~·J:' and $17.VENS, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the officer named above bas 
been examined by the Board of Review and the Board submits this, its hold­
ing, to the A~sistant Judge Advocate General in charge of the Branch Office 
of The Judge Ad,~ocate General with the European 'l'heater of Operations. 

2. .Accused v1as tried upon the following charges and specifications: ­
CF.ARGE: Violation of the 6lst Article of :·:ar. 
Specification: In that 1st Lt Philip L. Treviso, 

Det A, ll75th i1D.litary Pol~c.e Company, Aviation, 
D: Bomber Command, did, without proper l €ave, 
absent himself from his organization at. Station 
168, from about 0600 4 July 1944 to 1600 hours 
4 July 1944. 

ADDI'J.'ImIAL CHARGE: Violation of the 93rd Article of i'Tar. 
Specification: In that lst Lieutenant Philip L. Treviso, 

cr,;p, 1288th Military Police Company (Aviation), IX 
Bomber Cowmand, did; at Braintree, Essex, England, 
on or about 14 July 1944., feloniously take, steal, 
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and carry away one Officer's Battle Jacket, 

value about $32.00, the property of 1st Lt 

Vincent N. Sottile, 450th Bombardr.ient 

Squadron, 322nd Bombardment Grour.> (M). 


He pleaded guilty to the original Charge anci' Specificc.tion and not guilty 
to the Additional Charge and Specification a.~d was found guilty of both 
charges and specifications. No evidence of previous convictions was in­
troduced. He was sentenced to be dismissed the service, to forfeit all 
pay and allowances due or to become due, and to be confined at hard labor, 
at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for one year. The 
reviewing authority, the Cormnanding General, 9th Bombarc.lment Division {M), 
approved the sentence and foii1arded the record of trial for action under 
Article of ':iar 1$. The confirming authority, the Commanding General, 
European Theater of· Operations, confirmed the sentence, did not' designate 
BIJY' place of confiner:ient, and withheld the order directing the execution 
ot: the sentence pursuant to Article of i~ar 50-h 

3. Evidence for the prosecution was substantially as follows& 

(a) Original Charge and Specification& In support of accused's 
pleas of guilty, the meaning and effect of which the court explained to 
him, the prosecution introduced in evidence, without objection by the 
_defense, 	 an extract copy of the morning report of accusedts then organi­
zation, Detachment A, 1175th Military Police Company (Aviation), showing 
his absence without leave therefrom from 0600 hours to 1600 hours, 4 July 
1944 (R6; Pros.Ex.l). 

(b) Additional Charge and Suecification: About 1 May 1944 
First Lieutenant Vincent U, Sottile, 450th Bombardment Squadron (322nd 
Bombardment Group (Medium)), took his A.rrrry officer's ''blouse 11 , which cost 
him $32.501 to the Collins tailor shop, Coggeshall Road, Braintree, Essex, 
England, in order to have it converted into a battle jacket (R7-8,18). · 
The "blouse" was stamped with his 11.aIDe. He was told that the cost ot: 
alteration would be at least two pounds (RS) and bft the 1'blouse 11 in 
the care of the man in the shop who attended him (R7) • At the trial 
Lieutenant Sottile identified an officer's battle jacket as his altered 
blouse by its make and by his name stamped inside the pocket and in the 
sleeve. He estimated its present value at about eight pounds, He at no 
time gave any p~rson permission to secure this jacket from the tailor 
shop nor did he ever converse with accused concerning it. The battle 
jacket was admitted in evidence without objection by the defense (R7-8; 
Pros .Ex.2). 

: About 2 pm 14 July 1944 accused, then a member of the 1288th 
Millta.ry Police Company (A"'(iation), drove Prive.te Francis D. Trudell of 1 

the same company in a jeep to Braintree, where they stopped at the tailor 
·shop, which accused entered at about 2:30 pm (R9,34-36,40). He asked Mrs. 
"Phyllis Humpbryes, of ·29 Yictoria Street, Braintree, who was working with 
Sidney Brown, of 17 Tabor Avenue,·Braintree, in the shop that day.t for 
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his shirt and trousers which he ha.d left for ~leaning (R9-l0,18,19). 
She informed accused they Pould be ready at 4 pm, whereupon he stated 
that he would return at thut time and, left the shop. Mrs. HULlj_Jhryes 
testified that during this conversation with accused the battle jacket 
in question was ~ing on a hanger on a mirror just inside the shop 
(RlD-11). On the sleeve of the jacket was pinned a piece of paper with 
the name of Sottile, the ov.ner, thereon (Rl.3). Both Mrs. Humphryes 
(IUO) and Bro~m (1U9) identified Prosecution1s Exhibit 2 as the jacket 
in question. Accused and Trudell thereupon proceeded in the .jeep to 
Halstead, where they stopped, and then returned to the tailor shop at 
Braintree (R35-36,40), which accused entered about 3 pm. He stated to 
Mrs. Humphryes upon entering that "he came back quicker than he thought" 
(Rll). As his clothes were not yet ready, he asked her if she minded 
if he waited for them, and she replied that she did not. 3he resumed 
work on his clothes in the back roora (R12). 'l'he last time she saw the 
jacket hanging in the shop was about 3:15 po (IU6). Trudell testified 
that acclised brought the officer's battle jacket to the jeep, laid it 
on the driver's seat, removed the tag and returned toward the tailor 
s!:iop (R37-.3S). About this time (3:15 pm) Brown, who vms also working 
in the back room, heard the outer door to the front part of the shop 
close, entered that part.of the shop and asked accused if anyone•came 
into the shop. Accooed replied ttno", that he had just been out and 
"popped intt (R12,20,2J). This was the only outer door to the front 
part of the shop and when it was closed the drop latch al·nays made a 
"terrible noise" (R9,13,20,29). About 3:30 pm, a telegraph mer1>enger 
entered the shop, asked for a garment which was not ready and left 
(R12,20,22). Mrs. Hwnphryes who meanwhile had· finished the work on 
accused 1 s Ehirt and trousers, delivered them to him. F...e paid her five 
shillings, left the shop (Rl2), proceeded to the jeep and handed the 
clothes to Trt!.dell, who at that time also had the jacket in his custody 
(R3B-.39). About 3t.30 - .3 :l+O pm, Mrs. Humphryes returned to the back 
room ana a 11little while" later entered the shop and Sa\'I on the mirror 
the empty banger on which the battle jacket had been hanging. 'l'he jacket 
was missing. She reported the loss to Brovm who sent her to the Red 
Cross across the street to report it (Rl2-13,20-2l). No one other than 
the telegraph messenger entered the shop during the time in question 
(M'.3). . . 

:Meanwhile, en route from the tailor shop to an air field in the 
jeep, Trudell aJ3ked accused 

ltif he was turning Air Corps, because I noticed 
the battle jacket and most of the Air Corps 
fellows wear themn~ 

Accused replied that be bought the jacket froc another officer who was 
obliged to have it cut do\'m or buy another. Accused made some statement 
about it costing ten shillings to have it cleaned (RJ9). Trudell testi ­
£1ed that he could see the front of the cleaning shop from his position 
in the vehicle and did not see another officer or hear a:rry convcr3ations 
(R.38), but ttnoticed some Gis going in" (R43). He testified that the 
vehicle was directly in front of the shop (R41). 
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As a result of the report of the theft of the je.cket, Fred I•bles, 
a detective constable of Braintree, Captain Donald Yol.lllg, Assistant Provost 
Marshal in the Braintree District, and Brown on 15 July 1944 went to ac­
cused• s station (No. 162) at Chipping (R.21,25,28-29), where Captain Young 
told him he was suspected of having the jacket. Accused stated that he 
had a newly acquired battle jacket and on request produced it (R.29). He 
showed it to Brown who identified it as the one he had converted from an 
of£icer1s "blouse" (R.21,27,29). Accused stated he had bought it from an 
officer on the street the previous day, but did not give the ofticer•s 
name (R30).~ ·captain Yol.lllg warned accused of his rights and without force, 
duress or promises, accused made a written statement, wpich was admitted 
in evidence without objection by the defense as Prosecution's Exhibit 3, 
and r~ads iri part as followst 

11Appro:ximately 14.30 yesterdey the 14th July 1944, 
I went to COLLINS, cleaners, Braint:ree to pick up 
my cleaning and the woman informed me it was not 
ready. I left for Halstead on some other business 

, 	 and returned appro:xima.tely 30 to.40 minutes after­
wards. 

As I entered the shop I was called over to a couple 
of doors.away near a Novelty shop by an American Of­
ficer. I believe he was a first Lieutenant and he 
asked me if I wanted a jacket. 7le bargained. I 
tried the jacket on and I gave him ~3. 10. Od. for 
it. I then vrent into COLLINS Cleaners and must have 
waited about 5 minutes, got my clothes and then left. 

The Office~ was approximately my size; may be a couple 
of inches shorter, blonde or light brolm hair; he was 
an Air Corps Officer. He said the reason he wanted to 
sell the jacket was because it didn't fit right and 
didn't want to go to any further expense to correct it" 
(R26-27). 

On 17 July," after being warned as to bis rights by First Lieutenant Bart 
Sullivan of the Criminal Investigation Department, U. S. J.rnw, accused 
made another written statement, admitted b evidence without objection 
by the defense as Prosecution's Exhibit 4 and reading in part as follows: 

"On Frida:y, July 14, I left Station 162 around 2:30 
p.m. to go to Braintree to pick up some dry cleaning. 
I also intended to go to Halstead to pick up some 
watch straps. I took a driver with me by the name 
of Truedell although I drove. 

We went to Collins Cleaning establishment located near 
the center of the town of Braintree. I arrived there 

. around 3 or 3 :30 p.m. I was told my shirt was not 
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ready at the cleaning place !tlld so I decided.to go 
to Halstead and pick my clothes up on the wa:y back. 
I had a shirt and a pair of pants at the cleaning 
place. 

I went to Halstead and returned to the Collins Clean-. 
ing place about a half ~our later. 

I parked the jeep about five yards ahead of the clean­
ing establishment on the same side of the street. I 
got out from the left side of the jeep. 1'ruedell the 
soldier with me remained sitting on the right hand 
front seat of the jeep. I started to go into the 
cleaners establishment.when I was called by an officer 
who was standing in front of the store next to the 
cleaning place, to the rear of where the jeep was 
parked. 

I 
The officer said, "Say Lieutenant or Hey, Lieutenant." 
I walked over to him. He said, "Do you want to buy a 
battle jacket?" I noticed he had a battle jacket over 
his arm. I asked him solllething about whether or not 
it fit. The officer said to try it on. I had a field 
jacket on which I took o:ff and tried on the battle 
jacket. The battle jacket·fitted me fairly good. I 
don't know whether I asked the price of it before or 
after I tried it on but he told me it r.as three pounds 
ten. He told me it was a good jacket but that it 
didn't fit him and that he didn't 

. ' 
want to spend aI!Y 

more money on it. 

I said it is a. good deal or v1ords to that effect and 
took the money out of my wallet and paid him. I gave 
him three pound notes and one. ten shilling note. I 
walked over to the jeep and put the jacket on the 
drivers seat. I don't believe I said anything to 
Truedell as to where I got the jacket. 

I then went into the cleaners place. Tihen ·I v1ent in 
a womo:n' came out from the rear uf the store. · She 
stated that my shirt wasn't ready yet. I asked her 
if I could wait for it. She said yes that she would 
do it right away. 

I waited in the front of the store for about four or 
five minutes. The only one that came int.o the store 
while i was waiting there was telegraph byo. When 
this telegraph boy c8.!lle in a man came out from the 
rear of the store and.talked'to him for a little 
while, then the telegraph boy rrent out. He did not 
take any clothes out with him. 
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At the end of about five minutes the ~oman came 

out with nr:r pants. I paid her six shillings an<i 

left. 


I brought them out to the jeep and started for 
Rivenhall. When we were leaving the cleaning 
establishment I mentioned to Truedell about the 
high price of cleaning. 

I remerriber Truedell saying, 11Are you going Air 
Corps?" I told him that I had bought the battle 
jacket and that everyone seemed to be wearing them. 

We arrived back to our station around 5.p.m. I 
brought the jacket in and hung it up \vith my other 
things on the rack. I did not look the jacket over 
to see if there were any identifying marks on it. 
When I did bring it out to the jeep in the first 
instance I did take off a tag that was pinned on 
it. I figured the tag was a cleaning tag and that 
the officer had just got the jacket out of the 
cleaners • 

. I wore the jacket the.t night· to an eating place 
aver by Blackmoor • · 

On Saturday ai'ternoon Captain Young and-a member 
of the civilian police came to see me and told me 
that a jacket was taken from a cleaning place about 
the time that I was there. I showed them the jacket 
and they s'aid that tha,t was the one. 

I believe the officer from whom I purchased the 
jacket was a 1st Lieutenant in the Air Corps. I 
don't remember ever seeing him before. I believe 
he wore rtlngs. He had on a blouse, He was about 
5 feet 7 or 8 inches tall and weighed around 145 
to 150 pounds. I did not ask the officer his name." 
(RJ0-32). 

Brown testii'ied that he had been a tailor for 35 years, was 
familiar ;-tlth the value of similar jackets and estimated the value of 
Prosecution's Exhibit 2 as "anything from six pounds" (R24). . i 

4. (a) For the defense, Wirs. Humphryes, recalled, testified sub­
stantially in accord with her testimony on behalf of the prosecution 
(R.47-51), adding that the jacket had been hanging on the mirror in the 
shop for several weeks prior to. the day in question (R50). 

(b) After he was warned of his rights, accu5ed elected to 
testify in his own behalf (R52). He testified as follows: 

·- 6 ­
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(l) Original Charge and Specificationt 

"I le.ft the station at approximately six o'clock 
that morning, I believe it was July 3rd, and went 
on pass, and after the normal pass privileges, what-, 
ever it is, I tried to get back. At the time that 
I tried to get back the trains were very crowded• 
I went back to the officer I was with and tried to 
call my station and couldn't get through. 11e both · 
went to eat and ddring that time I tried to call once 
more and couldn1t get through. lle then decided to 
join the line and wait tintil we could get back, which 
we did, and by the time we arrived it was about four 
o'clock that afternoon" (R52). · 

He further testified that he vras due back at 6 am, 4 July (R52) and 
admitted his absence without leave as alleged (R5.3). . 

(2) Additiona1 Cha;rge and Specificationt .Accused testified 
in substantial accord with his statement to Lieutenant Suilivan (Pros. 
Ex.4), with the following pertine~t additions: 

Contrary to ~"rudell 1 s testimony that the jeep was parked near 
the doo~ of the cleaning shop, it was actuitlly 15 - 20 feet past the 
shop (R53) • After f,D:s. Hu~li.ryes said she would get accusedrs cleaning 
about .3:.30 - .3:40 pm, he "stood around and smoked". He saw a.mirror in 
the room, but saw nothing on it·. 

"I was smoking a cigarette and I didn't want to put it 
out on the floor so I.walked to the door and opened it 
and threw it out on the street and closed t:1e dc:..ir. 
The ne:t..'t thing 1lr. Brorm came in anO. askeci did scm'?one 
COI\le in ~d I saici no, I just pop;;ed out a dgro.-~·~te 11 

(R56). 

He didn't tell Lieutenant Sullivan about leaving the. store for a minute 
to thro1:! out a cigarette butt because "it didn't seem 'important to me at 
the time". He did not know the nrune of the lieutenant who sold him the 
jacket or from where he c9llle. He did not, obtain a receipt from its pur­
chase (R58). It was 4 - 5 minutes from the tlme he met thii: officer, 
\'rhom he had never seen before, until he completed the sale, out in the 
streets (R61). The officer.held accusedts jacket for him and he tried 
the combat jacket on 11right there" in a little doorway in front of the 
novelty shop next to the cleaning shop. ' It was a "trifle" small (R54,59). 
He did not examine it until he returned to the jeep (R54). He thought 
he needed to have it altered to fit him properly but made no mention of 
this in the tailor shop (R60). He did not look at the slip of paper on 
the jacket,_but merely removed it.(R54). He thought there was writing on 
the slip but .did not recall the name •. Lieutenant Sottile was not the man 
from whom he obtained the jacket.r He did not try to locate the vendor be-- · 
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cause he "vras restricted from that Saturday (15 July) on". Asked if he 
requested permission to try to locate the vendor, he stated: 

"After this all happened I realized just what it was, 
I realized it W3.S futile to try and find him. I knew 
if anyone found him I would have to be the one to do 
it, because I was the only who had seen him. My c.o. 
restricted me to my base and I was not confused, but 
sort of stunned by everything that happened and was not 
thinking mu.ch about anything except about how bad every-· 
thing was" (R59). 

Although his duties were as police and prison officer and provost marshal, 
he never asked anybody to help him find this officer. Although he was 
restricted, he knew he could call for the help of "C.I.D." men in Brain­
tree in finding him, but he "didn't thirik they could find him"• 

"I was the only one who knew him. , The only de­

scription I could give would have fitted a lot 

of offioers". • 


1'Not feeling very good about anything" i' accused did not ask if he could. 
go and look for him (R6o). · 

5. (a) The pleas of guilty to the original Charge and Specifi• 
cation are supported by clear evidence of accused's absence without 
leave as alleged. 

: (b) That Lieutenant Sottilels battle jacJ.cet.was wrongfully 
take~ from his bailee was established by undisputed evidence~ It is 
clear that theft of property from the bailee or custodian thereof con­
stitutes larceny (ll:rn, 1928.; par. 149,g, p. 173; CM ErO 2018, Taylor et a1). 
The evidence of the cost of the "blousell from which this jacket was made 
and the tailor's testimony as to its value establish that it was of sub­
stantial value, if not $32.00 (LCM, .192S, par. 149,g, P• 173; CM ETO 2840,· 
Benson, ·and authorities therein cited). The only question for determi­
nation is whether the record contains competent substantial evidence 
(1) that accused took the jacket and (2) if so, that such taking was 
with the intent to deprive the ovmer permanently. of his property ~herein. 
There was a direct conflict in the circvmstantial evidence adduced by 
the prosecutibn and the testimony and eitrajudicial statements of ac­
cused upon the issue of the manner of his acquisition of the jacket. 
The prosecution's evidence showed that on the day in question accused 
was present where the jacket was hanging in the tailor shop; that no 
person other than the employees in the shop and a>telegraph messenger, 
who according to accused's testimony left empty-handed, was present there 
prior to the time the jacket was missing; that i~diately prior to such 
time an·employee in the shop heard the door of the shop close; that ac­
cused brought the jacket to his jeep and told Trudell something to the 
effect that.it cost ten shillings to have it cleaned; and that he cast 
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away the slip of paper on the jacket bearing the O'!mer1 s name without 
looking at it. Accused's explanation of his possession of the jacket, 
in SUillllla.I"Y, was that as he was about to enter the tailor shop, an of­
ficer, unknown to him, hailed him from near the shop and offered to 
sell him the jackett that accused tried it on in the street; that they 
bargained and accused bought the jacket for three pounds ten shillings 
without obtaining either a receipt or the officer's name or address. 
The factual questions ~~re peculiarly for the court•s determination. 
The court, evidently disbelieving accusedfs eAJllanation, found him guilty 
as charged. Its findings that accused took the jacket with the speM 
cific intent to deprive its owner of it permanently are supported by 
~trong circumstantial evidence and will not be disturbed upon appellate 
review (CM ETO 2840, Benson). The circumstances shown by the evidence 
form a chain strongly linking accused with the larceny of the jacket. 
They meet the standards of proof enounced in CM ETO 2686, Brinson & 

• 	2!!!llh, CM El'O 3200, ~, and CIA ErO 4292, Hendricks, and authorities 
cited in those cases, in that they exclude every fair and rational 
hypothesis except that of accused's guilt. His possession of the stolen 
property was not satisfactorily explained. He would have had the court 
believe that the strange officer who, he said, sold him the jacket, him.­
sell stole it from the tailor shop and did not remove the slip of paper 
from it., Accused's story bears all the earmarks of a pure fabrication 
and strongly suggests an attempt on his part to trifle with justice. 
The findings o£ guilty are amply supported by the record (CM ETO 2840, 
Benson, and authorities therein cited). · · · . 

\ 
6. The charge sheets shovr that accused is 26 years 11 months of age. 

had enlisted service from 10 March 1941 to 20 November 1942, and was com­
missioned a second lieutenant, Corps of Military Police, 20 November 1942, 
to serve for the duration of the war plus six months. 

7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction of the per­
son and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the substantial rights 
of accused were committed during the trial. The Board of Review is oi' the 
opinion that the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findM 
ing of guilty and the sentence. ' 

s. Dismissal is authorized upon conviction of a violation of either 
Article of War 61 or 93. Confinement in the Eastern Branch, United States 
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New Yo:..k, would be authorized (AW 42; 
Cir.210, VID, 14 Sep 1944, sec.VI, as amended). 

·_._dfi;..,- _-i-.;...ft-_~_..__.....ft_f- Judge Advocate ...... ___ 
_c..........K IN HOOP........,·I...TA,L......,l...____Judge Advocate
src.................. ... 


~_,ff, ~,Judge Advocate 
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1st Ind. 

ilar Department, Branch Office of' The Judge Advocate Genere.l v;ith the 
European Theater of' Operations. ' ·1 8 NOV 10A.A. TO: Conuna.nd­
ing General, European Theater of Operations, ~-M7, U. s. ,\rrey. 

1. In the case of First Lieutenant PHILIP L. TIIEVISO (0-1796550), · 
Corps of' Military Police, l288th Military Police Company (Aviation), (for­
merly of Detachment A, 1175th Military Police Company (Aviation)), at-. 
tention is invited to the foregoing holding of the Board pf Review that 
the record of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of 
guilty and the sent~nce, which holding is hereby appro~ed. Under the 
provisions oi' llrticle of' Uar 5'*, you now have authority to order exe­
cution of the sentence. 

2. In your action confirming the sentence you did not designate 
the place of confinement. However, this may be done by supplemental 

4 

action which should be forwarded to this office for attachment to the 
record of trial. The Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Bar­
racks, Greenhe.ven, New York, is the authorized place of confinement for 
this accused. 

J. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this of'fice: 
they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this indorsement 
The file number of the record in this office is CM El'O 4452. For con­
venience of reference, please place that number in brackets at the end 
of the ordert (CM El'O 4452). 

//1.11!¥i~
/fW~ .~£-··· , E. C. McNEIL, : ) • .. 

Brigadier General, United States Anlij", · 
Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

{Sentence ordered executed. Gell) 113, ETO, 25 Nov 1944) 
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with the 


European Theater.of Operations

APO 8~ . 

BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 2 OEG 1944 
. CM ETO .t.45.3 

UNITED STATES ) 35TH INFANTRY DMSION 
) 

v•. ) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Amance, France, 6 October 

First Lieutenant HENRY W. ) 1944. Sentences Dismissal, 
BOLLm (0-1310800), Infantry total forfeitures and confine­
Regimental Headquarters~ l.37th ~ ment at hard labor ror 30 years. 
Infantry. Eastern Branch, United States ~ Disciplinary Barracks, Green­

) haven, New York. 

HOLDING by 'BOARD OF REVIEW NO. 2 

VAN BENSCHOTEN, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


1. The record of trial in the case of the officer named 
above has been ex.a.mined by the Board of Review and the Board sub­
mits this, its holding, to the Assistant Judge Advocate General in 
charge of the Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with the 
European Theater of Operations. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifica­
tions: i 

' 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 96th Article of War. 

Specification: In that First Lieutenant Henry W. 
Boller, Infantry, Regimental Headquarters, 137th 
Infantry, having received a lavd'ul order from 
Lieutenant Colonel Alfred K. Clark, Infantry, 
Regimental Executive Officer, 137th Ini'antry, 
his superior officer~ to go forward to a Third 
Battalion Rifle CoI:lpany, 137th Infantry, for 
tactical instruction, the said Lieutenant Colonel 
Clark then being in the execution of his office, 
did, at or near Ormes-et-Ville, France, on or 
about 12 September 19.t.4, wrongf'ully fail to obey 
the same. 
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CHARGE II: Violation of the 64th Articl' of War. 


Specification: In that * * * having received a 
lawi'ul order from Colonel Robert Sear~, 
Commanding Officer, 137th Infant~·, his sup­
erior officer, to return to the Third Batta­
lion, 1J7th,Infantry, for duty, did at Ormes­
et Ville, France, on or about 12 September 1944, 
wilfully disobey the same. 

He pleaded not guilty and three-fourths of the members of the 
court present when the vote was taken, concurring, he was found 
guilty of the charges and specifications. No evidence of pre­
vious convictions was introduced. Three-fourths of the members 
of the court present when the vote was taken concurring, he was 
sentenced to be dismissed the service, to forfeit all pay and 
allowances due or to become due and to be confined at hard labor, 
at such place as the reviewing authority may direct, for 30 years. 
The reviewi.~g authority, the Commanding General, 35th Infantry 
Division, approved the sentence, designated the United States 
Disciplinary Barracks, Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, as the place of 

· 	confinement and forwarded the record of trial for action pur­
suant to Article of War 48. The confirming authority, the Com­
manding GeneraJ., European Theater of Operations, confirmed the 
sentence, changed the place of confinement to the Eastern Branch, 
United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, and 
withheld the order directing the execution thereof pursuant to 
the provisions of Article of War 5Dt. 

3. Lieutenant Colonel Alfred K. Clark, RegimentaJ. Execu­
tive Officer of the 1J7th Infantry, a witness for the prosecution 
testified that on 12 September 1944, accused was a regimentaJ. 
liaison officer and the regimentaJ. comna.nd post was located at 
Bois-des-Orme. He had been directed by the regimentaJ. commander 
to have accused report to the Third Battalion commander for the 
purpose of being attached to a rifle platoon for seven days in 
order that be could gain practical in~truction as a rifle platoon 
leader with a view to bis becoming such. At apProximately 1100 
hours on 12 September he gave accused this order (R6) personally 
at the regimental colllillB.Ild post and because or accused's hesitancy 
in the matter, he confirmed it in writing in the name of the regi­
mental commander. The written order was admitted in evidenc~ as 
Pros. Ex. l and reads substantially as per the regimentaJ. comman­
der's directions above. On receipt or the order, accused asked 
permission to speak to the regimentaJ. commander and le~ the 
post. He returned to the post at approximately 1730 hours the 
same d~. He had not carried out 4the order for he had not re­
ported to the Third BattaJ.ion commander nor had he remained there 
as ordered. When accused reported back, witness turned him over 
to the regimental commander (R7). Accused had never been under 
concentrated small arms fire and he appeared more "jittery" than 

4453 
CJNFIOEtfA~t 

http:comna.nd


C0NFIDENTIAL 


(383) 

the rest of them when the shelling was close (R8). The giving 

of this order by the regimental exec-qtive officer to accused 

was corroborated by I1~ajor Albert W. Frink, Regimental S-.3 who 

was present...a.nd heard it given and saw it confirmed in writing 

(R9-10). '"• 


Accused reported to Captain Budd w. Richmond, Third 

Battalion Executive Officer, about 11 o1 clock of 12 September 

and was by him directed to report to Colonel Butler at the· 

Battalion 110P11 as Colonel Clark had phoned and instructed him 


- to have accused go to Colonel Butler for assignment to a platoon. 
He gave accused a couple of enlisted men as guides, explained 
the route and informed accused that Colonel Butler was expecting 
him. Accused, however, did not report to Colonel Butler but re­
turned to the battalion command post about five o'clock, reported 
to Captain Richmond that "he couldn't make it; that he couldn't 
go up there; that he couldn't take it11 and was directed to report' 
back to Colonel Clark for "if ,he couldn't get up there, we had 
no place for him" (Rl0-11). There was some shelling ahead but 
other people were going back. and forth (Rl2) and the otl:er men 
who had gone with accusSd did not return (Rl.3). 

Lieutenant Colonel Albert r.:. Butler, Commanding Officer 

of the Third Battalion of the 137th Infantry, on 12 September was 

located on the west bank of the LoLelle River st~pervising the 

crossing of the battalion. His command post was sone three miles 

to the rear and people were going back and forth. He had received 

orders that accused was to report to him for training bt1t he did 

no-t·-report on 12 September (Rl4). 


Colonel Robert Sears, in coi:unand of the 137th Infantry, 

testified that he saw P.ccused on the morning of 12 September. Ac­

·eused had been given orders to join the Third Battalion as observer 

-with a platoon and he saw him again when he returned about seven 

o'clock that evening. Accused then informed him 


"that he couldn't carry out his orders, which 
were to join the Third Battalion and report to 
Colonel Butler. He said that there was fire up 
there arid he couldn't take it. Then I advised 
him of the seriousness of not carrying out his 
orders, which were to report to Colonel Butler, 
and explained what might happen it he insisted 
on his ~tand of not reporting, and he said that 
it didn't make any difference, he couldn't take 
it, and would rather be given any kind of pun­
ishment than go up there and face the ene1JY 
shelling. I said 'Do you realize that you might 
be given a very heavy sentence for refusing to 
obey orders and showing cowardice in the face 
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of the enemy?' He said 1 I don't care. I can't 
talce it. 1 Then I gave him direct orders to report 
to Colonel Butler, and he didn't report to Colonel 
Butler" (R15). 

Colonel Sears did not see accused thereafter until the trial 
but stated "I know that he did not report, physically" (R15). 
On 12 September the lines of travel were open and there was 
plenty of traffic. The places were under fire but they generally 
-are11 • Accused had to go through a town to get to Colonel Butler 
but "if you went up to that town and they started a barrage, you 
simply got behind a building for a little while, knowing it would 
be clear after that11 • However, accused did not report to Colonel 
Butler (Rl6). 

4. Accused was sworn as a witness for the .defense and testi­
fied that he had been a member of the 137th Infantry for approxi­
mately a year, since August 1944 as liaison offiGer at regimental 
headquarters, and had been under enemy artillery and small arms 
fire several times. At these times he became extremely nervous. 
His f'ather had epilepsy and he has always been conscious of tak­
ing sick and when under shell fire gets "afraid of what might 
happen". On 12 September 1944, Colonel Clark in the presence of 
Major Frank, advised accused that they were not satisfied with 
his work as liaison officer because he had failed on two occasions 
to properly deliver messages (Rl9). Accused then stated to the 
court: 

"Gentlemen, I should like to malce this statement. 
While I was Liaison Officer, I was junior officer 
in the Co!!lll18.Ild'Post. There was another liaison 
officer who remained at the Command Post; a 
first lieutenant who is very much of an apple­
polisher, while I wasn't. He went about making 
sure everyone was comfortable, that everyone 
had a chair, that the Colonel was comfortable and 
all the members of the staff had everything they 
wanted. I felt that if I were to stay as one of 
the staff, eating in the dining rooo with them, · 
I wasn't to polish anyone's shoes" (R20). 

Colonel Clark said to him: · 

"'The Colonel.and I decided that 7ou should be at­
tached to a front line rifle company platoon for 
a period of seven daysrn (R20). 

He said he wanted a confirmation of the' verbal order and accused 
signed it, rolled up his bed roll, put his things together to send 
up and reported to Captain Richmond who sent him.on with a second 
lieutenant and some men going up as replacements. Vlhen he got to 
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the first 110P11 the situation was very critical and he called 
battalion and asked if it was not advisable to wait until dusk 
but he was advised to continue on. He returned and directed 
the men follow the telephone wires, a man coming at each £ive­
minute interval. When all reached the edge of the town, they 
started again but the town was being shelled and accused was 
"scared half to death about what might happen", so told the 
men to dig (R21) foxholes and not to continue till the firing 
stopped and that he (accused) was going back to look for the 
lieutenant who had not arrived. 

"1£ I didn't return, they should continue 

when it was over. I knew I wasn 1 t coming 

back, but I wasn1t going to tell them that". 


Accused returned to the battalion command post iUid reported to 
Captain Richmond the facts and 11 that perhaps I wasn't man enough 
to take it11 • Richmond ordered him to report to the ttCP" and was 
there directed by Clark to report to the commanding officer which 
he did and I said, 

"'Sir, I am back' and I said I just couldn't 

take it. I guess what he said right here 

today was what he did sa:y. He said 'Do you 

know what it is to disobey an order? Do 

you want to get court-martialed? 1 I felt, 

truly, gentlemen, that I didn't disobey an 

order. I said 'Sir,. I will accept a court­

martialf. He said 'Allrightl you are under 

arrest'. So here I am" (R.22). 


When accused was asked by the trial judge advocate what he said 
in answer to Colonel Sears, he replied, 

"'I ~on•t care.• I still don't care, gentlemen. 

l£ I can keep my body normal like you, I don't 

care". 


Accused admitted he received the order (Pros.Ex.l) and that he 
did not report back to the battalion a£t~r talking to Colonel 
Sears on l2 September (R23-24). 

Captain Harry H. Schwartz, Medical Corps and .35th In­
fantry Division Psychiatrist, testif'ied that he had examined ac­
cused and submitted a report on him, identified and admitted as 
Defense Exhibit A. In this report, he states that ­

"8. Impressions: rt is felt, that this officer's 
story relative to epilepsy in tanlil.y is being used 
primarily as a defense mechanism for his inability 

c1453 .. 
_-,,.. 1.Si-.-:. 




CONFIDENTIAL 

(386) 

to stand up as an officer under combat con­
ditions. It is further felt this officer is 
not insane, but is emotionally inadequate for 
combat duty. 

9. Diagnosis: Constitutional inadequacy 
for front line duty. 

10.· Recommendation: This officer be con­
sidered for reclassification. He is not a med­
ical case" {Def.Ex.A). 

He testified accused did not have the severe type of "anxiety" 
but believed ii' exposed to combat, he would°'velop it and that 
in his opinion accused was not fit to be an officer but was a 
sane normal person (R25-26). He also testified that there were 
many men in the same mental condition as accused who are in the 
front lines but he was sure they were doing a pretty bad job. 
Epilepsy is hereditary "but not in this case" {R28). 

5. All the essential elements of the offenses charged 

against accused are not only present and clearly proved but are 

in fact rather defiantly admitted by accused while a witness at 

his trial, he in fact agreeing to accept trial by court-martial 

rather than to obey the orders. 


6. The charge sheet shows accused to be 24 years of age. 

Date of active duty 11 February 1943; assigned to 137th Infantry 

9 October 1943. 


7. The court was legally constituted and had jurisdiction 

of the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the 

substantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 


·.,.J?oard 	of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
leg~y sufficient to support t~e findings of guilty and the sen­
tenc·e.. 

8. ·e~nviction of wilful. disobedience of an order under 

Article of 1'1¥ 64 is punishable by death or such other punishment 

as a court-maJ;:tial may direct. Confinement in the Eastern Branch, 


, 	United States D:i;sciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, is auth­
orized. 

<' r··_ 
· · t"-t-~ • .y.:1 ...~ WJudge Advocate 

4453 
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War Department, Branch Office of '.i.'he Jud_e;e Advocate General with 
the l!.ilropean Theater of Operations. ~ DEG 1944 TO: Com­
manding General, Euro:r:ean Theater of Operations, .APO 88?, u. s. Army. 

1. In the case of First Lieutenant HF.JiRY n. BOLLER· (0-1310800), 
Infantry Regimental Headquarters, 137th Infantry, attention is in­
vited to the foregoing holding by the Board of Review that the re­
cord of trial is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty 
and the sentence, which holding is hereb~r approved. Under the pro­
visions of Article of '.'fo:r 5%~, you now have authority to order execu­
tion of the sentence. 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to this of­
fice, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and this 
indorse;nent. The file number of the record in this office is CM ETO · 
4453. For convenience of reference please place that number in brac­
kets at the end of the order: (CJ.! EI'O 4453).:l'/ . 

,·j' (t(~kc_;
//v I ~ · 

E. C. Mc1IBIL, 

Brigadier General, United States -'trmf 


Assistant Judge Advocate General. 


(Sentence ordered executed. GCMO 122, ETO, 10 Dec 1944) 
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UNITED STATES ) 4TH IiffANTRY DIVISIO.L~ 
) 

v. ) 
) 

Trial by GCM, convened at Spa, Belgium, 
15 October 1944. Sentence: Dishonor­

Private GLENN E
()5918736), Com
12th Infantry 

. 'JA..'ID 
pany F, 

) 
) 
) 

able discharge, total forfeitures, and 
confinement at hard labor for life. 
~astern ~r.:.nch, United States Disciplin­

) ar.1 Barracks, Greenhaven, ifow York. 

HOIDWG by BOA.."ID OF R::;:VIE'; l~O. 2 
VAN BENSCHOTG.'l', HILL and SL~~PZR., Judge Advocates 

1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier named above 
has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following charges and specifica­
tions: 

CHARGE I: Violation of the 58th .Article of ·,far. 

Specification: In that Private Glenn E. i'lard, Company
"F", 12th Infantry, did, at St •. Vith, Belgium, on 
or about 14 September 1944 desert the service of 
the United States by absenting himself without 
leave from his place of duty with intent to avoid 
hazardous duty, to wit: engagement with the German 
forces in the vicinity of St. Vith, 2elt;ium; and 
did r~nain absent in desertion until he surrendered 
himself near Schlausenbach, Germany, on or about 
21 September 1944. 

CHARGE II: Violation of the 75th i..rticle of ~iar. 

Specification: In that * * * did, in the vicinity 
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of Schlausenbach, Germany, on or about 2.3 
September 1944, misbehave himself before the 
enemy, by failing to move out with his patrol, 
after he had been ordered to do so by Captain 
William L. Mills, Jr., the Battalion S-.3, to 
engage with the German forces, which forces, 
the said patrol was then opposing. 

He pleaded not guilty, and was found guilty of Charge I and its 
Specification, of the Specification of Charge II, except the words 
"failing to move out with his patrol, after he had been ordered to do so 
by Captain William L. Mills, Jr., the Battalion S-.3, to engage with 
the German forces, which forces, the said p:i.trol was then oppos~g", 
substituting therefor the words "abandoning his patrol which was· then 
engaged with the German forces", of the excepted words, not guilty, 
of the rubstituted words, guilty, and gm+ty of Charge II. No evidence 
of previous convictions was introduced. He was sentenced to be dis­
honorably discharged the service, to forfeit. all pay and allowances due 
or to become due, Cl'ld to be confined at hard labor, at such place as the 
reviewing authorl ty may direct, i'or the term of his natural life. The 
reviewing authority approved only so much of the findings of guilty 
of the Specification, Charge I and Charge I as involved a finding that 
the accused did, at the time and place alleged, desert the service of 
the United States by absenting himself without leave from his place of duty 
with intent to avoid hazardous duty, to wit: engagement with the German 
forces in the vicinity of St•. Vith, Belgium, and did remain absent in 
desertion until he returned to military control at a place and in a 
manner not shown, on or about 21 September 1944, in violation of the 58th 
Article of War, approved only so much of the finding of guilty of the 
Specification, Charge II, and Charge II as involved a finding that the 
accused did, at a place not shown, on or about 2.3 September 1944, mis­
behave himself before the enemy by abandoning his patrol which was en­
gaged with the German forces, in violation of the 75th Article of War, 
approved the sent~nce, designated the Eastern Branch, United States ­
Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of confinement, 
and forwarded the record of trial for action pursuant to Article of War 
50i. . 

3. The evidence for the prosecutidn showed that on 14 September 19441 
Comp.g.ey F, 12th Infantry, of which company accused was a member, was 
assigned the mission of leading an attack on the Siegfried line in the 
vicinity of St. Vith, Belgium. Accused was with his platoon when it 
"took off" on the attack (R5). He was detailed as a scout, sent forward. 
by his squad leader, and 11went out across a field". Shortl1' thereafter, 
he came running back and his platoon sergeant "asked him what he was 
doing and he said he had no protection up there, so his squad leader 
sent another man~. The rest 01' ~he men·"moved up to the woods" and 
delivered !ire (R6). When the platoon reached the woods, the enel'.IW 
"opened up with machine guns" (R5). At about this time, accused's 
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platoon sergeant saw him running to the rear. The sergeant 
"hollered at him.11 but he did not stop (R6). He was not seen 
by his platoon sergeant for "four, five or six days" thereafter. 
The sergeant was present with and had occasion to check his 
platoon daily during this i:;eriod (R5,6). The first sergeant of 
accused's company testified that accused returned to duty on 21 
September 1944 (R7). A duly authenticated extract copy of the morn­
ing report of Company F, 12th Infantry, which was admitted in 
evidence without objection by the defense, showed that accused was 
absent without leave from l)+ September 1944 to 21 September 1944 
(Pros .Ex.A). 

At 0830 hours on 23 September 1944, Captain William L. 
Yills, Jr., Battalion S-3, 2nd Battalion, 12th Infantry, ordered 
that a reconnaissance patrol consisting of twelve men, six from 
Company F <md six from Company G, be sent out to locate any eneiey" 
installations present in the area, to take prisoners e.nd generally 
to secure intelligence concerning the eneiey" (RS,9,10). The 
battalion was at that time in the Siegfried Line (R8,10). Accused 
was detailed as a member of this patrol (R7). The patrol moved 
out at 0900 hours, and after it had advanced approximately one half 
mile, was subjected to an artillery barrage (R7,8). Accused had 
moved out with the patrol and had accompanied it lmtil the barrage 
came down but was missing when the patrol reorganized after the 
barrage (R7,9). At about 1030 hours he reported to the Battalion 
S-2 and "said something to the e,ffect that he hatl come back and 
couldn't take it11 • When asked wh13ther he had reported his departure 
to the sergeant leading the patrol, accused stated that 11he had just 
said to the man next to him that h~·.•yvas leaving" (RlO). The patrol 
returned at about 1100 hours. Accus'eft was not with the patrol at 
that time (RS). 

4. Accused after having been adviseq of his rights as a wit­
ness, elected to remain silent, and no eviO.~ce was introduced in 
bis behalf. 

5. a. With respect to the offense charged:)J.nder Charge I, 
\:.he evidence is clear that accused absented himself. without leave 
from his place of duty from September 14 to 21 as alJ.eged. At 
the time accused absented himself, his unit was ·moving-.,forward to 
attack the eneiey" and was then being subjected to eneiey" fi:-e. When 
sent forward as a scout, he "came rlmning back" and, when.as~ed 
11what he was doing'~ he stated that he 11had no protection up there11 • 

Ee was last seen "ru:-llli.ng to the rear" and, although his platoon 
sergeant shouted at him, he did not stop. He did not return until 
seven deys later.Qithese facts, the court was clearly warranted in 
finding that accused absented himself with intent to avoid hazardous 
d~ty. All the elements of the offense charged were established 
(CM ETO 1432, ~). 
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b. The evidence indicates that accused was returned 
to duty upon rejoining his unit since, tvro days thereafter, he 
was sent out as one member of a twelve-i.:an reconnaissance r)8.trol. 
An unconditional restoration to duty v;ithout trial by an a~th::>dt~· 
competent to order trial may of course be pleaded in bar of trial 
for the desertion to which such resoration relates (MCM, 1928, par. 
69£, p.54). Eowever, where a deserter is restored to duty by a 
superior not authorized to order trial such restoration does not . 
constitute a bar to a subsequent trial (CM NATO 2139, Grabowski; 
Dig. Op. J~G, 1912, p.415). 

In the Grabowski case, accused was convicted of desertion 
and ;nisbehavioz: before the ene!r.y in violation of .Articles of i'Iar 
5B and 75 respectiv8ly. There was evidence that after he rejoined 
his unit, following his offenses, he was placed on duty by his 
detachment commander. It was said that the rule that an uncondi­
~ional restoration to duty vrithout trial by an authority competent 
to order trial may be pleaded in bar of trial for the desertion 
to which the restoration relates · 

11 contemplates an administrative act to effect 
removal of the charge of desertion and a 
consequent restoration to duty, an act which 
must be accomplished by an authority com­
petent b order trial for desertfon, and 
as trial for wartime desertion may be ordered 
only by an officer exercising general court­
martial jurisdiction there was here no con­
structive condonation of the offense". 

In the instant cas,, the manner in which accused was 
restored to duty is not clearly brought out by tte record. A stipu­
lation which was entered with reference to the order dispatching the 
patrol recites ohly that Captain William L. ::tills, Jr., the Battal ­
ion S-3, ordered the patrol "of which Private Ward (accused) was a 
part" to move out on 23 September (R9). The testimony of the 
Battalion S-2 to the effect that accused "was doing patrol work for 
the battalion on that day" is similarly uninfonnative (R9). The 
sergeant in command of the patrol, who was a member of Company G, 
12th Infantry, te.:tified that on 23 September he 11was leading a 
patrol taken from G Company an( attached to battalion headquarters". 
He.also testified that he had "six men counting myself and had taken 
.six men from F Company** *and attached them to my patrol" (R7). 
When asked whether the Battalion S-2 or S-J had checked the patrol 
prior to its departure he tectified "They just called the company 
and asked for us 11 (R8). On this state of the evidence it is diffi ­
cult to determine with any certainty in what manner accused was 
selected for the patrol but it seems p~obable that he was detailed 
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for this duty by the company commander of Company F pursuant to 
a request for men from Battal.ion Headquarters. Further, it seems 
rather improbable that in the short time which elapsed from accused's 
return on 21 September until 0830 hours 23 September, when the 
patrol was ordered to go out, there had been "an administrative 
act to effect removal. of ~a:.:J charge of desertion and a consequent 
restoration to duty * * * by an officer exercising general court-
martial jurisdiction11 • In any event, defense counsel entered no 
special plea in bar of trial based upon constructive condonation and 
it may be presumed that.he fully performed his duty to the accused 
and that had any defense of this nature been available such defense 
would have been raised. (Cf: Cll ETO 531, Mc:Lurkin; CM ETO 139, ~·.IC 
Daniels; CM 231504, Bull. JAG, Vol.III, No.2, Feb.1944,.sec.396'tI), 
p.56). In view of these considerations, it does not appear that 
trial of the accused for the desertion alleged under Charge I was 
barred because of constructive condonation of such desertion. 

c. The Specification of Charge II alleges that accused 

"did, in the vicinity of Schlausenbach, Germany, 
on or about 23 September 1944, misbehave him­
self before the enenv, by failing to m)ve out 
with his patrol, after he had been ordered to 
do so by Captain William L. Mills, Jr., the 
Battalion S-3, to engage with the German forces, 
which forces, the said patrol was then opposing". 

Unier the findings by exception and substitution as modified by the 
r~viewin.:; authority, it ,was found that accused 

11did, at a place riot shown, on or about 23 
September 1944, misbehave himself before the 
enemy by abandoning his patrol which was en­
gaged with the German forces". 

A preliminary question thus arises whether the findings, as modified, 
constituted a fatal variance from the allegation in the Specification. 

A question similar to that here presented was considered 
in CM ETO 1663, .!!2!1• In that case, the Specification alleged that 
accused did 

ttrun away from his company, which was then engaged 
.with the enemy, and did not return thereto un­
til after the engagement had been concluded". 

The court found accused of the Specification, guilty, except the 
words 

"run away from his company, mich was then engaged 
with the enemy, and did not return thereto un- 4489 
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til.after the engagement had been concluded", 

substituting therefore the words 

"misbehave in the presence of the enemy by fail ­
.	ing to advance with his comnand which had been 
ordered forward by Lt. King, Platoon Conr,ande+, 
in compliance with the orders of Company Com­
mander". 

The following portion of the Board's opinion is pertinent here: 

11 The essential nature of the charge was a­
bandonment by the accused of his company when 
it was 1 engaged Yd th the enemy' , which phrase 
is synonymous with 'before the.enemy• (CM ETO 
1249, Harchetti; par.8.!2,, p.8i Cll.ET0.1404, 
~; C'.J ETO 1408, Saraceno J. Such also is 
the essential nature of the offense of which 
he was found guilty. The distinction between 
the active abandonment involved in running 
away from his companj'" was alleged, and the 
passive abandonment involved in failing to 
advance with his company as found, is one 
of verbiage and is technical rather than 
substantial. The .conduct is equally repre­
hensible. and its effect is the same in each 
case, - his absence from his company where 
it was his duty to be. The time and place of 
the offense alleged and that of Vihich accused 
was found guilty are identical. * * * The 
court's action did not change the nature or 

·identity of the offense charged, and it is 
obvious that it did not increase the permissible 
punishment. The Board is also of ::,he opinion 
that accused was adequately notified in the 
Specification of the offense of mich he was 
found guilty, that he was giyen a fair oppor­
tunity to defend himself, and that therefore 
the variance did not affect his substantial 
rights 11 • 

Although the precise issue involved in the above ease 
is the converse of that presented in the instant case, the principle 
enunciated is equally applicable here. The variance above noted 
is mt fatal and did not prejudice ~the substantial rights of the 
accused. · 

The offense of vihich accused was found guilty consti ­
tutes a violation of Article of War 75 (Cf: C".c.l ETO 2205, LaFountain). 
J.l.J. the elements of the offense were established by co~petent, un­
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contradicted evidence. 

6. The charge sheet shows that accused is 19 years of age 
and that he was inducted at Cleveland, Ohio, on 13 October 1943. 
He had no prior service. 

7. The court was legal.]Jr constituted and ~d jurisdiction of 
the person and offenses. No errors injuriously affecting the sub­
stantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. The 
Board of' Review is of the opinion that the record of' trial is legal]Jr 
sufficient to sUpport the findings of' guilty and.·the sente~ce. 

S. the designation of' the Eastern Branch,, United States Dis~i­
pllnary Bi.rr~cks, Greenhaven, New York, as the place of'. confinement 
is proper (AW 42; Cir.210, WD, 14 Sept. 1943, Sec.VI, as amended). 

Judge Advocate 

~~Judge Ad~ocate 

tk/~·f'K ~.Advocate 

CONFIDENTIAL 4489 
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1st Ind. 

,,ar Department, Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General with 
the European Theater of Operations. 3 FFB 1945 TO: ·Command­
ing General, Headquarters 4th Infantry Divis1on, APO 4, U.S. Army. 

1. In the case of Private GLENN E. WARD (35918736), Company 
F, 12th Infantry, attention is invited to the foregoing holding 
by the Board of Review that the record of trial. is legally suf­
ficient to support the findings of guilt7 and;·the sentence, 'Which . 
holding is hereb7 approved. UlXler the provisions of Article of 
War 5~, you now have authority to order execution of the sentence. 

2. It appears that the Staff Judge Advocate deleted the 
originil charges, consisting of two specifications in violation 
of Article of War 75, which had been signed, sworn to and invest­
igated, and substituted for the.first specification, a charge and 
specification in violation of Article of War 5a, based upon the 
same facts. The second specification remained as originally pre­
ferred as a violation of Article of War 75. A reinvestigation 
was not necessary as the facts were sufficiently disclosed by the 
original investigation. However, it does mt appear that Charge I 
and its Specification were ever·sworn to, in accordance with the 
provisions of Article of Vlar 70. Some of the provisions of that 
Article(have been held directory and not mandatory, but it is still 
a mandate of the Congress as to proper procedure and should be 
complied with. In a similar case, CY ETO 4570, Hawkins, the Board 
of Review held that such error was not jurisdictional. and that 
trial upon such an unsworn charge, if otherwise proper, was legal. 

J. When oopies of th~ published order are forwarded to this 
Office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding and 
this indorsement. The file number of the record in this office 
is CM ETC 4489. For convenience of reference, please place that 
number in brackets at the end· of the order: (CM ETO 4489). 

/f!/R/~e;'
E. C. :U:cNEIL, · 

Brigadier General, United States Army, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 
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Branch Office of The Judge Advocate General (397) 
with the 


European Theater of Operations 

APO 887 


BOAF.D OF hEVIEW NO. 2 

Cl~ E.'TO 4490 

UN I T·E D STATES 

v. 

Private First Class 
ROBIBT G. BH.OTHEE~S 
(31285141), Company c, 
8th Infantry. 

7 OtC 1944 

) 4TH DJFANTRY DIVISION 
) 
) Trial by GCM, convened at 
) Spa, Belgium, 12 October 1944. 
) Sentence: Dishonorable discharge, 
) total forfeitures and confinement 
) at hard labor for 50 years. 
) Eastern Branch, United States Dis­
) ciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 
) New York. 

HOLDEG by BOARD Of PJ'.:VIEW t:O. 2 

VA!! BENSCHOTEh, HILL and SLEEPER, Judge Advocates 


. 1. The record of trial in the case of the soldier nar.ied 
above has been examined by the Board of Review. 

2. Accused was tried upon the following Charge and Speci­
fication: 

CHARGE: Violation of the 58th Article of ~·rar. 

Specification: In that Private First Class Robert 
11 CG. Brothers, Company 11 , 8th Infantry, did, 

near Le Compte, France, on or about 21 July 
1944, desert the service of the United states 
and did remain absent in desertion ur:til he 
surrendered himselr near Carrouges, France, 
on or about 19 August 1944. 

He pleaded to the Specificatior:, "guilty, except for the words 'desert' 
and 'in desertion•, substituting respectively therefor the words, 
'absent himselr witiiout leave fron' and 'without leave'; of the ex­
cepted words not guilty, of the substituted words guilty"; and not 
guilty to the Charge but guilty of violation of Article of War (>l. 

4490 
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Two-thirds of the members of the court present when the vote 
was ta.ken concurring, he was found guilty of the Charge and 
Specification. Evidence was introduced of one previous con­
viction by summary court for absence without leave for six 
days in violation of Article of War 61. Three-fourths of the 
members of the court present when the vote was taken concurring~ 
he was sentenced to be dishonorably discharged the service, 
to forfeit' all pay and allowances due or to become due, and to 
-be confined at hard labor, at such place as the.reviewing auth­
ority may direct, for 50 years. The reviewing authority approved 
the findings of guilty except that termination of the desertion 
was"at_a place not shown", approved the sentence, designated the 
Eastern Branch, United States Disciplinary Barracks, Greenhaven, 
Rew York, as the place of confinement and forwarded the record 
of trial pursuant to the provisions of' Article of Viar 5~-. 

3. The prosecution's evidence discloses that on 21 July 
1944, accused's organization was in a small French town, stnnding 
by waiting for the "push-off" which came on 2.5 July. Accused and 
anoth~r member of the same squad had dug a hole together and 
pitched a tent over it. Accused left to go 11down to a building 
to eet some cider" (R5). He left his rifle belt and grenade near 
the hole (R6). When his partner who had gone to sleep, woke up, 
"the rifle belt and grenade were gone 11 • He did not see accused 
until "quite a while after that, * * * a good twenty days, I 
would say, anyway". At the time accused left he was neither ill 
nor wounded and seemed mentally all right (R5). He was not pre­
sent in the squad when it made the big push on 25 July (R5) and 
his squad leader knew of no reason for accused's absence which 
he discovered sometime betvreen the 20th and 25th when a futile 
search for him was made. He did not see him again until about 
19 August (R7). At the time accused le~ it was common knowledge 
in the organization that they were about to take off on a big 
operation (RB-10). His squad leader had known accused for a 
month or six weeks prior to this time and had regarded him as a 
good soldier (R7;8). 

It was stipulated that if Firs~ Lieutenant William E. 
Woodruff, 8th Infantry, were "present in court, he would identify 
Exhibit A as an extract copy of the morning report of Company c, 
8th Infantry, for 22 August 1944 with an· entry'' concerning accused, · 
"showing his absence from 21 July 1944 to 19 August 194411 (RlO). 
The communications officer of Headquarters 1st Battalion, 8th In­
fantry, testified that his·orga.nization was in the vicinity of the 
St. Lo highway ~ust prior to their. break-through on 25 July and in­
formation of the proposed general operation was given the men in 
the battalion. On 22 July 1944, Company C received artillery and 
mortar fire and 13 men were killed and several wounded. Their at ­
tack was preceded by bombing and ~hey br'Oke through on July 25th; 
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from then until 19 August "it was more or less a rat race across 
France, except for scattered resistance" (Rl0-11). 

4. The defense presented no witnesses except accused who 
was sworn and testified in substance that when he left his fox­
hole he intended going down to this house for a dr!nk and coming 
right back but that he met another fellow down there and started 
drinking and got drunk. He testified he turned himself in "to an 
Army 1J>11 on 19 August. 7ihen he lftt,,the organization there was 
"not much" talk about a big operation about to come off, "just 
rumors". lje admitted staying awaY for a month and he heard about 
the break-through and knew his organization was moving deeper in­
to France. He also adrdtted that he made no effort to return for 

. a month after he left (Rl2-13). 

5. 	 "Desertion is absence without leave accoopanied 
by the intention not to return, or .to avoid 
hazardous duty or to shirk important service". 
(1928 11cr~1 par.130_!, p.142). 

The evidence clearly shows that accused left his organ­
ization on the eve of a heavy engagement, which resulted in a 
brea.~-through of the enemy lines during which action his unit suf­
fered severely; and that the break-throi_i_gh was followed by a con­
tinuous advance deep into France during which time various areas 
of resista.'nce wer~ encountered. Accused knew sooething of the 
contemplated attack and of the progress of his organization for 
the month following but made no effort to return during this time. 
He says he left to get a drink intendlng to immediately return but 
got drunk. He did not remain drunk for the entire mont:i.. If he 
got drunk and did not return, as he clair.is, who removed his rifle 
belt and grenade from his foxhole? The concllJ.sion is inescapable 
that he absented himself and remained absent without leave, as 
alleged, intending at the time to avoid the hazardous duty just 
ar{ead; and that his absence was for the time alleged and covered 
the period of his unit's important and dangerou3 advance. From 
his absence for a month under the circ:unstances shown, the court 
could infer the necessary intent. 

6. The charge sheet shows accused is 20 years of age, and, 
without prior service, was inducted at Springfield, I:assachusetts, 
19 February 1943. 

7. The court wae legally constituted and had jurisdiction 
of the person and offense. i:o errors injuriously affecting the 
substantial rights of accused were committed during the trial. 
The Board of Review is of the opinion that the record of trial is 
legally sUfficient to support the findings of guilty and the sen­
tence. 

(399f 
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8. Desertion ht time of 1:a:r is punishable by death or such 
,other 	punishr.!ent as a. court-martial may direct (AW 58). Designa­
tion of the Eastern Branch, United Stated Disciplinary Earracks, 
Greenhaven, Lew York, is proper (AW ~; Cir. 210, l'iD, 14 Sept. 1943, 
sec.VI, as amended). 

- 4 -	 449G 
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CONFIDENTIAL 

(401)1st Ind. 

War Department, Branch Office of The Jud~e advocate General With the 
European Theater of Operations. 7 DtC 1944 TO: e011!Dland­
ing General, Hee.dquarters 4th Infantry Division, APO 4, U. S. Arrrry. 

1. In the case of Private First Class ROBERT G. BROTHERS 
(312$5141), Company C, 8th Infantry, attention is invited to the 
foregoing holding by the Board of Review that th~ record of trial 
is legally sufficient to support the findings of guilty and the sen­
tence, which holding is hereby approved. Under the provisions of 
Article of War 5Qfr, you now have authority to order execution of the 
sentence. · 

2. When copies of the published order are forwarded to 
this office, they should be accompanied by the foregoing holding 
and this indorsement. The file number of the record in this office 
is CM ETO 4490. For convenience of reference, please place that 
number in brackets at the end of the order: (CM Ero 4490). 

/&:t~·
Brigadier Generalj United States Aruiy, 

Assistant Judge Advocate General. 

REGRADED... . ')N c LAs §.I.t:::.1.j;- IL.. 

YAUl ORIT\' Or . T J fJ (; ···········-·-·-­
C R c l>lBY fl __LE lt.+:t hlr150JJ./br...C~...,..., 

.J/tfCfA.$.'~ . £x£c:JJN. :;)~?Hi .11.Y...5-4-__ _ 



REGRAOCD.. .LlJJc.tr.A-.2$..J..F If=)~ .......•_.,. 


BY AUl llORITY Of ....TJ /t-(?._ · ··············· ·........ • 
BY CltR~ £ uJ '~H.0~$9.1\f" Lr-~t---v 
~Q.<;.,fu:r.k.ON.....£.QJ1l~'< ~Cf- ·-

http:Q.<;.,fu:r.k.ON
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